Fen|anPublic Document Pack |oo%

CAMBRIDGESHIRE pepple
driven

Fenland District Council

AGENDA

PLANNING COMMITTEE Committee Officer: Jo Goodrum

Tel: 01354 622424 (committee only)
WEDNESDAY, 7 JANUARY 2026 e-mail: memberservices@fenland.gov.uk
1.00 PM

COUNCIL CHAMBER, FENLAND HALL,
COUNTY ROAD, MARCH, PE15 8NQ

1 To receive apologies for absence.
2 Previous Minutes (Pages 5 - 36)

To confirm and sign the minutes from the previous meetings of 19 November 2025
and 10 December 2025.

3 To report additional items for consideration which the Chairman deems urgent by
virtue of the special circumstances to be now specified

4 To receive Members declarations of any interests under the Local Code of Conduct
or any interest under the Local Code of Conduct or any interest under the Code of
Conduct on Planning Matters in respect of any item to be discussed at the meeting.

5 F/YR25/0586/F
Phase B Land East Of, Berryfield, March
Erect 15 x dwellings with associated infrastructure and the formation of 1 x balancing
pond and public open space (Pages 37 - 68)

To determine the application.

6 F/YR25/0750/F
Bromsgrove House , Honeysome Road, Chatteris
Change of use of land for residential use, siting of a mobile home to be used as an
annexe and removal of existing mobile home (Pages 69 - 86)

To determine the application.

Fenland District Council  Fenland Hall ® County Road e March o Cambridgeshire  PE15 8NQ
Telephone: 01354 654321 o Textphone: 01354 622213

"
Email: info@fenland.gov.uk e Website: www.fenland.gov.uk X

&\ INVESTORS
%, IN PEOPLE



10

11

12

13

14

F/YR25/0814/PIP
Land North Of 10 Askham Row Accessed From, Hospital Road, Doddington
Permission in principle for 4 x dwellings (Pages 87 - 102)

To determine the application.

F/YR25/0594/0

Land North Of 450 To 454, March Road, Turves

Erect 3 x dwellings involving the formation of accesses (outline application with all
matters reserved (Pages 103 - 126)

To determine the application.

F/YR25/0807/PIP
Land South Of 6, Bridge Lane, Wimblington
Permission in principle to erect up to 7 x dwellings (Pages 127 - 136)

To determine the application.

F/YR25/0863/PIP
Land North East Of 134 London Road, Chatteris
Permission in principle for up to 4 x dwellings (Pages 137 - 146)

To determine the application.

F/YR25/0834/0

Land West Of 78-88, Station Road, Manea

Erect up to 8 x dwellings (outline application with matters committed in respect of
access) (Pages 147 - 160)

To determine the application.

F/YR25/0739/0

Land South West Of 176, High Road, Gorefield

Erect up to 1 x self-build/custom dwelling, involving the demolition of existing
buildings (outline application with matters committed in respect of access) (Pages
161 - 176)

To determine the application.

F/YR25/0806/PIP
Land South Of Lavender Mill Close, Fallow Corner Drove, Manea
Permission in Principle for up to 9 x dwellings (Pages 177 - 200)

To determine the application.
F/YR25/0802/PIP

Land North West Of 176 High Road Accessed From, Hassock Hill Drove, Gorefield
Permission in principle for 9 x dwellings (Pages 201 - 222)



To determine the application.
15 Items which the Chairman has under item 3 deemed urgent
Wednesday, 24 December 2025

Members: Councillor D Connor (Chairman), Councillor C Marks (Vice-Chairman), Councillor | Benney,
Councillor Mrs J French, Councillor R Gerstner, Councillor S Imafidon and Councillor M Purser



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2

PLANNING COMMITTEE -enland

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

WEDNESDAY, 19 NOVEMBER 2025 - 1.00 .. )
PM Fenland District Council

PRESENT: Councillor D Connor (Chairman), Councillor R Gerstner, Councillor S Imafidon and
Councillor N Meekins, Councillor M Purser (Substitute)

APOLOGIES: Councillor C Marks (Vice-Chairman) and Councillor | Benney,

Officers in attendance: Matthew Leigh (Head of Planning), Stephen Turnbull (Legal Officer), Jo
Goodrum (Member Services & Governance Officer) and Gavin Taylor (Principal Development
Officer)

P72/25 F/YR24/0903/0
LAND ADJACENT NEW SAXON WORKS, PETERBOROUGH ROAD,
WHITTLESEY
ERECT UP TO 65,000 SQ M FLOOR SPACE CONSISTING OF E (B)(D)(F)
(AMENITY BUILDINGS) AND E (G)()((In) (OFFICE, LABORATORY AND
MANUFACTURING) INCLUDING RENEWABLE ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE,
PARKING, COUNTRY PARK AND OTHER ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE
(OUTLINE APPLICATION WITH MATTERS COMMITTED IN RESPECT OF

ACCESS)

Gavin Taylor presented the report and drew members attention to the update report which had
been circulated.

Gavin Taylor advised members that he was in receipt of a letter which was received earlier that
day from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Loal Government (MHCLG), which in exercise
of their powers under Article 31 of the Town and County Planning Development Management
Procedure Order, has directed that the Council is not to grant permission on this application
without specific authorisation. He added that the direction is issued to enable MHCLG to consider
whether they should direct under Section 77 of the Town and Country Planning Act, that the
application should be referred to them for determination, however, this direction does not prevent
the Council from considering the application or from forming a view to the merits or if so minded to
refuse the planning permission.

Gavin Taylor made the point that the direction from MHCLG should not influence the decision
making of the Council and should the Council resolve to grant permission, the Secretary of State
requires time to consider whether to call the application in for their own consideration before the
Council issues any planning permission. He explained that further information has also been
received from the Ecological Officer with regards to comments received from the Saxon Gate
Residents Group in particular with regard to their concerns over the habitats regulation
assessment that is undertaken and the Ecologist has confirmed the recommendations of the
habitats regulation assessment which sets out the requirements for review the assessment
following the receipt of the reserved matters application including the water resources strategy
which is also required under one of the proposed conditions.

Gavin Taylor explained that further comments have been received from the Council’s

Environmental Health Team who have considered the additional comments submitted by the
Saxon Gate Residents Group which covers a number of matters such as pollution control,

Page 5



exposure to pollution, ongoing Saxon Pit investigations, monitoring enforcement concerns and all
comments have been reviewed along with the circulated committee update and the proposed
conditions set out in the officer report and have advised that they are satisfied that the necessary
controls are secured and raise no objection. He explained that he has also received an update
from the Middle Level Commissioners (MLC) earlier today and further to their previous consultation
on 24 November 2024, they have noted the proposal to discharge surface water via the adjacent
Saxon Pits discharge into the Kings Dyke and the Environment Agency is considering a foul
effluent discharge permit application for this particular outfall and, therefore, it should not be
assumed that MLC would grant consent to discharge surface water via this outfall.

Gavin Taylor explained that MLC have also stated that an alternative discharge directly from the
site may be required and any surface water discharge will require the prior consent of MLC under
their byelaws as well as an agreement and approval of final planning decisions. He added that
there are a number of conditions securing the water supply strategy, foul and surface water
drainage strategies and these conditions will be consulted with via the Lead Local Flood Authority,
Environment Agency, Anglian Water and MLC when such conditions come to be discharged or
when a reserved matters application is submitted which is the standard approach.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Councillor Chris Boden, who addressed the committee in his position as a Cambridgeshire County
Councillor. Councillor Boden stated that he is addressing the committee as the County Councillor
for the application site, and he explained that he fully endorses the officer's report and the
recommendation of approval. He added that he recognises that it is an outline application which is
important to note because there are some matters of detail which do need to be addressed but that
can be achieved under the reserved matters stage of the application.

Councillor Boden explained that the application has been subject to a successful pre-application
submission and has the approval of Whittlesey Town Council. He expressed the view that the
proposal brings huge positive economic effects with it and not merely for Whittlesey but for
Fenland as a whole.

Councillor Boden made the point that the location of the proposal is very important as there are no
material effects on residential amenity which sets it aside from any other economic growth area
that there is a potential for in Whittlesey. He expressed the view that all planning applications
involve the requirement of taking a balanced view of the pros and the cons and, in his opinion,
officers have reached the correct recommendation and most of the objections raised have been
with regards to the issue of transport issues.

Councillor Boden explained that he has been in contact with the Highways Team at
Cambridgeshire County Council with regards to the application, adding that he has frustrations with
regards to their approach, which he does not feel has been the correct one. He made the point that
there was a fundamental change to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in December
2024 with regards to transport planning and the change meant that the modelling changed from a
predict and provide model to a vision and validate model, with, in his view, the County Council
appear to still be using the predict and provide model and are not utilising the current NPPF for
transport planning.

Councillor Boden stated that it is the cumulative impact that is important when considering the
traffic situation not with this application but when considering every planning application within
Fenland. He added that he wished to emphasize the comments made by Cambridgeshire County
Council and Peterborough City Council which mirror the point he has been making for some
considerable time concerning the fact that the current transport network within and outside of
Whittlesey cannot cope with significant major additional development.

Councillor Boden expressed the view that the advantages of the scheme outweigh the disbenefits

Page 6



that there are, with there having been a significant number of new applications which have come
through in the last few years for additional housing all of which add to the negative effects of
transport in the area. He explained that there is a further planning application which will be brought
forward within the next few months which will be coming through on the site adjacent to Saxon Pit
which lends itself to a significant increase in heavy good vehicles coming into Whittlesey and the
cumulative effects cannot continue to be added on top of each other.

Councillor Boden expressed the opinion that the limit is yet to be reached but the limit is not too far
away, and this does need to be taken into context as additional employment is required within the
Whittlesey and Fenland area. He added that this sort of employment is also required and this sort
of economic development is exactly the sort of thing which is needed and he does not want to see
all of the advanced engineering and research roles being located in the Peterborough area,
leaving Fenland with nothing so far as economic development is concerned.

Councillor Boden expressed the view that Fenland needs this sort of development, and it is
inherently good and he explained that he has reviewed the points made by Peterborough City
Council Highways and, in his opinion, most of it appears to resonate with peak hour access to the
site than there reasonably will be. He added that when in operation it is likely that it will be a 24-
hour operation as well a large amount of remote working due to the nature of the employment roles
and, therefore, he does have doubts with regards to the calculations of the Peterborough City
Council Highways team.

Members asked the following questions:

e Councillor Mrs French asked Councillor Boden whether he has made any progress with his
discussions concerning a potential bypass as the A605 is nearing capacity? Councillor
Boden explained that Fenland District Council received a report earlier this year with
regards to the potential of the A605 Relief Road and he hopes to bring a further report to the
next meeting of Cabinet and Full Council to progress the matter. He added that the
likelihood is that the road maybe implemented in the next decade and explained that the
biggest and most immediate problems will actually be in Whittlesey Town Centre itself at the
two roundabouts, the Kelly Vision Roundabout and the Cemetery Road roundabout, as that
is where the most significant impact is and that will also be least impacted by the proposed
development.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that the A605 is surcharged and the Kelly Vision roundabout is
already suffering from very heavy traffic congestion, with Whittlesey suffering from
considerable HGV traffic and the condition of the A605 being very poor. He expressed the
view that there are severe limitations with regards to what can be done on the A605 which
will also mean there can be no widening achieved and by implementing an additional 1300
— 1600 jobs at the Science Park in the future then there will be a cumulative effect on the
A605. Councillor Boden stated that he agrees with the points made by Councillor Gerstner
as there are times when the A605 suffers from very heavy traffic which is only going to get
worse as there has been further residential development which has already been approved
but is yet to be built out and both roundabouts will suffer further from an increase in traffic.
He stated that the objections concerning the transport side which are being highlighted with
the application have nothing to do with the Kelly Vision roundabout or the Cemetery Road
roundabout as they are primarily to do with the Kings Dyke Bridge and with junctions within
the Peterborough City Council area. Councillor Boden expressed the view that it is a very
important distinction to make and added that if there must be an increase in traffic then it
should be against the flow of peak hour traffic which currently exists. He stated that this is
what the proposed application will cause, and it will obviously increase the amount of traffic
and the greatest increase in traffic will be against the current peak hour flow and minimizes
the effect that it would have. Councillor Boden added that if it were in addition to the current
direction of peak hour flows in both directions during the morning and evening then it would
be a different matter. He referred to the state of the A605 and added that he wholeheartedly
agrees that the condition of the road is unacceptable.

Page 7



e Councillor Mrs French stated that she is horrified at the state of the A605 and added that the
Highway Authority at the County Council need to take appropriate action as the state of the
A605 is disgraceful. Councillor Boden agreed.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Councillor Mrs Dee Laws, who addressed the committee in her position as a Whittlesey Town
Councillor. Councillor Mrs Laws stated that she completely endorses the officer’s report, and she
fully supports the application. She expressed the view that the Planning Officer should be
applauded for his detailed and comprehensive report which demonstrates the amount of work
involved with the statutory consultees to bring the application forward for a decision to be made.

Councillor Mrs Laws stated that the proposal in front of the committee is forecast to deliver 1660
full time equivalent jobs equating to £59 million per annum additional wages and £126 million per
annum gross value-added uplift for the UK economy. She added that the proposal also brings with
it significant economic benefits not only to the economy of Fenland but also the regional and UK
economy, with it also fitting with the Council’s economic growth objectives contained within its
Economic Refresh Strategy 2025 to 2028 and the shared ambition from Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough 2050 and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Local Growth Plan.

Councillor Mrs Laws added that it also fits with the Council’s political strategy occupying a broad
location for growth in Whittlesey which is identified for employment use, making the point that the
application achieves net gains in biodiversity, and will provide public accessibility and open space
through a country park. She stated that was a facility which was lost some years ago with the
failure of the Sainsbury’s out of town store, with an attached retail park and adjacent public country
park.

Councillor Mrs Laws added that it is the west to east main gateway into the town of Whittlesey and
there are opportunities for a high-level design and a visual enhancement to the area. She
explained that the agent and applicant provided a presentation to the members of Whittlesey Town
Council, and the members were supportive and welcomed the application, with their also being a
public consultation and as a result a lot of positive comments and support were received.

Councillor Mrs Laws explained that the proposal means a lot to Whittlesey Town Council and as
Councillor Mrs French has referred to the southern relief road, the proposal is the type of
opportunity that will open the gateway for transport and will improve the road network. She
expressed the view that Fenland is an aging and maturing population, and the proposal will
encourage younger people to come back and settle in Fenland and as a result it would mean that
the houses would be developed which are needed for families, with the proposal delivering so
much for the town and enhancing the future with the improvement to the age group coming
through.

Members asked the following questions:

e Councillor Gerstner stated that Councillor Mrs Laws has referred to people coming to
Whittlesey to live and he asked whether she would agree that Whittlesey has almost
reached capacity in land terms to build out any further major developments in Whittlesey as
it stands at the present time? Councillor Mrs Laws stated that she does not disagree with
that fact, and she expressed the view that Whittlesey has taken a hit for the Fenland area
with regards to the amount of development which has taken place. She added that there are
larger applications coming forward for both March and Wisbech and she stated that in the
Local Plan there is a figure but that is not a ceiling figure. Councillor Mrs Laws added that
there are several applications in the pipeline which are yet to be built out, and she explained
that she undertook a survey a few months ago which resulted in her consulting with the
local estate agents in the area, with the concerning thing being that people are trying to buy
retirement bungalows more than family houses at the present time, but it is her
understanding that in the community now residents are looking to give their children their

Page 8



houses and then they move into a retirement bungalow themselves. Councillor Mrs Laws
added that there appears to be an element of concern and there needs to be a more
levelling off the age group in the area.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that the proposed 1660 jobs which may or may not come forward
for local people in the Science and Technology park will require pretty high levels of
education and qualifications. He added that in Whittlesey there is an element of the area
being constrained on future land to build on which he is concerned about, with there being
no large open spaces anymore to build thousands of houses. Councillor Mrs Laws stated
that she understands the point being made by Councillor Gerstner and there is still land
available and there are still several applications which are to be brought forward which are
in Whittlesey and border Whittlesey. She made the point that the employment within the
Science and Technology Park would offer a variety of different job types and will not only
include degree operating technicians as there will be positions available for landscape
gardeners and posts available to maintain other aspects of the buildings. Councillor Mrs
Laws added there will be the requirement for staff to operate the café and restaurant too
and, therefore, there will not be the requirement just for the focus to be on high academic
level posts and there will be opportunities for a wide range of diverse skills.

e Councillor Mrs French stated that having read the officer’s report, the biggest concern is
Anglian Water and Middle Level Commissioners, and she asked Councillor Mrs Laws for
her views. Councillor Mrs Laws stated that she has many views on that point, but the
application is only at outline stage and further details will come forward as the application
progresses, with it appearing suddenly that the Middle Level Commissioners are taking an
interest which is not something that they have done previously. She made the point that she
welcomes the fact that they are showing an interest but that could be that they have more
staff support to be able to do that and whilst she appreciates that they have concerns,
Anglian Water have issues with regards to the right to connect and whilst there is an
awareness of this, it is not going to change and whatever utilities are on the site, Anglian
Water will have the right to connect into. Councillor Mrs Laws stated that from a Middle
Level perspective, in her view, it will come down to the next stage of the application
process.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Sarah Hann, Ross Percy-Jones and Robyn Green from Peterborough City Council Highways
Team. Sarah Hann explained that she is the Principal Engineer within the Highway Development
Control Team at Peterborough City Council (PCC) and they were consulted on the application as a
neighbouring authority. She explained that the application has been reviewed to assess the impact
of the proposed development on the Peterborough City Council highway network and due to the
lack of information provided as part of the application, as well as their understanding of the existing
highway network within Peterborough, they have had to recommend that the application be
refused because it has not been demonstrated that it would not result in a severe residual
cumulative impact on the highway within Peterborough.

Sarah Hann made the point that she is aware of several roads and junctions and roads in the
vicinity of the site which are already near to, at or over capacity during network peak hours, which
are on main routes anticipated to be used to access the development which include the A605,
Whittlesey Road, Toll Road and A605 Stanground bypass as well as the bypass junction with
Fletton Parkway. She made the point that the trip rates used within the transport assessment rely
on there being a modal share of 50% or 60% of car driver trips and the census data from 2011
shows that for existing employment sites in this area, 88% of people who travel from the
Peterborough area travel by car and 74% of the total trips made as a car driver.

Sarah Hann made the point that whilst the data is now 13 years old, it is the most recent census
data available which is not affected by the impacts of Covid and public transport, walking and
cycling links to the location have not significantly changed in the intervening period and she still
considers the data to be representative. She added that the Department of Transport connectivity

Page 9



tool also demonstrates that the location is poorly located by bus and active travel modes.

Sarah Hann explained that no assessment of the impact of the development for the 88% existing
mode share on the Peterborough network has been carried out and little information has been
provided by the applicant to indicate how it is intending to improve accessibility of the site from
Peterborough by non-car modes to achieve a vision of a reduction from 88% to 50% or 60% car
trips. She stated that it has been acknowledged that a shuttle bus is to be provided from
Peterborough Station to the site but this is unlikely to be widely used as the majority of people
travelling from the Peterborough area would then have to travel by bus to then have to travel out of
town again and for most people it would be quicker and more easier to just drive.

Sarah Hann added that the 63% of the trips generated are expected to travel to, from or through
the Peterborough area and she explained that even at a 50% mode share it would see an increase
of 180 trips in the peak morning travel period and 160 trips through the evening peak travel period.
She added that by using the trip data from the traffic assessment and the current modal share of
88% car trips for the application site, there would be an increase in 317 trips in the morning peak
travel time and 281 trips in the evening peak travel time because of the development.

Sarah Hann stated that the transport consultants have indicated that as the development does not
exceed an 8% increase in vehicle trips through Peterborough junctions, the impact of the
development is not significant, however, the trigger for junction capacity assessments is any
junction which receives thirty or more additional two-way trips in a single network peak hour
because of the proposal and this trigger applies across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
transport assessment guidelines. She made the point that the application does not fully consider
the impact of the proposed development of the Peterborough highway network and there has been
no junction capacity modelling for many of the affected junctions.

Sarah Hann acknowledged that Cambridgeshire Highways have recommended refusal of the
application but have also provided a condition restricting trips from the site to the 50% mode share
but if the 50% threshold was applied and restricted by a condition it would still have that significant
increase in trips through the Peterborough network and as the impact of this on all of the affected
junctions has not been fully modelled it has not been possible for her team to determine
appropriate mitigation measures for the impact within the area or what the appropriate level of
contribution associated with such a trip cap for the area would be. She asked the committee to
consider refusing the application due to the severe residual cumulative impact on highway safety
and capacity within Peterborough or defer the decision to allow the appropriate assessment of the
impacts of the development on Peterborough’s network to be carried out, and any mitigation or trip
cap contributions to be determined.

Members asked the following questions:

e Councillor Meekins asked for clarification with regards to the point made concerning the fact
that the data held is 15 years old. Sarah Hann explained that the most recent census data
that is not affected by the Covid pandemic is 13 years old, which is what would be used to
assess the modal share across trips to and from a development.

¢ Councillor Meekins stated that there appears to be an assumption that all those persons
who are going to be employed at the Science Park will be travelling from Peterborough and
apart from Whittlesey there are three other market towns and there is a great deal of
unemployment in Wisbech and the Science Park could offer employment for some of those
looking for work. Sarah Hann explained that the transport assessment submitted by the
applicant indicates that 63% of the trips to and from the site will come from the
Peterborough direction and the remaining trips will come to and from the Whittlesey
direction.

e Councillor Gerstner questioned whether at the time when the Cardea roundabout was built
and the junction for the Milk and Water Road was improved was there not any transport
assessments undertaken including statistical information gathered? Ross Percy-Jones,

Page 10



Principal Transport Planner, explained that there have been a number of planning
applications over the last 5 to 10 years where the junctions have been looked at and
subsequently had improvements made to them, specifically the Milk and Water junction. He
stated that those developments have each assessed their own impacts and there has been
significant changes around different development growth assumptions over time meaning it
is difficult to draw a like for like comparison between the applications and their
assessments. Ross Percy—Jones added that each one of the applications have been able
to justify any impacts in relation to those junctions and when considering the current
proposal, there is a neighbouring application site which has carried out the assessment on
Peterborough’s network and has taken into consideration the current proposal which
demonstrates that cumulatively when you add in all of the growth sites together it is when
you see the impact at the junctions. He made the point that it is acknowledged that the
A605 is currently capacity constrained but not to the extent which is being demonstrated
under the assessments.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that there has been a number of planning applications for the
Saxon works for an operator bringing in IBA and that is heavy goods traffic. He added that
he is surprised that PCC have not raised this as an issue as most of the traffic is coming
from the Peterborough direction and leaves in the Peterborough direction. Councillor
Gerstner added that there is an impending planning application going through the County
Council to double the amount of material that the applicant is going to deal with and he has
concerns with regards to the cumulative impact this application will also have. He asked for
clarification as to the type of modelling used if there is a reliance on statistical information
which is 13 years old. Ross Percy-Jones explained that the modelling that has been
undertaken by the applicant and the transport consultant have used up to date survey data
following a traffic survey exercise undertaken in 2023 using traffic flows and the census
data which was referred to, to give an indication of the percentage of car driver trips. He
added that he agrees it is indicative and it does not give a complete view of what happens
now but it is the closest that is available and does appear to be a national issue that most
authorities have to grapple with in terms of the age of the available data. Ross Percy-Jones
explained that the junction modelling that has been undertaken is based on current data
and added that with regards to the Saxon brick work site, PCC has provided a response on
that application and he has requested the same type of assessments and the applicant for
that proposal has carried out those assessments and has taken into consideration the
effect of the current application. He added that the Saxon brick work application has
demonstrated that by 2030 without their proposed development, with the doubling of HGV
traffic, there was an indication that the Milk and Water Drove junction on the A605 and the
immediate roundabout junctions to the west would operate at capacity. Ross Percy-Jones
expressed the opinion that when you start to see at capacity conditions on the network,
then any further increases in traffic delay starts to have a material impact on highway
safety, with there being a great deal of academic research which demonstrates that there
will be an increase in accidents on the network as congestion increases.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that the border between PCC and Fenland is located near the
Horsey Way turning and there have been some good road improvements undertaken by
PCC including improvements near Cardea and the Milk and Water junction, however, the
report states that the capacity is not sustainable and he asked for further clarity with
regards to what is considered to be sustainable. Ross Percy-Jones stated that regarding
sustainable network operations if the traffic volumes exceed 85% of the available capacity
on the network then that is what would be at capacity conditions. He added that a vision
validated approach needs to be followed with applications and there is the need to work
with applicants to identify a preferred vision to see whether that is something that can be
achieved and delivered. Ross Percy—Jones stated that from a PCC perspective when
considering the application, it has not been possible to determine whether that vision can
be sustainably delivered and it needs to be demonstrated whether there is going to be an
impact on the highway network and if there is a realistic chance that enough active travel
provision or increases in bus services is going to come forward which would help to offset

Page 11



the number of cars on the network, with to date it has not been demonstrated that there are
going to be sufficient proposals in place to achieve those aspects. He explained that as well
as the junction modelling which is looked at the modelling within the transport assessment
is also considered and if it is not demonstrated that the application site could be reasonably
accommodated with a vision that aligns with local and national policy then that is when he
would put forward a refusal recommendation.

e Councillor Gerstner referred to the condition of the A605 and its severe limitations in
engineering terms of what could and could not be achieved and he asked whether from a
PCC perspective there are any suggestions as to what works could be taken to help the
situation. Sarah Hann stated that she agrees it is a very constrained network in terms of the
physical space to allow improvements of any type and the Stanground bypass is currently
being looked at as one of the current phases is only a single carriageway and it is likely that
when considering all of the proposed developments in the locality it is likely that this section
of the bypass will need dualling and an entire additional carriageway will be needed. She
added that, with regards to the existing junctions, by dualling the bypass it would have a
knock-on impact on those junctions which would then need to be looked at as well.

e Councillor Purser referred to the A605 which suffers from heavy traffic, and he made the
point that if people use buses and cycles surely that will alleviate some of the problems
faced by the A605 and its heavy usage by HGV and cars. Sarah Hann stated that car trips
take less space on the road network as opposed to lorries and there is always a congestion
benefit by moving lorry trips from the highway. She explained that the information submitted
as part of the application does not have any comparison of the trips and as a result it is not
clear whether the proposed development would result in a reduction in trips and, therefore,
be a benefit because the comparison has not been undertaken.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Stephen Rice, the agent and James McPherson, Transport Consultant. Mr Rice outlined what a
Science Park is, explaining that it is a type of business park with a specific focus on research,
development and innovation. He added that the buildings on it are usually specifically designed
and purpose built with bespoke facilities for laboratories, workrooms, offices, meeting areas and
high-grade manufacturing as well as recreational facilities such as gyms and cafes.

Mr Rice explained that there is normally a link to a university or an educational body and the main
aim is to facilitate growth for business, entrepreneurs, start ups and collaborative communities. He
expressed the opinion that they all deliver heightened levels of prosperity for the businesses on
them and in turn this prosperity and wealth get distributed throughout the region in which it is
located.

Mr Rice explained why he is proposing a Science Park on a former brickwork, adding that in 2021
he was tasked with designing a scheme for the regeneration of the brickworks and when this
commenced it had only been announced that construction was starting on the new University in
Peterborough and this was a key factor in his initial evaluation process. He made the point that he
used to work for a company who managed all the science parks in Cambridge and Oxford, and he
is of the view that a Science Park can offer far more than a standard Business Park.

Mr Rice stated that he formed a team of consultants and the first company he employed
specialises in advising Science Parks who were recommended by the UK Science Park
Association, with them evaluating the site and concluding that it had excellent prospects. He
explained that it has always been the vision to design a development which was genuinely Net
Zero and this required an input from energy specialists and Vital Energy who are the onboard
development partner have designed an energy infrastructure which will mean that the development
will be self-sufficient in heat and power whilst also being able to export heat and in particular
generated from the on site ground and water source heat pumps.

Mr Rice explained that the energy and innovation centre on site could also be used to redistribute

Page 12



waste heat from McCains to Whittlesey through a local heat network which would potentially be
funded by national Government. He made the point that from an early stage in the process he
engaged with educational bodies including the new ARU,Peterborough College and Cranfield
University with ongoing discussions taking place, with Cranfield University being particularly keen
to commence research projects on water neutrality and circularity as well as energy infrastructure
focussing on heat networks and distribution, which is very much in line with Government policy for
which there is significant grant funding available and Cranfield are very keen to apply for grant
funding if outline permission is granted and he added that he is keen to involve the ARU with the
projects.

Mr Rice stated that Councillor Mrs Laws has outlined some of the benefits that the Science Park
will provide but it will also provide two hectares of public park immediately next to Whittlesey, an
onsite gym and café open to the public and a shuttle bus, with the shuttle bus key to the Science
park as it could run from the site to Peterborough Station and possibly Whittlesey Station. He
added that the proposal will include circular cycle footpaths which will run around the site as well
as a new pedestrian and cycle path from the site to Snoots Road, Whittlesey and explained that
there will also be new control crossings on the AGO5 for pedestrians and cyclists.

Mr Rice made the point that he is very conscious that despite extensive discussions and the
provision of evidence-based modelling which demonstrates how the development can deliver the
sustainable transport modes which are confirmed in the transport assessment, the information has
not been able to satisfy the Highway Team at the County Council and acknowledges the fact that
there is further work to do and he has confidence that the transport plan will work. He stated that
he has agreed to the principle of a Section 106 legal agreement that requires the delivery of new
sustainable transport infrastructure, off site parking control and substantial financial payments to
the Council if the sustainable transport targets are not met.

Mr Rice expressed the opinion that he feels that the town of Whittlesey and the region deserve a
development like this, he has heard views expressed that the proposal will not provide jobs for
Whittlesey or Fenland and he made the point that he does not agree with that view. He added that
of the predicated 1650 new jobs, about 30% are likely to be for high qualified scientists and the
rest will be for support staff across a whole range of disciplines including administration, media,
property, grounds maintenance and hospitality.

Mr Rice stated it is an aspirational project which would not only offer employment opportunities for
existing Fenland residents, but he is looking towards the future for the next generation who can
aspire to work in science and technology, attend university and build a successful prosperous
future for themselves and their families and region.

Members asked the following questions:

e Councillor Gerstner stated that it is important to clarify that contrary to the point made by
some Whittlesey Town Councillors that there was no public consultation, he can confirm
that there has been a consultation exercise undertaken not only with the public but also
with the Town Council. He added that the public consultation took place in December 2023
and the Town Council following that.

e Councillor Gerstner expressed the view that the proposal is a wonderful opportunity to
change Whittlesey and the surrounding area for generations to come.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that should the committee be minded to granting outline planning
permission would Mr Rice be prepared to confirm that the thirty-seven proposed draft
planning conditions in the officer’s report can? Mr Rice stated that he has reviewed all the
conditions with the Planning Officer and he is happy to agree to them all.

e Councillor Gerstner stated whether there is any plan in place should the Ralph Butcher
Causeway be restricted in traffic flow as has been the case for the last 12 months. Mr Rice
stated that it is a phased development which is not all going to happen overnight and if built
out as envisaged it would be the third largest science park in the UK. He added that

Page 13



everyone appears to be assessing what the transport issue is likely to be and by the time it
is fully built out it may be 15 years, with in 15 years’ time sustainable transport modes are
going to be far more prevalent and the use of the car will not be as prevalent as it is in the
current day. Mr Rice expressed the view that it cannot be contemplated that the issue with
the causeway will not be solved as they would have to consider reopening the railway
crossing again and consideration may be given to opening the southern relief road to take
some of the freight off the causeway or considering a weight limit on the causeway.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that Mr Rice had referred to a proposed bus service running from
site to Peterborough and in his presentation, he alluded to the possibility of the bus
servicing Whittlesey, and he asked for further clarity on that statement. Mr Rice explained
that at the current time the focus is on Peterborough as it is going to be more difficult to
persuade people to get off a train in Peterborough and use a bicycle to get to the site and
he sees that as a challenge. He explained that he has used a model of a very successful
Science Park in Didcot in Oxfordshire and that site operates an amazing sustainable
transport network including the use of the first autonomous buses in the UK. Mr Rice
explained that he is far keener to decipher on how to get people from Whittlesey Train
Station to the site using walking and cycling as a mode and he prefers to spend money
working out how a cycle route could be implemented rather than spending money on a
shuttle bus service but he has costed proposals for the bus service and that has been
provided to the County Council who have advised that it does look to be realistic in terms of
the costings. He stated that the parking on the site will be subject to a nominal parking
charge to dissuade people from using a car and the shuttle bus to Whittlesey has been
discussed and it could be factored in, but the preference would be to improve the
sustainable transport routes in the first instance.

e Councillor Mrs French stated that the application is in outline only but questioned whether
Mr Rice has any idea of who the end users may be? Mr Rice explained that he has worked
with Richard Collins from EIBC who are specialists in Science Parks and he has worked
with him for three years since the infancy of the application process, with Mr Collins
compiling a list of companies both from a local and slightly wider area from the district and
it has been surprising how many high-tech businesses already exist in the region and all of
them are potential targets but realistically the businesses that have been spoken to will not
engage fully until a planning permission is secured. He added that he has already spoken
to a number of regional politicians along with the CPCA, ARU and Cranfield and the only
way a site such as this is going to be successful is if all the interested parties have a vested
interest in seeing something like this work and come together. Mr Rice explained that when
the genetics of a science park are considered along with how they evolve it requires a
commitment from everybody, including politicians, regional leaders to attract businesses
and the search for employees which is a very important factor. He added that it needs to be
demonstrated to businesses that want to come here that there are employees and certain
services and facilities in place to attract international companies, with them also having
engaged with the CPCA from the outset as they would be one of the outside bodies that
consider the database of possible businesses.

e Councillor Mrs French asked for an explanation with regards to what a mobility hub is as it is
mentioned in the application. James McPherson stated that a mobility hub is a focal point
where the shuttle bus operates from as well as a place for parking and hiring bicycles and a
hub where the café could be. He explained that it is a centralised hub which looks to
primarily have opportunities for sustainable travel but will be a standalone building which
has other uses as well. Mr Rice added that there will also be a cycle shop, cycle repair
stations and showers which are all included to encourage people to use a bike rather than
a car.

e Councillor Connor stated that it has been mentioned that the CPCA and Cranfield have
been contacted and have shown an interest, however, should there be a problem and
businesses do not wish to operate from Whittlesey, how can he be certain that this will
come to fruition. He expressed the view that it appears that there is a reliance on others to
come forward with joined up thinking and it may not be as easy as that. Mr Rice stated that

Page 14



it is incredibly difficult to bring a project such as this to reality, with obtaining planning
permission just being the start and it has taken four years so far to get to the current stage,
and he made the point that this type of development does not happen overnight and if it did
then its longevity and successfulness would not be there. He explained that a great deal of
work and discussion has taken place over the four-year period and Cranfield University are
exceptionally enthusiastic and are looking to submit grant funding packages for research
projects based on energy and in particular water. Mr Rice stated that he been receiving
advice from Professor Stevenson who has been involved with the application from an
energy perspective, and he is of the opinion that the science park should be water based
due to the uniqueness of the park and none of the surface water can leave the site until a
pump is switched on. He added that this is completely unique and the only way that the
water will get into the Kings Dyke will be if a pump is switched on and the water will not go
anywhere unless the pump is turned on, with this being the concept of water neutrality
where all the on-site surface water comes in and it has been designed with a surface water
drainage system, and the water will all be directed back to the lake which has got a
freeboard and a vast attenuation capacity. Mr Rice explained that ultimately the site will be
treating its own water, circulating and reusing all of its water which its water neutrality
before moving to the next stage known as water circularity which means all the water
including foul water gets reused and recycled on the site. He added that Cranfield are very
keen to commence and obtain Government funding to commence research as the site
could become a blueprint for commercial developments in the east.

e Councillor Connor stated that, if the application were approved, when does Mr Rice
anticipate that works on the site would commence? Mr Rice stated that a realistic date
would be 2027 by the time the reserved matters application is dealt with, and the highways
issues are considered. He added that Anglian Water have agreed to supply fresh water to
the site and with regards to foul drainage on any site this needs to be dealt with. Mr Rice
explained that the first piece of work will be to implement the new access off the
roundabout and a Section 278 process will take 18 months to 2 years.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that with regards to land contamination and the current state of
the land, there has been historic issues with land contamination, and he questioned
whether any survey work has been undertaken on the land? Mr Rice stated that there has
been a survey carried out, and it was the first report he commissioned on the site, and a full
stage three contamination assessment was undertaken with twenty metre deep bore holes
and the survey was clear.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that he presumes that, in consultation with Cambridgeshire
Highways, the concerns and issues regarding the A605 and including traffic volumes and
the availability of cycle and pedestrian facilities will be properly addressed as in his view the
site is not suitable for either walking or cycling from Whittlesey or Peterborough. He asked
whether consideration has been given to joining and accessing cycle route 63 which can be
reached via Funthams Lane, with the pathway on the northern side of the A605 not being fit
for use and is challenging for pedestrians and he questioned whether Mr Rice can make a
commitment and agree to look at improving the pathway in order to open up a route to the
cycle route 63. Mr Rice explained that he has engaged with McCains very heavily during
the application as have his energy consultants with regards to potentially using heat from
McCains but unfortunately the strip of land in Funthams Lane which would be required to
implement a cycle lane is owned by Forterra and they have totally failed to engage with
him. James McPherson stated that with regards to footway improvements the transport
planning policy now compels them to be visionary, and it is in the revised NPPF, and from
the very outset of the application they have wanted to focus on the movement of people
and not cars and if bigger roads are built then ultimately they will be filled with cars and car
dominated behaviour. He made the point that he does not want to look at the future
demand based on historic traffic trends and with regards to the cycle and pedestrian
connections he has considered a route through the site to come out onto the A605 and
looked at a toucan controlled crossing to allow people to cross to the northern side of the
A605 and to then join those into Crossway Hands which will then go up towards the off

Page 15



carriageway cycle connection. James McPherson added that with regards to going back
into Whittlesey there are constraints with regards to what is achievable in terms of
improvements for cyclists, but it has been carried along as far as Snoots Road and that is
where the cyclists would rejoin the carriageway. He made the point that it is part of the
strategy being looked at and considering how people can be moved by sustainable modes
and the mode share target of car drivers at 50% has been included in all the transport work
and a lot of work has been undertaken to show how that can be achieved through not only
active travel but also to include shared and public transport including the shuttle bus.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that there is a cycle route 63 which goes from Stonald Road in
Whittlesey and all the way to Peterborough, and he has concerns that the Crossway Hand
junction is already suffering from a high level of traffic with limited capacity. He expressed
the view that the road is dangerous for cyclists due to the volume of traffic and the fact that
it is a single carriageway and with lorries attempting to pass each other, there is no room
for cyclists. James McPherson stated that he is not saying that everyone is going to cycle
to the site or that nobody will drive to and from the site, however, they are trying to provide
an evidence based sustainable strategy by considering various different options on how
people can travel to the site, with a lot of that travel is based on public transport including
the shuttle bus. He added that with regards to the Crossway Hand junction there have been
different options considered with regards to the design and in line with local transport note
120 which looks at cycle infrastructure design and how cyclists can be integrated with
vehicles whilst acknowledging the HGV company in the vicinity that a swept path analysis
has been undertaken in order to consider the largest vehicle types that would have to
access Crossway Hand and to check that all of the different users could be accommodated
and that has also been subject to an independent stage one road safety audit as well. Mr
Rice explained that the site can be accessed by coming out of Whittlesey at Crossway
Hand where you come into the site where there is then a perfectly good cycle way that
takes cyclists through the site, through the science park and then back out the other end.
He added that if people wanted to cycle from one end of the A605 to the McCain end then
that is achievable rather than used the A605. James McPherson added that he is not
suggesting that an inordinate amount of people would cycle to the site and whilst they
would love to see that happen in the overall mode share he is suggesting just under 10% of
the overall employees at the site could potentially have the opportunity to cycle. He made
the point that the figure is not a dissimilar level to what is shown in the census data of 2011.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that 10% of 1600 is 160 and he does feel that the figure is being
slightly ambitious.

¢ Councillor Gerstner questioned whether consideration is going to be given to a further public
consultation should outline planning permission be approved? He further asked whether
consideration is being given to the inclusion of a data centre within the science park? Mr
Rice stated that with regards to a further public consultation he would be keen to know
what Councillor Gerstner had in mind and if there was a valid reason for it and it would
achieve something then he would consider it. He added that with regards to a data centre,
the whole concept of the application is to provide employment, and the applicant has
already been approached by people who are looking to include many different types of
things on the site including a data centre. Mr Rice stated that a data centre would only
employ about ten people and that is not something that he wants to see in Whittlesey and,
in his view, it would seem a waste of a fantastic site. He explained that there will be data on
the site and the vital energy infrastructure which has been designed for the site could be a
blueprint as it shares heat and cooling and there is no requirement for air conditioning on
the site and all of the computer banks in the site will be cooled from the lake. He added that
he is totally against data centres and distribution centres on the site.

e Councillor Meekins stated that Mr Rice has mentioned that he has previous experience with
Science Parks, and he explained that he was a partner at Bidwells for 13 years and a
fundamental part of the business. He referred to the 1600 jobs going to be located on the
Science Park and asked whether the office jobs that were alluded to are 9-5 roles or could
they be attributed to flexible working hours? Mr Rice stated that he would describe a

Page 16



Science Park as one of the most enlightened places that you can get in terms of
employment, and they are flexible in terms of working hours. He added that it will be
dependent on the type of research that is being undertaken, and some employees will treat
it as a 9-5 job whilst others will hybrid work.

Members asked officers the following questions:

e Councillor Gerstner stated that there has been a consultation exercise undertaken but one
consultee was omitted, and he asked whether that has any bearing on what can and cannot
be achieved today given the fact that the consultee have been given further time to respond.
Gavin Taylor stated that there was one resident who was missed off of the original
consultation and as a result they have been issued with a 21 day consultation letter which is
the statutory obligation and that consultation period expires around the 26 November but to
date no comments have been received from them. He added that the recommendation is as
set out in the report and is to have regard to any material matters that may arise after the
determination of the application today, but irrespective on whether the residents’ comments
on the application, the Council has a legal duty before a planning permission or refusal
notice is issued to take into account all material considerations. Gavin Taylor explained that
should that resident raise a matter to be considered which has not already been identified in
the officer’s report then the recommendation would be to discuss the matter with the
Chairman of the Planning Committee as to whether the application would need to be
brought back before the committee. He added that if there are comments raised which are
not materially different to what has been considered in the officer’s report then it would
permit to proceed on that basis.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that given the objections both within the application from PCC
Highways and CCC Highways and considering the point made by Councillor Boden within
the presentation that they may be using the wrong model to factor an opinion on the
proposal he would like that to be answered. He added that Travel England have stated that
the AGO5 is not conducive to cycling or walking and the condition of the AGO5 is very poor as
well as the adjacent road not being suitable for active travel at 40 mph. Councillor Gerstner
made the point that to his knowledge there are five different speed limits along the A605
which alternate between 30 and 40mph along various parts of the road. He stated that given
the possibility of wastewater there are several factors to consider, and he asked officers to
explain how they have decided the contributing factors to recommend the application for
approval. Gavin Taylor stated that, in terms of the process, there is always a planning
balance to apply to most applications when making a determination and on this occasion
the planning balance is set out in the report. He referred to some of the outstanding matters
which include drainage and water supply and stated that the NPPF sets out that where it is
considered that the development can be made acceptable in planning terms through
conditions or obligations and in this case it is deemed appropriate to apply planning
conditions to ensure that there are satisfactory schemes coming forward to support the
development and he added that there is no reason why that cannot be secured through a
planning condition. Gavin Taylor explained that he has contacted the EA as well as the MLC
and asked whether they consider the conditions which have been set out are satisfactory
and they have responded positively and with regards to some of the outstanding matters
with regards to drainage there are reasonable conditions which can be imposed which are
attributed to larger applications asking for site wide strategies. He added that, with regards
to the balance of the transport impacts, it is set out in Section 11 of the report, with officers
being mindful that the site is constrained and limited in terms of its scope and what can be
reasonably and viably achieved through the scheme and whilst ideally there would be a
continuous cycle footway connecting Whittlesey to Ramsey to Peterborough to March,
unfortunately there is not due to how the settlements have evolved. Gavin Taylor stated that
the applicant has chosen to look at what reasonable opportunities can be achieved through
sustainable transport modes and active travel modes and a package has been put forward
which, in the view of officers, is not going to alleviate the transport impacts and as is set out
in the report there are going to be cumulative impacts of transport on the highway, but it

Page 17



does aim to limit that through its vision. He added that by working through the proposal with
the transport team there are obligations going to be sought through the Section 106 system
where there will essentially be a financial penalty if the active travel movements and the
modal share is not achieved, for the applicant to pay towards highway improvements which
may either alleviate some of the transport impacts or improve and encourage non car
modes of travel. Gavin Taylor stated that those issues are balanced against the benefits of
the scheme which are set out in Section 11 of the report and include economic growth,
employment opportunities, bio diversity net gain which is above the statutory 10%
requirement as well as the public community areas which can be utilised by everybody and
all of those aspects are seen as benefits which outweigh those disbenefits.

Councillor Gerstner stated that the proposal is a wonderful opportunity for the district and
should not be missed, however, he does not feel that enough weight has been given to the
A605. He added that PCC have highlighted their constraints and restrictions and their ability
to address the A605 and Active Transport England have highlighted that they require a firm
commitment around the provision of an enhanced service in the area, making the point that
currently the application does not include part of this enhanced transport system. Councillor
Gerstner expressed the view that out of 1600 jobs, they are expecting 10% of that number
to be cyclists on a road which is not conducive to cyclists or pedestrians. He reiterated that
point that Active England are not supporting the proposal in its current form, and he finds
the serious cumulative effects of the AG05 to be unnerving.

Councillor Mrs French referred to condition 2 and added that it states that application for
approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local planning authority before the
expiration of five years and she questioned whether that statement contains an error as the
Council will not exist in five years. Gavin Taylor stated that the conditions are in place for
members to consider and if they wish to amend any of them then that is within their gift to
do so. He added that five years was set as a requirement to deliver the reserved matters
stage of the application as it is a long-term project and if after 5 years the reserved matters
aspect is not in place then the element of that permission is removed. Matthew Leigh stated
that the condition relates to the local planning authority and irrespective of whether it is
Fenland or another council, it will still be the local planning authority.

Councillor Gerstner asked officers from CCC Highways how they came to their decision on
the application and why they are not using the latest data and information? Andrew
Connolly explained that the modelling that has been assessed by the Highway Authority is
the modelling that has been submitted by the applicant and the assumption within that
model uses up to date traffic counts using industry standard software to assess the impact,
with the model not being out of date and it is very much up to date. He referred to the
census data and added that census is undertaken once very ten years and is, therefore, a
little bit limited, making the point that it is unfortunate that the last census was in the middle
of the Covid pandemic, and nobody uses that data as it does not give an accurate
representation, and as a result the 2011 data is used to demonstrate how people travel
around in Whittlesey. Jez Tuttle from CCC Highways stated that he has heard it mentioned
during the committee that the Highway Authority at CCC do not use the vision and validate
model but that is not the case and that modelling system is used and especially where
networks are constrained. He made the point that the challenge that the highways authority
faces is that someone has a vision, but consideration must be given as to whether the
challenge is reasonable and he is aware that people who live in Peterborough will walk and
cycle but as soon as you get out of the parkway system then that is less likely to be the
case. Jez Tuttle stated that in terms of the vision the Highway Authority are not convinced
that they will see a lot of walking and cycling because of the A605 and even the path
alongside the river is not of a good condition during the winter months especially when it is
dark. He made the point that when considering passenger transport, at the current time,
there is only one bus which is being proposed to run from the train station in Peterborough
and whilst it may pick up some passengers from the station who have travelled from
Huntingdon, in his view, the proposed bus will not help those people who are travelling from
the March direction and there is a larger suite of measures that is required to accompany

Page 18



the application, and he does not believe that the work has been undertaken to ascertain
what those additional measures might be. Jez Tuttle explained that because of the issue,
the Highway Authority have requested a trip cap as they are convinced that the mode share
will go down to 50% as that lends itself more to Cambridge where there are park and ride
facilities and cycle ways. He expressed the view that passenger transport is the way
forward, one bus operating from the station in his opinion is not sufficient and there maybe
other opportunities to look at works buses from other areas and he explained that the
Highway Authority are not against the vison and validate, but in their opinion and with the
information that they have seen to date, it is not achievable at this point in time.

Councillor Gerstner stated that in the presentation it was stated that the current proposals
for the Crossway Hand junction remains unacceptable and the revised design incorporates
several positive amendments to partially address the concerns. He added that it also states
that the variation in design could be deliverable but would likely resolve its principal
concerns and on balance the Highway Authority feel that it is now in a position where it can
seek a planning condition to secure delivery of appropriate and cycle mitigations at the
Crossway Hand junction. Councillor Gerstner asked whether a desktop modelling exercise
has been undertaken for the junction and whether an officer has been to site to see it first
hand to ascertain what can and cannot be achieved at the junction? James Stringer from
the Highway Authority stated that with regards to that junction he agrees that it is quite
constrained and there are HGV movements related to the business located nearby. He
explained that the design which has been undertaken by the applicant has been through a
road safety independent audit to assess whether the junction would flag up any safety
issues which would need to be resolved and as a result the design has been amended.
James Stringer explained that the current status is that the design is not perfect and the
application is at outline stage but there is a design in place which could be delivered that
would be satisfactory to the Highway Authority after going through the 278 process to refine
the design in order to assist HGV traffic from getting through the junction whilst also
providing something that is safe and attractive for non-motorised users which he agrees is a
challenge.

Councillor Gerstner stated that there does not appear to be any recent data, making the
point that he fails to understand why when dealing with a road layout where there is one
road in and one road out, where there is no other alternative and traffic survey has not been
undertaken. Jez Tuttle explained that the traffic survey data is up to date or as up to date as
it can be given the time scale between the submission of the application and now and the
traffic conditions in terms of vehicles are up to date and the key thing is the vision validate
process requires consideration as to how the amount of car trips can be reduced. He added
that the base data for the mode share is quite old which causes an issue as when trying to
undertake a vision and validate analysis on data which is old and officers do know the
number of cars and an assumption can be made with regards to the number of cars that
would go to the site given the trip rates which are standardised. Jez Tuttle explained that the
figure which is not known is how many people that could refrain from using their cars and
because the data for the existing amount of people such as the mode share is old and it is
very difficult to undertake a vision and validate assessment with data which is quite old. He
added that it is very difficult for Highways Officers as they used to rely quite significantly on
Government census data and as the last census data was 2021 this does lead to questions
with regards as to whether the data is still valid. Jez Tuttle explained that one of the PCC
Highways Officers had made the point that the status quo has not altered that much when
considering the corridor which is being looked at and there have not been any large-scale
bus, walking or cycle interventions and when considering peoples travel habits there is not a
lot which is going to change. He explained that the train services have not particularly
increased and as there have not been any significant changes since 2011, it is going to be
broadly the same in terms of the mode, with it going to be predominantly car modes with
very few cyclists as well as people using the bus and potentially train users. Jez Tuttle
stated that the opinion of Highways is that the data is old but given the fact that there will not
be much which will change things, in their view, the data set for the route is going to be

Page 19



about right.

Councillor Gerstner stated that modelling alludes to the fact that there are going to be
queues on the roundabout and Highways have predicated that the queue could be up to
110 metres, with 2034 still being a considerable number of years away but that could be
when the science park comes to fruition. He made the point that the Highway Authority have
stated that this is not acceptable and demonstrates that the proposed development will have
severe impact on the roundabout and he asked officers to provide an explanation. Andrew
Connolly explained that it is the applicants modelling which the Highway Authority have
reviewed to determine the impacts and what they are required to assess is the base year
which is when the application is submitted, the year when the application is fully built out
and then five years following post full build out in order that it can be determined how the
network is going to operate in the future. He explained that the information which has been
provided by the applicant has been reviewed and the modelling they have used is up to date
and is, therefore, acceptable, which demonstrates that the queues in the transport
assessment are shown as being 109 metres on the A605 at the roundabout by the Ralph
Butcher Causeway. Jez Tuttle added that the queue length is 109 metres which is
approximately twenty cars and the delay in journey would equate to 48 seconds per vehicle
but that information was on the very minimal mode shares as officers have already stated
that they are not entirely convinced by that. He made the point that if the mode share
increases significantly to 80%, if there is a junction that reaches capacity it becomes an
exponential increase and if the mode shares are not achieved then the delay to each
vehicle could then increase to up to 2 minutes which is why the trip cap has been suggested
as a secondary intervention if the mode share is not realised.

Members asked questions, made comments and received responses as follows:

Councillor Mrs French asked for her thanks to officers to be recorded and added that,
having listened to the views of the Highways Officers from both PCC and CCC, she believes
that the issues are something which can be overcome in the future. She stated that itis a
brownfield site, an outline application and there appears to be very few objections.
Councillor Mrs French referred to 5.21 of the officer’s report where the Council’'s Business
and Economy Team have stated that there is a shortage of commercial space employment
land in the district. She made the point that the agent has undertaken a great deal of work
on the proposal, agreeing that the condition of the A605 is appalling and she will support the
application.

Councillor Imafidon stated that Fenland is crying out for something such as a Science Park,
and it is an opportunity which should not be missed. He added that he has considered the
issues and challenges concerning the A605, however, the road infrastructure across the
whole country is struggling but that does not mean that development should not be
encouraged. Councillor Imafidon stated that both the officers and agent for the application
have carried out very good work and the benefits outweigh the harm in this case, and he will
fully support the application.

Councillor Meekins stated that the application has good points and bad and the issue
concerning traffic congestion, in his opinion, is just a way of life. He added that this is a
wonderful opportunity with potentially 1600 jobs and Fenland is open for business and the
agent has alluded to the fact that whilst there is still uncertainty with regards to businesses
coming forward with a proposed 1600 jobs there must be some interest. Councillor Meekins
added that if the proposal does not come to Whittlesey then those employment
opportunities are going to go elsewhere, and the brownfield site will be left. He made the
point that if outline permission is granted then the agent and applicant can move forward
and advise interested parties that outline permission has now been granted. Councillor
Meekins added that there are a significant number of conditions which have been attributed
to the application and, in his view, it should be supported.

Councillor Connor stated that he will support the application, adding that this type of
application does not come forward very often and it is a wonderful opportunity for Fenland to
put itself on the map. He added that it is only an outline application which only has access

Page 20



agreed and a significant amount of detail can come forwards at the next stage of the
application should it be approved today.

e Councillor Gerstner stated that he would have preferred to see the application deferred as
there are sustainability and mode share concerns as well as cycling and walking
infrastructure deficiencies, with there also being bus and public transport uncertainties and a
number of technical outstanding issues. He added that there is a great deal of mitigation
measures included in the conditions and he does not feel that the application has been
rushed because he appreciates that the applicant has put in a great deal of work. Councillor
Gerstner stated that the officers have also dealt very well with the application but, in his
view, he believes that the application should be deferred in order to give the applicant time
to revert back to highways in order to try and find some mitigation that can be engineered.
He expressed the view that people do not walk and cycle down that road and there are a
number of aspects that can still be rectified including the Crossway Hand junction.
Councillor Gerstner stated that it is a fantastic opportunity which he is very supportive of but
in its current form he cannot support the application, and he would rather see it deferred.

e Councillor Purser stated that the application is in outline form and he will fully support the
proposal.

e Councillor Connor stated that on balance the employment opportunities the proposal will
bring with it and the aspirations of Fenland to move forward all outweigh the concerns with
the road apart for repairing the A605.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Imafidon and agreed that the
application be GRANTED as per the officer’'s recommendation.

(Councillor Connor stated that he had previously attended a presentation given by the agent with
officers and members during the infancy of the application but he is not pre-determined and will
consider the application with an open mind)

(All members present declared that they know Councillors Boden and Mrs Laws as they are
elected members of the District Council)

(Councillor Mrs French and Imafidon stated that they are members of Cabinet and work closely
with both Councillor Boden and Councillor Mrs Laws, but they have not entered into any
discussions regarding the application)

(Councillor Gerstner stated that he has met the agent on two previous occasions, but they did not

discuss the application and attended the open public meeting concerning the application, but he is
not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open mind)

3.40 pm Chairman

Page 21



PLANNING COMMITTEE -enland

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

WEDNESDAY, 10 DECEMBER 2025 - 1.00 L )
PM Fenland District Council

PRESENT: Councillor Mrs J French, Councillor D Connor (Chairman), Councillor C Marks (Vice-
Chairman), Councillor | Benney and Councillor S Imafidon, Councillor P Murphy (Substitute)

APOLOGIES: Councillor R Gerstner and Councillor M Purser,

Officers in attendance: David Grant (Senior Development Officer), Tom Donnelly (Senior
Development Officer), Matthew Leigh (Head of Planning), Hayleigh Parker-Haines (Senior
Development Officer), Stephen Turnbull (Legal Officer) and Jo Goodrum (Member Services &
Governance Officer)

P73/25 PREVIOUS MINUTES

The minutes of 12 November 2025 were confirmed and signed as an accurate record.

P74/25 F/YR25/0726/PIP
LAND SOUTH OF 29 PRIMROSE HILL, DODDINGTON
PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE FOR 2 X DWELLINGS

The Legal Officer stated that the application is for residential and workplace use and the issue
facing the Council is that there is no power which allows it to impose planning conditions or Section
106 obligations on a Planning in Principle (PIP) application. He explained that the advice that he
has given the committee is that it would be better for the application to be deferred in order to allow
time for discussions to take place with the applicant to consider amending the application to make
it more efficient for the application to be approved or refused and then if it were to be approved it
would be framed in the correct way so that members could achieve what they want in that event.

Councillor Connor stated that he is sorry that this issue has not been highlighted prior to today’s
meeting and apologised to the applicant and agent for the issue which has arisen and also to
members who have spent time reading the reports and have undertaken site visits.

Councillor Connor asked members whether they were content with the legal advice which had
been provided to them and members unanimously agreed that they were.

Councillor Benney stated that it is disappointing that issue this has not been identified prior to
today as the application has been in the planning system for a long time. He asked the Head of
Planning to confirm whether the application is going to be brought back before the committee for
determination? Matthew Leigh explained that as members are aware a new scheme of delegation
is being introduced by Central Government and it is not likely to be heard by the House of Lords for
at least another two months and he does not see any reason why this application will not be
brought back to committee in January.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Marks and agreed that the
application be DEFERRED.

(Councillor Benney declared that the agent has undertaken work for Chatteris Town Council and
himself personally, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open

Page 22



mind)

(Councillor Imafidon declared that the agent has undertaken work for him personally, but he is not
pre-determined, and will consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Marks declared, in accordance with Paragraph 2 of the Code of Conduct on Planning
Matters, that he had been lobbied on this application)

P75/25 F/YR25/0729/PIP
LAND NORTH OF 10 PRIMROSE HILL, DODDINGTON
PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE TO ERECT 4 WORKPLACE DWELLINGS

The Legal Officer stated that he has advised the committee that this application should be deferred
due to the fact that the Council cannot currently impose conditions to regulate the development
and a deferral will enable discussions to take place with the applicant.

Members confirmed that they agree with the legal advice provided to them.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Marks and agreed that the
application be DEFERRED.

(Councillor Benney declared that the agent has undertaken work for Chatteris Town Council and
himself personally, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open
mind)

(Councillor Imafidon declared that the agent has undertaken work for him personally, but he is not
pre-determined, and will consider the application with an open mind)

P76/25 F/YR25/0730/PIP
LAND NORTH OF THE QUADRANT, PRIMROSE HILL, DODDINGTON
PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE FOR 2 X DWELLINGS

The Legal Officer stated that he has advised the committee that this application should be deferred
due to the fact that the Council cannot currently impose conditions to regulate the development
and a deferral will enable discussions to take place with the applicant.

Members confirmed that they agree with the legal advice provided to them.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Marks and agreed that the
application be DEFERRED.

(Councillor Benney declared that the agent has undertaken work for Chatteris Town Council and
himself personally, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open
mind)

(Councillor Imafidon declared that the agent has undertaken work for him personally, but he is not
pre-determined, and will consider the application with an open mind)

P77/25 F/YR25/0258/VOC
LAND EAST OF THE ELMS, CHATTERIS
VARIATION OF CONDITION 7 (SOUTHERN ACCESS) AND REMOVAL OF
CONDITION 16 (LEAP) OF PLANNING PERMISSION F/YR22/0967/FDL (ERECT
UP TO 80 X DWELLINGS (OUTLINE APPLICATION WITH MATTERS COMMITTED
IN RESPECT OF ACCESS)) - RE WORDING OF CONDITION.

Page 23



Hayleigh Parker—Haines presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Councillor Benney, a District Councillor. Councillor Benney stated that the application site used to
be in the ward but is now in his adjacent Council ward. He explained that this was a scheme that
he looked at when he sat on the Investment Board and came under his portfolio holder
responsibilities which is why he is not taking part in the discussion or voting for the item.

Councillor Benney stated he has always supported the application because when he first became
a councillor for Birch Ward, he had several residents contact him with regards to a flooding issue in
The Elms, explaining that when the Farriers Gate development was built at a higher level the water
runs off from that development and into The Elms causing flooding to gardens which are often
underwater as well as being halfway up the wheels of parked cars. He stated that at that time he
went to see David Rowen, the Development Manager, and asked him what steps could be taken to
overcome the drainage issue, and his professional advice was the best thing to resolve the issue
will be to build near it and, in his view, this is a once in a lifetime opportunity to fix the flooding
issues in The Elms.

Councillor Benney added that councillors can be unpopular for approving the granting planning
permission amongst other things but fixing a situation so that residents houses do not flood is a
vital part of a councillors role, which is why he has always supported this application because
when he was the Portfolio Holder, he was involved in meetings with Lovells who are the
construction company responsible for the build of the development. He added that during the
course of one meeting he asked whether the development would fix the problem in The Elms, and
he was advised that it would and he asked for a written guarantee that the proposal would fix the
problems for the residents of The Elms, and it was confirmed by the Lovells representative that it
would, with the response he was provided being as good as you are ever going to get as a
councillor to reach a satisfactory resolution.

Councillor Benney explained that there are two attenuation ponds on the site which are located in
order to take the water away from the application site as well as to take the water away that is
flooding through from Farriers Gate, which is the only chance which will come forwards to fix the
issue and it will be a lost opportunity if it does not go ahead. He explained that at the outline stage
of the application it was going to be for 80 houses, however, that has now been reduced to just
over 50 dwellings due to the amount of land which is required for the attenuation ponds to drain
the water away which is why the variation of condition application is needed due to the costs of
undertaking the work, which are prohibitive and could stop the development from going ahead.

Councillor Benney added that he appreciates that there is a loss of social housing from the
proposal but there have been several houses approved in West Street and as a councillor there is
the requirement to have social housing for local need as opposed to people being sent from
outside the area because they need somewhere to live. He made the point that Chatteris is a nice
place and he fully supports the application for the social housing that was passed which he
appreciates is required but if the reduction in social housing means that the issue in The Elms is
resolved then, in his view, it is a sacrifice which is worth it and he asked members to support the
proposal.

Members asked the following questions:

e Councillor Marks asked Councillor Benney whether he was able to confirm how much social
housing has been approved in Chatteris recently? Councillor Benney stated that he does
not know a definitive number, but he explained that there is the whole estate located down
West Street and the Hallam Land development will include an element of social housing. He
added that there needs to be enough social housing in the first place for local need and it
should not be the situation where people are just sent to Chatteris because it is cheap to
live. Councillor Benney expressed the view that several years ago the Council were moving

Page 24



people out of London, where the Housing Benefit equated to £1,500 a month and in
Chatteris it was £600 per month. He expressed the opinion that he wants to keep Chatteris
a nice place to live and the houses should be for local people. Councillor Benney stated that
he does fully support the developments which are being undertaken but his focus with the
current application is overcoming the drainage issues for the residents of The Elms.

e Councillor Marks asked Councillor Benney whether he can recall when the last episode of
flooding occurred? Councillor Benney stated that he did not know as he is no longer the
ward councillor where the site is located but does recall an instance where he was called to
a meeting in a resident’'s home and the gardens were all under water and their cars had
water above tyre level with the road at the bottom of The Elms being flooded. He made the
point that this is a one-time opportunity to fix the problem and he would rather be unpopular
for building something that people do not want than be unpopular for having a house that
has 2ft of water running through it as it is a situation that people should not find themselves
in.

e Councillor Mrs French stated that it is disappointing that there is a loss of affordable
housing, but she does understand why. She asked Councillor Benney whether he is aware
if the Lead Local Flood Authority has been consulted on the proposal? Councillor Benney
stated that he did not know as he is no longer the Portfolio Holder he is no longer involved
in briefings.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from John
Mason, the agent. Mr Mason stated that the application seeks to amend several key aspects of an
outline planning permission granted by the Council in September 2024. He added that the outline
application for land east of The Elms, approved the principle of up to 80 dwellings on the site and
the principle of access from The Elms and all other matters were reserved.

Mr Mason stated that the site has been purchased by Fenland Future Limited (FFL) for delivery
and he explained that FFL is the wholly owned subsidiary of the Council and the purpose of FFL is
to deliver much needed housing and to provide a financial return to the Council which can be used
to support Council services and local projects. He made the point that the site in Chatteris provides
FFL with the opportunity to build a range of homes for local people and to provide a revenue
stream for the Council, with the FFL employing highly experienced construction company Lovell
Partnerships (LP) to design and deliver a housing scheme which provides much needed local
housing and additional revenue back to the Council and maximising the financial return from the
site.

Mr Mason explained that following the outline approval FFL and LP have been working with the
architects and engineers to fully understand the constraints of the site and this has led to three key
changes being proposed which require an amendment to the outline application. He made the
point that the site is at risk of surface water flooding and the outline application including limited
detail on how surface water could be safely managed without increasing flood risk elsewhere.

Mr Mason added that updates to the Environment Agency’s flood map to account for climate
change now suggest that the site is more at risk than previously thought and that as a result a cut
and fill exercise will be proposed in order to raise some parts of the site and lower others to ensure
that the new homes are protected from flooding and any flood waters can be directed out of the
site to the east. He stated that as a result this has reduced the developable area and increased the
engineering costs meaning that only 54 homes can now be delivered instead of 80 and there
cannot be any affordable housing included.

Mr Mason explained that this change has been subject to robust scrutiny with officers and third-
party consultants, and he added that whilst there has been some disagreement concerning the
exact construction costs, all parties agree that the scheme will not be viable if it provides affordable
housing and consequently would not be able to proceed. He added that the second key change is
with regards to the vehicular link to the south, however, the outline application only proposed a link

Page 25



from The Elms, which was on the basis of highways modelling done at the time and this is what
was shown on the approved outline plans.

Mr Mason explained that a pedestrian and cycle link to the south will have several advantages
and, in his opinion, it will promote walking and cycling through the developments to the east of
Chatteris and will link the public footpaths to the town centre and out to the countryside. He added
that it will also limit the traffic going through The EIms which will now only have a vehicular link to
the homes on the application site rather than a vehicular link to homes across the entire eastern
allocation.

Mr Mason made the point that the change has been reviewed with the Highways Authority and
Planning Officers who have confirmed that by removing the link it will comply with both the
allocation and the outline application. He explained that he is also proposing to remove the public
play area from the site and make a commuted sum payment of £67,000 to replace and improve
existing play equipment nearby.

Mr Mason stated that the proposed homes are already within walking distance of several play
areas and officers agree that it will be better for the local community if the existing play areas are
upgraded, making the point that a play area on the application site would duplicate existing
provision and would also be located in areas at risk of flooding which may limit its usability. He
stated that if the application is approved then FFL will move forward with the reserved matters
submission for 54 dwellings which will set out the precise layout and designs of the homes and
open space.

Mr Mason made the point that FFL in partnership with Lovells are confident that the scheme is
deliverable and they will be able to get on site in good time to ensure that the new homes can be
delivered. He added that it is regrettable that the site cannot deliver affordable homes and the site
will continue to play an important part in delivering housing, open space and pedestrian and cycle
connections for the district whilst fulfilling the aims of the allocation.

Members asked the following questions:

e Councillor Mrs French asked whether the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have been
contacted with regards to the existing flood issues which are being experienced? Mr Mason
explained that he has already submitted the reserved matters application which contains a
detailed surface water drainage scheme and his engineer has been engaging with the
LLFA on a pre application basis to agree the plans and the reserved matters application
has also been subject to consultation as well from the LLFA and Anglian Water. He
explained that their written responses already appears online which approves the drainage
strategy and officers will be making their assessment of that shortly. Mr Mason added that it
is his understanding that with regards to the surface water flooding issues is that the water
comes into the site from a variety of directions and the cut and fill exercise will create
contour lines which will channel the water out of the site and out to the countryside to the
east taking flood water from the surrounding areas and direct the water in a controlled
manner.

e Councillor Mrs French referred to the public open space and the proposed financial
contribution that has been stated, and she expressed the opinion that as the Portfolio
Holder for Parks and Open Spaces it is far preferable to have better quality play areas as
opposed to too many smaller ones.

e Councillor Marks stated that he understands that the £67,000 will be for the park provision,
however, he asked for clarification as to what the actual original figure was for the initial
proposed park? Mr Mason stated that in the original viability review there was a figure for
public open space and it is his understanding that the £67,000 figure was provided by the
Public Open Spaces Team.

e Councillor Marks stated that there is going to be a loss of social housing which he is
concerned about and he added that there is a very large attenuation pond proposed on site

Page 26



which will affect land use and he questioned whether that is one of the reasons why there is
a loss of social housing. Mr Mason explained that it formed part of the flood engineering
works that are creating the areas of raised and lowered land, they can only raise enough
land to lower the equivalent amount of land which means that you are not going to flood
back into The Elms and as a result it means that there is a tightly defined developable area.
He explained that by increasing the developable area to include a play area would mean
that there would be the requirement to deepen those channels for surface water which was
reaching the point where it would not work anymore. Mr Mason stated that the balance has
been struck where the land will be raised and that can only fit 54 homes plus the
engineering works means it is no longer viable to provide the 20% affordable homes.

e Councillor Connor stated that whilst he was initially disappointed with regards to the loss of

social housing, he is now content that the works being undertaken will alleviate the flooding
from the nearby properties which is a very positive step.

Members asked officers the following questions:

Councillor Marks asked what the initial figure was which was submitted for the play area?
Matthew Leigh explained that officers do not have the information submitted by the
applicant in their original assessment for what they were looking to spend. He added that
the figure officers have, which has been negotiated in the Section 106 contributions, relates
to what the Parks and Open Spaces Team were looking for in 2021 in relation to
improvements and enhancements to the existing play facilities and officers have index
linked it up to the figure as stated within the officer’s report.

Councillor Marks requested clarity that it was considered in 20217 Matthew Leigh confirmed
that the figure has been index linked and is now, therefore, higher as originally the figure
was £60,000.

Councillor Connor expressed the view that £67,000 does not provide much play area
equipment and is very frugal amount. Matthew Leigh explained that the issue of the
application is viability and the reason that the request for this amount of money is still valid
is to make the scheme acceptable because of the shortfall on site.

Councillor Murphy stated that the land needs to be built on and was earmarked for housing
30 years ago.

Members asked questions, made comments and received responses as follows:

Councillor Mrs French stated that the figure of £67,000 is irrelevant because by the time the
reserved matters is submitted and works starts it is likely to be another four or five years.
She stated that the Council are working on Inspire and Place and Pride projects and as a
result of funding from Central Government, every play area across the district is being
assessed and reviewed, which could mean that the play areas in Chatteris will be
enhanced. Councillor Mrs French expressed the opinion that she is delighted that the
flooding issue has been considered by the agent and applicants as it has been a known
problem for some time. She stated that she will support the application and referred to the
fact that Chatteris Town Council are of the opinion that the application should have been
determined by another authority but made the point that the Planning Committee members
are very experienced, and she does not agree with the comments that they have made
which she finds to be offensive.

Councillor Connor stated that he agrees with Councillor Mrs French adding that members of
the committee are experienced and he was also the Chairman of the County Council’s
Planning Committee.

Councillor Marks stated that £67,000 is only a small amount and he is concerned with
regards to the loss of the social housing, but there is community benefit by dealing with the
drainage further along the road, making the point that the land was earmarked for housing
30 years ago when the bypass was built. He stated that if there was just social housing on
the site then it would be unaffordable anyway, meaning the land would never be built on and
the flooding issue would still exist and, in his view, this is the best way forward for the land
and for the surrounding community and he will support the application.

Page 27



Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Murphy and agreed that the
application be GRANTED as per the officer’'s recommendation.

(Councillor Benney declared that as he was a previous member of Cabinet and sat on the
Investment Board who are involved with Fenland Future Limited, he would take no part in the
discussion and voting thereon, and following his presentation to the committee he left the meeting
for the duration of the item)

(Councillor Imafidon declared that as he is a member of Fenland Future Limited, he would not take
any part in the item and left the meeting for the duration of the discussion and voting thereon)

(Councillor Murphy registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that he is a member of Chatteris Town Council but takes no part in planning)

P78/25 F/YR25/0347/F
20 NENE PARADE, MARCH, PE15 8TD
ERECT 2X SELF-BUILD/CUSTOM BUILD DWELLINGS INVOLVING DEMOLITION
OF EXISTING DWELLING AND GARAGE WITHIN A CONSERVATION AREA

Hayleigh Parker—Haines presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Matthew Hall, the agent. Mr Hall stated that the application was deferred by the committee in June,
with the committee agreeing to demolish the existing 1970’s bungalow which is heavily damaged
with subsidence and replacing it with two dwellings being acceptable. He explained that he has
worked with officers to bring forward a recommendation of approval for 2 three bedroomed chalet
bungalows in the middle of March, and he added that the applicant is happy to sign the self-build
declaration and pay the fee.

Members asked the following questions:
e Councillor Mrs French thanked Mr Hall for taking into consideration the views of the
Planning Committee and for working proactively with officers.

Members asked officers the following questions:

e Councillor Mrs French stated that if the application is approved, she would like to see a very
strong condition added that during demolition and rebuild there is to be no parking allowed
on Nene Parade. Hayleigh Parker-Haines stated that a condition for a construction
management plan can be included to secure those details.

Members asked questions, made comments and received responses as follows:
e Councillor Mrs French stated that the application was heavily debated in June and the
agent, applicant and officers have worked successfully together.
e Councillor Benney stated that he welcomes the fact that the agent has worked with officers
on the application and the application should now be approved.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Murphy and agreed that the
application be GRANTED as per the officer’s recommendation.

(Councillor Marks assumed the position of Chairman due to Councillor Connor’s declaration and
being unable to Chair the item)

(Councillor Mrs French registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that she is a member of March Town Council, but takes no part in planning)

Page 28



(Councillors Connor and Imafidon declared that as they were not present when the item was
debated previously, they would not take part in the item for its entirety)

(Councillor Benney declared that the agent has undertaken work for Chatteris Town Council and
himself personally, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open
mind)

(Councillor Murphy registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that he is a Member of Chatteris Town Council but takes no part in planning. He
added that he also knows the agent but has had no business dealings with him)

P79/25 F/YR25/0776/PIP
LAND NORTH OF 386 WISBECH ROAD, WESTRY
PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE FOR UP TO 9 X DWELLINGS

Tom Donnelly presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from Mrs
Simmons, an objector to the proposal. Mrs Simmons stated that the A141 is a major road which is
very busy and Westry is an elsewhere location. She made the point that the report makes
reference to the site being in Flood Zone 1 but according to the Government’s flood maps it does
state that the area is located in Flood Zones 2 and 3.

Mrs Simmons explained that there has ben planning permission granted at The Paddocks and also
across the road but the flood zone appears to be closer than a Flood Zone 1 and it also states that
it is very close to Flood Zone 2 and she has severe concerns that her property will be flooded as a
result. She explained that her property has suffered from frequent power cuts, along with total loss
of water and in some instances very low water pressure, with the infrastructure and pressure on
the utilities being unreliable at times and Westry is an isolated area with no nearby shops or
facilities and poor public transport links with a very infrequent bus service.

Mrs Simmons added that the properties located across the road took over six months to rent out
and, in her opinion, the proposed properties will also find it difficult to attract new residents and
occupants will also find it difficult to cross the busy A141. She expressed the view that the surface
water run off to existing properties needs to be considered as local residents are very concerned if
the flooding situation worsens.

Mrs Simmons explained that the road suffers from severe congestion which causes hazards for
emergency vehicles when they are trying to navigate the heavy traffic and, in her opinion, any
additional development is only going to add to the existing chaos. She expressed the view that the
proposal conflicts with LP3 of the Local Plan and is located in an isolated and unsustainable area,
with the flood risk having been misinterpreted, the highway safety is of a concern as the application
is on a major road and the demand for housing in Westry is low and the site is agricultural.

Mrs Simmons added that she has lived in other parts of March and moved to Westry in 2011 for a
quieter environment and, in her view, the land should be left as agricultural as it has been up to
October 2025 and there should be no development on that land when there are other suitable
places to develop. She added that the objections which were submitted for the development at 433
Wisbech Road are also relevant to this application due to its proximity to the current application
site.

Members asked the following questions:
e Councillor Mrs French stated that she also lives in Westry and has not experienced any loss
of power or water. Mrs Simmons stated that throughout the year she experiences low water
pressure, no water and issues with power cuts including twice in the last two weeks, with

Page 29



the additional dwellings only going to add to the existing problems. She added that she also
has concerns with regards to the increase in vehicles which may accompany the new
dwellings. Mrs Simmons expressed the view that as the properties will be using cess pits
the new residents will not be familiar with how cess pit systems operate and this could also
add to environmental issues.

e Councillor Marks asked for clarity that the land was in agricultural use up until October and
has the land just now been left as fallow or have they drilled it and left the site? Mrs
Simmons explained that until October it was being farmed and there were bales of hay on
the site and then following that the land was blocked off and the land was only being farmed
at the other end. She stated that neighbouring properties have also noticed that the land
has ceased agricultural use in that particular section from October of this year.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Matthew Hall, the agent. Mr Hall explained that the application is for linear development set
between residential properties which, in his opinion, follows the form and character of the area
even though at the back there are barn conversions. He stated that on the latest Environment
Agency maps the application site is located in Flood Zone 1 and whilst he agrees that the land at
the back is in Flood Zones 2 and 3 the application site is in Flood Zone 1.

Mr Hall explained that to the south of the site there are two barn conversions that were approved in
Flood Zone 3 and they are single storey and referred to the presentation screen and pointed out
the application site which, in his opinion, is infill development, making the point that when you
review officers’ reports for developments in Westry further to the south it does state that they
consider that this part of Westry as part of March. He referred to the officer's presentation and
stated that the officer pointed out that an appeal was submitted previously for a site 50 metres to
the north of the application site and was refused planning permission and the appeal was
dismissed about 7 years ago and that site that was dismissed is located between a large
construction company and a large farming business.

Mr Hall explained that the current application site is set between residential properties and it faces
all residential properties to the east and the north and a continuous built-up form to the south, with
the site to the north being included in the emerging Local Plan and whilst it holds limited weight, in
his view, somebody must have held the view that the site would be suitable for development even
though it is located further north. He made the point that March Town Council support the
application and none of the consultees have objected to a small-scale development for infill
development for individual dwellings.

Members asked the following questions:

e Councillor Mrs French stated that in front of the proposed development there is a riparian
dyke and whilst she appreciates that the application is only for planning in principle, it does
need to be taken into serious consideration as does the inclusion of cess pits as there are
no main sewers in Westry.

e Councillor Mrs French stated that if she wants to turn right out of her property she must turn
left and use the roundabout to turn around. She added that she must rely on the traffic lights
at Goosetree for her to turn and she asked Mr Hall to take that all those points into
consideration.

Members asked officers the following questions:

e Councillor Mrs French stated that she does not feel that there is enough information from
any of the authorities especially highways. Matthew Leigh explained that when dealing with
planning in principle applications there is no ability to really make any consideration outside
the principle.

e Councillor Murphy stated that in the officer’s presentation they referred to the site being in
an elsewhere location but, in his opinion, it should be classed as an infill application. Tom

Page 30



Donnelly explained that this is something that was considered for the appeal site on the
opposite side of the road and at the time the Council in their refusal did contend that this
was an elsewhere location. He explained that the appellant suggested that it did form part of
the built-up form of March and that that due to the distance from services, facilities and lack
of public transport links, the Inspector concluded that this part of Westry would be classed
as an elsewhere location.

Members asked questions, made comments and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French stated that she has lived in Westry for 41 years and over the years
she has seen it grow, with there being one footpath which is not particularly good and that
is located on the opposite side of the road. She expressed the view that she has concerns
with regards to the dyke and cess pits and she explained that the contractor has been
chosen for the traffic lights which are going to be installed at the Hobbs Lot junction with
work commencing in the new year. Councillor Mrs French expressed the opinion that
Westry cannot take anymore development and if the proposal was for 1 or 2 dwellings then
it could be acceptable but in her view 9 is too many. She added that the issue at Lime Tree
Close has been ongoing for 5 years and there is still no resolution and ,in her opinion, this
application is going to be a nightmare waiting to happen and she cannot support it.

e Councillor Marks stated he has listened to the views of Councillor Mrs French who is the
Ward Councillor and knows the area very well, with planning being about land use and the
objector to the proposal highlighted her concerns with regards to the additional vehicles
and he also has concerns with regard to the highways and the entry and exit from the site.
He added that traffic can tail back for some distance which could include lorries turning into
the factory if it reopens and, in his opinion, his major concern is regarding the highway, and
he also feels that there is not enough detail which has been provided. Councillor Marks
stated that he recognises the comments concerning problems with cess pits and low water
pressure, but he believes that the proposal is for too many houses on too small a plot with
too many vehicle movements and he cannot support it.

e Councillor Connor expressed the view that nine houses are far too many and he cannot
support the application.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Marks and agreed that the
application be REFUSED as per the officer’'s recommendation.

(Councillor Benney declared that the agent has undertaken work for Chatteris Town Council and
himself personally, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open
mind)

(Councillor Imafidon declared that the agent has undertaken work for him personally, but he is not
pre-determined, and will consider the application with an open mind)

P80/25 TPO042025
TAVISTOCK ROAD, WISBECH

Hayleigh Parker—Haines presented the report to members.

Members asked questions, made comments and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Benney stated that it does not impede any works which need to be undertaken by
having a Tree Preservation Order applied and if works needs to be undertaken to it which
deem it to be unsafe then that can be done. He added that it does look to be a nice mature
tree, and he feels that the order should be granted.

e Councillor Mrs French stated that she concurs with view of Councillor Benney.

Proposed by Councillor Benney, seconded by Councillor Mrs French and agreed that the
Tree Preservation Order in respect of 1 x Sycamore tree be CONFIRMED.

Page 31



P81/25 F/YR25/0787/PIP
LAND EAST OF 50 STATION ROAD, MANEA
PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE TO ERECT UP TO 7 X DWELLINGS

David Grant presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from Lee
Bevens, the agent. Mr Bevens stated that his clients moved into their property in December 1995
and have never suffered from any type of flooding episode or been waterlogged with surface
water, with the only occasion where they have had an excess of water was outside their driveway
on the road which was as a result of the road drain being blocked. He explained that on
investigation the land distributor was blocked solid with mud and dirt which was cleared by
highways and there have been no further occurrences.

Mr Bevens explained that report of the annual overflow of sewage detailed in some of the letters of
objection has not happened at the address but is a recurring problem at Poppyfields where there is
an ongoing issue that Councillor Marks is involved with. He stated that with regards to land
drainage, the applicant has been paying drainage rates to Welney Internal Drainage Board on a
yearly basis since 1995, and they also pay a farmer to clear the ditches twice a year around their
land to cut and to dredge the ditches as and when required, with the applicant being aware that
other landowners do not make payments and do not even pay for the pumps.

Mr Bevens added that the applicants’ stables, barns, tack room, shed, poly tunnel and paddocks
have also been in pace for 29 to 30 years and 52 Station Road which is located north of their field
also has brick buildings and stables located on the east side of the property which all protrude into
the area of the countryside and go beyond the linear frontage of Station Road. He referred to the
presentation screen and highlighted the recent planning applications which have been submitted
along Station Road, and he pointed out the site to the north at 76 Station Road, which, whilst it had
pig sheds located on the site, it still proposed the back land development.

Mr Bevens explained that the Planning Officer has stated that the application does not respect the
rural character or linear settlement pattern of Station Road, making the point that the site to the
north is also located in Flood Zone 3 and had to raise floor levels of the proposed dwellings. He
explained that the next slide demonstrates that it is a triangular shaped area of land where the
development is proposed and it is a self-contained parcel of land which is bound by Station Road
and existing ditches to the north, south and east, with there being numerous outbuildings
established behind the linear frontage of Station Road which were shown on the slide by red
squares.

Mr Beven referred to the presentation screen and explained that the slide shows the site layout
that formed the permission in principle for the rear of 76 Station Road and highlights the fact that
there is a precedent already for back land development along Station Road. He added that whilst
the proposed development is behind the frontage of Station Road it is following an example
already established by the development already in place and also follows a general concept of
development in Manea that has been behind the linear frontage.

Mr Bevens made reference to the developments in Westfield Road in Manea which also has a
strong linear frontage and in recent years there have been numerous approved applications
including 24 dwellings at Smart Close, 3 approved dwellings approved at land north of 100
Westfield Road, 9 self-build dwellings at 36 Westfield Road, 7 dwellings northwest of 34 Westfield
Road and 8 dwellings at 18 Westfield Road, which are all behind a linear frontage. He expressed
the view that at some point a scheme sets a precedent for back land development which can be

Page 32



demonstrated along Westfield Road.

Mr Bevens expressed the view that the site has had the precedent set by the development to the
north and is in a more sustainable location being within 10 minutes’ walk of the village centre
including the school and a 10-minute walk to the station and development is needed to support the
station. He added that the applicant wishes to develop the site for a retirement property for
themselves and a dwelling for their daughter, with the additional dwellings together with their
current property paying for the dwellings to be built as well as supporting the required
infrastructure.

Mr Bevens explained that further specific details on drainage, flooding and highways works would
be submitted in a future technical details consent and he is confident that all those matters could
be addressed without causing flooding to neighbouring properties ensuring highways safety and
he asked the committee to look at the benefits of the scheme and support the application.

Members asked Mr Bevens the following questions:

Councillor Marks referred to the comment made by Mr Bevens in which he was referred to,
and explained that Poppyfields is a development which is located by Wisbech Road. He
explained that he has been involved with flooding throughout the whole village and he
organised a meeting with Anglian Water which Councillor Mrs French also attended to raise
the various flooding issues that Manea suffers from.

Councillor Imafidon asked whether there has been any consultation undertaken with the
local Internal Drainage Boards? Mr Bevens stated that he has not consulted with them but
there have been comments between the Drainage Board and the Lead Local Flood
Authority with regards to the sequential test and it is his understanding that they were
satisfied with regards to what has been undertaken and they are looking for further
information which would come in as a result of the technical details consent.

Councillor Marks expressed the opinion that the number of proposed dwellings is too many
for such a small area, with Mr Bevens explaining that two of the dwellings will be for the
applicant and the applicant’s daughter which is only two dwellings out of a possible seven
plus the existing house which is there. He added that the other major concern that he has is
the actual entrance and exit on Station Road as the existing property stands forward and he
has concerns with regards to the visibility as there are vehicles driving more than 40mph
along that road and there is also a pavement used by children going to school. Councillor
Marks asked whether the proposed properties are going to be joined to the main sewer
network or will be using cess pits? Mr Bevens expressed the view with regards to the layout
he does not feel that it is a dense layout at all, and the paddock will be retained opposite
and the site could take a lot higher density. He stated that the highways have been
considered and it is likely that the road would not be offered for adoption and it will be a
private road and the visibility splays can all be achieved as that has been reviewed almost
as if it was an outline application just committing the access due to the fact that access is
the key driver when considering this type of scheme. Mr Bevens made the point that he
does not believe that there is an issue with highway safety and visibility at that point even
though there are cars which park along that section of road but that cannot be controlled as
it is a public highway. He explained that with regards to the drainage for the individual
properties that would be committed in the technical details consent and advice would be
sought from a drainage expert as to what would be the best solution, but it would not be
onto the main system.

Councillor Connor stated that he has concerns with regards to the site being in the
catchment of Manea Town Lots Water Recycling Centre which currently lacks capacity to
accommodate any additional flows generated by the proposed development. He added that
it is included in Anglian Water’s Business Plan and a planned growth scheme investment
between 2025 and 2030 but there is no certainty whether this will be undertaken in that
time. Councillor Connor made the point that it does state that Anglian Water would object to
any connection into the foul network from the proposed development due to the capacity

Page 33



constraints and the pollution risk. Mr Bevens stated that if the application were to be
approved, the technical details consent would be worked out with a drainage consultant to
ensure the best solution is achieved and then further discussions would take place with the
drainage boards and Anglian Water. He explained that there is an attenuation pond on the
planning in principle scheme and with regards to controlling the flow, the flow would be
controlled and would go into the ditches. Mr Bevens added that it would form part of the
technical details consent and it cannot be committed to in a planning in principle application,
but he is aware of the foul water issues and that would be addressed.

e Councillor Connor stated that he does have significant concerns with regards to the foul
water.

Members asked questions, made comments and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Marks stated that he is a member of Manea Parish Council and was not present
when this was debated, however, he has read their comments which he agrees with and are
all poignant. He expressed the view that it is back land development and whilst the
application where the pig sheds used to be located is now taking place, he recalls that it
was a requirement to remove pig farms out of villages which was why that was passed.
Councillor Marks stated that the application site goes further back compared to the piece of
land where the pig farm used to be and the biggest concern he has is still flooding. He
stated that across the road from the application site there was an episode of flooding which
took place in December 2024 and there was an Anglian Water pump located in the vicinity
which then failed and it was discovered that it had backed up all the way from Wisbech
Road which is a quarter of a mile away near Poppyfields and the blockage also continued
towards Pump Corner. Councillor Marks added that the whole line is struggling to keep up
with foul water and whilst the application site could have cess pits installed it is his
understanding that the drain at the top of the site is a private drain that must feed in at least
a third of a mile into a main drain. He added that the properties will need to be raised to
come out of Flood Zone 3 and he made the point that he cannot support the application it is
over intensification for the application site and is far too much for the village of Manea.

e Councillor Connor expressed the view that he is not content with the application, and he
added that Anglian Water are up to the limit with the flows and, in his opinion, the access is
poor and it is back land development, and he cannot support the application in its current
state.

e Councillor Marks stated that the agent had referred to Westfield Road regarding various
development located there and he added that the committee recently refused an application
and the Planning Inspector found against that but there was not a cost implication. He
added that the Inspector’s report stated that an application further down the road for four
bungalows with almost exactly the same entrance of the property being located close to the
road was refused by the Inspector and he agreed with the Council. Councillor Marks made
the point that he sees this as a very similar application as it is back land with the access and
the vision issues.

Proposed by Councillor Marks, seconded by Councillor Mrs French and agreed that the
application be REFUSED as per the officer’'s recommendation.

(Councillor Marks declared, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on Planning
Matters, that he is a member of Manea Parish Council but was not present when this item was
discussed. He further declared that he is a member of the Manea and Welney Internal Drainage
Board)

P82/25 F/YR25/0796/PIP
LAND NORTH OF 120 LONDON ROAD, CHATTERIS
PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE TO ERECT UP TO 1 X DWELLING

David Grant presented the report to members.

Page 34



Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure from
Matthew Hall, the agent. Mr Hall stated that the application is for an infill plot for a single dwelling
to match in with a continuous linear development along London Road and the dwellings along that
part of London Road are all individually designed dwellings which have been there for several
years. He referred to the officer's report with regards to the bowling green which was a private
bowling green and its use ceased in 2014 when the owner passed away, with it never being a
public facility and was only for the owner’s private use and was never a commercial bowling green
as Chatteris already has one located in Wood Street.

Mr Hall explained that in the officer’s report it refers to various refusals and appeals on the site in
2006 and 2008 which he agrees with and added that they were considered under a different Local
Plan. He stated that all along the front of the site on the opposite side of the road there is a
footpath which stretches for almost the whole length of London Road and the site is in Flood Zone
1.

Mr Hall referred to the presentation screen and highlighted the red star which indicates the
application site, and he explained that to the northeast of the site the construction for Hallam Land
has commenced and to the south of the application site down London Road and Stocking Drove
there have been various planning permissions given since 2019 and some of those are built out,
and some are partway through construction. He expressed the opinion that the committee have
already accepted that this area is part of the built-up form of Chatteris under LP3 of the Local Plan
and there are no objections to the application from any consultee or members of the public and
Chatteris Town Council support the application.

Mr Hall expressed the view that it is an ideal site for an individual dwelling to match in with the
adjacent development in Flood Zone 1 and it has not been used for agricultural land for at least 20
to 30 years. He added that it has a footpath link and matches in with the adjacent built-up form of
linear development.

Members asked Mr Hall the following questions:

e Councillor Imafidon stated that he has noted that the bowling green is not a public asset and
was last used in 2014 but as it appears to be well maintained he would like to know what it
has been used for since that time? Mr Hall explained that it is his understanding that the
family just maintain the site as a green piece of land as the family still reside there.

Members asked questions, made comments and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Murphy stated that, within the presentation, officers have stated that the site
floods, but he has lived in Chatteris for 80 years and he has never known the site to flood.
He added that the application is for the family and the land is a private piece of land and he
added that officers are of the opinion that the site cannot be built on adjacent to the
bungalow which the family already own. Councillor Murphy stated that further down the
road, there are more properties being built and they are located much further outside of the
area and should never have been allowed to be built there. He added that the application is
for one dwelling located next to another bungalow which will allow a family to live near each
other and, in his view, it should be approved.

e Councillor Benney stated that he agrees with the points made by Councillor Murphy and
added that the bungalow which is already there is a replacement bungalow as the previous
property on the site suffered from subsidence and had to be demolished and rebuilt. He
added that it was a private bowling green and the proposed dwelling will be for a family
member to be able to reside next door to their mother which he applauds. Councillor
Benney stated that the officer report states that the site is located outside of Chatteris and
he disagrees with that as, in his opinion, there is at least a mile in distance from the bottom
of Ferry Hill where the sign says Chatteris as you come from Somersham. He explained
that this has been very well debated by the committee and there must be at least 10 further

Page 35



houses which are built further along going out towards the road sign which have already
approved. Councillor Benney expressed the view that the principle of development has
already been well established in the area and he is confident that the bungalow will be built
to a high standard and he will support the application.

Proposed by Councillor Murphy, seconded by Councillor Benney and agreed that the
application be GRANTED against the officer’'s recommendation.

Members do not support the officer's recommendation of refusal of planning permission as they
feel that the proposal is located inside the Chatteris area, and they feel that the precedent of
development has already been set and members need to be consistent

(Councillor Benney declared, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that he is member of Chatteris Town Council but takes no part in planning. He
further declared that the agent has undertaken work for Chatteris Town Council and himsell
personally, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Imafidon declared that the agent has undertaken work for him personally, but he is not
pre-determined, and will consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Murphy declared, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that he is a Member of Chatteris Town Council but takes no part in planning. He
added that he also knows Matthew Hall but has no business dealings with him)

3.19 pm Chairman

Page 36



Agenda Iltem 5

F/YR25/0586/F
Applicant: Fink Developments Agent : Mr R Swann

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited
Phase B Land East Of, Berryfield, March, Cambridgeshire

Erect 15 x dwellings with associated infrastructure and the formation of 1 x
balancing pond and public open space

Officer recommendation: Grant

Reason for Committee: Town Council recommendation contrary to Officer
Recommendation

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the development of 15
dwellings, associated access, garages, public open space and a detention basin
on land east of the emerging Berryfields development, March. The site measures
approximately 2.39ha, with the developable area focused to the west on land
within Flood Zone 1, while the eastern portion, within Flood Zones 2 and 3
remains undeveloped as public open space.

1.2 The revised scheme follows the refusal of an earlier proposal for 18 dwellings.
Key amendments include a reduced quantum of development, reorientation of
dwellings, repositioning of the internal road, and relocating all built form into Flood
Zone 1. These changes address previous concerns relating to flood risk layout
and biodiversity net gain.

1.3 The proposal comprises a mix of three- and four-bedroom homes across four
house types. Although the scheme does not fully reflect the District’s identified
need for smaller homes, this was not a previous reason for refusal and is not
considered to warrant objection. All dwellings meet private amenity space
standards, the design approach aligns with the neighbouring Berryfields
development, and no significant harm is anticipated to residential amenity or the
wider landscape. Parking provision meets adopted standards, and the highway
authority raises no objections following amendments to access arrangements.

1.4 A viability assessment, independently reviewed by the Council, concludes that the
development cannot viably support either affordable housing or S106
contributions. Even before policy requirements are applied, the scheme produces
a negative residual land value. The omission of contributions is therefore
accepted.

1.5 The scheme achieves a minimum 10% Biodiversity Net Gain, with enhancements
concentrated within the extensive eastern greenspace. Ecological impacts can be
adequately mitigated and managed through conditions. Archaeological
investigation will be required due to known heritage assets in the vicinity.

Page 37



1.6 Overall, the proposal would deliver modest economic benefits, meaningful

environmental enhancements, and social benefits through additional housing in a
sustainable Market Town location. The design quality, amenity provision, and
access arrangements are acceptable, and previous reasons for refusal have been
addressed.

1.7 On balance, and when assessed against the NPPF and the Fenland Local Plan,

the proposal represents a sustainable form of development. The benefits are
considered to outweigh the identified harm, and the application is recommended
as acceptable, subject to conditions.

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.2

3.3

SITE DESCRIPTION

The application site sits to the east of the relatively new built developments under
the terms of F/YR14/1020/0 and F/YR18/0984/RM and subsequent application
F/YR23/0792/F known as ‘Berryfields’. The site extends approximately 2.395
hectares and is currently undeveloped land laid to grass

Access is be provided from the recently approved developments to the west. With
the exception of the adjoining construction site the boundaries are currently open,
but with ditches on the eastern and southern sides. The majority of the site is
located within Flood Zone 1 of the Environment Agency Flood Maps for Planning
however the north eastern corner sits within flood zone 3 and the central section is
within Flood zone 2.

PROPOSAL

Planning permission is sought for the construction of 15 dwellings together with
associated public open space and a detention basin. The proposed access road
would extend eastwards from the existing turning head of the adjacent
development currently under construction, with eight dwellings positioned along
this east—west section (five to the south and three to the north). The road would
turn northwards, running parallel to the existing and emerging dwellings to the
west, with the remaining seven dwellings fronting the road and turning head at the
northern end, broadly reflecting the established layout pattern. The maijority of the
proposed dwellings would be situated within Flood Zone 1, while the eastern
portion of the site, which lies within Flood Zones 2 and 3, would be retained as
public open space.

The proposed development comprises 15 two storey dwellings arranged across
the site, providing a mix of three- and four-bedroom houses. The dwellings range
in size from approximately 113m? to 161m? and are designed with varied ridge and
eaves heights, with a maximum ridge height of approximately 8.4m and eaves
heights generally between 4.8m and 4.9m.

All dwellings provide family accommodation arranged over two floors, typically
comprising open plan kitchen dining areas, separate living spaces, utility rooms
where applicable and bathrooms at first floor level, with some units including
ensuite facilities.

Page 38




3.4

3.5

3.6

5.1

5.2

5.3

External materials are consistent across the development to ensure a cohesive
appearance and comprise predominantly facing brick with areas of render to
selected elevations and features. Roofs are finished in either terracotta or slate
grey tiles, reflecting the variation in house types while maintaining a unified
character across the site.

Most plots are served by a single garage, except for Plots 4, 5, 6, 11 and 12 (B2
and B3 house types). The garages have a ridge height of 5.27m, eaves of 2.45m,
and measure approximately 4m in width and 7.64m in depth, finished in facing
brick.

A substantial proportion of the land to the east, delineated within the site red line
boundary, is set aside as public open space and accommodates the proposed
detention basin. Pedestrian and cyclist access to this area is provided between
plots 8 and 9.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

The recent, relevant planning history for the site is provided below, this does not
include the planning history for part of application site forming access to the public
highway through adjacent development to the west:

Reference Proposal Decision

F/YR23/0550/F | 18 Dwellings with associated infrastructure and Refused —
the formation of 2 x balancing ponds and public | 10.01.2025
open space

CONSULTATIONS
Several amended plans and additional information/clarification has been provided
throughout the determination of the application. The consultation responses below
incorporate each round of consultation:
March Town Council
Object due to concerns regarding flooding and drainage at this site as well as the
developer’s unwillingness to provide affordable housing or make s106
contributions.
Internal Consultees
FDC Housing Strategy and Enabling Officer
No objection and provided background on affordable housing and requirements
of 3 affordable rented homes and 1 shared ownership based on 25% AH

requirements.

FDC Ecologist

Page 39



https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

No objection. Recommends a condition securing a Habitat Management and
Monitoring Plan statutory BNG, no site clearance and protection of watercourses
conditions be included should the application be approved.

FDC Arboricultural Consultant

Originally raised concerns due to insufficient information having been provided in
terms of the protection and retention of the trees along the boundary of the site.
Following receipt of an arboricultural impact assessment the original comments
have been address with no objections or further comments raised.

FDC Environmental Services — Refuse

No objection however additional plans in terms of swept path analysis are
required as currently the ones submitted are insufficient. A number of
recommendations are also made.

External Consultees
CCC - Archaeology

No objection subject to the inclusion of a condition securing a programme for
investigation and recording given the archaeological potential of the site, should
the application be approved

CCC - Highways

No objection, subject to the inclusion of conditions should the application be
approved.

The highway authority initially raised objections to the location and orientation of
the pedestrian and cycle access to the public open space between Plots 8 and 9
due to safety and visibility concerns and also sought clarification on the proposed
farm access at the north of the site. These issues were considered essential to
resolve prior to determination due to potential safety and adoption implications.
Following the submission of amended plans, the access arrangement has been
revised in line with current highway guidance and the farm access has been
removed, thereby addressing the previous concerns.

Environment Agency

No objection but note that the main source of flood risk is associated with
watercourses under jurisdiction of the IDB.

NHS - Premises and Estates

No objection but note three nearby GP practices Riverside Practice, Cornerstone
Practice and Mercheford House Surgery have no capacity to accommodate
additional patients. The proposed development is expected to generate
approximately 36 new residents, resulting in additional demand for primary care
services. A financial contribution of £12,895.82 is therefore sought to mitigate the
impact of the development, based on the additional floorspace required and NHS
cost benchmarks.

Page 40



5.10

5.1

5.12

Cambridgeshire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority

Originally objected to the application due to concerns regarding the attenuation
basin, shared attenuation tank, discharge rate discrepancies and hydraulic
calculations and watercourse maintenance buffers. Additional details were
received with a subsequent consultation with the LLFA being undertaken
whereby the objection was upheld on grounds of FEH rainfall calculation
concerns, Drainage plan queries and watercourse maintenance. Following the
receipt of: Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy, MTC, Ref: 2104, Rev:
C, Dated: May 2025 and the Applicants Response to LLFA, MTC, Ref: MJB/2104,
Dated: 6th October 2025 the LLFA removed the objection in principle as the
documentation provided demonstrates surface water can be managed
accordingly.

Middle Level Commissioners

The Board initially raised significant concerns regarding the positioning of the
detention basin and balancing pond over an existing pipeline believed to drain a
spring serving the wider EIm Road area. At that stage, the IDB considered there
to be insufficient information regarding the pipeline’s ownership, condition, levels
and maintenance responsibilities, and expressed concern that the arrangement
could compromise future access and integrity of the pipeline, thereby increasing
flood risk. The IDB advised that the balancing pond should be relocated to allow
appropriate access and long term maintenance and also highlighted opportunities
to deliver enhanced multifunctional flood storage and blue green infrastructure,
alongside the need for a site-specific SuDS and watercourse maintenance
strategy.

Following the submission of revised plans and further information, the IDB
confirmed that responsibility for the on-site watercourse rests with the
management company and that maintenance should be undertaken in
accordance with the existing Watercourse Management Plan. While a 6 metre
maintenance access width continues to be recommended, this is advisory rather
than a fixed requirement. The IDB also confirmed that, aside from the unresolved
vesting of the downstream watercourse, the Watercourse Management Plan
remains relevant and provides an appropriate framework for ongoing
maintenance.

Further clarification has been provided by the Applicant, however at the time of
writing this report no further comments have been received from the Board.

Cambridgeshire County Council — Planning and Sustainable Growth

No objection but advised that the proposed development of 15 dwellings is
estimated to generate 37.5 residents including 4.5 early years children, 5.5
primary pupils and 3.75 secondary pupils. On this basis S106 contributions are
sought towards early years provision, secondary education, SEND education and
libraries. The contributions total £193,521.50, comprising £52,776 for early years,
£114,000 for secondary education, £23,341 for SEND and £3,412.50 for libraries,
together with a £1,200 monitoring fee. Primary education and strategic waste
contributions are not required.

5.13 Anglian Water

Page 41



5.14

5.15

5.16

6

No objection

Cambridgeshire Police (Designing Out Crime)

No objection and commends the scheme in terms of layout but makes a number
of recommendations in terms of fencing, lighting, doors and windows, cycle
storage, EV charging, footpaths/open space and LEAP, SuDS/Attenuation ponds
and construction phase security. Namely that these should follow secured by
design principles given the siting within a medium risk to crime area.

Cambridgeshire Fire

No objection subject to the inclusion of a conditions securing a water scheme for

the provision of fire hydrants.

Local Residents/Interested Parties

Four letters of objection have been received from residents on Berryfields and
Burnet Gardens, these comments are summarised below:

Objecting Comments

Officer Response

Congestion Comments noted and discussed in
the below report.

Flooding Comments noted and discussed | the
below report

Loss of arable land Comments noted and discussed | the
below report

Developers disrespectful and don’t pay
necessary contributions

Comments noted.

Incorrect land shown as common land

Comments are noted. However, none
of the submitted application plans
identify any land as common land.
The red-line boundary accurately
reflects that used in previous
applications on the site, and there is
no evidence within the submission
that any common land has been
included.

The information contained within the
Viability Review is deemed to be
misleading and incorrect namely in
terms of referencing a number of
properties which were part of the
original site.

Comments noted however, regard in
assessing the likely sold prices of the
potential dwellings is to be had to the
sale prices of properties within the
vicinity. Whilst these are not all new
builds it is not considered that this in
isolation prejudices the information.
Furthermore, the viability assessment
carried out by the applicant has been
independently reviewed.

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan

Page 42



unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021) and the March Neighbourhood Plan (2017).

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 6 — Building a strong, competitive economy

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

|dentity

Built Form
Movement

Nature

Public Spaces

Uses

Homes and Buildings
Resources

Lifespan

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 - A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing

LP5 - Meeting Housing Need

LP6 — Employment, Tourism, Community Facilities and Retail

LP9 — March

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP13 — Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP17 — Community Safety

LP19 — The Natural Environment

Page 43



9.1.

9.2.

March Neighbourhood Plan 2017
H2 — Windfall Development
H3 — Local Housing Need

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021

Policy 5 - Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Policy 10 - Waste Management Areas (WMAs)

Policy 14 - Waste management needs arising from residential and commercial
Development

Policy 16: -Consultation Areas (CAS)

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014

DM2 — Natural Features and Landscaping Schemes

DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

DM4 — Waste and Recycling Facilities

DM6 — Mitigating Against Harmful Effects

Developer Contributions SPD 2015

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development

Design and Character and Appearance
Residential and Neighbouring Amenity
Access, Parking and Highway Safety
Flood Risk

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

BACKGROUND

As mentioned above, planning application F/YR23/0550/F was made on the site for
18 dwellings, which was refused in January 2025 for the following reasons:

Part of the development, including the internal access road for 10 of the dwellings,
is within Flood Zone 2. Despite the submission of a Sequential Test Statement on
behalf of the applicant, it is concluded that a Sequential Test for the proposals has
not been adequately undertaken in line with the approved guidance provided in the
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD. Accordingly, the application is contrary to
Chapter 14 of the NPPF, Part B of Fenland Local Plan Policy LP14 and Policy
H2(c) of the March Neighbourhood Plan.

The application as submitted has failed to demonstrate that the development
would not result in a net loss in biodiversity value, which conflicts with Fenland
Local Plan policy LP16(b) and LP19.

Under the current application, amendments have been made to address the above
reasons for refusal. The number of dwellings has been reduced from 18 to 15,
allowing the majority of the built form, private curtilages, and the internal access
road to be repositioned within Flood Zone 1. The siting and orientation of the
proposed dwellings have also been amended to facilitate the above: unlike the

Page 44



previous submission, where the access road ran through the centre of the site with
dwellings backing onto existing properties to the west, the layout now results in the
dwellings principle elevation facing these neighbouring properties. While the
number of four-bedroom dwellings remains unchanged (12), the overall density
has been reduced, and the materials palette remains consistent with the earlier
scheme. The lower density has enabled a greater area to be dedicated to
biodiversity enhancement. These matters will be assessed below.

10 ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

10.1 Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) sets out the settlement hierarchy
within the District, setting out the scale of development appropriate to each level of
the hierarchy.

10.2 The application site is located adjacent to the built form of the settlement of March
which is identified within the Settlement Hierarchy as a ‘Primary Market Town'.
Market Towns are identified within Policy LP3 as the focus for housing growth,
accordingly there may be a presumption in favour of housing within this location
given that a development of this scale is well below the definition of ‘Large scale
housing’ proposals of 250 dwellings or more. However, this is subject to
compliance with other relevant policies within the Local Plan, in particular Policy
LP16 (Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District).

10.3 Policy LP5 sets out the housing targets for the District and the Council has
undertaken a full assessment of the Five Year Housing Land Supply in the District
and has concluded that the Council is able to demonstrate a supply of specific
deliverable sites sufficient to provide for more than Five Years’ worth of housing
against the Council’s identified requirements. This is material consideration and
means that any application for new development must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

10.4 Taking into account the above, it is considered that the principle of providing
residential accommodation, in isolation, is acceptable, subject to other material
considerations, as discussed below.

Housing Mix

10.5 Policy LP5, when read alongside the 2021 Housing Needs Assessment (HNA),
identifies a clear imbalance in the District’s housing. The policy encourages a
greater provision of smaller, affordable units to meet identified local needs, while
also recognising demand for three-bedroom homes in the market sector.

10.6 The HNA (2021) shows that in order to meet the identified needs of the District,
market dwellings are expected to deliver a balanced range of unit sizes, with a
particular emphasis on family housing. Specifically, 3-bedroom homes should
comprise the largest share of the market provision while 1-bedroom units are to
remain limited (0—10%). The proposal will provide ten larger units and just five
three beds and therefore, does not wholly meet the identified needs of the District
or support a balanced and inclusive community. Both local policy and paragraph

Page 45



63 of the NPPF stress the need to offer a range of housing types and sizes to meet
different needs.

Affordable Housing, Community Infrastructure and Viability Matters

10.7 Policy LP16 and paragraph 8 of the NPPF require new development to contribute
positively to local communities, including through affordable housing provision and
the delivery or funding of supporting infrastructure. For a scheme of this scale,
Local Plan policy would ordinarily expect 20% on-site affordable housing alongside
appropriate S106 contributions.

10.8 However, the applicant has submitted a viability assessment asserting that the
scheme is unable to support any affordable housing or financial contributions. This
position mirrors conclusions reached for the previous application on the site.

10.9 The submitted assessment has been independently reviewed on behalf of the
Council. The review confirms the following key findings:

« Aninitial appraisal applying full policy requirements (20% on-site affordable
housing plus £30,000 S106 contributions) produced a residual land value
significantly below the benchmark land value, rendering the scheme unviable.

e Subsequent “trial and error” testing showed that even with zero affordable
housing and zero S106 contributions, the scheme still generated a negative
residual land value of approximately —£108,700, far below the benchmark land
value of £481,000.

« On this basis, the scheme is demonstrated to be unviable even before planning
policy requirements are applied. The independent assessor concludes that the
only scenario under which the scheme could come forward would be if a
developer accepted a profit level materially below normal market expectations.

o Sensitivity testing confirms that reasonable market fluctuations would not
materially alter this conclusion.

10.10 Taking into account the above, it is considered that the scheme cannot viably
support any affordable housing provision or S106 contributions. Whilst this
outcome is regrettable, particularly given the District-wide need for affordable
housing of smaller units, the independent review confirms that the development
generates a residual land value significantly below the benchmark land value,
even before policy requirements are applied, and that adding any affordable units
or financial obligations would further undermine viability. In light of this, the
omission of affordable housing and S106 contributions is accepted as justified in
order to give the scheme the best prospect of being delivered, should the
application be approved. Furthermore, the previously refused scheme under
application F/YR23/0550/F for 18 dwellings was also found to be unviable, and
this did not form part of the reason for refusal of that application.

Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of Surrounding area
10.11. Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan, sets out a number of criteria which

proposals are required to meet, to ensure that high quality environments are

provided and protected. Most relevant to the proposal are:

(d) makes a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the

area, enhances its local setting, responds to and improves the character of the
local built environment, provides resilience to climate change, reinforces local

Page 46



identity and does not adversely impact, either in design or scale terms, on the
Street scene, settlement pattern or the landscape character of the surrounding
area.

10.12. Further guidance is provided within the Delivering and Protecting High Quality
Developments SPD.

10.13. The application site occupies land at the edge of the settlement, and the
development would extend built form eastwards into what is currently open
countryside. However, the revised layout demonstrates that only the western
portion of the site is developable due to flood risk constraints. The eastern area,
lying within higher flood risk zones, remains as public open space and
incorporates attenuation features. This approach softens the transition between
the built edge of March and the adjoining countryside, mitigating landscape
impact to a reasonable degree.

10.14. The dwellings under construction immediately to the west comprise a mix of two-
and three-storey properties. The units proposed under this application are two-
storey in height and of a scale and form broadly reflective of the existing and
emerging character. Four house types are proposed across the 15 dwellings,
utilising a materials palette consistent with the earlier scheme, predominantly red
brick, with elements of render for visual interest, and roofs in either slate grey or
terracotta tiles.

10.15. Under the previous application, no design-based objections were raised. The
current proposal retains the same architectural approach, with amendments
focused primarily on reducing the quantum of development, adjusting the
orientation of dwellings, and repositioning the access road so that all built form
now sits within Flood Zone 1. These changes have not materially altered the
overall design character of the scheme or its associated impact on the character
and appearance of the surrounding area.

10.16. It is pertinent to note that due to the relationship between certain dwellings and
the adjacent open space opportunities for natural surveillance appear limited and
parts of the layout feel less well connected. Policies LP16 and LP17 and
paragraphs 130 and 135 of the NPPF emphasise the importance of well-
integrated, attractive and accessible environments. However, given the site’s
significant constraints in terms of flood risk, as discussed further below, it is not
considered these matters, in isolation result in sufficient harm to warrant the
refusal of the application. This will be discussed further in the planning balance
section of the below report.

10.17. Taking account of the unchanged design quality, the revised layout, and the
absence of design objections to the previous scheme, the proposal is considered
to broadly accord with the aims of Policy LP16.

Quantum

10.18. The developable area of the site measures approximately 1.56 hectares and lies
within the built-up area of March, where national and local policy, including Policy
LP3, promotes the efficient use of land in sustainable locations. Recent
development in March typically achieves densities of around 30-35 dwellings per
hectare, a position supported by the Fenland District Council Monitoring Report
(2022-2023), which identifies a district-wide average of 32.3 dph. This indicates

Page 47



10.19.

10.20.

10.21.

10.22.

10.23.

10.24.

that this site could reasonably accommodate 35-50 dwellings while remaining
consistent with local character.

Under the current proposal, the site would deliver 15 dwellings, which equates to
a density of approximately 9.6 dph across the developable area. Although this is
lower than typical densities in March, it is noted that only 1.56 hectares of the
overall 2.39-hectare site is developable. A previous scheme for 18 dwellings did
not attract objection or refusal on density grounds. Given that the reduced
quantum primarily arises from the need to confine development to Flood Zone 1
and provide larger dwellings, it would be unreasonable to object to the proposal
on density or inefficient land use grounds.

Amenity

Policy LP2 of the Fenland Local Plan seeks to promote high levels of residential
amenity. Similarly, Policy LP16 requires development proposals to not adversely
impact on the amenity of neighbouring users such as noise, light pollution, loss of
privacy and loss of light.

The proposed development adjoins existing dwellings and those currently under
construction to the west. The closest relationships occur at Plots 1 and 14, which
sit approximately 5 metres and 2.5 metres respectively from neighbouring built
form. Both plots are positioned adjacent to the side elevations of the neighbouring
properties. Plot 14 incorporates no primary habitable room windows facing
towards the neighbouring dwelling, and is therefore not considered to give rise to
overlooking. At Plot 1, the neighbouring property contains a first-floor side
window; however, this window serves a bathroom and would be obscure-glazed,
and any views would be limited to the front garden of the adjacent proposed
dwelling. Taking these factors into account, together with the orientation and
separation distances, it is not considered that the development would result in
unacceptable overlooking, loss of light, or overbearing impacts for neighbouring
occupiers.

The remaining plots benefit from more generous spatial relationships, with
separation distances exceeding 25 metres from the rear elevations of the
existing/proposed dwellings to the west, and approximately 10 metres from their
rear curtilages. This degree of separation is sufficient to ensure that the
development would not result in harmful impacts to residential amenity in respect
of privacy, outlook, or overshadowing.

It is important to note that the proposed access road serving the new dwellings
would run parallel to the rear amenity spaces of the dwellings currently under
construction to the west. While this may lead to some increase in noise and
vehicle emissions, the distance between the rear elevations and the road,
combined with the modest number of dwellings along this section (seven), limits
the potential impact. The layout is consistent with typical residential estate
development and is not considered to give rise to unacceptable adverse effects
on the occupiers of the adjacent properties

In terms of the amenity of future occupiers, the layout demonstrates that sufficient
distances are maintained between the proposed dwellings to avoid harmful
overlooking, overshadowing, or mutual loss of privacy. The orientation of the units
has been arranged to ensure that primary habitable room windows do not directly
face one another at close quarters, and that each plot benefits from an

Page 48



appropriate level of natural light and outlook. The scheme is considered to afford
an acceptable standard of residential amenity for future occupants in accordance
with Policies LP2 and LP16.

10.25. Policy LP16 also seeks to ensure development proposals result in high quality
environments most relevant:

(h) provides sufficient private amenity space, suitable to the type and amount of
development proposed; for dwellings other than flats, as a guide and depending
on the local character of the area, this means a minimum of a third of the plot
curtilage should be set aside as private amenity space

10.26. In terms of private amenity provision, all proposed dwellings are served by rear
gardens that meet the Council’s guideline of providing at least one-third of the
plot as usable amenity space, as demonstrated on the Proposed Site Plan. The
smallest gardens, at Plots 9 and 15, equate to approximately 33% of their
respective plot areas. The scheme is therefore considered to comply with Policy
LP16(h)

Landscaping

10.27. Policy LP16 requires all development to contribute to high-quality environments.
In relation to landscaping, criteria (c) and (d) require proposals to retain and
incorporate natural and historic features of the site, such as trees and hedgerows,
in order to preserve landscape character and the settlement pattern of the
surrounding area.

10.28. The application is not supported by a comprehensive landscaping scheme, and
although the Design and Access Statement alludes to opportunities for enhanced
planting and includes minor indicative features on the site plan, this level of detail
is insufficient to demonstrate full compliance with Policy LP16(c) and (d).
Notwithstanding this deficiency, it is recognised that appropriate landscaping can
reasonably be secured through the imposition of a suitably worded planning
condition requiring the submission and approval of a detailed soft and hard
landscaping scheme prior to commencement.

10.29. Taking this approach, it is considered that effective boundary treatments,
planting, and the retention and integration of key natural features can be
achieved, thereby enabling the development to contribute positively to the site’s
character and its wider setting.

10.30. Subject to this condition, the proposal is considered capable of meeting the
requirements of Policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan in respect of
landscaping and delivering a high-quality environment.

Access, Parking and Highway Safety

10.31. Policy LP15 requires all new development proposals to contribute to the delivery
of the sustainable transport network by providing well designed, safe, convenient
access for all. Development proposals should provide well designed car and
cycle parking appropriate to the amount of development proposed, ensuring
parking provision is provided in accordance with the standards.

Access and Highway Safety

Page 49



10.32.

10.33.

10.34.

10.35.

10.36.

10.37.

10.38.

A transport statement undertaken by MTC Engineering dated May 2025 (ref:
2104 — Phase B — HS Rev A — May 2025) has been submitted in support of this
application. This demonstrates that the level of traffic associated with the
proposed 15 dwellings will be modest, generating approximately 9 two-way
movements during peak hours. When considered cumulatively with the previously
consented development to the west, the combined traffic generation remains
significantly below the threshold at which strategic network impacts might be
expected. On this basis, and having regard to national guidance, the proposal is
not anticipated to give rise to capacity issues on the surrounding road network.

The proposed access arrangement, achieved through the extension of
Berryfields, provides appropriate carriageway widths, shared-surface elements
and continued footway provision. Vehicle tracking confirms that large vehicles,
including refuse vehicles, will be able to manoeuvre safely within the site. The
extension of pedestrian footways into the development will ensure connectivity
with nearby services, facilities, schools, bus stops and March railway station,
enabling realistic opportunities for sustainable travel.

A Construction Traffic Management Plan can be secured by condition to ensure
that construction-phase impacts are appropriately controlled.

The highway authority initially raised objections to the location and orientation of
the pedestrian and cycle access to the public open space between Plots 8 and 9
due to safety and visibility concerns and also sought clarification on the proposed
farm access at the north of the site. These issues were considered essential to
resolve prior to determination due to potential safety and adoption implications.
Following the submission of amended plans, the access arrangement has been
revised in line with current highway guidance and the farm access has been
removed, thereby addressing the previous concerns.

Taking all of the above into account, the development is not considered to result
in any unacceptable impacts upon highway safety, nor does it give rise to a
severe residual cumulative impact on the local highway network. The proposal
therefore complies with Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan and paragraph
117 of the NPPF.

Parking

Appendix A sets out that parking provision for two vehicles is required for
properties providing up to three bedrooms, properties with four+ bedrooms are
required to provide three spaces.

Plots 1, 2, 3,7, 8,9, 10, 13, 14 and 15 are four-bedroom units and each benefit
from a single garage together with two additional on-plot spaces. The garages
measure approximately 4.05 m by 7.64 m externally, exceeding the minimum
internal standard of 7 m by 3 m, and therefore constitute a compliant parking
space. The remaining plots comprise three-bedroom dwellings, each of which are
served by two dedicated parking spaces. As such, the development as a whole
achieves the required level of parking provision in accordance with the adopted
standards.

Flood Risk and Drainage

Page 50



10.39. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and paragraphs 170-182 of the National

Planning Policy Framework set out the approach to developing land in relation to
flood risk, with both documents steering development in the first instance towards
land at a lower risk of flooding. This is achieved by means of requiring
development proposals to undertake a sequential test to determine if there is land
available for development at a lower risk of flooding than the application site and
only resorting to development in those higher flood risk areas if it can be
demonstrated that there are no reasonably available sites at a lower risk of
flooding.

10.40. The Flood Risk Assessment submitted in support of the application (MTC

Engineering, May 2025, Ref: 2104 — FRA & DS — Phase B — Rev C) concludes
that because all proposed dwellings and the access road are positioned within
Flood Zone 1, the Sequential Test is not engaged. Paragraph 175 of the NPPF
states that the Sequential Test should be used in areas at risk from any form of
flooding, except where a site-specific flood risk assessment demonstrates that no
built development, including access or escape routes, land raising, or other
potentially vulnerable elements, would be located in an area at risk of flooding
now or in the future. Whilst it is noted that the public open space falls within Flood
Zones 2 and 3, this is not defined as a vulnerable use within Annexe 3 of the
PPG and therefore, the revised layout is considered to have sufficiently
addressed the previous reason for refusal in terms of the sequential test and
flood risk.

Drainage

10.41. The Lead Local Flood Authority following the receipt of amended plans, relocating

10.42.

10.43.

the attenuation basin, shared attenuation tank, and additional information
regarding discharge rate discrepancies and hydraulic calculations and
watercourse maintenance buffers have raised no objections to the proposal.

The IDB’s most recent response confirmed that the section of watercourse within
the site is the responsibility of the management company and should be
maintained in accordance with the Watercourse Management Plan (WMP). The
WMP provides guidance on channel maintenance and recommends a minimum 6
metre maintenance access width, though this is not a strict requirement. A
downstream section of watercourse was intended to be vested as a Board’s
District Drain but was not due to the landowner’s refusal. Aside from this vesting
issue, the WMP remains relevant and continues to guide maintenance
requirements.

The comments received from the IDB in relation to the application are noted. The
points raised are largely informative and do not constitute an objection to the
proposed development. In response to the IDB’s observations, the applicant has
confirmed that the watercourse in question is a small drain of approximately 1
metre depth which does not require heavy machinery for maintenance, and
therefore the recommended 6 metre access width is not necessary. Responsibility
for maintenance will remain with the site owner/management company in line with
the existing Watercourse Maintenance Plan, which will be incorporated into the
wider site drainage maintenance plan, which could be secured by condition. The
proposed development layout is consistent with the adjacent consented scheme
(F/'YR25/0442/NONMAT) and does not give rise to any maintenance or access
issues. Overall, the IDB’s comments are acknowledged, and no drainage or
watercourse issues arise that would prevent the development from proceeding.

Page 51



10.44.

10.45.

10.46.

10.47.

10.48.

10.49.

10.50.

10.51.

Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain

Policy LP19 requires development proposals to conserve, enhance, and promote
the biodiversity and geological interest of the natural environment across Fenland.

Furthermore, the Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver
a net gain in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on
avoiding ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting.
This approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a
primary objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for
the protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

A preliminary ecological appraisal has been submitted alongside this application,
alongside a BNG report and metric. This concludes that most designated sites and
protected species would experience neutral impacts from the development, though
some unmitigated effects could occur to habitats, nesting birds and foraging
wildlife. These impacts can be fully addressed through the proposed habitat
creation and long-term management within the eastern greenspace, as detailed in
the BNG assessment.

The application site comprises predominantly modified grassland, with areas of
recent disturbance and boundary ditches. The ecological assessment identifies
that the site holds limited ecological value, with only low to negligible potential to
support specially protected species. During the site visit (August 2025), active
construction works were observed immediately adjacent to, and partly encroaching
into, the application site, further reducing its current ecological sensitivity.

The development is subject to the statutory requirement to deliver a minimum 10%
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG). The applicant has submitted pre- and post-
development metric calculations demonstrating that the scheme can deliver in
excess of a 10% net gain on site through the creation and enhancement of
grassland, ponds, trees and shrub planting. These outcomes are considered
acceptable.

Given the significance of the proposed on-site ecological enhancements, long-
term management and monitoring over a minimum 30-year period will be
essential. This should be secured through a Habitat Management and Monitoring
Plan (HMMP), either by planning condition or via a S106 obligation, with the latter
offering greater certainty in securing future monitoring fees.

Notwithstanding the information submitted at this stage, any permission granted
will be subject to the statutory BNG condition requiring the submission and
approval of a final Biodiversity Gain Plan prior to commencement.

The Council’s Ecologist has not objected to the proposal, it is therefore considered
the proposal has overcome the second reason for refusal of the previous scheme,
subject to securing appropriate details via condition as discussed above, should
the application be approved.

Other Matters

Archaeology

Page 52



10.52. Paragraph 207 of the NPPF states that where a site on which development is
proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to
submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field
evaluation. Policy LP18 (a — c) requires development proposals to assess the
significance of the heritage asset to determine its archaeological interest, assess
the impact of the works upon the asset and provide a justification for the works.

10.53. The site has high archaeological potential, forming part of a known crop marked
settlement dating from the prehistoric to Roman period, located beside the Fen
Causeway Roman road. Previous investigations at nearby Berryfields revealed an
extensive settlement (c. 8ha) with subdivided enclosures, trackways, burials,
roadside stockades, and activity spanning from the Bronze Age through the late
Iron Age to Roman periods. Further excavation to the west confirmed continuation
of these enclosures and trackways into adjacent land. Cropmark evidence and
nearby findings indicate that similar archaeological features are likely to extend
into the current development area. As a result, further archaeological investigation
and recording are required to determine the survival, extent, and condition of
remains and to inform any necessary mitigation during development.

Loss of Agricultural land

10.54. The Local Plan and the NPPF both seek to protect the best and most versatile
agricultural land, and this is a matter raised in representations received to the
application. Given the scale of the site it is not considered that the loss of the site
would be objectionable in this context.

Refuse Collection

10.55. It is noted that the Council’s refuse team have requested swept path analysis
throughout the site to demonstrate that adequate access is provided for refuse
vehicles. Currently swept path information has been submitted at the two turning
heads, and this has been assessed as acceptable. It is considered that this matter
can be addressed by the imposition of an appropriately worded condition, should
the application be approved.

Planning Balance

10.56. In terms of sustainability the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states
that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of
sustainable development. Achieving sustainable development means that the
planning system has three overarching objectives; economic, social and
environmental, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually
supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across
each of the different objectives)

10.57. This stance is supported by Local Plan Policy LP1. In respect of the economic
objective, it is acknowledged that most residential development typically generates
some economic benefit, particularly through the creation of jobs during the
construction phase. In this case, the proposal would generate temporary
employment in the construction phase and contribute to the local economy through
increased footfall for local businesses, shops, and services once occupied. While
these benefits are modest in scale, they nonetheless represent a positive
contribution to the economic role of sustainable development.

Page 53



10.58.

10.59.

10.60.

10.61.

10.62.

10.63.

11

111

In respect of the social objective, the proposal would add to the District’'s housing
supply and delivers a mix of three- and four-bedroom dwellings. Although the
proportion of larger units does not wholly align with the 2021 Housing Needs
Assessment, the previous application on the site did not attract any policy-based
objections relating to housing mix, and the overall mix has not materially changed.
Given the reduced site capacity arising from flood-risk constraints, this weighs
proportionately in favour of the scheme.

With respect to affordable housing, independent viability review confirms that the
development cannot viably support affordable housing or S106 contributions.
While regrettable, the evidence is robust and aligns with the conclusions reached
under the previous application. On this basis, the absence of affordable housing is
accepted and does not weigh significantly against the social benefits of delivering
market housing in a sustainable location.

With regard to the environmental objective, the development is broadly consistent
with the adjacent schemes currently under construction to the west. While the
revised layout creates limited opportunities for natural surveillance between certain
dwellings and the adjacent open space, it represents an improved arrangement in
terms of flood risk mitigation. As no design objections were raised to the previous
application and the architectural approach remains largely unchanged, the
proposal is considered acceptable in terms of design and character, subject to
conditions.

Although the scheme represents a lower density than typically achieved in March,
this reflects the flood-risk constraints which limit the developable area. The earlier
18-unit proposal attracted no concerns or refusal reasons relating to density or the
efficient use of land; in the interests of decision-making consistency, it would be
unreasonable to conclude that density now weighs significantly against the
proposal. Any negative weight in this regard is therefore limited.

The site has a low ecological baseline, and the development offers meaningful
enhancements, with the ability to deliver in excess of a 10% Biodiversity Net Gain
secured through a long-term management plan. This represents a clear
environmental benefit.

In flood-risk terms, all dwellings and the access road are located wholly within
Flood Zone 1 and are not at significant risk of flooding. No specific floor-level or
resilience measures are required, and surface-water drainage can be secured by
condition. While part of the wider red-line boundary includes Flood Zones 2 and 3,
and the application does not satisfy the sequential test. Given the improved
arrangement and the absence of any realistic flood risk to the built form, residual
Sequential Test concerns carry only limited weight in the planning balance.

CONCLUSIONS

When assessed against the three objectives of sustainable development, the
proposal delivers modest economic benefits, clear environmental enhancements,
and meaningful social benefits through the delivery of additional housing in a
sustainable Market Town location. While the housing mix and density are not fully
aligned with policy aspirations, these matters were not previously identified as

Page 54



reasons for refusal, and the updated scheme performs no worse, than the earlier
proposal.

11.2 The flood-risk position has improved significantly compared with the previous
application, with all development now located within Flood Zone 1. Taking into
account the previous decision, the consistency of approach required by national
guidance, and the ability to secure drainage and biodiversity matters by condition,
the residual concerns regarding the Sequential Test do not outweigh the overall
benefits of the scheme.

11.3 On balance, the proposal is considered to represent a sustainable form of
development when assessed against the NPPF and the Fenland Local Plan and is
therefore acceptable.

12 RECOMMENDATION

Grant; subject to the following conditions:

1 The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years
from the date of this permission.

Reason - To ensure compliance with Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2 No development, including preparatory works, shall commence until details of
measures indicating how additional surface water run-off from the site will be
avoided during the construction works have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The applicant may be required to
provide collection, balancing and/or settlement systems for these flows. The
approved measures and systems shall be brought into operation before any
works to create buildings or hard surfaces commence.

Reason To ensure surface water is managed appropriately during the
construction phase of the development, so as not to increase the flood risk to
adjacent land/properties or occupied properties within the development itself;
recognising that initial works to prepare the site could bring about unacceptable
impacts, in accordance with Local Plan Policy LP14.

3 No demolition/development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents
or successors in title, has implemented a programme of archaeological work,
commencing with the evaluation of the application area, that has been secured
in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) that has been
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. For land
that is included within the WSI, no demolition/development shall take place
other than under the provisions of the agreed WSI, which shall include:

a. the statement of significance and research objectives;

b. The programme and methodology of investigation and recording and the
nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the agreed
works;

c. The timetable for the field investigation as part of the development
programme;

d. The programme and timetable for the analysis, publication & dissemination,

Page 55



and deposition of resulting material and digital archives.

Reason: To safeguard archaeological assets within the approved development
boundary from impacts relating to any demolitions or groundworks associated
with the development scheme and to ensure the proper and timely
preservation and/or investigation, recording, reporting, archiving and
presentation of archaeological assets affected by this development, in
accordance with national policies contained in the National Planning Policy
Framework and Local Plan Policy LP18.

No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be
adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:

o] The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
o] Loading and unloading of plant and materials
0 Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
o] The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate
o Wheel washing facilities

o] Any approved Arboricultural Method Statement

o] Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction

0 A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works

Reason: In order to ensure that the construction takes place in a suitable
manner and to ensure that amenities of existing residents are protected as far
as reasonable, in accordance with LP2 and LP16 of the Local Plan.

Notwithstanding the details submitted as part of this application, prior to the
commencement of development, a swept path analysis demonstrating that a
standard refuse collection vehicle can access, manoeuvre within, and exit the
site safely shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details and the approved access and manoeuvring arrangements
shall be retained thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that refuse vehicles can safely access and manoeuvre
within the site, in the interests of highway safety and proper waste
management, in accordance with Policy LP2 and LP15 of the Fenland Local
Plan.

No works related to the alteration of ground levels at the site and no works
above ground level shall occur until details of existing ground levels and
proposed finished ground levels, and their relationship to the adjoining land,
and floor levels have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.

Reason: In order to ensure that amenities of residents are protected as far as
reasonable, in accordance with LP2 and LP16 of the Local Plan.

Full details of the provision and subsequent retention of both hard and soft
landscape works on the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by

Page 56



the local planning authority prior to any works occurring above ground level at
the application site. These details shall include:

1) Details of proposed schedules of species of trees and shrubs to be
planted, planting layouts with stock sizes and planting numbers/densities.

2) Details of the planting scheme implementation programme, including
ground protection and preparation, weed clearance, stock sizes, seeding rates,
planting methods, mulching, plant protection, staking and/or other support.

3) Details of the aftercare and maintenance programme.

The soft landscape works shall be carried out as approved within the first
available planting season (October to March inclusive) following the occupation
of any part of the development hereby approved unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the local planning authority.

If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree or plant,
or any tree or plant planted in its replacement, is removed, uprooted,
destroyed, dies, or becomes, in the opinion of the local planning authority,
seriously damaged or defective, another tree or plant of the same species and
size as that originally planted shall be planted in the same place, unless the
local planning authority gives its written consent to any variation.

Hard landscape works
4) Details of paved surfacing, with materials finishing and edgings
5) Details of street furniture, with designs materials and dimensions

The hard landscape works shall be carried out as approved prior to the first
occupation of any part of the development hereby approved and retained and
maintained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the development is satisfactory and
that it contributes to the visual character and amenity of the area and to protect
the character of the site in accordance with Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local
Plan 2014.

No laying of services, creation of hard surfaces or erection of a building shall
commence until a detailed design of the surface water drainage of the site has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Those elements of the surface water drainage system not adopted by a
statutory undertaker shall thereafter be maintained and managed in
accordance with the approved management and maintenance plan.

The scheme shall be based upon the principles within the agreed Flood Risk
Assessment & Drainage Strategy, MTC, Ref: 2104, Rev: C, Dated: May 2025
and shall also include:

a) Full calculations detailing the existing surface water runoff rates for the
QBAR, 3.3% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) (1 in 30) and 1% AEP (1 in
100) storm events;

b) Full results of the proposed drainage system modelling in the above-
referenced storm events (as well as 1% AEP plus climate change), inclusive of
all collection, conveyance, storage, flow control and disposal elements and
including an allowance for urban creep, together with an assessment of system
performance;

c) Detailed drawings of the entire proposed surface water drainage system,

Page 57



attenuation and flow control measures, including levels, gradients, dimensions
and pipe reference numbers, designed to accord with the CIRIA C753 SuDS
Manual (or any equivalent guidance that may supersede or replace it);

d) Full detail on SuDS proposals (including location, type, size, depths, side
slopes and cross sections);

e) Details of overland flood flow routes in the event of system exceedance, with
demonstration that such flows can be appropriately managed on site without
increasing flood risk to occupants;

f) Demonstration that the surface water drainage of the site is in accordance
with DEFRA non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage
systems;

g) Full details of the maintenance/adoption of the surface water drainage
system;

h) Permissions to connect to a receiving watercourse or sewer;

i) Measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or
surface water

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately drained
and to ensure that there is no increased flood risk on or off site resulting from
the proposed development and to ensure that the principles of sustainable
drainage can be incorporated into the development, noting that initial
preparatory and/or construction works may compromise the ability to mitigate
harmful impacts, in accordance with Local Plan Policy LP14.

Notwithstanding Condition 8, prior to the commencement of development, a
Watercourse and Drainage Maintenance Plan for the site, incorporating the
existing Watercourse Management Plan (WMP), shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The plan shall include details of:

The ownership and responsibilities for maintenance of all watercourses and
drainage features within the site, including the small drain running through the
development

The maintenance regime, frequency, and methods to be used to ensure the
continued effective operation of the watercourses and drainage systems.

Access arrangements for maintenance, including any necessary clearance
widths.

Procedures for updating and reviewing the plan over the lifetime of the
development.

The development shall be carried out and subsequently maintained in
accordance with the approved plan for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately drained
and to ensure that there is no increased flood risk on or off site resulting from
the proposed development in accordance with Local Plan Policy LP14.

10

Prior to works above ground level, a scheme and timetable for the provision of
fire hydrants shall be submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning
Authority and provision of the fire hydrants shall be made in accordance with

Page 58



the scheme and timetable.

Reason - To ensure a satisfactory form of development.

11

Prior to works above ground level, a scheme for the provision, laying out,
equipping, management and long term maintenance of the public open space
within the site, including all pedestrian and cycle routes and links, as shown on
the site plan provided, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:

The location, extent and phasing of delivery of all areas of public open space
and pedestrian and cycle routes.

Details of surfacing, landscaping, boundary treatments and any associated
furniture or lighting.

Arrangements for public access and connectivity to the wider pedestrian and
cycle network.

Details of the body responsible for management and maintenance and the
funding mechanisms to secure its long term upkeep.

The approved scheme shall be implemented in full in accordance with the
approved details and thereafter retained and maintained for the lifetime of the
development.

Reason: To ensure the timely delivery, accessibility and long term
management of public open space and pedestrian and cycle infrastructure, in
the interests of visual amenity, residential amenity, health and wellbeing and
sustainable modes of travel, in accordance with Local Plan Policies LP2, LP15
and LP16.

12

Prior to their use in the development hereby approved, details of the materials
to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development
hereby approved shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details.

Reason: In order to ensure that suitable materials are used on the
development as there are insufficient details within the submitted planning
application, in accordance with Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan.

13

Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling the road(s), footway(s) and
cycleway(s) required to access that dwelling shall be constructed to at least
binder course surfacing level from the dwelling to the adjoining adopted
highway.

Reason: To ensure that each dwelling is appropriately served by highway
infrastructure in the interests of highway safety and sustainability in
accordance with policies LP15 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan, 2014.

14

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved a refuse
collection strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The approved refuse collection strategy shall be
implemented in accordance with the agreed details in full and thereafter be
retained in perpetuity unless otherwise agreed in writing.

Page 59




Reason: The application contains insufficient information to ensure that
adequate facilities are provided for refuse and recycling storage and collection,
in compliance with Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan, adopted May 2014.

15

The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the terms and
specifications contained within the Ecology Report dated May 2025 carried out
by Wild Frontier Ecology which are attached to and form part of this
permission.

Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside
Act with respect to nesting birds and to protect features of nature conservation
importance in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

16

The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the terms and
specifications contained within the Arboricutural Impact Assessment
undertaken by Oakfield Arboricultural Services ref: OAS 25-393-AR01 dated
September 2025 which are attached to and form part of this permission.

Reason: To ensure that the trees on site are adequately protected, to
safeguard the character and appearance of the area, in accordance with
policies LP16 and LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

17

The walls/fences as shown on the approved plan number SE-2304 - PP1001
Rev D shall be constructed prior to the first occupation of the dwelling to which
it relates and shall be retained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the boundary treatment shown is in place, in
accordance with Local Plan Policy LP16.

18

Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling hereby approved, full details of the
proposed arrangements for future management and maintenance of the
proposed streets within the development shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The streets shall thereafter be
maintained in accordance with the approved management and maintenance
details until such time as an Agreement has been entered into unto Section 38
of the Highways Act 1980 or a Private Management and Maintenance
Company has been established.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory development of the site and to ensure estate
roads are managed and maintained thereafter to a suitable and safe standard,
in accordance with policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

19

No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until the parking spaces
serving that specific dwelling have been provided in accordance with the
approved plans. The parking spaces provided shall thereafter be retained for
that purpose in perpetuity.

Reason: To ensure adequate space for parking off the highway is provided in
the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP15 of the Fenland
Local Development Plan

20

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans and documents

Page 60



Page 61



F/YR25/0586/F

oerly
10: 1:2,500
8/11/2025, 11:10:08 AM 0 5 230 460 f
| ! ! | ! ! ! |
| T T T T 1
|:| Fenland District Boundary 0 35 70 140 m

Fenland District Council

Uniform
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁsey AC0000815148.
age



Schedule of Materials

Plot Schedule
Plot Unit Ref Bedrooms Floor Area Notes
Plot 1 House Type B1 4 Bed 161.0m2 with garage
Plot 2 House Type B1 4 Bed 161.0m2 with garage
Plot 3 House Type B4 4 Bed 150.2m2 with garage
Plot 4 House Type B2H 3 Bed 119.0m2
Plot 5 House Type B2 3 Bed 119.0m2
Plot 6 House Type B2H 3 Bed 119.0m2
Plot 7 House Type B1 4 Bed 161.0m2 with garage
Plot 8 House Type B4 4 Bed 150.2m2 with garage
Plot9 House Type B1 4 Bed 161.0m2 with garage
Plot 10 House Type B4 4 Bed 150.2m2 with garage
Plot 11 House Type B3 3 Bed 113.2m2
Plot 12 House Type B3 3 Bed 113.2m2
Plot 13 House Type B4H 4 Bed 150.2m2 with garage
Plot 14 House Type B1 4 Bed 161.0m2 with garage
Plot 15 House Type B4H 4 Bed 150.2m2 with garage

Plot Bricks Render Roof Tiles
Plot 1 Ibstock Windsor - Red Off White Russell Galloway - Terracotta
Plot 2 Ibstock Windsor - Red Off White Russell Galloway - Terracotta
Plot 3 Ibstock Windsor - Red Russell Galloway - Slate Gray
Plot 4 Ibstock Windsor - Red Off White Russell Galloway - Slate Gray
Plot 5 Ibstock Windsor - Red Off White Russell Galloway - Slate Gray
Plot 6 Ibstock Windsor - Red Off White Russell Galloway - Slate Gray
Plot 7 Ibstock Windsor - Red Off White Russell Galloway - Terracotta
Plot 8 Ibstock Windsor - Red Russell Galloway - Terracotta
Plot 9 Ibstock Windsor - Red Off White Russell Galloway - Terracotta
Plot 10 Ibstock Windsor - Red Russell Galloway - Terracotta
Plot 11 Ibstock Windsor - Red Off White Russell Galloway - Slate Gray
Plot 12 Ibstock Windsor - Red Off White Russell Galloway - Slate Gray
Plot 13 Ibstock Windsor - Red Russell Galloway - Terracotta
Plot 14 Ibstock Windsor - Red Off White Russell Galloway - Terracotta
Plot 15 Ibstock Windsor - Red Russell Galloway - Terracotta

€9 abed

Scale: 1:500

15 20

(55 I I —

metres

Indicates neighboring properties
currently under construction
(PHASE A)

Indicates proposed 1.8m
high close boarded fence
(unless labeled differently
on site plan)

Indicates shared driveway to
adoptable standards

Indicates neighboring properties
(from ordinance survey location

plan)

Indicates assumed existing pipe

run with 3m zone

public open space

~

\

2N \
%
> \

\

~

public open space \

Indicates Phase B site boundary

Indicates Flood zone 2

Indicates Flood Zone 3 (with

defenses)

General Notes
1. All dimensions are shown in 'mm’ unless otherwise stated.
2.The contractor, sub-contractors and suppliers must verify all
dimensions on site prior to the commencement of any work.
3.This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant engineers

House Type B1 -4 Bed -
161.0m2

House Type B2 - 3 Bed -
119.0m2

Location Plan {gmetet '

Scale: 1:2500

113.2m2

150.2m2

Single Garage - 23.7m2

Shed - 3.6m2

and specialist sub-contractors drawings and specifications.
4.Any discrepancies are to be brought to the designers attention.

metres
Schedule of Gardens
Plot Overall Plot Size | Rear Garden Size | Percentage of Plot
Plot 1 447.0m2 204.0m2 45.6%
Plot 2 420.0m2 200.0m2 47.6%
Plot 3 428.0m2 201.0m2 46.9%
Plot 4 331.0m2 177.0m?2 53.5%
Plot 5 380.0m?2 187.0m2 49.2%
Plot 6 295.0m?2 168.0m2 56.9%
Plot 7 393.0m?2 199.0m?2 50.6%
Plot 8 360.0m?2 139.0m2 38.6%
Plot 9 355.0m?2 120.0m2 33.8%
Plot 10 361.0m2 142.0m2 39.3%
Plot 11 275.0m2 127.0m2 46.2%
Plot 12 294.0m?2 146.0m?2 49.7%
Plot 13 324.0m?2 122.0m2 37.7%
Plot 14 469.0m2 205.0m2 43.7%
Plot 15 508.0m?2 172.0m2 33.8%
Status

PLANNING

House Type B3 - 3 Bed -

House Type B4 - 4 Bed -

B SVWAN

A R C H

VWA

T E C T U R E

N\

q

DS

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited, Black Barn, Fen Road,

Guyhirn, Wisbech, Cambs. PE13 4AA

t 01945 450694 e info@swannedwards.co.uk w www.swannedwards.co.uk

p . ) Date Scale
roposed Residential Development . Various
Land East of Berryfield April .
March, Cambs 2025 Sheet Size
for: Fink Developments Al
Drawing_Title Job No. Drawn by
 PHASE B I5E_2304 RS
Planning Drawing _
Site and Location Plans |P%9 No- Revision
PP1000 E

Job Title

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited ©




79 abed

E ©
|
S
Side Elevation ¢ 2 ¢ ¢ Front Elevation ¢ 4 ¢ ¢ ¢ Side Elevation ¢4 & & ¢
Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres
]
bed 1 w bed 2 = \Z :
kitchen living = . -
L] e\ g
SeCtlon A_A Cﬂ:? Rear Elevatlon O_:l1 . ! N
Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres
v 9890 L L 9890 ‘
7 [ Al A
A A
| = 2
T q ) family ens
— kitchen @’ jﬂJ bed 1
A \
| 1]
| \ - |
gl 7 utlity land
0 < 0 | 0
2 we 2 ] w A S
= I o ac
=4 S o
71 w .
| Iivigroorn o E%jinim%
bed 2 |
@ hall ||| =
| | : N
A A~

Ground Floor Plan°o ¢ 2 @ ¢ First Floor Plan o & & ¢ Roof Plan O S

Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres

General Notes

1. All dimensions are shown in 'mm' unless otherwise stated.

2.The contractor, sub-contractors and suppliers must verify all
dimensions on site prior to the commencement of any work.

3.This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant engineers
and specialist sub-contractors drawings and specifications.

4.Any discrepancies are to be brought to the designers attention.

MATERIALS KEY

in the materials schedule

the materials schedule

Casement

Hatch indicates brickwork as detailed
Hatch indicates render as detailed in

Hatch indicates roof tiles as detailed
in the materials schedule

Windows and doors - UPVC

Windows and doors - UPVC
Casement with stone cill detail

Rainwater goods - black half round gutters and black round downpipes

Status

PLANNING

B SVWANN
—DVWAR

T E C T U R E

A R C H

S

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited, Black Barn, Fen Road,
Guyhirn, Wisbech, Cambs. PE13 4AA

t 01945 450694 e info@swannedwards.co.uk w www.swannedwards.co.uk

Job Title

Proposed Residential Development

Land East of Berryfield

for: Fink Developments

Date Scale
April Various
March, Cambs 2025 Sheet Size
A1
Drawing Title Job No. —
 PHASE B g 5304 RS
Planning Drawing _
House Type B1 |Bwe Ne. Revision
PP1100 B

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited ©




General Notes

| | 1. All dimensions are shown in 'mm' unless otherwise stated.
O O 2.The contractor, sub-contractors and suppliers must verify all
C C dimensions on site prior to the commencement of any work.
3.This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant engineers
m m and specialist sub-contractors drawings and specifications.
N (D (D 4.Any discrepancies are to be brought to the designers attention.
N ~
(Q)) D Hatch indicates brickwork as detailed
in the materials schedule
. (U (U .
= = = T o N N = o
B . E o | = o - I
= /% B ') = 0 Hatch |nd[cates render as detailed in
= I ] = = the materials schedule
8 4 o — ©
T < = <
= = 7 :
g g | % // o !—Iattr::h ind:cgttals rozf t(;lels as detailed
= = %% in the materials schedule
= 2| //%
e SRR -2 3«% J

Windows and doors - UPVC
Casement

Front Elevation Side Elevation °© ¢ @ ° ¢ Front Elevation Side Elevation 2.2 @2 ° ¢

Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres

Windows and doors - UPVC
Casement with stone cill detail

Rainwater goods - black half round gutters and black round downpipes

7 7

P
P
p
p
p
P
P
P
P/
P
p
P
P
P/
P/
P
p
P/
P/
p
p
p
p
P4
p
p
p
p
p
P/
P

p 4

#

¢

—
.

R
N

\

@

AT St
232 &
Egjﬁy %%

\

3 i 4'l %

far WW\ (;ET/:

(o

:
:
H
-
b
7 e
i
y%@ @m@%‘\

lﬁf__
%
\

Side Elevation o @ 2 3 ¢

Side Elevation o+ 2 3 = Rear Elevation L N

Rear Elevation

Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres
—
ens land bed 3 bed 3 land ens
= —
hall dining dining hall

Section B-B 0o 1 2 3 4 Section C-C o 1 2 3 ¢

Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres
| 7200 v v 7200 v v P 7200 v
Al B Kl Kl B Kl Kl Al C Al
AT / A? 5? Ai AT ;i AT ;i S ta t ue
b
i
To) To) To) To) .
S 3 & 3 & > 3 X >
2 we 2 2 = 2
AR C H I T E C T U R E
Swann Edwards Architecture Limited, Black Barn, Fen Road,
Guyhirn, Wisbech, Cambs. PE13 4AA
)1:\\ :::ﬁ-::ii ?iz'!?? t 01945 450694 e info@swannedwards.co.uk w www.swannedwards.co.uk
L% e
0058 S0Svstoves 9504 Job Title
:’0. g,:,: S :.:‘L . ) Date Scale
»g:: exks Proposed Residential Development . Various
L N = J d d g — Land East of Berryfield April _
‘ N N ~ ~ I\/Iarch, Cambs 2025 Shee}tASae
L B 4 4 g N e for: Fink Developments 1
Y Drawing Title [7 =™ Drawn by
% 0 1 2 3 4 [ 0 1 2 3 4 0 1 2 3 4 0 1 2 3 4 [ 0 1 2 3 4 0 1 2 3 4 Planni PHDASE' ° [sE-230¢ RS
& Ground Floor Plan (55— — First Floor Plan (55— — Roof Plan 55 I — Ground Floor Plan 55 I — First Floor Plan 55 I — Roof Plan 555 I I— Haonunéggw;aewgg Prg o Revision
PP1200 B
Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited ©



4885

7355

Front Elevat
Scale: 1:100

jon ©

metres

-\
| |

Z

L

"’

Side Elevation

Scale: 1:100 metres

T
T
T
=
o
.
“‘5
ﬁ‘@,
{

Rear Elevation A
Scale: 1:100 metres
. 9777,5
Yl
F
@ @ util
kitchen:j:
g wc o)
3 |i@ u 2
™~ ac 7T N
N . .,
~dining?| |
== mnipehi
@ L he L
‘ ‘ N
AT L _ F
S
(@]
° Ground Floor Plan ¢ 2§ & |
< Scale: 1:100 metres

Side Elevation o 1 2 3 ¢

Scale: 1:100 metres

dress bed 1

kitchen dining

Section F-F o 2 & & ¢

Scale: 1:100 metres
y 97775 y
Al Al
F
-~ ;i
batt B ens dres
3
g 3
N~
land
bed 1 |
A?
AN F

First Floor Plan S

Scale: 1:100 metres

General Notes

1. All dimensions are shown in 'mm' unless otherwise stated.

2.The contractor, sub-contractors and suppliers must verify all
dimensions on site prior to the commencement of any work.

3.This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant engineers
and specialist sub-contractors drawings and specifications.

4.Any discrepancies are to be brought to the designers attention.

MATERIALS KEY

Hatch indicates brickwork as detailed
in the materials schedule

Hatch indicates render as detailed in
the materials schedule

Hatch indicates roof tiles as detailed
in the materials schedule

Windows and doors - UPVC
Casement

Windows and doors - UPVC
Casement with stone cill detail

Rainwater goods - black half round gutters and black round downpipes

Status

PLANNING

Roof Plan

Scale:

1:100

0 1 2 3 4

(555 I I —

metres

B SVWANN
B EDWARDS

A R C H T E C T U R E

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited, Black Barn, Fen Road,
Guyhirn, Wisbech, Cambs. PE13 4AA

t 01945 450694 e info@swannedwards.co.uk w www.swannedwards.co.uk

Job Title
Proposed Residential Development
Land East of Berryfield April

March, Cambs 2025 Sheet Size

Date Scale
Various

for: Fink Developments Al
Drawing Title Job No. Drawn by
 PHASE B I5g_2304 RS
Planning Drawing —
House Type B3 Dwg No. Revision
PP1300 B

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited ©




General Notes

1. All dimensions are shown in 'mm' unless otherwise stated.

2.The contractor, sub-contractors and suppliers must verify all
dimensions on site prior to the commencement of any work.

3.This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant engineers
and specialist sub-contractors drawings and specifications.

4.Any discrepancies are to be brought to the designers attention.

1 I
O O
(- (-
0] wm
(D Q)
;i lT
— | o
- < | S f — MATERIALS KEY
(D (D \‘\\ Hatch indicates brickwork as detailed
y \\‘ in the materials schedule
| " i W | W ; I BN
= o - HAN SN o P
% © o % I © % » Hatch indicates render as detailed in
= ey = | Py the materials schedule
= © = E ©
g o g o g
= S = S =
= - - ~ = ~ — || L g
5 L a . 1 . . .
= M = o o | Hatch indicat: f til detailed
=0 g \, ==K in the materials schedule
A = 7 iII==7:
% % ii&z%?is@% N N N ; (v g& Eﬁ:%@@%%\ N N e 4 ; N
Windows and doors - UPVC
. : ’ ' . . C t
Front Elevation Side Elevation e — Front Elevation Side Elevation o ———
Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres
Windows and doors - UPVC
Casement with stone cill detail

Rainwater goods - black half round gutters and black round downpipes

= =

P
P
P4
P
P
P
P
P
P
P/
p
P
P
p
p
p
P
P
p
p
p
p
p
P
s

p 4

#

¢

N

Z
2

A\

N

D

727

[T
AT O

@
g\ék T
0 i / Wi %
=g ——w 2 BAE “W%V\%\

Rear Elevation ¢ ¢ 2 35 ¢ Side Elevation ¢ o 2 @ ¢ Rear Elevation ¢ ¢ 2 3 ¢ Side Elevation ¢ ¢ 2 ¢
Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres

;%@HH\HH\HHHHHHH [T
u#;;;

N

bed 3 bed 2 bed 2 bed 3

kitchen utility study study utility kitchen

Roof Plan g Section D-D b £ L | Roof Plan o+ > Section E-E o ¢ o

Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres
¥ 9890 ¥ ¥ 9890 ¥ g 9890 ¥ v 9890 v
D D E Status
I 1 I 1 I | 1 I 1 PLANNING
BN ‘ | 7N
. (] dining - family family (] dining . I
—— kitchen A bed 3 i kitchen —
| - I R . . 8\/\// \N R
Te} = m m Te} m@ m g Te} Te} .
g cup S . “ cup ‘ g g . _D\A//A\ q S
S utility — ff we S ) % S we || utility S 3 ) | j
T & I & & T 2 & AR CH I TET CTURE
hall K bed 2 h ” Swann Edwards Architecture Limited, Black Barn, Fen Road,
a i louhge | ge I a Guyhirn, Wisbech, Cambs. PE13 4AA
I StUdy || en || StUdy I t 01945 450694 e info@swannedwards.co.uk w www.swannedwards.co.uk
w bed
~ ~ K oK Job Title Date Scale
3 cup cup | Proposed Residential Development Vari
_ —— , . arious
D D E Land East of Berryfield April _
N N . . March, Cambs 2025 Sheet Size
for: Fink Developments Al
AV AV AV AV AV AV 4 I [ [ I e
y y B , y y y s Drawing Title
o) 4612,5 5277,5 4612,5 5277,5 7 5277,5 7 4612,5 7 7 5277.,5 7 4612,5 ‘ ob No Drawn by
% 0 1 2 3 4 i 0 1 2 3 4 0 1 2 3 4 I 0 1 2 3 4 Pl i PH[I)ASE' ; SE_2.304 RS
PP1400 B
Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited ©



Scale: 1:100

89 abed

metres

: i
4 g%%@%ﬁ% f—— . %E%‘fi& %’%ﬂéﬁ%ﬁ = y%?i“‘gi%
Front Elevation e ———— Side Elevation e — Rear Elevation e — Side Elevation ¢+ 2 3 =«
Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres
garage
Roof Plan (u:T Section G-G 0—1—2—3:4
Scale: 1:100 metres Scale: 1:100 metres
¥ 3396 v
G
Ground Floor Plano 2 3 4

General Notes

1. All dimensions are shown in 'mm' unless otherwise stated.

2.The contractor, sub-contractors and suppliers must verify all
dimensions on site prior to the commencement of any work.

3.This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant engineers
and specialist sub-contractors drawings and specifications.

4.Any discrepancies are to be brought to the designers attention.

MATERIALS KEY

Hatch indicates brickwork as detailed
in the materials schedule

Hatch indicates render as detailed in
the materials schedule

Hatch indicates roof tiles as detailed
in the materials schedule

Windows and doors - UPVC
Casement

Windows and doors - UPVC
Casement with stone cill detail

Rainwater goods - black half round gutters and black round downpipes

Status

PLANNING

B SVVANN
DWARDS

T E C T UR E

AR C H

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited, Black Barn, Fen Road,
Guyhirn, Wisbech, Cambs. PE13 4AA

t 01945 450694 e info@swannedwards.co.uk w www.swannedwards.co.uk

= d Resid ial D lJOb Title Date Scale
ropose esidential Deve opm.ent _ As Shown
Land East of Berryfield April _
March, Cambs 2025 Sheet Size
for: Fink Developments Az
Drawing Title Job No. Drawn by
 PHASE B g 5304 RS
Planning Drawing _
Garages Dwg No. Revision
PP1500 C

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited ©




Agenda Iltem 6

F/YR25/0750/F

Applicant: Mrs Carver Agent : Mr G Boreham
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd

Bromsgrove House , Honeysome Road, Chatteris, Cambridgeshire PE16 6SB

Change of use of land for residential use, siting of a mobile home to be used as
an annexe and removal of existing mobile home

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations received contrary to Officer
Recommendation

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The application seeks permission for the siting of a residential caravan and
associated curtilage on land serving Bromsgrove House, accessed via Fenton
Lode (an unadopted byway north of Honeysome Road).

1.2 The site sits within an isolated cluster comprising two existing dwellings and
various agricultural and commercial uses, surrounded predominantly by open
countryside and lying outside the established built-up area of Chatteris. Although
a past permission for an annexe (F/YR21/1346/F) was granted on personal-need
grounds, this consent has lapsed and carries limited weight. More recent
proposals for similar development (F/YR25/0352/F) were refused.

1.3 The current scheme is materially comparable to the previously refused proposal.
The development would introduce a separate residential unit on land beyond the
established curtilage, with no functional dependency on the host dwelling.

1.4 The siting, scale and domestic curtilage proposed would extend built form into
agricultural land, resulting in unwarranted domestication of open countryside,
contrary to Policies LP1, LP3 and LP16. No evidence has been provided to justify
the need for ancillary accommodation or to demonstrate an essential rural
requirement.

1.5 The proposal would also result in moderate harm to the rural character and
landscape, with the introduction of a domestic caravan, boundary treatments and
associated paraphernalia eroding the open setting. While residential amenity and
parking arrangements are acceptable, these factors do not outweigh fundamental
policy conflicts.

1.6 The site lies wholly within Flood Zone 3. No Sequential Test has been undertaken
and the development cannot be considered ancillary, meaning the requirement
applies in full. Reasonably available sites exist in areas of lower flood risk, and the
scheme therefore fails the Sequential Test. Furthermore, the proposal does not
demonstrate wider sustainability benefits required to pass Part 1 of the Exception
Test, although Part 2 could potentially be satisfied through mitigation. As both

Page 69



limbs must be met, the Exception Test is not passed.

1.7 Overall, the proposal fails to address the previous reasons for refusal and is

considered unsustainable, contrary to key Local Plan policies and national
planning guidance.

1.8 Therefore, the application is recommended for Refusal.

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

3.1

3.2

SITE DESCRIPTION

The application site is situated to the northern end of Fenton Lode or Twenty Foot
Drain, approximately 170m North of the junction with Honeysome Road. The
access road to the site incorporates C & G Coaches on its western corner and an
electricity substation to its eastern side. The Lode is an unadopted byway serving
agricultural buildings and two detached dwellings at its northern end and provides
access for maintenance of the adjacent drain.

Between the application site and Fenland Way to the East there is a variety of
commercial units on the Honeysome Industrial Estate, including SS Motors’ fuel
depot, Stainless Metalcraft to the south and a variety of mixed engineering firms
and a larger retail outlet to the north.

The two houses along the Lode are in an isolated position away from other new
and established housing development situated on the eastern side of Fenland
Way, comprising the main built-up area of the town. To the North, West and mainly
to the South of the application site there is currently open agricultural land.

It is acknowledged that permission has been granted for a large housing
development at Womb Farm, further to the north, and west of Fenland Way. This is
the other side of the Twenty Foot Drain and is a comprehensively planned
development closely associated with established links into the town itself.

The application site itself comprises a detached bungalow served off the Lode and
established rear curtilage and small front garden. There is one un-associated
detached frontage dwelling to the immediate south of the site, then an assortment
of farm buildings, with the established coach company at the junction with
Honeysome Road.

Along the northern side of the red-lined application site there is an older, utilitarian
single-skinned brick, former agricultural building. The application site includes this
outbuilding, plus agricultural land adjacent to its south, of a slightly larger scale to
that of the defined rear garden to the dwelling at Bromsgrove House itself.

PROPOSAL

Planning permission is sought for the change of use of land, to extend the
residential curtilage of the host dwelling, and the siting of a caravan to be used as
an annexe. This would include the removal of the existing mobile home situated to
the south of the host dwelling.

The proposed change of use relates to a rectangular parcel of land north of the
existing curtilage associated with Bromsgrove.

Page 70




3.3

3.4

3.5

4

The proposed caravan would have a maximum height of 4.11 metres with an
eaves height of 2.95 metres, with a depth of 16.16 metres and a width of 4.2
metres. This would be finished with a 0.6 metres brickwork skirt all round, clay
stone cladding and dark grey flat roof tile and would feature three gable features to
the front elevation. The proposed caravan would provide two bedrooms, a
bathroom and open plan living room and kitchen.

Other associated works include the installation of a 1.2 metre high post and rail
fence to the northern, southern and western boundaries, the extension of the
existing gravel driveway to the north and west to serve the proposed annexe and
an area to the south of the proposed annexe to provide an area for biodiversity
enhancements, namely the planting of trees.

The main amendments as part of this current application are a reduction in the
proposed area for the extension of residential curtilage and footprint of proposed
accommodation and rather than constructing an annexe, the proposal relates to
the siting of a caravan and a reduction in the accommodation provided and is now
a two bed. Furthermore, the proposed accommodation has been moved closer to
the boundary with the host dwelling.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

Reference Proposal Decision

F/YR25/0352/F Change of use of land for residential use, Refuse

construction of a single storey building
(annexe) and associated development

F/IYR21/1346/F Change of use of land to domestic and erect | Approved

a two-storey self-contained residential annex
involving the demolition of existing

outbuilding
5 CONSULTATIONS
5.1 Chatteris Town Council
Recommend Approval
Internal Consultees
5.2 FDC Environmental Health
No objections
External Consultees
5.3 Middle Level Commissioners

No response received at the time of writing this report

Page 71


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

Local Residents/Interested Parties

Eleven letter of support have been received from residents in Sycamore Crescent,
Heronshaw, Green Park, Station Street, Barley Close, Fairway, St James Close,
Birch Avenue — Chatteris and Watermoor Point in Cirencester.

Supporting Comments

Officer Response

Enables family to remain living at the
same address — multi generational living
and support.

Comments noted and discussed in
below report.

Uncertainty around land adjacent future
use — this location is more shielded

Comments noted and discussed in
the below report

Minimal disruption to the surrounding
area

Comments noted and discussed in
below report.

Applicant valued member of the
community

Comments noted.

Superstore proposed to the rear, solar
farm to the front, an allotment to the left
and housing to the right — how is this
unacceptable in rurality

Comments noted and discussed in
the below report

Site previously received approval for an
annexe

Comments noted however as
discussed below, the previous
permission related to the conversion
of an existing building on site and
was materially different to that
proposed under the current
application

Existing caravan removed will improve
the area

Comments noted and discussed in
the below report

Reduction and amendments to scheme
result in improvements

Comments noted and discussed in
the below report

Cost efficient living

Comments noted

Mobile home is clearly ancillary and it is
important this is retained.

Comments noted and discussed
below.

One letter of representation from a local resident on Honeysome Road has been

received and is summarised below:

Comments

Officer Response

No objection to the principle — concerns
regarding the delivery of parts and
associated impact on trees

Comments noted. Should the
application be approved, this matter
could be dealt with via condition.

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan

(2014).

Page 72




POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

Identity

Built Form

Nature

Homes and Buildings

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 - A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing

LP5 - Meeting Housing Need

LP10 — Chatteris

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP13 — Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP19 — The Natural Environment

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

KEY ISSUES

o Principle of Development
. Visual Amenity/Form

o Types of Development

o Flood Risk
BACKGROUND

As denoted above, a recent planning decision for additional claimed annexe
accommodation on the site was refused under the terms of application
F/YR25/0352/F for the following reasons:

Page 73



1. The application site is located in an ‘Elsewhere’ location as identified in Policy
LP3, where development is restricted to that which is essential for agriculture,
or other uses requiring a rural location. The proposal is supported by
insufficient justification to demonstrate that there is an essential need for the
development as required by Policy LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).
The proposal would therefore result in unwarranted development in an
unsustainable rural location contrary to the aforementioned policies.

2. The proposal, by virtue of the inherent domestication of an open site in a rural
location, would be harmful to the character of the open countryside, contrary
to Policies LP12 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan.

3. The application site is located within Flood Zone 3 and fails to fully satisfy the
sequential or exception test. It is considered that the proposal is at an
unacceptable risk of flooding without sufficient justification. The proposal is
therefore considered to be contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014) and Chapter 14 of the NPPF (2024).

9.2 As discussed in the preceding section of this report, the proposal the subject of the
current application remains similar to that of the refused scheme, in that it relates
to the change of use of land, the provision of residential accommodation and
associated works.

9.3 During the assessment of the previously refused permission F/YR25/0352/F,
reference was made to a previous planning permission for the provision of an
annexe on the site, under the terms of application F/'YR21/1346/F, this was
approved at committee of April 2022 for the following reasons:

‘The health and wellbeing of the residents will be improved, it will enhance the
environment, it is not detrimental to the character of the area and does not have
any impact on the neighbours.’

9.4 ltis also pertinent to note that the amendment statement accompanying this
application states that significant reductions in terms of footprint and extension to
residential curtilage have been made, the LPA acknowledges that there has been
a reduction to both, however this is not deemed significant but will be discussed
further within the relevant sections of the below report.

10 ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

10.1 Policy LP1 overarching policy supporting a presumption in favour of sustainable
development, planning applications that accord with the policies within the Local
Plan will be approved without delay unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) sets out the settlement
hierarchy within the District, setting out the scale of development appropriate to
each level of the hierarchy. The application site is located to the edge of Chatteris,
in what is considered an outlying area to the town. However, broadly it is a location
whereby ancillary residential development may be considered acceptable, subject
to other material considerations.

Page 74



10.2 Furthermore, Policy LP16 supports the principle of providing ancillary
accommodation on the provision that the proposal does not cause adverse harm to
the local character, or to the general environment and is ancillary to the host
dwelling.

10.3 It is a conventional expectation that annexe accommodation will be ancillary to the
host dwelling and good practice for the accommodation to have a functional link,
shared services, amenities and facilities. It is also an expectation for there to be a
level of dependence on the occupants of the host dwelling by the occupants of the
annexe.

10.4 The annexe must maintain a strong relationship to the host dwelling by relying on
the facilities, garden land and driveway of the host dwelling. This is to restrict the
opportunity for it to become a separate planning unit over time. From the plans
submitted, the proposed annexe would utilise the same access and driveway.
However, the annexe proposed falls outside the established residential curtilage of
the existing dwelling and proposes the siting of a caravan with its own associated
curtilage, rear of and separate to the main dwelling and proposed on what is
currently considered to be agricultural land.

10.5 The application is not accompanied by any justification for the proposal or
demonstrable need or any functional link with the host dwelling, outside of the
proposed accommodation being occupied by family members. The scale and form,
location beyond the curtilage and on agricultural land, and lack of dependency is
not considered to comprise annexe accommodation but a separate residential unit
in its own right.

10.6 It is pertinent to note that whilst it is noted that the site benefitted from an expired
planning permission. Given this scheme has not been implemented, this is of
limited weight as a fallback position. Notwithstanding the above, the previously
approved application is materially different to that the subject of this application,
namely that this application relates to the siting of a caravan for residential
purposes on land which is currently open and free from built form, whereas the
previously approved scheme largely utilised the footprint of an existing outbuilding.
Furthermore, the previous decision was based upon demonstrable personal need
and improved living conditions for the family members currently residing in the
caravan, no evidence has been submitted as part of this application that this is still
the case, this alongside the lack of evidence or supporting information, can no
longer be a material consideration of this application.

10.7 Furthermore, despite the amendments to the proposal as discussed in section 9
above, these are not considered sufficient to overcome the in-principle concerns
raised under the terms of application F/YR25/0352/F. For the purposes of clarity, in
respect of planning permission F/'YR21/1346/F as discussed above, this is
considered to be of limited weight in terms of its fallback position given the material
differences between the schemes and that it has expired.

10.8 Taking into account the above assessment, it is considered that the proposal goes
beyond providing ancillary accommodation and would be tantamount to a new
residential unit. The principle of providing an independent residential unit, in this
location is not accepted. The proposal would be contrary to policies LP1, LP3 and
LP16 of the Fenland Local Development Plan. Other material considerations are
discussed below.

Page 75



Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of the Area

10.9 Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan, sets out a number of criterion in which
proposals are required to meet, to ensure that high quality environments are
provided and protected. Most relevant to the proposal are:

(d) makes a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the
area, enhances its local setting, responds to and improves the character of the
local built environment, provides resilience to climate change, reinforces local
identity and does not adversely impact, either in design or scale terms, on the
street scene, settlement pattern or the landscape character of the surrounding
area.

10.10 Further guidance is provided within the Delivering and Protecting High Quality
Developments SPD.

10.11 The site of the proposed annexe is visible from the west across open agricultural
land. From the south, the site is mainly screened by larger industrial units,
similarly from the approach to the north and east with the intervening structures
on site largely obstruct any views from the west. Significant space is proposed to
be used as a separate domestic curtilage, this will be located on undeveloped
agricultural land and its domestication will undermine the rural character and
appearance of the area. This is exacerbated by the introduction of domestic
fencing, planting and ancillary domestic structures and paraphernalia.

10.12 The proposed caravan is also of a design and form which fails to respect the rural
characteristics of the locality, incorporating significant domestic scale uPVC
fenestration with features and materials discordant with a rural location. Whilst
the accommodation type has changed (previously a structure requiring building
was proposed now it is the siting of a caravan) its appearance is similar in terms
of materials and fenestration.

10.13 It is noted that the proposed change of use, was granted planning permission
under application F/'YR21/1346/F, as discussed in section 9 of this report, this is
afforded limited weight in the assessment of this application, which does not
overcome the harm identified above. Similarly, it is noted that the existing
caravan is proposed to be removed as part of this application, this is considered
to have a neutral impact in terms of design and impact on the character and
appearance of the area, namely, that the siting of a caravan on residential land
does not require planning permission, so a condition requiring its removal from
site would be unreasonable.

10.14 It is therefore considered that the proposal would have a detrimental impact on
the character and appearance of the site, which is currently classed as open
countryside, contrary to policy LP16 of the LDP.

Residential Amenity and Private Amenity Space
10.15 Policy LP2 of the Fenland Local Plan seeks to promote high levels of residential
amenity. Similarly, Policy LP16 requires development proposals to not adversely

impact on the amenity of neighbouring users such as noise, light pollution, loss of
privacy and loss of light.

Page 76



10.16 The application proposes the creation of a separate area of curtilage for the
annexe which would provide an appropriate level of amenity space for future
occupiers.

10.17 As discussed in paragraphs 10.1 -10.8, the proposal is considered to result in an
independent, self-contained residential unit and therefore, the relationship with
Bromsgrove House also needs to be considered. Given the single storey nature
of the proposal, alongside the degree of separation and established planting
(which is proposed to be retained) it is not considered that the development
would result in a detrimental impact on the amenity of current or future occupiers
of Bromsgrove House or the future occupants of the proposed building. It is
therefore, considered the proposal would be in accordance with policy LP2 and
LP16 of the LDP.

Parking, Access and Highway Safety

10.18 Policy LP15 requires all new development proposals to contribute to the delivery
of the sustainable transport network by providing well designed, safe, convenient
access for all. Development proposals should provide well designed car and
cycle parking appropriate to the amount of development proposed, ensuring
parking provision is provided in accordance with the standards. Appendix A sets
out that parking provision for two cars is required for up to a three bedroom
dwelling.

10.19 The extended driveway is shown to provide parking provision for three vehicles
and would not alter the parking provision currently provided for the host dwelling.
It is therefore considered that there would still remain suitable parking provision
for at least two vehicular spaces to serve the host dwelling with sufficient
manoeuvring space and therefore, there are no objections in this respect.

Flood Risk

10.20 Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and paragraphs 170-182 of the National
Planning Policy Framework set out the approach to developing land in relation
to flood risk, with both documents steering development in the first instance
towards land at a lower risk of flooding. This is achieved by means of requiring
development proposals to undertake a sequential test to determine if there is
land available for development at a lower risk of flooding than the application
site and only resorting to development in those higher flood risk areas if it can
be demonstrated that there are no reasonably available sites at a lower risk of
flooding. This stance is supported by the guidance contained within the
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016.

10.21 The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) advises that a Sequential Test is required
for planning applications in areas at risk from flooding from any source. In the
case of river and sea flooding, this specifically includes land within Flood Zones 2
and 3. The fundamental objective of the Sequential Test is to steer new
development to areas with the lowest risk of flooding (i.e. Flood Zone 1), in line
with the risk-based approach advocated by paragraph 172 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2024).

10.22 The application site lies within an area of identified flood risk and, as such, the

Sequential Test is engaged. However, no Sequential Test has been submitted in
support of the application. It is noted that the proposal seeks permission for

Page 77



10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

ancillary residential accommodation, and in those instances, a sequential test is
not appropriate for any formal submission as the development is limited in where
it can be located to still be in conjunction with the dwelling.

However, as discussed above the proposal is not deemed to be ancillary in
nature and is therefore considered to relate to the provision of an independent
residential unit. As such, the application fails to satisfy the first key test for
residential-led development in areas liable to flooding. It is pertinent to note that
under the terms of application F/YR25/0352/F, this did form a reason for refusal
and therefore, given there has been no change in Agent/Applicant, is something
they were aware of. The applicant has not approached the Council to agree
reasonable parameters for the Sequential Test area or to discuss what alternative
sites may be considered ‘reasonably available’. Any such test should be informed
by the Council’s spatial strategy, local plan policies, and up-to-date evidence of
land availability. Decisions on site suitability must be rooted in planning judgment,
having regard to the specific nature of the development and the need for flexibility
in site comparison.

Furthermore, it is worth noting that the accompanying flood risk assessment
provided dated 13 February 2025 makes a number of minor incorrect claims;
namely, references the proposal as a two storey residential annexe, and, in
referencing adjacent approvals F/'YR19/0670/F is stated as being less than 2
years ago, this was approved on 25.09.2019 and is obviously 6 years old and
references application F/YR21/01346/F as will be expiring on 14" April 2025.
Based on the above, it does not appear that the supporting FRA has been
updated to accurately reflect the proposal the subject of this application.

The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) is clear that a Sequential Test is required
for all planning applications in areas at risk of flooding from any source, including
land within Flood Zones 2 and 3. The core purpose of the Sequential Test is to
steer new development to areas of lowest risk (Flood Zone 1), consistent with the
risk-based approach set out in paragraph 173 and 175 of the NPPF.

As the site lies within an area of identified flood risk, the Sequential Test is
engaged. The fact that flood mitigation measures may be possible does not
remove the need for the Sequential Test; such measures fall to be considered
under the Exception Test. In the absence of a robust Sequential Test, the
proposal fails to meet a fundamental requirement for residential development in
high-risk flood areas and is contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan, the
NPPF, and associated PPG.

Since the determination of the most recent application, updated guidance
published on the Council’s website (June 2025) clarifies the approach to the
Sequential Test. It confirms that the applicant must define and justify an
appropriate area of search, which will vary depending on the settlement type and
scale of development:

-For Market Towns and Growth Villages, the search area will normally be limited
to land within or adjacent to the settlement.

- For all other locations—including Small Villages, Limited Growth Villages,
and Elsewhere locations—the search area will normally be
districtwide.(emphasis added)

Page 78



To pass the Sequential Test, applicants must demonstrate that no reasonably
available sites exist within the defined area of search at lower risk of flooding.

10.28 Since the publication of the updated guidance outlined above, further revisions to
the PPG have been introduced to provide additional clarification on the
application of the Sequential Test. Notwithstanding this, given that the proposed
development is considered to be tantamount to a new dwelling, in an area which
has exceeded housing delivery envisaged by the spatial strategy, it remains
appropriate for the area of search to be considered on a district-wide basis. This
approach reflects both the strength of the district’s overall housing supply and the
need to maintain a balanced approach to delivering the adopted spatial strategy.
The scheme will therefore be assessed on this basis.

10.29 Notwithstanding the above, it is acknowledged that a degree of flexibility may be
justified in certain circumstances. Where proposals are specifically intended to
address an identified local housing need, a more localised area of search may be
appropriate, provided it is proportionate to the scale and purpose of the
development. In the absence of robust evidence demonstrating that this
application is required to meet a defined local housing need, it is not considered
appropriate to apply a reduced search area in this instance.

10.30 It should be noted that there are a number of sites within Chatteris (With extant
consents and sites readily available within Chatteris on land which is categorised
at a lower risk of flooding (in particular Flood Zones 1 and 2), the proposal
essentially involves the construction of a new dwelling on land which is at greater
risk of flooding and the Sequential Test has not therefore been met), with a lower
risk of flooding than the application site. It is therefore, not considered the
sequential test has been met.

10.31 Notwithstanding the above, the NPPF confirms that where it is not possible to
locate development in zones of lower flood risk, the Exception Test may be
applied. This test provides a framework for assessing whether development can
proceed safely, whilst recognising the wider sustainability needs of a community.

10.32 The Exception Test comprises two elements, both of which must be satisfied:

a) Development to demonstrate that it achieves wider community sustainability
benefits having regard to the district’s sustainability objectives, and

b) That it can be made safe for its lifetime and will not increase flood risk
elsewhere (‘flood risk management’)

10.33 The first limb of the Exception Test requires that the development provides wider
sustainability benefits to the community that clearly outweigh the flood risk. The
second limb requires that the development will be safe for its lifetime, taking
account of the vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere,
and where possible, reducing overall flood risk. Whilst it is ordinarily the
applicant’s responsibility to demonstrate compliance with both elements, the
Local Planning Authority must still make its own objective assessment of the
evidence and reach a reasoned conclusion on whether both parts of the test are
met

a) Wider community sustainability benefits

Page 79



10.34 Given the proposal is to provide one dwelling, in an elsewhere location it is not
considered that the proposal achieves a wider community sustainability benefit,
as discussed in the previous sections of this report, the proposal would not
contribute to the Districts sustainability objectives and therefore, it is not
considered the proposal would satisfy this limb of the exceptions test.

b) That it can be made safe for its lifetime and will not increase flood risk
elsewhere (‘flood risk management’)

10.35 The accompanying Flood Risk Assessment advises that the following mitigation
will be provided:

- The proposed finished floor level of the building will be raised above the
existing ground level by 0.6m.

- The main dwelling and annexe owner will be made aware of the Environment
Agencies Flood Warning Service, which will notify then of a potential flood risk
at the appropriate times

10.36 It is considered that subject to suitably worded conditions, the above would be
sufficient to ensure the development would not increase flood risk elsewhere and
would therefore, satisfy this limb of the exceptions test.

10.37 Notwithstanding the above, based on the information submitted, insufficient
information has been submitted to adequately satisfy the sequential test.
Furthermore, the Applicant has failed to demonstrate any further public benefit of
the proposal and has not satisfied part 1 of the exceptions test. Whilst the LPA
have been proactive and undertaken their own assessment in this respect and
found the proposal does satisfy part b, given the lack of information and clarity
surrounding the matter, it is not considered that the proposal satisfies both parts
of the exceptions test. The proposal is therefore contrary to policy LP14 of the
LDP, and the guidance contained within the NPPF.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.38 The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain
in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding
ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This
approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a
primary objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for
the protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.39 In this instance, given the above assessment and that the proposal is considered
to be tantamount to an independent residential unit, a Biodiversity Gain Condition
is required to be approved before development is begun. The application is
accompanied by a BNG Metric and report which concludes that providing the
scheme is carried out in accordance with the details and mitigation shown the
development would result in a gain of both hedgerow.

10.40 The area proposed for enhancement to secure the gains as mentioned above
would fall outside of the current residential curtilage and the land proposed as
part of the change of use to serve the dwelling. Therefore, subject to suitably
worded conditions, there are no objections in this respect.

Page 80



Other Matters

10.41 It is noted that representations received refer to other consented or proposed

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

10.47

developments in the wider vicinity, raising concerns about future land uses and
questioning why the current proposal would be considered unacceptable in a
rural context. Comments reference a superstore to the rear, a solar farm to the
front, allotments to one side and housing to the other.

While each planning application must be assessed on its own merits, it is
important to clarify the status and relevance of these schemes. The superstore
approved under F/YR11/0661/F to the north does not appear to have been
implemented and therefore carries limited weight. The solar farm to the west is
located over 200 metres from the application site and, in any event, represents a
fundamentally different form of development in terms of scale, character and
function. Housing within the wider area largely comprises long-established
developments dating from the 1990s and does not alter the rural character or
Elswhere location as described by policy, of the application site.

As outlined within the design and character section of this report, the current
proposal would introduce an inappropriate form of residential development that
would domesticate open countryside and conflict with the established settlement
pattern. Consequently, the cited neighbouring developments do not justify or
mitigate the identified harm arising from this scheme.

It is also noted that representations raise concerns regarding potential damage to
the mature trees along the access road arising from the movement of larger
vehicles. These trees make a valuable contribution to the amenity and character
of the area. However, should the application be approved, appropriate measures
to safeguard these trees during delivery and construction activities could be
secured through a suitably worded planning condition.

Planning Balance

In terms of sustainability the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states
that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of
sustainable development. Achieving sustainable development means that the
planning system has three overarching objectives; economic, social and
environmental, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually
supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across
each of the different objectives)

This stance is supported by Local Plan Policy LP1. In respect of the first of these,
the current proposal would provide negligible economic benefits, for example
support for existing and future businesses, services, and facilities by introducing
additional residents that would make use of them and provide future spend in the
local economy. However, given the proposal would relate to one unit, and would
facilitate family members who already utilise these services and facilities, it is
considered this would be negligible.

In respect of the social strand, it is noted that the proposal would enable the
family to live in close proximity to one another, however, this is considered to be
negligible and outweighed by other factors such as being located within Flood
Zone 3 putting future residents at risk and is not located within close proximity to

Page 81



services and therefore, does not support the current and future needs of the
wider community.

10.48 Lastly, in respect of the environmental objective; the proposal would result in the

inherent domestication of the site, to the detriment of the character and
appearance of the surrounding area, this is considered to result in moderate
harm. This harm is further exacerbated by the location of the development,
outside the built-up area of Chatteris, whereby occupants would be reliant on
private vehicle to access many of the day-to-day facilities and services.

10.49 Notwithstanding the above, it is noted that the proposal includes in excess of

11

10% BNG uplift, however, this is considered to be of a minor benefit that does not
outweigh the harm identified above.

CONCLUSIONS

11.1 Taking into account the above assessment, the proposed development does not

overcome the previous reasons for refusal and therefore is not considered to
represent sustainable development and can therefore not be supported in
principle. Furthermore, the proposal, is considered to result in the inherent
domestication, of what in policy terms, is open countryside, resulting in detrimental
harm to the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area.

11.2 The application site is located entirely within Flood Zone 3 and fails to meet the

12

sequential test by virtue of alternative sites being available elsewhere in the district
to accommodate the development that are at lower risk of flooding. The proposal is
therefore considered to be contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014) and Chapter 14 of the NPPF.

RECOMMENDATION

Refuse, for the following reasons:

The application site is located in an ‘Elsewhere’ location as identified in Policy
LP3, where development is restricted to that which is essential for agriculture, or
other uses requiring a rural location. The proposal is supported by insufficient
justification to demonstrate that there is an essential need for the development as
required by Policy LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014). The proposal would
therefore result in unwarranted development in an unsustainable rural location
contrary to the aforementioned policies.

The proposal, by virtue of the inherent domestication of an open site in a rural
location, would be harmful to the character of the open countryside, contrary to
Policies LP12 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan.

The application site is located within Flood Zone 3 and fails to fully satisfy the
sequential or exception test. It is considered that the proposal is at an
unacceptable risk of flooding without sufficient justification. The proposal is
therefore considered to be contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014), the guidance t contained within the Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD
2016 and Chapter 14 of the NPPF (2024).

Page 82



Allotments

Allotments

|

10/15/2025, 12:33:11 PM 0 15 230 450 1t
| ! ! ! | ! ! ! |
| T T T T T T T 1

0 35 70 140 m

Uniform

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁsey AC0000815148.
age



8 abed

GRASS

GRASS

EXISTING OUTBUILDING
TO BE MAINTAINED

N
GRASS
2,
GRAVEL
\\\\\
T~
NEW 2m TALL CHERRY LAUREL TR
(Prunus laurocerasus -
T~

"Rotundifolia’) HEDGE TO

PERIMETER WHERE SHOWN RESIDENTIAL

am CURTILAGE
EXISTING

ZSVk)f}ZS DWELLING
9ro y
Q

/ ' . CH S '
/< ARE,FO [i? ‘
@ @ 7
® /

cH

EXISTING CARAVAN 70 BE
REMOVED ONCE NEW ANNEX

IS SET

TYPICAL POST AND
RAIL TIMBER FENCE DETAIL

(1:50)

Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt

ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and
specification. All work to be in accordance with

good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the
recommendations define the quality of the finished work.
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and
forward to the Engineer

All finishes, insulation and damp—proofing to architect’s
details

A DRAWINGS UPDATED SEP 2025

REVISIONS DATE

CONSULTING STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS

1 Gordon Avenue, Tel: 01354 655454

March, Fax: 01354 660467
Combridgeshire. E—mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk

PE15 8AJ Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

Fenland District Council
Building

LABC” LABC
Design Awards
Building Excellence in Fenland ‘

1102 ® 6002
Y3INNIM AHOO3LVYO

CLIENT

Mrs Carver

PROJECT

Broomsgrove House,
Honeyside Road,
Chatteris, Cambs
PE16 6SB

= NON SLIP = EXISTING = INSPECTION =  GRASS
IC = INDICATIVE = N
BUFF PAVING gEIlfglEli\l%LéRlNG ic| CHAMBER OF TREES

=  GRAVEL . =  TARMAC % =  SLAB PAVING / =  BOUNDARY
LINE

PROPOSED SITE PLAN 1:250

SB = 2m SILVER BIRCH (BETULA PENDULA)
CH = 2m CHERRY TREE (PRUNUS REGINA)

TITLE

Proposed Site Plan

DRAWN DATE OF ISSUE

J.Scotcher

CHECKED

DATE DRAWING NUMBER

Feb 2025

— H10269,/02,

As Shown



AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED SITE PLAN 1:250 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
= 	GRASSGRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
= 	GRAVELGRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
=   NON SLIP  BUFF PAVING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
= 	INDICATIVE INDICATIVE OF TREES 

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
=  INSPECTION  INSPECTION  CHAMBER 

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
=  BOUNDARY  BOUNDARY  LINE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
=   EXISTING 		 NEIGHBOURING 	 BUILDINGS 

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
= 	TARMACTARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
= 	SLAB PAVING SLAB PAVING 

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
Orchard Ho

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Fenton Lode or Twenty Foot Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Bromsgrove

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
GRAVEL   

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
GRASS   

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
GRASS   

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Mrs Carver

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Broomsgrove House,

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
Honeyside Road,

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
Chatteris, Cambs 

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
PE16 6SB

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
Proposed Site Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
J.Scotcher

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
Feb 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
H10269/02

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
EXTEND CURTILAGE OF EXISTING GARDEN AREA 

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
GRASS   

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
1.2m POST AND RAIL FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
1.2m POST AND RAIL FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
TYPICAL POST AND  RAIL TIMBER FENCE DETAIL (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
EXISTING  ACCESS 

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
EXISTING  DWELLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
EXISTING  CARAVAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
RESIDENTIAL  CURTILAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
EXISTING OUTBUILDING  TO BE MAINTAINED

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
EXISTING CARAVAN TO BE  REMOVED ONCE NEW ANNEX IS SET

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
CH 

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
CH 

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
SB 

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
SB 

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
AREA FOR BNG  

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
SB = 2m SILVER BIRCH (BETULA PENDULA)

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
CH = 2m CHERRY TREE (PRUNUS REGINA)

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
NEW 2m TALL CHERRY LAUREL (Prunus laurocerasus 'Rotundifolia') HEDGE TO PERIMETER WHERE SHOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
CH 

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
CH 

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
SB 

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
SB 

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
CH 

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
CH 

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
SB 

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
SB 

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
DRAWINGS UPDATED

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
SEP 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
22.15m


Gg abed

Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt

ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

[
1

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
H D L] L] OPEN FIELD reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

specification. All work to be in accordance with
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the
recommendations define the quality of the finished work.

[T/ [T
[/ [[]

OPEN FIELD H

Materials products and workmanship to comply with all

STREET SCENE EXlSTlNG & PROPOSED (1 :ZOO) British Standards and EOTA standards with, where

appropriate, BS or EC marks.

All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and
forward to the Engineer

All finishes, insulation and damp—proofing to architect’s
details

I

3515

4115

PROPOSED FFL
TO 0.6m ABOVE
GROUND FLOOR

BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND

16165 4200

E’R)OPOSED NORTH ELEVATION (1:50) E’AI:\’)OPOSED WEST ELEVATION (1:50)
3

3515

4115

I S
BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND

4200

16165

PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION (1:50)
(1) PROPOSED EAST ELEVATION (1:50)

(2) B | DRAWINGS UPDATED SEP 2025
A | PLANNERS COMMENTS MAY 2025

REVISIONS DATE

(1)

16165

CONSULTING STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS

MATER|A|_S: 1 Gordonh Avenue, Tel: 01354 655454

March, Fax: 01354 660467

Cambridgeshire. E—mail: info®@mortonandhall.co.uk
xxxxxx ; XXX YRXRX YT T TR ot XX YRXTXKRXXRR PE15 8AJ Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

i | ROOF: DARK GREY FLAT ROOF TILE v Pr——
1800~ WALLS: CLAY STONE CLADDING ,BU"d'ng

Design Awards
Building Excellence in Fenland .

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

1102 ® 6002
Y3INNIM AHOO3LVYO

8015 2935 935

EDROOM 1 BEDROOM

THROQM WINDOWS: BLACK AUSTRIAN BAR WINDOWS
wo (4) SURFACE: BLAKC GUTTERS & DOWNPIPES Mrs Carver

[ L ]

5 LIVING ROOM KITCHEN D
(2) :

M\ i\ /\ WATER

1000 : Broomsgrove House,
: Honeyside Road,
,,,,,, i — — e Chatteris, Cambs
PE16 6SB

3870

TITLE

, l Proposed Building
(3) bl Li-% =2 Arrangements

DRAWN DATE OF ISSUE

J.Scotcher

CHECKED

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN PROPOSED ROOF PLAN (1:200)

DATE DRAWING NUMBER

Feb 2025

— H10269 /03s

As Shown



AutoCAD SHX Text_111
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
Mrs Carver

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
Broomsgrove House,

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
Honeyside Road,

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
Chatteris, Cambs 

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
PE16 6SB

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
Proposed Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
Arrangements

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
J.Scotcher

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
Feb 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
H10269/03

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
16165

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
4200

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
PROPOSED EAST ELEVATION (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
(2)

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
(1)

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
(4)

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
(3)

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
600

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
600

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
600

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
PROPOSED FFL  TO 0.6m ABOVE  GROUND FLOOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
MATERIALS: ROOF: DARK GREY FLAT ROOF TILE WALLS: CLAY STONE CLADDING  WINDOWS: BLACK AUSTRIAN BAR WINDOWS SURFACE: BLAKC GUTTERS & DOWNPIPES  WATER 

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
OPEN FIELD 

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
OPEN FIELD 

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
STREET SCENE EXISTING & PROPOSED (1:200)

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
3515

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
4115

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
2950

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
PROPOSED ROOF PLAN (1:200)

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
PLANNERS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
MAY 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
16165

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
4200

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
16165

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
4200

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
(3)

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
(1)

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
(2)

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
(4)

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
BATHROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
BEDROOM 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
BEDROOM 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
KITCHEN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
LIVING ROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
8015

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
2935

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
2935

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
1800

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
2820

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
3870

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
DRAWINGS UPDATED

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
SEP 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
16165

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
BRICKWORK SKIRT ALL AROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
4200

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
600

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
4115

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
2950

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
600

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
3515


This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

F/YR25/0814/PIP
Applicant: Mr S Munden Agent : Mr R Papworth
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd

Land North Of 10 Askham Row Accessed From, Hospital Road, Doddington,
Cambridgeshire

Permission in principle for 4 x dwellings
Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations received contrary to Officer
recommendation

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This application seeks Permission in Principle (PiP) for the development of up to
three dwellings on agricultural land located to the west of Hospital Road,
Doddington. The site comprises an undeveloped field outside the continuous built
form of the village and forms part of a transitional gap between the built-up area of
Doddington and the sporadic, rural pattern of development further north along
Hospital Road.

1.2 The site was previously refused Permission in Principle for development of up to
three dwellings. Since that refusal, outline planning permission has been granted
for up to three dwellings on land to the north of the site. The current proposal
reduces the red line boundary from the earlier scheme to align more closely with
that adjacent approval. However, this change does not alter the site’s relationship
to the village or its contribution to the rural transition.

1.3 The proposal represents encroachment into the open countryside, introducing
suburban built form, multiple access points, and the loss of boundary hedgerow,
thereby eroding rural character and the edge-of-settlement transition. Although
nearby approvals are material considerations, they are regarded as isolated
instances of development and not indicative of a change in settlement pattern.
The site remains visually prominent from Hospital Road, Benwick Road and
nearby public footpaths.

1.4 The development fails to comply with Policies LP3, LP12 Part A(a), (c), (d) and (f),
and LP16(c), (d) and (f) of the Fenland Local Plan, as well as paragraphs 133 and
187 of the NPPF. The Council can demonstrate a five-year housing land supply
and the tilted balance does not apply.

1.5 The proposed development would yield a density of approximately 9 dwellings per
hectare. Although low density aligns with the rural context, it represents inefficient
use of land and conflicts with the environmental and economic objectives of
sustainable development set out in paragraph 11 of the NPPF, and paragraph 130
relating to efficient land use. When combined with policy conflict regarding

Page 87



location, the proposal does not constitute sustainable development.

1.6 Therefore, the application is recommended for refusal.

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

3.1

SITE DESCRIPTION

The site lies in the countryside and is a roughly rectangular parcel of land currently
is use as an agricultural field. The site has an area of approximately 0.4 hectares.
The site is set behind the rear of 8 — 10 Askham Row which is a relatively modern
row of detached dwellings fronting Benwick Road. The site can only be accessed
via Hospital Road which is a single-track road with no footways running north off
Benwick Road.

Benwick Road extends from the High Street/Doddington village centre in a
westerly direction. There is development on both sides of Benwick Road up to
Hermitage Gardens and beyond this the development becomes more sporadic,
especially to the south of Benwick Road at this point and even more so on both
sides of Benwick Road as one travels further west. Doddington Hospital and
Doddington Court retirement homes and then Askham House, a rehabilitation
centre and nursing home are prominent developed sites to the north of Benwick
Road.

The character as one travels west is one of sporadic development, mainly fronting
the road interspersed with fields and most of the land to the rear of the frontage
development comprises open fields. Built development lessens as one travels
further along Benwick Road which is typical interface between a village core and
the countryside beyond. It is noticeable that this character is being eroded by infill
development in a ribbon style which is gradually urbanising this road and Askham
Row is an example of this. However, there still remains a general semi-rural/rural
feel to the road whereby development is interspersed with open land between
development and to the rear.

Hospital Road is currently not much more than a track but it provides an
emergency access to the hospital and car park and also the residential
development including the dwelling Norbrown to the north of the hospital and to the
east of Hospital Road and the four new dwellings that have recently been
permitted between Norbrown and the Hospital (see history below), alongside the
backland development to the rear of this site. Hospital Road continues for some
distance and serves a few sporadic dwellings and farms and also other sporadic
business including the Megaplants Garden Centre and, opposite this, a former
poultry farm which now seems to be used for storage purposes.

The site subject of this application is flat and devoid of landscape except for a
mixed native hedgerow along its eastern boundary where it adjoins Hospital Road.
The site lies within flood zone 1 which is the area at lowest risk of flooding.
PROPOSAL

The current proposal is the first part of the Permission in Principle application; this

“first stage” establishes whether a site is suitable in principle only and assesses the
“principle” issues, namely;

Page 88




3.2

3.3

5.1

5.2

5.3

1. Location
2. Use, and
3.  Amount of development proposed

Should this application be successful the applicant would have to submit a
Technical Details application covering all the other detailed material planning
considerations. The approval of Permission in Principle does not constitute the
grant of planning permission.

The applicant is only required to submit minimum information to accompany the
application. However, an Indicative Site Plan has been submitted. This shows the
provision of four dwellings, each with their own individual access points off Hospital
Road serving the detached dwellings which face Hospital Road.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

Reference Proposal Decision
F/IYR22/1243/PIP | Residential development of up to 3 x Refused
dwellings (application for Permission in
Principle)

Since the determination of the above application, land to the north of the
application site as outlined in red has been granted outline planning permission for
the construction of up to three dwellings under the terms of application
F/YR23/0993/0.
CONSULTATIONS
Doddington Parish Council
Object for the following reasons:
- Site is an important gap and comprises countryside.
- No overriding need for the development given 5YHLS position
- Proposal would require substantial removal of hedgrerow and trees
- Impact on Character and Appearance of the area
- Unsafe highway and access conditions
- Impact on biodiversity
Internal Consultees
FDC Environmental Health
No objection
External Consultees
Cambridgeshire County Council — Highways

It is not anticipated that the proposal would have a significant adverse impact on
the highway at this stage. However, additional details at the Technical Details

Page 89


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.4

stage will be required to demonstrate that the proposed development would not be
prejudicial to the satisfactory functioning of the highway or highways safety. The
LHA go on to set out a number of key considerations and mitigation requirements
for the TD stage should the application be approved.

Local Residents/Interested Parties

Four letters of objection from local residents on Benwick Road, have been
received and are summarised below:

Objecting Comments Officer Response

Access and Highway implications/safety | Comments noted and discussed
below

Loss of Agricultural land Comments noted and discussed
below

Density — Over development Comments noted and discussed
below

Contrary to policy Comments noted and discussed
below

Drainage Comments noted and discussed
below

Environmental concerns Comments noted and discussed
below

Pressure on services Comments noted and discussed
below

Loss of view/outlook Comments noted and discussed
below

Visual impact and out of character Comments noted and discussed
below

Proximity to properties Comments noted and discussed
below

Trees Comments noted and discussed
below

Wildlife concerns Comments noted and discussed
below

Precedent Comments noted and discussed
below

Will potentially require access to land Comments Noted

not in Applicants ownership for highway

improvements

Additional housing not required Comments noted and discussed
below.

Nine letters from local residents have been received from residents of Hospital
Road, New Street, Ronald’s Way, Juniper Close, Sutton Way, The Grange, The
Rowans Doddington, and Westbourne Road Chatteris supporting the application,
these comments are summarised below:

Supporting Comments Officer Response

Appropriate location for development Comments noted and discussed
below

Growth of the community Comments noted

More family homes needed Comments noted and discussed
below

Page 90



Proposal constitutes infill Comments noted and discussed
below

Would improve Hospital Road Comments noted and discussed
below

Improvements to Access Comments noted and discussed
below

Effective use of land Comments noted and discussed
below

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014)

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

|dentity

Built Form
Movement

Nature

Public Spaces

Uses

Homes and Buildings
Resources

Lifespan

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 - A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing

LP5 - Meeting Housing Need

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in

Page 91



9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

Fenland
LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland
LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District
LP19 — The Natural Environment

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014

DM2 — Natural Features and Landscaping Schemes

DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

DM4 — Waste and Recycling Facilities

DM6 — Mitigating Against Harmful Effects

Developer Contributions SPD 2015
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

KEY ISSUES

e Location
e Use
e Amount of development proposed

BACKGROUND

There are a number of recent decisions relating to development in the vicinity of
the site which Members should be aware of when determining this application.

Firstly, a total of four detached dwellings adjacent to Norbrown (a pre-existing
dwelling) have been approved by Planning Committee, contrary to officer
recommendation, further north and to the east of Hospital Road from the site
subject of this application (refs F/'YR20/0182/0O and F/YR21/1522/0). A further five
dwellings to the rear of those referenced have also been permitted (ref:
F/YR23/0070/0)

Planning permission has also been granted (ref: F/YR22/0032/F) for café/retalil
buildings at Megaplants, a garden centre served off Hospital Road with conditions
requiring passing bays on Hospital Road.

Planning application F/YR22/0390/F was refused by Committee (in line with the
officer recommendation) for change of use of land to the north of 5 — 7 Askham
Row (including erection of chicken run and pond) on 26th August 2022. This site is
to the immediate west of the current application site. The application was refused
for the following reason;

Policy LP12 Part A (c) and Policy LP16 (d) of the Fenland Local Plan 2014, DM3
(d) of the Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD
2014 and Paragraph 130 of the NPPF require that developments do not
adversely impact upon the character and appearance of the open countryside.
The development creates a significantly sized domestic garden which results in
an urbanising encroachment into the open countryside to the significant detriment
of the character and visual amenity of the area. As such, the development is
contrary to the aforementioned policies.

Page 92



9.5

9.6

9.7

10

10.1

10.2

10.3

The application site, as referenced in the Planning History section of this report,
was refused Permission in Principle for up to three dwellings. The application was
refused for the following reasons:

1. The site does not lie adjacent to the continuous built form of the settlement of
Doddington and is in a countryside location, defined as "elsewhere" in policy
LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan.

The development of this site for up to three dwellings fails to recognise the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and the pattern and character
of the surrounding natural landscape and built character of the immediate area
which his sporadic, interspersed with open land and largely frontage
development. It would be inconsistent with the core shape of the village and
would appear incongruous both in terms of the landscape character of the area
and in terms of visual appearance to adjacent occupiers of land/property and
users of the nearby public footpath network. It will inevitably result in the
severance of a continuous length of hedgerow to the east boundary of the site
with Hospital Road which will result in a further urbanising impact and an
adverse impact on the verdant rural character.

As such the proposal is contrary to policies LP3, LP12 A (a), (c), (d) and (f),
LP16 (c) and (d) and paragraphs 130 and 174 of the NPPF.

2. Ifthe principle of residential development on this site were acceptable in terms
of location and use of land, development of up to 3 dwellings would not make
efficient use of the land and as such would not constitute sustainable
development in accordance with paragraph 8 of the NPPF.

Since that decision, outline planning permission for up to three dwellings on land
immediately to the north was granted at Committee on 11 December 2024 under
application reference F/YR23/0993/0.

The principal change to the current submission, aside from the evolving planning
context in the surrounding area, is a reduction in the red line boundary. The
revised site area is now smaller than the previously refused scheme.

ASSESSMENT
Location

Policy LP3 of the Local Plan defines Doddington as a growth village. For these
settlements, development and new service provision either within the existing
urban area or as small village extensions will be appropriate albeit of a
considerably more limited scale than appropriate to market towns.

Development not falling into one of the defined village hierarchies will fall into the
“‘elsewhere” category and will be restricted to that which is demonstrably essential
to the effective operation of local agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor
recreation, transport or utility services or to minerals and waste development.
Although this site could be viewed as a potential village extension, it must still
satisfy the detailed criteria of Policy LP12 alongside LP3.

Policy LP12 Part A supports development where it contributes to the
sustainability of the settlement and does not harm the wide-open character of the

Page 93



10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

countryside. To meet LP12, proposals must satisfy criteria including proximity to
the developed footprint, compatibility with village form, avoidance of coalescence
or ribbon development, retention of natural features, and safeguarding
agricultural land and local character.

The developed footprint referred to in criteria (a) is further defined in a footnote as
“the continuous built form of the settlement and excludes:

(a) individual buildings and groups of dispersed or intermittent buildings,
that are clearly detached from the continuous built-up area of the
settlement (emphasis added).

(b) gardens, paddocks, and other undeveloped land within the curtilage of
buildings on the edge of the settlement where the land relates more to
the surrounding countryside than to the built-up area of the settlement.
(emphasis added).

(c) agricultural buildings and associated land on the edge of the settlement

(d) outdoor sports and recreation facilities and other formal open spaces on the
edge of the settlement”

The application site comprises agricultural land and adjoins open fields to the
west and north, with large rear gardens of Askham Row to the south. Despite
recent outline permission for three dwellings to the north, the site remains
detached from the continuous built area and therefore does not meet LP12 Part
A(a).

LP12 Parts A(c) and (d) require development to reflect the prevailing character of
its surroundings. Hospital Road marks a transition from the village edge into a
rural landscape characterized by sporadic, predominantly frontage development
interspersed with open fields. The site forms part of this open rural setting and is
read as countryside rather than built-up land.

Although outline permission to the north has introduced the potential for
residential frontage development along the western side of Hospital Road, this is
considered to be a relatively modest intervention and is not in such a prominent
location on Hospital Road as that of this application. In contrast, and as a result of
the proposed development to the north, the application site forms a key
transitional gap, maintaining separation between the village and more isolated
rural development further north. Its development would encroach into the
countryside and erode this transition.

The development plan remains the starting point in decision-making. As the site
fails to satisfy LP12 Part A(a), proposals must rely on other LP12 criteria, yet the
scheme is also contrary to LP12 Parts A(c) and (d), meaning the location is not
acceptable in policy terms even when recent nearby approvals are considered.

The site does not reflect the core shape of the settlement and would extend
development westward in a manner inconsistent with village form. While the
northern approval constitutes a material consideration, it does not alter the rural
character of this parcel, which continues to relate more strongly to open farmland.
The proposal would therefore remain contrary to LP12 Part A(c) and (d).

The cumulative impact must also be considered. The approved scheme to the
north will already introduce change, but this represents only a minor intrusion.
The current proposal, combined with the northern dwellings, could result in up to
seven new dwellings and significantly urbanise Hospital Road. The application

Page 94



site currently provides an important break in built form and contributes visually to
the rural transition. Its development would result in a suburban pattern of
clustering rather than sporadic edge-of-settlement development.

10.11 The site is highly visible from Hospital Road, Benwick Road, rear upper windows
of Askham Row, and several public footpaths. These routes currently enjoy open
rural views. The proposed development would result in a noticeable shift from
agricultural land to built form, harming public perception of the countryside and
conflicting with paragraph 187 of the NPPF, which seeks to protect the intrinsic
character and natural features of rural areas.

10.12 The indicative plans show four new access points off Hospital Road requiring
removal of established hedgerow and trees. This further urbanises the lane,
diminishes its rural character, and results in biodiversity loss, contrary to LP12
Part A(c) and (f).

10.13 As the site does not meet the criteria of LP12 Part A, it falls within the
“Elsewhere” category of LP3, where residential development is not supported.
The scheme does not relate to a use essential to rural economic function and
therefore fails to comply with LP3.

10.14 Policy LP16 requires new development to retain natural features, reinforce local
identity, and protect settlement pattern and landscape character. The proposal
does not respect field boundaries, existing hedgerows, or the established rural
pattern and therefore conflicts with LP16 (c), (d), and (f).

10.15 The development represents a piecemeal subdivision of agricultural land
unrelated to existing settlement form and would further erode the rural identity of
this edge-of-settlement location, contrary to LP16.

10.16 Paragraph 135 (c) of the NPPF requires new development to be sympathetic to
local character, enhance sense of place, and be visually attractive through high-
quality layout and landscaping. The proposal cannot fulfil these aims due to its
backland-style, isolated countryside location.

10.17 For these reasons, the scheme fails to achieve the placemaking objectives of
paragraph 135.

10.18 There is no identified housing need that would justify overriding the Development
Plan. The Council can demonstrate a five-year housing land supply and policies
remain consistent with the NPPF; therefore, the tilted balance does not apply.
The proposal is contrary to LP3, LP12(a), (c), (d), (f), LP16(c), (d), and
paragraphs 135 and 187 of the NPPF.

10.19 Detailed technical matters; such as detailed design, access layout, biodiversity,
and archaeology could be addressed at Technical Details stage, but these do not
outweigh the fundamental objection to the site’s location in principle.

Use

10.18 Policy LP12 ((i) states that development should not result in the loss of high
grade agricultural land or if so comprehensive evidence is provided to justify the
loss. Paragraph 187 of the NPPF states that decisions should recognise the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside....including the economic
benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Grades 1, 2 and 3a
agricultural land fall within this category. A large proportion of agricultural land in
Fenland District is best and most versatile land. While there is insufficient
information upon which to assess whether the loss the land might mean loss of
best and most versatile agricultural land. However, the Council has rarely

Page 95



10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

refused applications for this reason, given the quantity of such land within the
District, and it is not considered that this issue could therefore be used as a
reason for refusal in this instance. This stance was supported at the time of the
last application and did not form part of the reason for refusal, given there is no
material change in circumstances, it would be unreasonable to come to a
different conclusion under this application.

Considering the land use in relation to surrounding land uses, the use of the land
for residential purposes, in principle, would not give rise to unacceptable impacts
on surrounding users by reason or noise or disturbance or vice versa. Account
has been taken of the motocross site which is situated to the north-west but this
is likely of sufficient distance from the site so as not to significantly adversely
impact future occupiers.

Amount

The proposal is for permission in principle for up to three dwellings. The site area
is 0.44 hectares approximately. This would equate to an approximate density of 9
dwellings per hectare. This is not efficient use of land. However, policies LP12
(c) and (d) and LP16 (d) requires development respond to the local character as
does paragraph 135 of the NPPF.

Densities vary within the local area from the care home facilities, through to the
older established dwellings along Benwick Road to the low density of Askham
Row. Taking aside that this location is unacceptable for residential development
in principle (as set out above), if this land were to be developed it would not
amount to efficient use of land.

One of the three overarching objectives that the planning system has is achieving
sustainable development. Set out in paragraph 11 of the NPPF is an
environmental objective which includes making efficient use of land. This ties
with the economic objective of ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is
available in the right places at the right time to support growth (it has already
been set out in the report above that this is not the right land in the right location
and is not needed to support growth). Efficient use of land and proper planning
including good layouts ensure that the wider environmental objectives set out in
paragraph 130 e.g. improving biodiversity, using natural resources prudently
(best agricultural land is a natural resource), minimising waste and adapting to
climate change are maximised. Piecemeal development, inefficient use of land
and developments not in accordance with the adopted development plan are
individually and cumulatively counter to these aims. The NPPF defines
sustainable development as development that accords with an up-to-date
development plan. It follows that development not in accordance with adopted
policies is most likely to be unsustainable development and this is considered the
case here.

In this instance, whilst a lower-than-average density would be more in keeping
with the countryside setting, a development of up to only 4 houses on a parcel of
land of this size resulting in a density of approximately 9 dwellings per hectare is
not making efficient use of land and therefore the amount of development
proposed is unacceptable and contrary to paragraph 130 of the NPPF. While the
application site has decreased in size slightly and the quantum of development
has increased by one dwelling, it is not considered that these revisions are
sufficient to overcome the previous reason for refusal.

Page 96



Matters raised during consultation

10.24 It is noted that during the consultation concerns by local residents have been

11

11.1

raised regarding drainage, this is matter that could be dealt with at the Technical
Details stage should this application be approved.

CONCLUSIONS

The proposal seeks Permission in Principle for residential development on land
that lies outside and detached from the continuous built form of Doddington. The
site forms an important transitional gap between the built-up extent of the village
and the sporadic, rural pattern of development further north along Hospital Road.
Its development would result in suburban encroachment into the open countryside,
eroding this rural transition and failing to respect the established settlement
pattern. The scheme would introduce built form, multiple access points, and loss of
hedgerow in a manner that would urbanise the rural lane and diminish the intrinsic
character of the countryside.

11.2 The development is therefore not in a location that reflects the core shape or form

of the settlement and fails to comply with Policies LP3, LP12 Part A(a), (c), (d) and
(f), and LP16(c), (d) and (f), as well as paragraphs 133 and 187 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). There are no material considerations,
including nearby approvals, that outweigh this conflict with the Development Plan.
As the Council can demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, the tilted balance
is not engaged.

11.3 Furthermore, the amount of development proposed is also unacceptable. A

12

scheme of up to three dwellings on a site of approximately 0.44ha represents an
inefficient use of land at roughly 9 dwellings per hectare. Although low density may
reflect the semi-rural surroundings, inefficient and piecemeal development in a
location which is not allocated or required to support growth conflicts with the
environmental and economic objectives of sustainable development as set out in
paragraph 11 of the NPPF, as well as paragraph 130 which seeks efficient use of
land. When combined with its conflict with the Development Plan, the proposal
therefore does not represent sustainable development.

RECOMMENDATION

Refuse for the following reasons:

1 The proposal would result in residential development on agricultural land
that lies outside and detached from the continuous built form of Doddington.
The site forms a transitional gap between the built-up area of the village and
sporadic rural development further north along Hospital Road, contributing to
the rural setting and character of this edge-of-settlement location. The
development would introduce suburban built form, multiple new access
points, and the loss of established hedgerow, resulting in an urbanising
encroachment into the open countryside that would erode this rural transition
and undermine the sporadic pattern of development that characterises the
locality.

As such, the proposal is not in a location that reflects the core shape or form
of the settlement, does not contribute positively to local distinctiveness, and

Page 97




fails to respect natural boundaries or the rural character of the area. The
development therefore conflicts with Policies LP3, LP12 Part A(a), (c), (d)
and (f), and LP16(c), (d) and (f) of the Fenland Local Plan and paragraphs
133 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

If the principle of residential development on this site were acceptable in
terms of location and use of land, development of up to 3 dwellings would
not make efficient use of the land and as such would not constitute
sustainable development in accordance with paragraph 130 of the NPPF.

Page 98



F/YR25/0814/PIP

Place

n Hall

House

DGddington
Community Hospital

- 10930 s
- - o f S
= ‘:*':: Y
. A
La
24 1:2,500
10/30/2025, 10:31:06 AM 0 15 %0 460 i
| } } | ! ! ! |
I T T | T I
0 35 70 140 m
Uniform

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁey AC0000815148.
age



Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
REFER TO STAFFORD reosgr)obly to be inferred fro m the draw ings ‘ond

ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc

j;’ff'f""””"”""':’"”""""!7'»'7"""’7'"'mfwwW‘W’”WWM"' INFRASTRUCTURE T g Practice oM 5 B000 o the oxtent, that, the
5/{;//{//4“///_///\/ // ///////x | ENGINEERING DETAILS ot redicts ond_werlnnl Go <omol Wil

Q////%//////

AS APPROVED AS rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr jons.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

PART OF APPLICATION by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building
oooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo
F/YR23,/0070/0 i

it th mtm bt
e g i

R B

— ol et

4
&
%

‘ 7 7 | A clens comments SEP 2028
,/7,///,/777// e

PPPPPPP

Ve b

C | 7 ‘
t ;%ﬁ%//////////////////{/// | / bqfé’;?‘ wgr“jmm Fox: 01354 560457 o
e Combridgesire C e oommnardhcouk
/‘/ ’////;,//////// . e Fenland District Council |, =
///‘///.’5;/ s l////// ////)/////4& Y .. .. 3
N ' T g
: ; Sulting Excalence n Forland
LE i , Mr & Mrs Munden
N . /

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

Proposed Site Plan
(1:200)

s A (INDICATIVE LAYOUT)

-
%
B

RRRRRRRRRRRRRR

CCCCCCC

AAAAAAAAAAA

SSSSS H8685 /102

AAAAAAA

H |



AutoCAD SHX Text_230
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
Mr & Mrs Munden

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
Land East of 

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
Askham House

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
Benwick Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
Doddington

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
Proposed Site Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
(INDICATIVE LAYOUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
R.Papworth

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
Aug 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
H8685/102

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
PROPOSED SITE PLAN  (1:200)

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
PLOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
PLOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
PLOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
PLOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
15.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
15.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
18.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
18.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
3.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
3.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
2.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
2.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
2.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
3.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
2.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
3.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
18.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
11.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
15.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
15.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
REFER TO STAFFORD INFRASTRUCTURE ENGINEERING DETAILS REGARDING HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENT WORKS AS APPROVED AS PART OF APPLICATION F/YR23/0070/O

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
CLIENTS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
SEP 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
DRAWING UPDATED

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
OCT 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
DRAWING UPDATED

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
OCT 2025


CCCCC ight on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
CCCCCCC ing Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without the ir written perm ission.
eeeeeeeeee , if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

Th St bI ccccccc ing the Eng ineers.

e a eS ooooooooooooooooooooo imensions on s ite before work

starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt

SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

|/
—
ﬁ
Q
(@)
x

reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and
specification. All work to be in accordance with

’ ’
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

Regulations and is ‘to obtain completion certificate and

REFER TO STAFFORD
INFRASTRUCTURE

ENGINEERING DETAILS
REGARDING HIGHWAY
IMPROVEMENT WORKS
AS APPROVED AS

PART OF APPLICATION

F/YR23/0070/0

2222222
2222222
2222222

IIIIIIII

1 Gordon Avenue, Tel: 01354 655
March, Fax: 01354 660467
Cqmbridgeshire_ E—mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk

Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

Building Excellence in Fenland

CCCCCC

"’///

PPPPPPP

Land East of
Askham House
Benwick Road
Doddington

///%//

TTTTT

7.8m

RRRRRRRRRRRRRR

CCCCCCC

PROPOSED BLOCK PLAN

AAAAAAAAAAA

SSSSS H8685/103c

AAAAAAA

(1:500)

BENWICK ROAD /



AutoCAD SHX Text_316
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
Mr & Mrs Munden

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
Land East of 

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
Askham House

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
Benwick Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
Doddington

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
Proposed Block Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
(INDICATIVE LAYOUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
R.Papworth

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
Aug 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
H8685/103

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
PROPOSED BLOCK PLAN (1:500)

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
REFER TO STAFFORD INFRASTRUCTURE ENGINEERING DETAILS REGARDING HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENT WORKS AS APPROVED AS PART OF APPLICATION F/YR23/0070/O

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
CLIENTS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
SEP 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
DRAWING UPDATED

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
OCT 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
DRAWING UPDATED

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
OCT 2025


This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

F/YR25/0594/0
Applicant: Mr S Ebrahim Agent : Elaine Chiva
Ebrahim Family Trust Aspect Architectural Design

Land North Of 450 To 454, March Road, Turves, Cambridgeshire

Erect 3 x dwellings involving the formation of accesses (outline application with
all matters reserved)

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Deferral from 25t October 2025 Committee

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This application seeks outline planning permission, with all matters reserved, for
the construction of three dwellings on land north of March Road, Turves. The site
lies within Flood Zone 3, beyond the established built form of the village, and
forms part of open countryside.

1.2 An extant permission exists on the adjoining site for three dwellings, which carries
weight in establishing the principle of development; however, the impacts of the
current proposal must be considered independently.

1.3 The site is located in an “Elsewhere” location with very limited access to local
services and facilities. Sustainable transport options are poor, which would result
in future residents being heavily reliant on travel to nearby villages and towns.

1.4 The Sequential Test for flood risk has not been properly undertaken in accordance
with the updated guidance (June 2025), and the Exception Test is only partially
satisfied. As such, the proposal is contrary to national and local policy on flood
risk.

1.5 Ecological information submitted is insufficient to determine the likely impacts on
protected species, including great crested newts, reptiles, and badgers. While a
Biodiversity Net Gain condition could secure habitat enhancement, the absence of
species-specific survey data prevents a proper assessment of ecological impacts.

1.6 The development would extend the built form into open countryside, causing harm
to the character and appearance of the area and creating a precedent for
unsustainable piecemeal development.

1.7 At the committee meeting of 25 October 2025, Members deferred the application
for three months to allow submission of the required ecological surveys. As these
surveys can only be undertaken between March and October, it has not been
possible for the applicant to provide the necessary information within the deferral
period. No additional ecological or other supporting information has been
submitted.

Page 103



1.8 Accordingly, the concerns previously identified remain unresolved. The limited

benefits associated with providing three dwellings are outweighed by the
environmental harm, flood-risk conflict, absence of essential ecological
information, and the scheme’s conflict with both local and national planning policy.
As such, the application is recommended for refusal.

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.1

4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

Update

At the Committee meeting on 25 October 2025, Members resolved to defer the
application for a period of three months to enable the applicant to provide the
required species-specific ecological surveys. These surveys were necessary to
address identified moderate to high potential for great crested newts, reptiles and
badgers, as confirmed within the submitted Preliminary Ecological Assessment.

However, the appropriate survey season for these species falls between March
and October, and it has not been possible for the applicant to undertake the
required surveys within the deferral period. Consequently, no additional ecological
information or survey data has been submitted.

In the continued absence of this essential evidence, the application remains
fundamentally unsupported in respect of ecological impacts. It is therefore
recommended for refusal for the same reasons set out in the previous committee
report, which is appended to this update.

Consultation

As no further information or amended documents have been submitted, no
additional consultation has been undertaken. The application is therefore assessed
on the basis of the material provided at the time of the previous committee report.

Assessment

Given that no further ecological, flood risk, design, or supporting information has
been provided since the deferral, there are no new material considerations that
alter the conclusions of the previous assessment. The concerns regarding flood
risk, unsustainable location, landscape impact, and insufficient ecological
information therefore remain unresolved.

The earlier assessment is accordingly reaffirmed and should continue to carry full
weight.

Conclusion

No updated or additional information has been provided within the timeframe set
by Members to address the outstanding issues relating to ecology. Therefore, the
previous conclusions as set out in the earlier committee report remain valid and
carry full weight,

While the extant permission on the adjoining site provides some support for the

principle of development, this does not outweigh the significant and unresolved
harms associated with the current proposal.

Page 104



5.3

54

The site lies beyond the built form of Turves and would encroach into open
countryside, resulting in harm to rural character and creating a precedent for
further unsustainable, piecemeal expansion. The Sequential Test for flood risk has
not been robustly undertaken in accordance with updated national guidance (June
2025), and the proposal does not demonstrate the wider sustainability benefits
required to satisfy the Exception Test. Furthermore, the continued absence of
species-specific ecological surveys means that potential impacts on protected
species, particularly great crested newts, reptiles and badgers, cannot be properly
assessed.

For these reasons, the environmental and policy conflicts significantly outweigh the
limited benefits associated with three new dwellings. The proposal remains
contrary to local and national planning policy and is therefore recommended for
refusal.

RECOMMENDATION

Refuse, for the following reasons:

The proposed development, by virtue of its siting on the northern side of March
Road beyond the established built form of Turves, would result in the unwarranted
encroachment of residential development into open countryside. The scheme
would fail to respect the core shape and form of the settlement, would erode the
openness and rural character of the area, and would create an undesirable
precedent for further piecemeal expansion. Whilst the extant permission to the
east is acknowledged, the cumulative effect of additional dwellings in this location
would intensify the domestication of the landscape to the detriment of its
character and appearance. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies LP12
and LP16(d) of the Fenland Local Plan and Policy 7 of the Whittlesey
Neighbourhood Plan.

The application site lies within Flood Zone 3, an area of high probability of
flooding. In the absence of a robust Sequential Test, the applicant has failed to
demonstrate that there are no reasonably available sites at lower risk of flooding
within the appropriate area of search, as required by national and local policy.
Furthermore, the proposal does not deliver wider community sustainability
benefits sufficient to satisfy part (a) of the Exception Test. The development
therefore fails to comply with Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014), the
National Planning Policy Framework, and associated Planning Practice Guidance,
which seek to steer new development to areas of lowest flood risk and ensure that
where development is necessary in higher-risk areas, the tests of suitability are
fully met.

Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate the likely impacts of
the proposed development on protected species, including great crested newts,
reptiles, and badgers. The application is not supported by the necessary species-
specific surveys to assess the presence, abundance, or potential mitigation
requirements for these species. As a result, the Local Planning Authority is unable
to determine whether the proposal would comply with its statutory duties or
safeguard biodiversity. The development is therefore contrary to Policies LP16
and LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan, the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as

Page 105




amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended), and the Protection of Badgers Act 1992.

Page 106



F/YR25/0594/0

March Road

Cobbs Clgse

| & rtr"n_:ql- (lu e

1:1,250
220 ft

8/12/2025, 9:26:56 AM
|:| Fenland District Boundary

55 110
L L L L L |
60 m

o 1T O

15 30

Fenland District Council

Uniform

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁey AC0000815148.
age



MARCH ROAD

I S e s [

Scale Bar - 1:1250 @ A4 ﬁ

p—
LAND WEST OF 491
MARCH ROAD, TURVES

Aspect

Title

INDICATIVE PROPOSED

BLOCK PLAN

T

80T abed

Design

A
Designer

29A Church Stret
No




Appendix A

F/YR25/0594/0
Applicant: Mr S Ebrahim Agent: Elaine Chiva
Ebrahim Family Trust Aspect Architectural Design

Land North Of 450 To 454, March Road, Turves, Cambridgeshire

Erect 3 x dwellings involving the formation of accesses (outline application with
all matters reserved)

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: - Referred by Head of Planning on advice of committee
Chairman

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This application seeks outline planning permission, with all matters reserved, for
the construction of three dwellings on land north of March Road, Turves. The site
lies within Flood Zone 3, beyond the established built form of the village, and
forms part of open countryside.

1.2 An extant permission exists on the adjoining site for three dwellings, which carries
weight in establishing the principle of development; however, the impacts of the
current proposal must be considered independently.

1.3 The site is located in an “Elsewhere” location with very limited access to local
services and facilities. Sustainable transport options are poor, which would result
in future residents being heavily reliant on travel to nearby villages and towns.

1.4 The Sequential Test for flood risk has not been properly undertaken in accordance
with the updated guidance (June 2025), and the Exception Test is only partially
satisfied. As such, the proposal is contrary to national and local policy on flood
risk.

1.5 Ecological information submitted is insufficient to determine the likely impacts on
protected species, including great crested newts, reptiles, and badgers. While a
Biodiversity Net Gain condition could secure habitat enhancement, the absence of
species-specific survey data prevents a proper assessment of ecological impacts.

1.6 The development would extend the built form into open countryside, causing harm
to the character and appearance of the area and creating a precedent for
unsustainable piecemeal development.

1.7 On balance, the modest benefits of three dwellings are outweighed by
environmental harm, flood risk, insufficient ecological information, and conflict with
local and national planning policy. The application is therefore recommended for

Page 109



refusal.

2.1

3.1

4.1

5.1

5.2

5.3

SITE DESCRIPTION

The application site extends to approximately 3,870sqm and comprises a parcel of
land situated to the north of March Road, close to its junction with Whittlesey Road.
Existing residential development lies to the south, fronting March Road, and to the
east along Whittlesey Road. To the north and west, the land remains open in
character, with the Peterborough—March railway line also located immediately to
the north. The entire site lies within Flood Zone 3.

PROPOSAL

Outline planning permission is sought, with all matters reserved, for the
construction of three dwellings. Indicative plans have been submitted showing
access taken from March Road together with an illustrative layout of the site.
Whilst the precise details would be addressed at the reserved matters stage, the
information provided is considered to give a reasonable indication of how the site
could be developed

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

There is no relevant site history pertaining to the site as outlined in red. The below
relates to sites within the vicinity:

Reference Description Decision
F/YR23/0362/0 | Erect up to 3 x dwellings with Granted

associated accesses and infrastructure
(outline application with all matters
reserved)

CONSULTATIONS
Whittlesey Town Council
Object to the proposal and recommend refusal as contrary to LP3, LP12, LP16
(d). Observations as grounds of objection relate to Highways reservations, no
comment from the LLFA and loss of natural habitat.
External Consultees
Cambridgeshire County Council — Highways
Comment: Safe access is uncertain due to the site’s proximity to a sharp bend.
The applicant must demonstrate adequate visibility splays and forward visibility in

line with the 40mph limit (or adjusted to observed speeds).

Environment Agency

Page 110



https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.4

5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

No objections: The main source of flooding is from watercourses under the IDB’s
jurisdiction. Under NPPF (para. 162), development should only occur if no
suitable lower-risk sites are available; the Local Planning Authority decides if the
Sequential Test applies.

Natural England

No objection.

The Wildlife Trust

No comments received at the time of writing this report.

Internal Consultees

FDC Environmental Health

No objection. Recommends inclusion of a condition limiting working hours should
the application be approved.

FDC Ecology

Objects due to insufficient information, as no dedicated surveys have been
submitted for great crested newts, reptiles, and badgers. These legally protected
species are a material consideration in determining the planning application.

Local Residents/Interested Parties

Seven letters of objection have been received from residents on March Road and
School Road, Turves. These are summarised below:

Objecting Comments Officer Response

Flood Risk — lack of sequential and Comments noted and discussed in the
exceptions test relevant section of the below report.
Impact on wildlife Comments noted and discussed in the

relevant section of the below report.

Impact on open character of the area Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report.

Transport/infrastructure deficiencies Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant sections of the below report.
Ribbon development — undermining Comments noted and discussed in the
established settlement pattern relevant section of the below report.
Lack of meaningful engagement Comments noted — from the LPA

perspective, the statutory consultations
and publication of the application have
been undertaken in line with
requirements.

Requests a number of conditions Comments noted.

imposed if application is approved

Concerns piecemeal development Comments noted. This could be dealt
comes forward to avoid contribution with should this application be
amounts including transport, open approved and further schemes come
space eftc... forward by the same Applicant. In

accordance with Local Plan Policy

Page 111




LP13.

Highway Safety

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report.

Contrary to Local Plan Policy LP12 —
Turves exceeding threshold in
commitments and no clear local
community support/engagement

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report

Poor Connectivity

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report.

Cumulative impacts — potential for 12+
dwellings along this stretch — highway
impact during construction, character
and appearance, amenity

Comments noted. This could be dealt
with should this application be
approved and further schemes come
forward.

Lack of design/layout detail

Comments noted. However, the
application is outline in nature with all
matters reserved, should the
application be approved, this is a
matter for consideration under a
subsequent reserved matters
application.

Sets a precedent.

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report.

Impact on outlook/Loss of View

Comments noted however, loss of a
view this is not a material planning
consideration in the determination of
the application.

Light Pollution

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report.

Property devaluation

Comments noted. However, this is not
a material consideration in the
determination of a planning application.

One letter commenting on the application has been received by a resident of
Whittlesey Road, March. These are summarised below:

Comments

Officer Response

Need for supporting infrastructure

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report.

A number of applications submitted for
additional houses show an appetite for
the village to grow — it isn’t ready

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report.

Several approved homes remain
unbuilt

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report.

Strain on local services

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report.

Transport and connectivity

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report.

Growth not yet sustainable

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant sections of the below report.

Turves lacks amenities and social
space to support community growth

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant sections of the below report.

Development should only proceed if
supported by appropriate
infrastructure, services and community

Comments noted and discussed in the
relevant section of the below report.

Page 112




| facilities.

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) and Whittlesey Neighbourhood Plan.

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 6 — Building a strong, competitive economy

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

Identity

Built Form

Movement

Nature

Uses

Homes and Buildings
Resources

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing

LP5 - Meeting Housing Need

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP13 — Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP17 — Community Safety

LP19 — The Natural Environment

Whittlesey Neighbourhood Plan 2021-2040

Page 113



9

9.1

Policy 1 — Spatial Planning
Policy 2 — Local Housing Need
Policy 7 — Design Quality

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014

DM2 — Natural Features and Landscaping Schemes

DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

Emerging Local Plan

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th
August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in
accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry
extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are
policies:

LP1:  Settlement Hierarchy

LP2: Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
LPS:  Health and Wellbeing

LP6: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Infrastructure
LP7: Design

LP8: Amenity Provision

LP11: Community Safety

LP12: Meeting Housing Needs

LP18: Development in the Countryside

LP20: Accessibility and Transport

LP22: Parking Provision

LP24: Natural Environment

LP25: Biodiversity Net Gain

LP27: Trees and Planting

LP28: Landscape

LP29: Green Infrastructure

LP32: Flood and Water Management

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development

Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of the Area
Residential Amenity

Amenity Space

Highways

Flood Risk

Ecology

Biodiversity Net Gain

Planning Balance

BACKGROUND
The application site lies immediately to the west of the land subject to planning

permission F/YR23/0362/0. The determination of that scheme represents a
material consideration in the assessment of the current proposal. Application

Page 114



F/YR23/0362/0O was considered by Planning Committee on 20 September 2023
following an officer recommendation of refusal on the grounds that the site was in
an “Elsewhere” location, would harm the character and appearance of the area,
raised highway safety concerns, and failed to demonstrate compliance with flood
risk policy.

9.2 Notwithstanding these concerns, members resolved to approve the application
against officer recommendation. In reaching this decision, members concluded that
the development would not adversely affect local character or appearance and
could reasonably be regarded as part of the settlement of Turves. Whilst officers
highlighted the lack of infill status and the absence of a sequential test for flood
risk, members placed weight on the limited infill opportunities within the village and
the identified need for additional development.

9.3 Concerns relating to biodiversity were considered capable of being addressed by
condition, including the submission of a biodiversity report and enhancement
measures. Similarly, highway matters, including visibility splays, were judged to be
resolvable through the imposition of appropriate conditions.

9.4 Overall, members concluded that the policy conflicts identified were outweighed by
local context and site-specific circumstances, and delegated authority was given to
officers to issue permission subject to conditions.

9.5 Since the determination of application F/'YR23/0362/O, local guidance regarding
the application of the sequential test and the definition of appropriate search areas
has been updated (June 2025). The relevance and impact of this will be addressed
later in this report.

10 ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

10.1. Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) sets out the settlement hierarchy
within the District, setting out the scale of development appropriate to each level of
the hierarchy. This policy identifies Turves as a Small Village, where development
will be considered on its merits but will normally be of a very limited nature and
normally be limited in scale to residential infilling or a small business opportunity.
This stance is supported within Policy 1 of the Whittlesey Neighbourhood Plan

10.2. Policy LP5 sets out the housing targets for the District and the Council has
undertaken a full assessment of the Five Year Housing Land Suppl. In June 2025,
Fenland District Council published a new Five Year Housing Land Supply report
(for the five-year period between 15t April 2025 and 315t March 2030) which
concludes that the Council can demonstrate a 6.6 years supply of housing land. As
the Council can demonstrate a robust supply of housing land which is well in
excess of five years supply, substantial weight is given to the Fenland Settlement
Hierarchy as specified within the Local Plan.

10.3.In terms of Policy LP3, the site cannot reasonably be regarded as infill
development. It extends into open, undeveloped land beyond the existing built form
of the settlement to the north, and there is no established frontage development on
the northern side of March Road that the proposal could be seen to fill. While it is
acknowledged that residential units exist at the junction of March Road and
Whittlesey Road, along with the extant approval referenced above, the application

Page 115



site nonetheless represents encroachment into undeveloped land and is therefore
considered contrary to the provisions of Local Plan Policy LP3 and the Whittlesey
Neighbourhood Plan Policy 1.

10.4. The site lies approximately 500 metres (as the crow flies) from the centre of
Turves. It is located around 3km from Coates, a Limited Growth Village, and
approximately 5km and 7km respectively from March and Whittlesey, both
categorised as Market Towns. Turves itself contains no facilities within its
developed envelope, and as such, future occupants would be reliant on travelling
to nearby villages and towns to access everyday services.

10.5. The nearest railway station is at Whittlesey, which is around a 10-minute drive, a
30-minute cycle, or a two-hour walk from the application site. The station provides
services on the Ipswich—Cambridge—Peterborough line, typically operating every
two hours until 21:31, and the Cambridge—Ely—Peterborough—Norwich line, which
runs every 30 minutes to one hour during peak periods and bi-hourly outside peak
hours until 21:31.

10.6. With regard to bus services, the nearest stops are located within the Market
Towns, requiring a similar journey time as set out above. The village of Coates
also benefits from a number of bus stops, served by the No. 33 route operating
between Peterborough and March. This service runs every two hours, Monday to
Saturday, from approximately 5am until 7pm. Taken together, these transport
options mean that the site does not offer sustainable access, particularly in
inclement weather. On this basis, the location is regarded as an Elsewhere site,
and the proposal is contrary to the above-mentioned policies.

10.7.1t is noted that Turves has already exceeded its threshold for development.
However, an appeal decision received in respect of an application that was refused
purely on this basis (F/'YR14/0838/0) indicates that the threshold considerations
and requirement for community support should not result in an otherwise
acceptable scheme being refused and against this backdrop the absence of
community support does not render the scheme unacceptable in planning terms.

10.8. However, as set out in Section 9 of this report, outline planning permission (with all
matters reserved) has recently been granted on the adjoining site to the east for
three dwellings. This permission remains extant and is afforded significant weight
in establishing the principle of development at this location. Accordingly, and
despite the policy concerns outlined above, it is considered that the principle of
residential development on the current site is acceptable.

Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of the Area

10.9. Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan, sets out a number of criteria which
proposals are required to meet, to ensure that high quality environments are
provided and protected. Most relevant to the proposal are:

(d) makes a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the
area, enhances its local setting, responds to and improves the character of the
local built environment, provides resilience to climate change, reinforces local
identity and does not adversely impact, either in design or scale terms, on the
street scene, settlement pattern or the landscape character of the surrounding
area.

Page 116



10.10. Policy LP12 of the Local Plan supports development that does not harm the wide-
open character of the countryside and provides further guidance as to the
restriction of such development to ensure that is has an acceptable impact on the
settlement and its character. The Policy requires development to meet certain
criteria in order to be supported. The site must be in or adjacent to the existing
developed footprint of the village, it must not result in coalescence with any
neighbouring village and must not have an adverse impact on the character and
appearance of the surrounding countryside and farmland. Similarly, the proposal
must be in keeping with the core shape and form of the settlement, without
resulting in the extension of linear features or create ribbon development, and
must retain natural boundaries, respect ecological features, important spaces,
etc. Finally, the proposal must be served by sustainable infrastructure and must
not put people or property in danger from identified risks.

10.11. The above stance is supported by the Whittlesey Neighbourhood Plan Policy 7.
Further guidance is provided within the Delivering and Protecting High Quality
Developments SPD.

10.12. The application site comprises vacant land to the north of March Road,
surrounded by open land to the north and west. The core shape and form of the
settlement is defined by a row of dwellings on the south side of March Road and
development on both sides of Whittlesey Road extending northwards from its
junction with March Road. At present, there is no built out development on the
north side of March Road east of the railway crossing, with the exception of No.
491, located at the junction with Whittlesey Road. That property is visually
separated from the remainder of the northern side of March Road by a substantial
line of screening vegetation.

10.13. The proposed development would conflict with the established core shape and
built form along both March Road and Whittlesey Road. Expansion of the built
form along the northern side of March Road would diminish the openness of the
area, which is a defining characteristic of the local countryside. Aside from
development on Whittlesey Road, there has been no encroachment into open
land, and there are no gaps along the northern side of March Road that the
proposal could reasonably be said to infill. Allowing development in this location
would erode the character and appearance of the area and risk creating a
precedent for further piecemeal encroachment into the countryside, in conflict
with Policy LP12.

10.14. Given the outline nature of the application, assessment of design is necessarily
limited. Consideration is confined to whether the quantum of development is
appropriate for the site and whether the site is capable of accommodating such
development in an acceptable manner.

10.15. The locality is generally characterised by modest detached dwellings which
together form a coherent and consistent streetscape. However, development to
the north side of March Road is limited, and introducing dwellings here would
domesticate land that currently contributes to the rural setting.

10.16. The proposed scheme would see up to three detached dwellings sited on
undeveloped land that currently provides a clear and natural edge to the
settlement, marking the transition between the built form of Turves and the open
countryside. Long views across the fen landscape are an intrinsic part of the
area’s character and should be preserved. Although the railway line runs to the

Page 117



north of the site, it does not provide a strong visual boundary; there are no fences
or significant features that would obstruct open views across the agricultural
landscape.

10.17. The indicative siting of the proposed dwellings aligns with the outline permission
granted on the adjacent site to the east. This appears intended to ensure a
degree of continuity with that proposal, creating a line of development on the
north side of March Road akin to the established pattern on the south side.

10.18. Nevertheless, aside from the adjoining approval, there is no other development
on the northern side of March Road. Introducing new dwellings here would
impose a new and intrusive built form within otherwise open countryside. Whilst
the three dwellings permitted to the east may be viewed as a continuation of the
built form along Whittlesey Road, they arguably mark a logical end point for
development before the landscape transitions into open fenland. Extending
development beyond this point would represent an unwarranted encroachment.

10.19. It is acknowledged that the extant approval to the east carries significant weight in
establishing the principle of development on this side of March Road. However,
the impact on character and appearance must be considered independently of
principle. Whilst one small-scale scheme may be absorbed without fundamentally
altering the settlement’s form, the cumulative effect of successive permissions
risks eroding the open and rural character of the area. This proposal, when taken
together with the adjoining scheme, would extend development further into open
countryside and intensify its domestication, thereby compounding the harm to
settlement character.

10.20. Accordingly, the proposed development would harm the character and
appearance of the rural area by conflicting with the established settlement pattern
and by setting a precedent for further expansion into the countryside. This would
erode the rural character to the north of March Road and west of Whittlesey
Road, contrary to the requirements of Policy LP12 and Policy LP16(d) of the
Local Plan and Policy 7 of the Whittlesey Neighbourhood Plan.

Residential Amenity

10.21. Policy LP2 of the Fenland Local Plan seeks to promote high levels of residential
amenity. Similarly, Policy LP16 requires development proposals to not adversely
impact on the amenity of neighbouring users such as noise, light pollution, loss of
privacy and loss of light.

10.22. The application site is bordered by a number of neighbouring properties to the
southern side of March Road and by a potential additional neighbouring property
to the east under the approved permission F/YR23/0362/0.

10.23. As this application is in outline form with all matters reserved, layout details are
indicative only and amenity impacts will need to be fully considered at the
reserved matters stage. Based on the indicative layout, it is unlikely that a
dwelling in this location would give rise to significant harm to neighbouring
occupiers by way of overlooking, loss of light, loss of privacy, or overbearing
impact. Nevertheless, careful attention will need to be given to window positioning
at the detailed design stage to protect the private amenity spaces of both the
proposed dwellings and those approved under F/YR23/0362/0.

Page 118



10.24. The proximity of the site to the existing railway line raises potential issues of
noise and vibration. However, it is noted that dwellings have previously been
approved closer to the railway (e.g. F/'YR18/1133/F), where mitigation measures
such as acoustic boundary treatments and sound insulation were secured by
condition. As this application is for outline consent only, it is considered that any
noise impacts could be appropriately mitigated at the reserved matters stage, if
permission were to be granted.

10.25. It is noted that neighbouring representations have raised concerns regarding light
pollution and its potential impact on residential amenity. Any issues relating to on-
site lighting could be addressed through the use of a planning condition, should
the application be approved. With regard to vehicular movements and associated
lighting, as the proposal relates to only three dwellings, it is not considered that
this would result in a material intensification, beyond that of the existing road
between the sites, sufficient to justify refusal of the application.

Amenity Space

10.26. It is pertinent to note that any plans submitted as part of this application are for
indicative purposes only and any detailed assessment would take place under the
subsequent reserved matters application. However, as previously stated, based
on the site constraints these are considered to be reflective of the proposed scale
and layout of the site.

10.27. Policy LP16 (h) states that development should provide sufficient private amenity
space, suitable for the type and amount of development proposed and for
dwellings other than flats, a minimum of a third of the plot curtilage should be set
aside as private amenity space.

10.28. On the basis of the indicative layout, it is considered that sufficient private
amenity space could be achieved in line with policy requirements. However, in
view of the site’s proximity to the railway, it will be important that noise mitigation
measures are incorporated to ensure this space is of high quality and usable.
These matters can be addressed in detail at the reserved matters stage

Highways

10.29. Policy LP15 requires all new development proposals to contribute to the delivery
of the sustainable transport network by providing well designed, safe, convenient
access for all. Development proposals should provide well designed car and
cycle parking appropriate to the amount of development proposed, ensuring
parking provision is provided in accordance with the standards. Appendix A sets
out that for up to three bedroom properties, parking provision for two vehicles is
required.

10.30. The indicative layout demonstrates that sufficient space exists to provide at least
three off-street parking spaces per dwelling, which would either meet or exceed
the requirements of Policy LP15 depending on the number of bedrooms provided.

10.31. The Local Highway Authority has advised that insufficient information has been
submitted, with safe access remaining uncertain due to the site’s proximity to a
sharp bend. The applicant must demonstrate adequate visibility splays and forward
visibility in line with the 40mph limit (or adjusted to observed speeds). These
comments are noted; however, as all matters are reserved, it is not considered

Page 119



reasonable to require this detail at this stage. Furthermore, if the application were
not being refused for other reasons, the Agent/Applicant would be given the
opportunity to provide the necessary evidence to satisfy this requirement, or
adequate suitably worded conditions included to ensure the required visibility
splays are achieved. This is a similar stance to that previously taken by the
Council, under the determination of the scheme at the adjacent site
(F/'YR23/0362/0).

Flood Risk

10.32. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and paragraphs 170-182 of the National
Planning Policy Framework set out the approach to developing land in relation to
flood risk, with both documents steering development in the first instance towards
land at a lower risk of flooding. This is achieved by means of requiring
development proposals to undertake a sequential test to determine if there is land
available for development at a lower risk of flooding than the application site and
only resorting to development in those higher flood risk areas if it can be
demonstrated that there are no reasonably available sites at a lower risk of
flooding.

10.33. The application site is situated within Flood Zone 3. A Flood Risk Assessment
undertaken by Geoff Beel Consultancy dated July 2025 has been provided in
support of this application. This document outlines that the sequential and
exception test are met as the development if protected against both the 1 in 100
fluvial floods event and also the 1 in 200-year tidal flood event and therefore meets
the requirements of the NPPF.

10.34. However, these conclusions are considered fundamentally flawed. The Planning
Practice Guidance (PPG) is clear that a Sequential Test is required for all planning
applications in areas at risk of flooding from any source, including land within
Flood Zones 2 and 3. The core purpose of the Sequential Test is to steer new
development to areas of lowest risk (Flood Zone 1), consistent with the risk-based
approach set out in paragraph 173 and 175 of the NPP.

10.35. As the site lies within an area of identified flood risk, the Sequential Test is
engaged. The fact that flood mitigation measures may be possible does not
remove the need for the Sequential Test; such measures fall to be considered
under the Exception Test. In the absence of a robust Sequential Test, the proposal
fails to meet a fundamental requirement for residential development in high-risk
flood areas and is contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan, the NPPF,
and associated PPG.

10.36. Updated guidance published on the Council’s website (June 2025) clarifies the
approach to the Sequential Test. It confirms that the applicant must define and
justify an appropriate area of search, which will vary depending on the settlement
type and scale of development:

-For Market Towns and Growth Villages, the search area will normally be limited
to land within or adjacent to the settlement.

- For all other locations—including Small Villages, Limited Growth Villages,
and Elsewhere locations—the search area will normally be
districtwide.(emphasis added)

Page 120



10.37.

10.38.

10.39.

10.40.

10.41.

10.42.

10.43.

10.44.

To pass the Sequential Test, applicants must demonstrate that no reasonably
available sites exist within the defined area of search at lower risk of flooding.

Since the publication of the updated guidance outlined above, further revisions to
the PPG have been introduced to provide additional clarification on the application
of the Sequential Test. Notwithstanding this, given that the proposed development
is of a scale exceeding that envisaged for the settlement under the adopted
hierarchy, it remains appropriate for the area of search to be considered on a
district-wide basis. This approach reflects both the strength of the district’s overall
housing supply and the need to maintain a balanced approach to delivering the
adopted spatial strategy. The scheme will therefore be assessed on this basis.

Notwithstanding the above, it is acknowledged that a degree of flexibility may be
justified in certain circumstances. Where proposals are specifically intended to
address an identified local housing need, a more localised area of search may be
appropriate, provided it is proportionate to the scale and purpose of the
development. In the absence of robust evidence demonstrating that this application
is required to meet a defined local housing need, it is not considered appropriate to
apply a reduced search area in this instance

It is acknowledged that outline planning permission has previously been granted
on the adjoining site for three dwellings, where members gave weight to the fact
that the whole of Turves lies within Flood Zone 3 and therefore considered the
Sequential Test passed. However, that decision pre-dated the publication of the
updated guidance (June 2025), which represents a material consideration of
significant weight.

Under the updated guidance, the appropriate area of search for development in a
Small Village is districtwide. As there are clearly other available sites within
Fenland at lower risk of flooding, the Sequential Test cannot be considered
satisfied. The proposal is therefore contrary to the NPPF, PPG, and Policy LP14.

Notwithstanding the above, the NPPF confirms that where it is not possible to
locate development in zones of lower flood risk, the Exception Test may be
applied. This test provides a framework for assessing whether development can
proceed safely, whilst recognising the wider sustainability needs of a community.

The Exception Test comprises two elements, both of which must be satisfied:

a) Development to demonstrate that it achieves wider community sustainability
benefits having regard to the district’'s sustainability objectives, and

b) That it can be made safe for its lifetime and will not increase flood risk
elsewhere (‘flood risk management’)

With respect to limb (a), the provision of three market dwellings carries negligible
wider sustainability benefit, particularly given the Council can demonstrate a 6.6-
year housing land supply. The proposal does not therefore deliver the necessary
wider community sustainability benefits, and this element of the Exception Test is
not satisfied.

With respect to limb (b), the FRA proposes finished floor levels 300mm above

carriageway level, flood resilience measures up to 0.5m above floor level, and
surface water disposal via soakaways. These measures could ensure the

Page 121



dwellings are safe for their lifetime and would not increase flood risk elsewhere.
Accordingly, limb (b) of the Exception Test is considered satisfied.

10.45. Nevertheless, as both elements of the Exception Test must be met, and the
Sequential Test has not been passed, the application fails to comply with Policy
LP14, the NPPF, and the PPG.

10.46. In conclusion, insufficient evidence has been submitted to demonstrate compliance
with the Sequential Test, and the proposal fails part (a) of the Exception Test.
Whilst the technical flood mitigation measures proposed may be acceptable, the
lack of wider sustainability benefits and failure to steer development to areas of
lower risk renders the application contrary to local and national flood risk policy.

10.47. Whilst it is acknowledged that the Environment Agency has raised no objection
and has confirmed that the site is not at risk of flooding from fluvial or tidal sources,
this does not override the need for a compliant and site-specific flood risk
assessment including appropriate sequential test, particularly where a new
vulnerable use is being introduced. The LPA must assess the acceptability of the
proposal in line with the broader requirements of the NPPF and the Local Plan,
beyond EA standing advice alone.

10.48. Based on the information submitted, insufficient information has been submitted to
adequately satisfy the sequential test. Furthermore, the Applicant has failed to
demonstrate any further public benefit of the proposal and has not satisfied part 1
of the exceptions test. The information submitted in respect of flood risk is not
considered fit for purpose. Whilst it is noted that the Lead Local Flood Authority
has raised no objection to the proposal, the LPA has a duty to undertake their own
assessment in applying the sequential and exception test and it is deemed that the
proposed benefits of the scheme do not overcome the identified harm. The
proposal is therefore contrary to policy LP14 of the Local Plan and the guidance
contained within the NPPF

Ecology

10.49. Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a primary objective for
biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for the protection of
Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.50. A preliminary ecological appraisal undertaken by Archer Ecology dated May 2025
accompanies this application. This report identifies that the following further
surveys are required:

- eDNA testing of nearby waterbodies (Pond 1, 2 and Drain 1) - Amphibians
(Great Crested Newts):

- Reptile surveys conducted seven times between March and October.

- Badger — pre-word inspection

10.51. Taking into account the above, the site and its immediate surroundings therefore
have potential to support great crested newts, reptiles, and badgers. All of these
species are afforded a high level of legal protection under the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), and the Protection of Badgers Act 1992. Their
potential presence is therefore a material consideration in the determination of
this application.

Page 122



10.52. While a preliminary assessment has been undertaken, no dedicated species-
specific surveys have been provided. In the absence of this information, it is not
possible to robustly assess the likely impacts of the development on protected
species or to determine whether appropriate mitigation or compensation could be
secured. The Council’'s Ecologist also raised objections to the scheme in this
respect. The Agent subsequently sent an email on 5" September 2025 to rebut
these comments setting out that the council has already approved adjacent
development, and as this is an outline application, further ecological surveys can
be secured by condition at reserved matters stage. While the site could
theoretically support newts, reptiles, or badgers, no evidence of badger setts was
found, and mitigation would be provided if protected species are identified.

10.53. Whilst the above comments are noted and recognised. The applicant’s
suggestion that ecological surveys can be deferred to reserved matters stage is
not acceptable. As set out in paragraphs 10.47 and 10.48, the site and its
surroundings have potential to support great crested newts, reptiles, and
badgers, all of which are afforded strict legal protection under the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), and the Protection of Badgers Act 1992. Their
potential presence is therefore a material consideration in determining this
application.

10.54. In the absence of species specific reporting and information, the Local Planning
Authority cannot robustly assess the impacts of the proposal on protected
species or establish whether suitable mitigation or compensation could be
secured.

10.55. Accordingly, the LPA cannot lawfully grant planning permission until sufficient
ecological information is provided to demonstrate that impacts on protected
species can be properly assessed and mitigated.

10.56. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies LP16 and LP19 of the Fenland
Local Plan (2014), as well as the above legislation, which collectively require
development to safeguard biodiversity and legally protected species.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.57. The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain
in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding
ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This
approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a
primary objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for
the protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.58. The accompanying Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) assessment, contained within
the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, uses the statutory Biodiversity Metric
calculation tool to estimate the pre-development value of the site. The
assessment indicates that the site currently supports 11.33 biodiversity units
(11.14 habitat units and 0.19 watercourse units). To achieve the required 10%
gain, an additional 1.11 habitat units and 0.02 watercourse units would need to
be created. This would result in a post-development value of at least 12.46
biodiversity units (12.25 habitat units and 0.21 watercourse units).

Page 123



10.59. Limited information has been provided within this outline application regarding
how the required 10% uplift would be delivered. However, should planning
permission be granted, the standard pre-commencement condition relating to
BNG would be imposed to ensure that the required gains are secured prior to the
commencement of development. On this basis, no objections are raised in
relation to BNG, subject to the imposition and discharge of the necessary
condition, should the application be approved.

Planning Balance

10.60. In terms of sustainability the NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system
is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. Achieving
sustainable development means that the planning system has three overarching
objectives; economic, social and environmental, which are interdependent and
need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that opportunities can be
taken to secure net gains across each of the different objectives. This stance is
supported by LP1 of the Fenland Local Development Plan.

10.61. In respect of the economic strand, the proposal seeks to provide three market
dwellings. While any residential development generates some limited economic
benefits through construction activity and the modest contribution of new
households to local expenditure, the scale of the development is very small.
Furthermore, given that the Council can demonstrate a robust Five-Year Housing
Land Supply of 6.6 years, these limited economic benefits carry very little weight
in the overall planning balance. The proposal does not contribute significantly to
the delivery of infrastructure or economic growth in the district.

10.62. In terms of the social strand, the development would make a negligible
contribution to housing supply, given it pertains to three market dwellings. The
site is located in a Small Village with very limited local services and facilities,
meaning future occupants would be heavily reliant on travel to nearby villages or
Market Towns for everyday needs. Sustainable transport options are limited, and
accessibility is constrained, particularly during inclement weather. While technical
matters such as parking, amenity, and noise from the nearby railway could be
addressed at reserved matters stage, the site’s location in an “Elsewhere” area
limits the social benefits of the scheme. Consequently, the social benefits are
negligible.

10.63. Lastly, in terms of the environmental strand, the proposal has significant
environmental constraints. The site lies within Flood Zone 3, and the Sequential
Test has not been properly undertaken in accordance with updated June 2025
guidance, with the Exception Test only partially satisfied. As such, the
development is contrary to Policy LP14 and national flood risk guidance. The site
is also beyond the established built form of Turves, encroaching into open
countryside. This would harm the rural character and appearance of the area and
set a precedent for further unsustainable piecemeal development, contrary to
Policies LP12 and LP16(d).

10.64. Furthermore, from an ecological perspective, insufficient species-specific survey
information has been submitted to assess potential impacts on protected species,
including great crested newts, reptiles, and badgers, contrary to Policies LP16
and LP19 and relevant wildlife legislation. While a Biodiversity Net Gain condition
could secure habitat enhancement, the absence of survey data prevents a proper
assessment of likely impacts.

Page 124



10.65. Taking into account the above, the proposal does not achieve the three

11

11.1

12

dimensions of sustainable development. The negligible economic and social
benefits of providing three market dwellings are clearly outweighed by the
environmental harm, including the failure to meet national flood risk requirements,
the encroachment into open countryside, and the lack of ecological information to
safeguard protected species. Therefore, the development is not considered
sustainable and is recommended for refusal.

CONCLUSIONS

Taking into account the above assessment, giving appropriate weight to the
Council’s previous decision it is considered that the principle of development is
accepted. However, the site lies beyond the established built form of Turves and
encroaches into open countryside, harming the rural character and creating a
precedent for further piecemeal development, contrary to Policies LP12 and
LP16(d) of the Local Plan and Policy 7 of the Whittlesey Neighbourhood Plan. In
addition, the Sequential Test for flood risk has not been properly undertaken, and
the proposal does not demonstrate wider sustainability benefits required under the
Exception Test, contrary to Policy LP14 and the NPPF. Furthermore, insufficient
ecological survey information has been submitted to assess potential impacts on
protected species, including great crested newts, reptiles, and badgers, contrary to
Policies LP16 and LP19 and relevant wildlife legislation. For these reasons, the
application is recommended for refusal.

RECOMMENDATION

Refuse, for the following reasons:

The proposed development, by virtue of its siting on the northern side of March
Road beyond the established built form of Turves, would result in the unwarranted
encroachment of residential development into open countryside. The scheme
would fail to respect the core shape and form of the settlement, would erode the
openness and rural character of the area, and would create an undesirable
precedent for further piecemeal expansion. Whilst the extant permission to the
east is acknowledged, the cumulative effect of additional dwellings in this location
would intensify the domestication of the landscape to the detriment of its
character and appearance. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies LP12
and LP16(d) of the Fenland Local Plan and Policy 7 of the Whittlesey
Neighbourhood Plan.

The application site lies within Flood Zone 3, an area of high probability of
flooding. In the absence of a robust Sequential Test, the applicant has failed to
demonstrate that there are no reasonably available sites at lower risk of flooding
within the appropriate area of search, as required by national and local policy.
Furthermore, the proposal does not deliver wider community sustainability
benefits sufficient to satisfy part (a) of the Exception Test. The development
therefore fails to comply with Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014), the
National Planning Policy Framework, and associated Planning Practice Guidance,
which seek to steer new development to areas of lowest flood risk and ensure that

where development is necessary in higher-risk areas, the tests of suitability are

Page 125




fully met.

Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate the likely impacts of
the proposed development on protected species, including great crested newts,
reptiles, and badgers. The application is not supported by the necessary species-
specific surveys to assess the presence, abundance, or potential mitigation
requirements for these species. As a result, the Local Planning Authority is unable
to determine whether the proposal would comply with its statutory duties or
safeguard biodiversity. The development is therefore contrary to Policies LP16
and LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan, the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as
amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended), and the Protection of Badgers Act 1992.

Page 126



Agenda Iltem 9

F/YR25/0807/PIP
Applicant: Mr N Bowers Agent : Mr Matthew Hall
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd
Land South Of 6, Bridge Lane, Wimblington, Cambridgeshire
Permission in principle to erect up to 7 x dwellings
Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to Officer
recommendation

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The application seeks permission in principle for the erection of up to 7no.
dwellings on Land South of 6 Bridge Lane, Wimblington. As the application is
only for permission in principle, it is only possible to assess the location, land
use and amount of development proposed.

1.2. The location of the site is detached from the built form of the settlement of
Wimblington and would subsequently result in an erosion of the landscape
character of the area, therefore rendering the location of development
unacceptable in respect of Policies LP3 and LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014). In this regard, it is considered that the proposal would result in a
backland form of development that would run contrary to the settlement pattern
in the area, further emphasising that the use of the site for residential purposes
is unacceptable.

1.3. Further to this, Bridge Lane as a highway is incapable of accommodating
further development without the implementation of highway mitigation
measures due to the narrowness of the lane and limited opportunities for two-
way vehicle movements. As such, it is considered that the location of the site
and use for residential is also contrary to Policies LP15 and LP16 of the
Fenland Local Plan (2014).

1.4. The proposal is therefore considered to be unacceptable in planning terms, and
it is accordingly recommended that permission in principle is refused in this
instance.

2  SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1. The application site is located on the southern side of Bridge Lane, Wimblington,
and comprises amenity space associated with 6 Bridge Lane, an area of
hardstanding and a large shed with more open and undeveloped land to the south
of this.

2.2. The use of the land, hardstanding and detached outbuilding was permitted under
application reference F/YR25/0084/F. The area included within the red line on

Page 127



2.3.

2.4.

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

5.1.

25/0084 encompasses the host dwelling, 6 Bridge Lane, and the land immediately
south and east of the dwelling. Additional land was included within the blue line
that comprised further amenity space land, which forms part of the red line for this
Permission in Principle application.

It should also be noted that there was a historic enforcement notice on the site,
which was subsequently dismissed at appeal, with the red line for this covering
the majority, but not entirety, of the land included within the red line for this
application.

The site area measures 0.69 hectares and is set back from the highway, behind a
linear pattern of residential development fronting onto Bridge Lane.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks permission in principle for the erection of up to 7 x
dwellings.

The application is supported by an indicative site layout plan, although it should
be noted that this is not a requirement of applications for Permission in Principle.
This shows a cul-de-sac style development extending south, away from the public
highway utilising the existing access to 6B, with this then separated off. The
access drive then extends past the side of the dwelling with the dwellings
wrapping around the retained rear garden for the existing dwelling.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

ENF/063/22/UW Material change of use of land from | Appeal

APP/D0515/C/23/3317077 | agricultural land and domestic dismissed &
garden land to a mixed use of Enforcement
domestic garden land and land notice upheld
used for storage and dismantling of
vehicles.

F/YR25/0084/F Change of use of land to domestic | Granted
land, erection of a shed and 04.11.25
formation of hardstanding involving
the demolition of existing garage
(retrospective)

CONSULTATIONS

Wimblington Parish Council — 12.11.25
Objection on following grounds:

- Other applications in vicinity of Bridge Lane do not set precedent

- Bridge Lane is a narrow highway — other granted applications will impact on
safety of highway

- Drainage and flooding concerns

- Detrimental impact on local wildlife

Page 128



https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

- Site forms part of the countryside environment

Environmental Health — 30.10.25
No objection
Cambridgeshire County Council Archaeology — 13.11.25

No objection. However, subsequent technical details application would be
required to secure archaeology mitigation

Cambridgeshire County Council Minerals and Waste — 19.11.25

The proposed development site is within a Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA) for
sand and gravel under Policy 5 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals
and Waste Local Plan (July 2021). This policy seeks to prevent mineral resources
of local and/or national importance being needlessly sterilised. The application
documentation does not make any reference to the safeguarded minerals but
owing to the limited size of the site and its proximity to existing dwellings the
MWPA considers that the prior extraction of the underlying mineral is unlikely to
be feasible. If the Local Planning Authority is of the view that there is an
overriding need for the development, the MWPA will be content that Policy 5
criterion (l) has been satisfied.

Cambridgeshire County Council Highways — 28.11.25

Following a careful review of the documents provided to the Highway Authority as
part of the above planning application the Highway Authority requests that the
application be refused in its present format for the following reasons:

1. Bridge Lane is considered to be inadequate to serve the development
proposed, by reason of its restricted width, lack of passing places and lack of
footway provision which would lead to unsafe and unsuitable access for all users,
increased risk of vehicle overrun and damage to highway verges, and an
unacceptable impact on highway safety, contrary to paragraph 116 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

2. Bridge Lane lacks any footway, and further development without such provision
would fail to provide safe and convenient pedestrian access. This would result in
an unsustainable form of development, contrary to paragraph 117 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Anglian Water — 05.12.25
No objection
Local Residents/Interested Parties

A total of 4no. letters of objection were received on the application from residents
of Bridge Lane & Pond Close, Wimblington. The following points were raised:

Objecting Comments Officer Response

Bridge Lane is a single-track road with potholes | See ‘Location’ section of Assessment
and no passing places

Absence of lighting and footpath does not allow | See ‘Location’ section of Assessment
safe travel down Bridge Lane

Harm to landscape character of the area See ‘Location’ section of Assessment

Page 129




6.1.

| Drainage and sewerage issues along the lane | See ‘Other Matters’ section of Assessment |

A total of 11no. letters of support were received on the application from residents
of Gorefield Road, Leverington; Bridge Lane, Wimblington; Elwyn Road, Steeple
View, Cavalry Drive, Coldham Bank & Stephenson Close, March; and Hook
Road, WImblington. The following points were raised:

Supporting Comments Officer Response
Efficient use of unused land See ‘Other Matters’ section of Assessment
Already development happening in the area See ‘Location’ section of Assessment

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development
Plan for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local
Plan (2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local
Plan (2021) and the Wimblington and Stonea Neighbourhood Plan (Pre-
Submission Draft October 2024).

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Chapter 17 — Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

Identity

Built Form

Movement

Nature

Uses

Homes and Buildings

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 - A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing

LP5 - Meeting Housing Need

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

Page 130



9.1.

9.2.

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP19 — The Natural Environment

Wimblington and Stonea Neighbourhood Plan (Pre-Submission Draft
October 2024)

Wimblington & Stonea Parish Council has carried out a pre-submission
consultation on the draft plan, as required by Regulation 14 of the Neighbourhood
Planning (General) Regulations 2012. The draft plan has not yet been submitted
for examination. Given the very early stage which the draft plan is therefore at, it
is considered, in accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of
this should carry very limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this
application are policies:

Policy RE1 — Rural Character

Policy NE1 — Protecting the Landscape
Policy NE2 — Biodiversity

Policy SD3 — High-quality design
Policy SD5 — Flood Risk

Policy TT1 — Car Parking

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021
Policy 5 - Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014
DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

KEY ISSUES
° Location
Land Use

[ ]
o Amount
. Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

BACKGROUND

The proposal is an application for Permission in Principle to develop the site for
up to 7no. dwellings. The Permission in Principle route has 2 stages: the first
stage (or Permission in Principle Stage) establishes whether the site is suitable in
principle and assesses the principle issues namely:

(1) Location
(2) Use, and
(3) Amount of development proposed

And the second (Technical Details Consent) stage is when the detailed
development proposals are addressed. Technical details consent would need to
be applied for should the application be granted.

Evaluation of a PIP must be restricted to the issues highlighted above; even if
technical issues are apparent from the outset these can form no part of the

Page 131



determination of Stage 1 of the process, Accordingly, some matters raised via
statutory bodies may not be addressed at this time.

10 ASSESSMENT

10.1. Noting the guidance in place regarding Permission in Principle submissions,
assessment must be restricted to (a) location, (use) and (c) amount, and these
items are considered in turn below.

Location

10.2. Policy LP1 is the overarching policy supporting a presumption in favour of
sustainable development. Planning applications that accord with the policies
within the LPD will be approved without delay unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) sets out the
settlement hierarchy within the District, setting out the scale of development
appropriate to each level of the hierarchy.

10.3. Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan identifies Wimblington as a growth village
where small village extensions of a limited scale will be appropriate as part of the
strategy for sustainable growth. Policy LP3 must be read in conjunction with other
policies in the Local Plan which steer development to the most appropriate sites.

10.4. Policy LP12 seeks to protect the sustainability of settlements and the open
character of the countryside. To this end, in this instance it requires that:

a) The site is in or adjacent to the existing developed footprint of the village.

b) It would not result in coalescence.

c) It would not have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of the
surrounding countryside and farmland.

d) ltis in keeping with the core shape of the settlement and not harm its
character and appearance.

10.5. Policy LP12 sets out that the developed footprint is defined as the continuous built
form of the village and excluding groups of dispersed or intermittent buildings that
are clearly detached from the continuous built-up area.

10.6. The requirements of Policy LP12 are reinforced by Policy LP16 which stipulates
that new development must make a positive contribution to the local
distinctiveness and character of the area. The northernmost extremity of the
application site is set back some 40m from Bridge Lane, behind existing frontage
residential development, which in itself is considered divorced from any
consolidated built area, and extends southwards to a distance of 140m from the
highway. Notwithstanding the developments permitted elsewhere on Bridge Lane
to the west of the site under applications F/'YR25/0058/0 & F/YR20/0234/F, the
eastern part of Bridge Lane remains rural in character. Further, the application
site does not immediately adjoin the existing built-up form of the settlement,
adding to its detachment from the built form of the village and relationship with the
open countryside. It is noted that there are established dwellings around the site,
but it is not considered these form part of the developed footprint of the
settlement.

10.7. Whilst Policy LP3 identifies Wimblington as a growth village, the eastern end of
Bridge Lane and the application site are considered physically detached from the
village. The proposal would result in the development of a parcel of land that,
aside from the domestic development at the northern end of the site, is currently

Page 132



open and undeveloped. As such, it would erode the space that separates Bridge
Lane from the wider settlement. As such, the location of the site would have an
unacceptable adverse impact on the character and local distinctiveness of the
area and would be contrary to Policy LP12 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan.

10.8. A further consideration in this regard is that the development of the site for
residential purposes would result in the creation of a form of back land
development that would run contrary to the settlement pattern in this location,
where residential development is generally characterised by linear, highway
fronting development. Again, this would be contrary to Policy LP16 of the Fenland
Local Plan.

10.9. Furthermore, the Highway Authority have objected to the application on the basis
that Back Lane in unsuitable to accommodate further development at this time. As
such, the location of the site for residential purposes would result in a conflict with
Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan in this regard.

10.10. As such, it is considered that the unacceptability of the site for residential
purposes is unacceptable in principle arising from the detrimental impact on
highway safety in the location, with the proposal therefore contrary to Policy LP15
of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Paragraphs 116 & 117 of the NPPF (2024)
in this regard.

Use

10.11. As identified in the ‘Location’ section of this report, there are a number of conflicts
with local and national planning policy arising from the location of the site. These
issues identified (Highway Impact, Character Impact) would inherently render the
use of the site for residential purposes contrary to Local Policy and therefore
unacceptable in planning terms.

10.12. It is therefore considered that the proposal is contrary to Policy LP16 of the
Fenland Local Plan (2014) and that the site is not acceptable for a residential use.

Amount

10.13. The assessment of the site in respect of location and use have identified a
number of issues inherent with the development of the site for residential
purposes. The principle of development has therefore already been deemed to be
unacceptable on this basis. However, it is considered that the overall quantum of
development does not add to the unsuitability of the site in this instance.

Other Matters

10.14. It is noted that representations have been received on the application objecting to
the proposal on flood risk and drainage grounds. Comments have also been
received supporting the proposal on the basis that the development would
represent an efficient use of land.

10.15. In respect of the flood risk and drainage issues, the site lies within Flood Zone 1
and is at very low risk of surface water flooding. Therefore, it is not considered to
be at risk of flooding. Further to this, a detailed drainage scheme is not a
consideration at the PiP stage, although it would be expected that an application
for Technical Details Consent would include a drainage scheme to manage
surface and foul water.

Page 133



10.16. In respect of the efficient use of land, whilst the density of development that would
occur on the site is considered to be acceptable and efficient, it is not considered
that this outweighs the harm identified in the assessment above.

11 CONCLUSIONS

11.1. The application seeks permission in principle for the erection of up to 7no.
dwellings on Land South of 6 Bridge Lane, Wimblington. As the application is only
for permission in principle, it is only possible to assess the location, land use and
amount of development proposed.

11.2. As assessed above, the location of the site is detached from the built form of the
settlement of Wimblington and would subsequently result in an erosion of the
landscape character of the area, therefore rendering the location of development
unacceptable in respect of Policies LP3 and LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014). In this regard, it is considered that the proposal would result in a back
land form of development that would run contrary to the settlement pattern in the
area, further emphasising that the use of the site for residential purposes is
unacceptable, contrary to Policy LP12 & LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

11.3. Further to this, Bridge Lane as a highway is incapable of accommodating further
development without the implementation of highway mitigation measures due to
the narrowness of the lane and limited opportunities for two-way vehicle
movements. As such, it is considered that the use of the site for residential
purposes and amount of development is also contrary to Policies LP15 of the
Fenland Local Plan (2014).

11.4. The proposal is therefore considered to be unacceptable in planning terms, and it
is accordingly recommended that permission in principle is refused in this
instance.

12 RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; for the following reasons:

1. The proposal would result in large scale in-depth development in an area
rural in character and characterised mainly by frontage development and
would erode an important visual gap and area of separation between this
part of Bridge Lane and the main built form of Wimblington. The proposal is
therefore contrary to Policies LP3 and LP12 of the adopted Fenland Local
Plan.

2. The proposed development, by virtue of its location away from the public
highway, behind an existing, road-fronting and linear form of development,
would result in a back land form of development, contrary to the settlement
pattern in the area, that would inherently result in the erosion of the
landscape character of the area, contrary to Policies LP12 and LP16 of the
Fenland Local Plan (2014).

3. Bridge Lane is a narrow highway with limited opportunities for two-way
vehicular movements and is incapable of accommodating further
development without a detrimental impact on highway safety in this
location. Therefore, the location and use of the development proposed is
considered unacceptable having regard to Policies LP15 of the Fenland
Local Plan (2014).

Page 134



F/YR25/0806/PIP

25
"
; 51VE
gpalt®”

10/29/2025, 12:39:56 PM 1:1,250

0 55 110 220 ft

| 1 1 1 1 1 1 |

I T T T T
[:] Fenland District Boundary 0 15 30 60 m

Fenland District Council

Uniform
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance SuBeéAgCOOO 815148.
e



FFFFF

AAAAAAAAAAA
FFFFF
HHHHHHHHHH
P DS EHIRE CQUNTY peaiffos

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE

WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW

BRIDGE LANE

a??géi:ga;f"l%%mgmeﬂ

7

%///w

B

B

A o Wi 4 ‘
// e /% ’

1

T

OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO

pa ! >
B anns
—\’\’\’\’\’\
B mpns
11ﬂﬂﬂﬂ
s uns
B s
A
S
e mas
A wns!

/////// /

A0 V3
7
1ﬂﬂ1ﬁ1¢7
ﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂ
—\’\’\’\’\’\
pman
sansse
0 ’\’\’\’\

.

é

. -

4% / // / ﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂqﬂ%&iﬁ%
A “ 3 7

//

W
-

7
//% ////
Vi

wi
7

/ '.,\\ l\ \

AR
N\ \ . \\\\ = R
\ nTE 3
///////// ///:% R\ N
e O
SRR e \\\\
_ = \

W

) \
B i _
y ‘ 1 i
7
& /%%%% A%%%%% 4x§§i ,mWWWWMWWﬂww%%%ZZZ%V » / qiﬁ&i
/ ,// ‘e //%4//%////// /%/// é/ PN // ssE27) ////////////////////////////////////////////////
ol / SSSSS ///// s _
dll Z

oK

_

)
’// ////% ﬂ / ,\/\’\’\’\""’\’\
o >~ T
/ / , ::l\ mﬂﬂﬁmﬂﬁ
e sessass! At ceeeaeen( S
/;%%é& 4441«1141*1ii %%iifjjjy/ 3rvﬁ¥¥¥§£§§g§iﬁﬁﬁﬁkff*“
/ /;%?\ 4««<fiﬁxﬁﬁig§§é§§%/ A%%%%%;
EZ% il /E¥*11111 /%ZZZZ ’ /%%éz

7



AutoCAD SHX Text_382
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
Mr N Bowers

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
Land South of 

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
6 Bridge Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
Wimblington

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
Cambridgeshire PE15 0RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
Proposed Indicative

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
October 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
As Shown AT A0

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
H10803/04

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
PROPOSED INDICATIVE SITE PLAN 1:250 

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
 FIELD 

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
 FIELD 

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
GRAVEL (PERMEABLE COVERING)

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
BLOCK PAVING

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
APPLICATION SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
HOUSEHOLDER BIN LOCATIONS 

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
PATHS/PATIO AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
LAND IN THE SAME OWNERSHIP 

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
EXISTING DWELLING UNDER SAME OWNERSHIP 

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
EXISTING GARAGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
BLOCK PAVING

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
BRICK BOUNDARY WALL 

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
BRICK BOUNDARY WALL 

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
BRICK BOUNDARY WALL 

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
2.4m x 43m viability splay

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
2.4m x 43m viability splay

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
22.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
31.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
15.37m

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
Site Plan 

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
2m x 2m PEDESTRIAN  VISIBILITY SPLAY 

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
2m x 2m PEDESTRIAN  VISIBILITY SPLAY 

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
5.5m 

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
P R I V A T E     D R I V E

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
PLOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
PLOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
PLOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
PLOT 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
PLOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
PLOT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
PLOT 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
14.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
13.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
15.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
6mx 10m ACCESS TO BE SEALED AND DRAINED AWAY FROM THE HIGHWAY AS PER CAMBRIDGESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS REQUIREMENTS.  

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
BRICK BOUNDARY WALL 

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
7.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
S W A L E


Agenda Item 10

F/YR25/0863/PIP
Applicant: Mr P & M Kerridge Agent : Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd
Land North East Of 134 London Road, Chatteris, Cambridgeshire
Permission in principle for up to 4 x dwellings
Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to Officer
recommendation.

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This application seeks Permission in Principle (PiP) for the development of up to 4
dwellings on Land North East of 134 London Road, outside the developed footprint
of Chatteris.

1.2 Under Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan, the site is considered to be in an
'Elsewhere' location, where new housing is only supported if it is demonstrably
essential to a rural-based enterprise. No such justification has been provided. The
development would therefore be in direct conflict with the settlement hierarchy and
spatial strategy of the Local Plan, as well as resulting in the further urbanisation of
the area to the detriment of its character and appearance. This fundamental
unsustainability is further highlighted buy the lack of pedestrian facilities in the
immediate vicinity of the site.

1.3 Although the density of development proposed is low and could be accommodated
physically on the site, this does not overcome the fundamental policy objections
regarding location and use..

1.4 Therefore, the proposed development fails to comply with the Local Plan's spatial
strategy and the site's location is considered unsuitable for residential development
in principle.

1.5 Accordingly, this application is recommended for refusal.

2  SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1 The application site is located outside of the settlement footprint of Chatteris. The
site is situated to the north of London Road and form the front part of a grassed
field. The frontage boundary of the site is bordered by a 1.4 metre hedge with an
open boundary to the east. A low-level hedge is sited to the northern rear
boundary, with a 2-metre-high green mesh fence to the western boundary with
Seasons garden centre. Arable fields are located to the north of the site and on
the opposite side of London Road.

Page 137



2.2

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

5.1

5.2

The application site is located in Flood Zone 1 and is not shown as being subject to
an annual likelihood of surface water flooding on the Environment Agency maps.

PROPOSAL

A location plan, existing site plan and indicative site layout (although not a
requirement of a PiP application) accompany this submission. These indicate the
partial removal of the existing boundary treatment on the site and the provision of a
line of four dwellings with associated parking and landscaping together with the
provision of a new access road connecting to the highway in the south-west corner
of the site.

The current proposal is the first part of the Permission in Principle application; this
first stage’ establishes whether a site is suitable in principle only, and assesses
the ‘principle’ issues, namely; (1) Location (2) Use, and (3) Amount of development
proposed

Should this application be successful the applicant will have to submit a Technical
details application covering all the other detailed material planning considerations.
The approval of Permission in Principle does not constitute the grant of planning
permission.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

No previous planning history on site.

CONSULTATIONS
Chatteris Town Council — 26 November 2025

Support - If approved Town Council requests contribution towards the cost of
restoring the footpath along London Road from the Stocking Drove junction to
Seasons Garden Centre.

Cambridgeshire County Council — Highways — 04 December 2025

No objections at PiP stage - The applicant has undertaken manual vehicular
speed counts to calculate an appropriate stopping sight distance for the proposed
site access. These inter-vehicle visibility splays are considered acceptable and
demonstrate that appropriate visibility can be achieved.

The location of the proposed development raises concerns regarding sustainability
and the safety of trip generation by non-car modes. Currently there is no safe
means of accessing the site by pedestrians. Given the scale of development, the
Local Highway Authority expects that, at the Technical Consent Stage, the
applicant will demonstrate how safe and suitable access to the site can be
achieved for all users, in accordance with paragraph 115 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Page 138


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.3

5.4

6.1

This is likely to require mitigation measures to provide or enhance pedestrian
infrastructure connecting the site to the existing footway network at Stocking
Drove. In the view of the Local Highway Authority, such mitigation appears entirely
feasible and as such, having regard to the location, intended land use, and amount
of development proposed, the Local Highway Authority does not anticipate any
significant adverse impact to the public highway at this stage.

Fenland District Council — Environmental Health — 19 November 2025

No objections. Recommends CEMP condition due to scale of development.
Local Residents/Interested Parties

Six comments of support have been received from properties in Chatteris. The

supporters are from Belmont Gardens, Huntingdon Road, Tithe Road, York Road,
Burnsfield Estate and New Road.

Supporting Comments Officer Response
There is other new housing in the area Addressed in the Location section
This is frontage development Addressed in the Location section
Meets the definition of appropriate infill Addressed in the Location section
Accords with Policy LP3 Addressed in the Location section
The site is brownfield Addressed in the Location section
Access is very good, onto a straight road Addressed in the Location section
Would improve the streetscene Addressed in the Use section
Amount of development appropriate for the area | Addressed in the Amount section
The new housing should be executive homes These comments do not carry material
planning weight in a PIP application.
New residents will support local businesses Addressed in the Conclusion section
Local tradesmen will benefit during the Addressed in the conclusion section
construction period

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014).

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Context Paragraph: 012 (Reference ID: 58-012-20180615). The scope of
permission in principle is limited to location, land use and amount of development.
Issues relevant to these ‘in principle’ matters should be considered at the
permission in principle stage. Other matters should be considered at the technical

Page 139



9.1

9.2

details consent stage. In addition, local authorities cannot list the information they
require for applications for permission in principle in the same way they can for
applications for planning permission but can advise applicants on the decision
notice, where Permission in Principle is granted, what they would expect to see at
Technical Details stage.

National Design Guide 2021
Context

|dentity

Built Form

Uses

Homes and Buildings

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing

LP5 — Meeting Housing Need

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP13 — Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP19 — The Natural Environment

KEY ISSUES
° Location
. Use

° Amount

BACKGROUND

The proposal is an application for Permission in Principle to develop the site for up
to 4 dwellings. The Permission in Principle route has 2 stages: the first stage (or
Permission in Principle Stage) establishes whether the site is suitable in principle
and assesses the principle issues namely:

(1) Location
(2) Use, and
(3) Amount of development proposed

And the second (Technical Details Consent) stage is when the detailed
development proposals are addressed. Technical details consent would need to be
applied for should the application be granted.

Evaluation of a PIP must be restricted to the issues highlighted above; even if
technical issues are apparent from the outset these can form no part of the
determination of Stage 1 of the process, Accordingly, some matters raised via
statutory bodies may not be addressed at this time.

Page 140



10 ASSESSMENT
Location

10.1 Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) identifies Chatteris as being an ‘Other
Market Town’. For these settlements, the majority of the district’s new housing,
employment growth, retail growth and wider service provision should take place in
these settlements.

10.2 The site is considered to be situated within an elsewhere location as it is divorced
from the main built form of Chatteris. The Local Plan does not contain settlement
boundaries and instead relies upon a case-by-case site specific judgment. Whilst
LP12 relates to the development on the edge of villages the criteria within the
footnote to this policy are considered to give a helpful indication as to what can or
cannot be considered adjacent to the built form of a settlement. This excludes
individual buildings and groups of dispersed, or intermittent buildings, that are
clearly detached from the continuous built-up area of the settlement. The
application site and its surroundings are considered to fall within these exemptions
as the site is separated by 750m from the edge of the built-up settlement with
significant areas of arable land albeit interspersed with loose knit residential
development.

10.3 Policy LP5 sets out the housing targets for the District and the Council has
undertaken a full assessment of the Five Year Housing Land Supply in the District
and has concluded that the Council is able to demonstrate a supply of specific
deliverable sites sufficient to provide for more than Five Years’ worth of housing
against the Council’s identified requirements. This is a material consideration and
means that any application for new development must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

10.4 There is no footpath on either side of London Road in the vicinity of the site. The
nearest footpath is 110 metres away to the front of The Grange on the southern
side of London Road to the north of the Stocking Drove junction. Chatteris Town
Council has requested the provision of a footpath from the Stocking Road junction
to Seasons Garden centre, however there is no provision within a PiP application
to secure such infrastructure. The Highways Officer has no objections at the PiP
application stage, however they note that there is no safe pedestrian access to the
site and expect that at the Technical Consent Stage, the applicant will demonstrate
how safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users, in
accordance with paragraph 115 of the National Planning Policy Framework. As the
serviced and facilities of Chatteris are located over a mile away and with
inadequate pedestrian facilities and no certainty that these can be delivered it is
considered that this issue further highlights that the proposal site is in an
unsuitable and unsustainable location.

10.5 It is noted that the Agent has advised of other residential developments having
been approved in the vicinity of the site. Each application must be determined on
its own merits. Notwithstanding this basic principle it is also considered that further
development should be avoided in this unsustainable location to prevent the further
urbanisation of the area.

10.6 Policy LP3 sets out the spatial strategy, settlement hierarchy, and approach to
elsewhere developments. This is complemented by Policy LP4 which sets out

Page 141



proposed housing targets for Market Towns and Other Locations. The key driver
of these policies is to ensure that new development is directed towards the most
sustainable locations whilst recognising that smaller settlements will still need to
reflect natural population change and may require additional development of a
much smaller scale to reflect these changes. Since the Plan was adopted there
have been a number of a sites permitted and completed in other locations
dramatically exceeding the anticipated provision set out in the adopted Plan with
no notable improvements to social, educational and health infrastructure to offset
the impacts of development or increase the overall sustainability of these
locations. As such the principal of additional residential development within ‘Other
Locations’ should not be automatically accepted.

10.7 The site is considered to be an ‘Elsewhere location’ as defined by Policy LP3.
Development in an elsewhere location will be restricted to that which is
demonstrably essential to the effective operation of local agriculture, horticulture,
forestry, outdoor recreation, transport or utility services or to minerals and waste
development. The application does not state that it is essential to the operation of
the activities set out by Policy LP3. The site currently forms a gap of open
countryside, along with the field to the north, which is a characteristic of this part of
London Road which gradually transitions from the developed area of Chatteris
towards the open countryside. Development of this site would result in an
unacceptable urbanisation, extending development into the countryside, further
eroding the character of the area and the open countryside.

Use

10.8 The site is situated 725 metres away, at the nearest point, to the edge of the
settlement. However, as stated above, it will be contrary to Policy LP12 — Rural
Areas Development Policy and Policy LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High
Quality Environments across the District. As set out above the use of the site for
residential purposes is contrary to the settlement hierarchy and the introduction of
a residential unit and associated paraphernalia is considered to erode the
character and appearance of the open countryside. It is therefore considered that
the site is not acceptable for a residential use.

Amount of Development Proposed

10.9 The application seeks Permission in Principle for four dwellings on a site of 0.41ha
which will equate to a density of approximately 10 dwellings per hectare. This is
low density and could comfortably be accommodated on-site without being
considered an overdevelopment of the site. However, the detailed layout and
design will be for consideration at the technical details stage. Unacceptable
impacts have been identified above in term of location and use and it is not
considered that any further issues would arise from the proposed quantum of
development.

Other Issues

10.10 Supporting comments have been received which state that the site is brownfield in
nature. This is not stated within the supporting information provided within the
application. A barn now removed is shown on historic aerial photographs, however,
this barn is located beyond the northern boundary of the site. The site is
considered to be clearly greenfield in its nature and would not fall under the
definition of previously developed land in the NPPF.

Page 142



10.11 The Council’s Environmental Health team have commented on the application and
raised the need for a condition to control any building process in terms of amenity
impacts. The National Planning Practice Guidance makes clear that conditions
cannot be applied to a PiP application and this would be a matter to be addressed
at a later stage of the process.

11  CONCLUSIONS

11.1 As indicated above it is only location, use and amount of development that may be
considered at the first ‘permission in principle stage’ and it is considered that the
location and use of the site for residential development is unacceptable due to the
conflict with the settlement hierarchy of the Local Plan.

11.2 The principle of development for residential purposes is not supported as the site
does not adjoin the built form of Chatteris and is therefore contrary to both Policies
LP3 and LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan as well as resulting in a further
urbanisation of the area to the detriment of its character.

11.3 There are no issues to address in relation to flood risk and drainage, and ecology
and it is recognised that there could be some limited economic and social benefits
through short term construction jobs and additional housing in the district.
However, these matters are not considered to outweigh the ultimate unsustainable
nature of the location of the site and the consequent policy conflict identified and
as such the application is recommended for refusal.

12 RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; Permission in Principle for the following reason:

1 | The application site constitutes an area of land located outside the developed
footprint of Chatteris within an unsustainable Elsewhere location as defined in
the Local Plan. Development of this site would result in an unacceptable
urbanisation, extending development into the countryside, further eroding the
character of the area and the open countryside. Additionally, the site and
surrounding area is not served by a footpath further highlighting the
unsustainable and unsuitable nature of the location for residential
development. The development proposal will therefore be contrary, in
principle, to Policies LP3, LP15 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

Page 143



F/YR25/0863/PIP

Holwood
Lodge Farm

Ferry Farm,,

11/18/2025, 12:11:03 PM

: Fenland District Boundary

1:2,500
0 115 230 460 ft
| ! ! ! | ! ! ! |
I T T T T T T T 1
0 35 70 140 m

Uniform
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁey ACOOOTH 5148.
age 144




GiT abed

EXISTING ACCESS UNDER THE
APPLICANTS OWNERSHIP

S
EXISTING TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY 1:500

MorToN & HALL
ConsuLTING LiMITED
1
Fenland District Council gé

Building %
’ Design Awards \

Building Excellence in Fenland ‘

Mr M Kerridge
Mr P Kerridge

PROJECT

Proposed Development
Land South West of

152 London Road
Chatteris Cambridgeshire

Existing Site Plan/
Topographical Survey

DRAWN DATE OF ISSUE

DATE DRAWING NUMBER

- H10654 /03



AutoCAD SHX Text_482
IN THIS AREA DUE TO DENSE FOLIAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
UNABLE TO SURVEY REAR BOUNDARY 

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
UNDEFINED

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
DIA 100

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
BOARDED FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
REFLECTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
REFLECTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
B U N  G A L O W

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
12.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
11.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
10.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
15.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
15.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
15.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
FOLIAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
B U I L D I N G

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
BOARDED FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
6.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
6.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
6.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
BOARDED FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
6.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
9.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
9.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
9.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
9.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
8.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
8.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
8.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
8.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
8.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
8.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
7.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
7.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
7.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
7.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
7.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
7.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
7.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
7.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
FOLIAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
8.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
8.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
8.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
8.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
8.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
8.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
8.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
8.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
8.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
8.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
7.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
7.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
7.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
7.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
7.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
7.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
6.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
6.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
6.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
6.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
5.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
5.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
4.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
4.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
8.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
8.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
8.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
8.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
8.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
8.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
8.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
8.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
8.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
4.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
4.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
4.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
4.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
5.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
5.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
5.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
5.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
6.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
6.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
6.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
6.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
7.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
7.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
7.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
8.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
8.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
8.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
8.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
8.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
8.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
8.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
8.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
8.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
8.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
8.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
8.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
8.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
8.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
8.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
8.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
7.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
7.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
7.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
7.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
7.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
6.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
6.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
6.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
6.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
6.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
6.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
5.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
5.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
5.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
5.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
5.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
5.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
8.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
8.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
8.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
8.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
9.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
9.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
9.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
9.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
9.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
8.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
8.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
IRON RAILING

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
8.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
8.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
8.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
8.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
8.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
8.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
8.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
8.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
8.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
8.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
8.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
8.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
8.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
8.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
8.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
8.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
8.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
8.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
8.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
8.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
8.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
8.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
8.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
8.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
8.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
DROP KERB

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
8.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
8.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
H8.222

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
N284038.454

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
E538669.908

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
S2

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
H8.914

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
N284094.084

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
E538763.084

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
S1

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
G1.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
G1.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
G1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
G0.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
G1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
H8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
G0.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
G1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
G1.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
G1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
S3.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
G0.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
G1.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
G1.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
G0.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
H8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
G0.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
H8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
G0.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
S6.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
G2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
H8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
G0.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
G1.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
G1.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
G1.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
G1.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
4.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
4.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
12.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
12.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
11.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
11.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
8.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
8.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
8.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
8.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
8.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
8.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
8.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
8.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
8.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
8.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
8.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
8.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
8.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
8.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
8.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
8.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
8.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
8.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
8.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
CL 7.859

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
10.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
10.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
9.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
10.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
10.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
10.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
10.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
8.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
8.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
REFLECTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
S E A S O N S   G A R D E N   C E N T R E

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
D W E L L I N G

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
BOARDED FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
H8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
G1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
8.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
9.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
9.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
8.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
8.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
8.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
8.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
8.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
6.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
6.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
6.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
6.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
7.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
7.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
7.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
7.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
7.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
7.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
8.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
8.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
7.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
8.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
7.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
7.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
7.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
7.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
7.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
7.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
7.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
7.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
6.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
6.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
6.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
8.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
8.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
8.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
8.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
8.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
8.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
8.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
8.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
8.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
8.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
5.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
5.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
5.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
6.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
6.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
6.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
6.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
7.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
7.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
7.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
7.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
7.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
7.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
7.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
8.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
8.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
9.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
8.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
8.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
8.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
8.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
8.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
8.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
8.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
8.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
9.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
9.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
9.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
8.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
8.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
8.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
8.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
7.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
6.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
6.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
6.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
6.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
8.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
8.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
7.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
7.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
7.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
7.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
7.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
6.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
6.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
7.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
7.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
7.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
7.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
7.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
7.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
7.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
6.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
6.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
6.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
6.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
6.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
6.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
5.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
3.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
4.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
4.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
5.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
5.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
5.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
6.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
6.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
6.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
6.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
6.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
7.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
7.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
7.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
7.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
7.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
7.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
7.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
7.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
6.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
6.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
6.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
5.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
5.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
5.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
5.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
4.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
4.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
4.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
4.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
4.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
4.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
4.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
5.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
5.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
5.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
6.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
6.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
6.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
6.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
7.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
7.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
7.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
7.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
7.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
7.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
7.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
7.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
6.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
6.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
6.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
6.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
5.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
5.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
5.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
4.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
4.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
4.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
4.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
4.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
4.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
5.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
5.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
5.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
5.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
6.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
6.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
6.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
7.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
7.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
7.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
7.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
7.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
8.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
7.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
7.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
7.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
6.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
6.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
6.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
5.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
5.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
5.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
5.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
4.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
8.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
7.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
7.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
7.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
7.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
7.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
7.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
7.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
7.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
7.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
8.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
8.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
8.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
8.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
8.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
8.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
8.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
8.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
8.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
8.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
8.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
8.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
9.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
9.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
9.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
9.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
9.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
9.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
9.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1059
8.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1060
8.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1061
3.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1062
4.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1063
PWF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1064
4.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1065
GATE SENSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1066
POST

AutoCAD SHX Text_1067
POST

AutoCAD SHX Text_1068
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1069
INV 8.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1070
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1071
CL 8.918

AutoCAD SHX Text_1072
8.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_1073
8.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1074
8.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1075
8.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1076
8.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1077
8.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1078
8.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1079
8.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1080
8.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1081
8.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1082
HEDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1083
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1084
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1085
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1086
9.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1087
9.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1088
9.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_1089
9.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1090
9.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1091
10.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1092
10.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1093
10.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1094
10.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1095
10.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1096
10.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1097
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_1098
8.721

AutoCAD SHX Text_1099
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1100
8.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1101
8.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1102
8.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1103
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1104
8.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1105
8.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1106
8.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1107
8.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1108
7.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1109
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1110
8.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1111
8.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_1112
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1113
8.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_1114
8.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1115
8.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1116
DROP KERB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1117
8.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1118
8.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1119
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1120
DROP KERB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1121
8.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1122
9.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1123
9.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1124
9.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1125
9.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1126
DROP KERB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1127
9.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1128
4.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1129
4.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1130
4.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1131
3.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1132
BARBED WIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1133
4.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1134
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1135
7.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1136
7.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1137
7.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1138
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1139
7.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1140
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1141
8.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1142
8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1143
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1144
7.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1145
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1146
3.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1147
4.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1148
4.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1149
4.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1150
4.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1151
5.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1152
5.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1153
5.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1154
5.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1155
5.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1156
5.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_1157
6.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1158
6.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1159
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1160
6.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1161
7.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1162
7.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1163
7.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1164
7.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_1165
7.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1166
8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1167
8.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1168
8.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1169
8.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1170
8.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1171
KESTREL FARM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1172
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1173
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1174
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1175
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1176
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1177
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1178
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1179
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1180
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1181
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1182
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1183
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1184
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_1185
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_1186
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_1187
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1188
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_1189
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1190
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_1191
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1192
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1193
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1194
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1195
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1196
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1197
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1198
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_1199
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1200
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1201
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_1202
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1203
starts or materials are ordered. Do not scale, if in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1204
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_1205
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1206
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_1207
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1208
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1209
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1210
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_1211
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_1212
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1213
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_1214
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1215
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_1216
Mr M Kerridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1217
Mr P Kerridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1218
Proposed Development

AutoCAD SHX Text_1219
Land South West of

AutoCAD SHX Text_1220
132 London Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_1221
Chatteris Cambridgeshire

AutoCAD SHX Text_1222
Existing Site Plan/

AutoCAD SHX Text_1223
Topographical Survey

AutoCAD SHX Text_1224
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1225
October 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_1226
As Shown AT A0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1227
H10654/03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1228
EXISTING TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY 1:500

AutoCAD SHX Text_1229
EXISTING ACCESS, SEE HIGHWAYS REPORT 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1230
EXISTING ACCESS UNDER THE APPLICANTS OWNERSHIP  

AutoCAD SHX Text_1231
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_1232
A  RADIUS RED LINE 						NOV 25NOV 25


o1 abed

278
}\
20
514
+
54
UNABLE TO SURVEY REAR BOUNDARY
IN THIS AREA DUE TO DENSE FOLIAGE
4.76
543
5.84 5%
FENGE
584
521
7
\\ RIDGE
L0
N\
o
567 563 /\
6
a2 "%
vy %,
QQ’ A
PV % G
oFF &\g- ™
/ 653
UNDEFINED
650 CONCRETE I GATE
/! &
<,
&/
70N o
Y 669 &
563 + & + s
+ RO
“
PLOT 4] 696
- Y 2N\ \
s13 516 {/l,, / u\’& 3
//"/"’ \’"»' 650 9 Q pWELLING
s, o) * \
5.9 S0 % 3 O\
B N AN
2 EAVE
o\\ 1.72
2 Eave TIDGE
* RmGe e 2%
12.81

A\

2

///////// //// _//// y, S

OB

—

7.88 139

7. (o)
e«%\ //zx
o g R
o KESTREL FARM
2/ . _—;/
7.

-

AV
97
811, 2

s2

E538669.908 <
N284038.454

HB.222

COLLECTION
POINT

G ARDEN CENTITRTE

MortoN & HALL
REFER TO HIGHWAYS
REPORT/SPEED SURVEY AND ON CONSULTING LIMITED | |
o

SITE DIMENSIONS FOR SPLAYS
SANDERSON ASSOCIATES
CONSULTING ENGINEERS LTD

7o n Fenland District Council §§
o Building |
NV 8,41 8 Design Awards

Building Excellence in Fenland ‘

849 DIA 100 _~g5,

Mr M Kerridge
Mr P Kerridge
Proposed Development
Land South West of
152 London Road
Chatteris Cambridgeshire

N me
Proposed Indicative

w E Site Plan
S CHECI
PROPOSED INDICATIVE SITE PLAN 1:250 o s wroce
" H10654 /04



AutoCAD SHX Text_1233
IN THIS AREA DUE TO DENSE FOLIAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1234
UNABLE TO SURVEY REAR BOUNDARY 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1235
UNDEFINED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1236
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1237
BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1238
BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1239
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1240
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1241
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1242
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1243
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1244
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1245
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1246
DIA 100

AutoCAD SHX Text_1247
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1248
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1249
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1250
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1251
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1252
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1253
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1254
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1255
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1256
AGL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1257
B U N  G A L O W

AutoCAD SHX Text_1258
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1259
12.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1260
11.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_1261
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1262
10.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1263
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1264
15.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1265
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1266
15.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1267
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1268
15.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1269
FOLIAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1270
B U I L D I N G

AutoCAD SHX Text_1271
BOARDED FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1272
6.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1273
6.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1274
6.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1275
BOARDED FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1276
6.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1277
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1278
8.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1279
8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1280
7.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1281
7.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1282
7.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1283
FOLIAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1284
8.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1285
8.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1286
8.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1287
8.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1288
8.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1289
8.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1290
8.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1291
7.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_1292
7.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1293
7.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1294
7.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1295
6.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_1296
6.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1297
6.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1298
6.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1299
5.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1300
5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1301
5.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1302
4.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1303
4.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1304
8.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1305
8.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1306
8.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1307
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1308
8.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1309
8.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1310
8.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1311
8.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1312
8.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1313
8.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1314
4.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1315
4.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1316
4.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1317
4.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1318
5.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1319
5.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1320
5.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1321
5.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1322
6.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1323
6.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1324
6.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1325
6.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1326
7.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1327
7.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1328
7.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1329
7.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1330
8.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1331
8.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1332
8.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1333
8.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1334
8.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1335
8.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1336
8.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1337
8.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1338
8.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1339
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1340
8.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1341
8.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1342
8.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1343
8.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1344
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1345
8.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1346
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1347
8.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1348
8.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1349
7.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_1350
7.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1351
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1352
7.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1353
7.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1354
7.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1355
6.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1356
6.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1357
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1358
6.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1359
6.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1360
6.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1361
6.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1362
5.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1363
5.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1364
5.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1365
5.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1366
5.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1367
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1368
5.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1369
8.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1370
8.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1371
8.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1372
8.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1373
8.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1374
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1375
8.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1376
8.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1377
8.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1378
8.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1379
8.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1380
8.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1381
8.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1382
8.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1383
8.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1384
8.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1385
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1386
8.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1387
8.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1388
8.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1389
8.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1390
8.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1391
8.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1392
8.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1393
8.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1394
8.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1395
8.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1396
8.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1397
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1398
DROP KERB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1399
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1400
8.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1401
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1402
8.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1403
H8.222

AutoCAD SHX Text_1404
N284038.454

AutoCAD SHX Text_1405
E538669.908

AutoCAD SHX Text_1406
S2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1407
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1408
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1409
G1.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1410
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1411
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1412
G1.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1413
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1414
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1415
G1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1416
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1417
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1418
G0.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1419
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1420
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1421
G1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1422
H8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1423
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1424
G0.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1425
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1426
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1427
G1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1428
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1429
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1430
G1.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1431
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1432
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1433
G1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1434
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1435
S3.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1436
G0.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1437
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1438
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1439
G1.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1440
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1441
S5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1442
G1.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1443
H10.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1444
S4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1445
G0.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1446
H8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1447
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1448
G0.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1449
H8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1450
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1451
G0.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1452
H12.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1453
S6.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1454
G2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1455
H8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1456
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1457
G0.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1458
4.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1459
4.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1460
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1461
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1462
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1463
12.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_1464
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1465
12.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_1466
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1467
11.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1468
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1469
11.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1470
8.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1471
8.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1472
8.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1473
8.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1474
8.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1475
8.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1476
8.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1477
8.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1478
8.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1479
8.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1480
8.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1481
8.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1482
8.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1483
8.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1484
8.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1485
8.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1486
8.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1487
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1488
8.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1489
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1490
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1491
8.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1492
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1493
CL 7.859

AutoCAD SHX Text_1494
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1495
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1496
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1497
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1498
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1499
10.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1500
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1501
10.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1502
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1503
8.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1504
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1505
8.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1506
S E A S O N S   G A R D E N   C E N T R E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1507
D W E L L I N G

AutoCAD SHX Text_1508
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_1509
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_1510
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_1511
H8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1512
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1513
G1.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1514
8.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1515
8.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1516
8.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1517
8.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1518
6.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1519
6.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1520
6.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1521
6.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_1522
7.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1523
7.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1524
7.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1525
7.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1526
7.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_1527
7.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_1528
8.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1529
8.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1530
7.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1531
8.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1532
7.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1533
7.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1534
7.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_1535
7.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1536
7.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1537
7.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1538
7.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1539
7.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1540
6.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1541
6.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1542
6.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1543
8.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1544
8.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1545
8.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1546
8.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1547
8.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1548
8.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1549
8.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1550
8.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1551
8.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1552
8.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1553
5.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1554
5.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1555
5.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1556
5.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1557
6.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1558
6.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1559
6.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1560
6.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1561
7.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1562
7.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1563
7.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1564
7.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1565
7.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1566
7.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1567
7.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1568
8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1569
8.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1570
9.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1571
8.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1572
8.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1573
8.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1574
8.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1575
8.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1576
8.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1577
8.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1578
8.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1579
8.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1580
8.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1581
8.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1582
7.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1583
6.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1584
6.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1585
6.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1586
6.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1587
8.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1588
8.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1589
7.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1590
7.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_1591
7.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1592
7.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1593
7.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1594
6.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1595
6.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1596
7.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1597
7.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1598
7.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1599
6.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1600
6.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1601
5.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1602
3.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1603
4.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1604
4.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1605
5.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1606
5.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1607
5.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1608
6.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1609
6.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1610
6.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1611
5.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1612
5.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1613
5.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1614
5.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1615
4.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1616
4.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1617
4.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1618
4.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1619
4.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1620
4.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1621
4.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1622
5.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1623
5.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1624
5.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1625
6.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1626
6.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1627
5.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1628
5.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1629
5.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1630
4.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1631
4.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1632
4.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1633
4.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1634
4.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1635
4.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1636
5.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1637
5.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1638
5.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1639
5.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1640
6.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1641
7.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_1642
6.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1643
5.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1644
5.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1645
5.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1646
5.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1647
4.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1648
7.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1649
7.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1650
7.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1651
7.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1652
7.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1653
7.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1654
7.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1655
7.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1656
7.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1657
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1658
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1659
8.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1660
8.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1661
8.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1662
8.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1663
8.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1664
8.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1665
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1666
8.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1667
8.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1668
8.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1669
3.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1670
4.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1671
PWF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1672
4.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1673
GATE SENSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1674
POST

AutoCAD SHX Text_1675
POST

AutoCAD SHX Text_1676
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1677
INV 8.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1678
8.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_1679
8.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1680
8.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1681
8.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1682
8.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1683
8.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1684
8.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1685
8.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1686
8.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1687
8.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1688
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1689
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1690
9.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1691
9.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_1692
9.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1693
9.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1694
10.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1695
10.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1696
10.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1697
10.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1698
10.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1699
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_1700
8.721

AutoCAD SHX Text_1701
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1702
7.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1703
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1704
8.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1705
8.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_1706
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1707
8.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_1708
8.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1709
8.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1710
DROP KERB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1711
8.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1712
8.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1713
8.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1714
DROP KERB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1715
8.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1716
4.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1717
4.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1718
4.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1719
3.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1720
BARBED WIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1721
4.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1722
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1723
7.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1724
7.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1725
7.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1726
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1727
7.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1728
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1729
8.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1730
8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1731
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1732
7.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1733
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1734
3.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1735
4.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1736
4.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1737
4.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1738
4.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1739
5.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1740
5.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1741
5.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1742
5.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1743
5.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1744
5.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_1745
6.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1746
6.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1747
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1748
6.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1749
7.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1750
7.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1751
7.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1752
KESTREL FARM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1753
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1754
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1755
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1756
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1757
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1758
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1759
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1760
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1761
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1762
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1763
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1764
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_1765
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_1766
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_1767
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1768
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_1769
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1770
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_1771
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1772
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1773
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1774
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1775
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1776
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1777
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1778
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_1779
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1780
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1781
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_1782
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1783
starts or materials are ordered. Do not scale, if in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1784
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_1785
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1786
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_1787
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1788
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1789
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1790
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_1791
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_1792
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1793
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_1794
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1795
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_1796
Mr M Kerridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1797
Mr P Kerridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1798
Proposed Development

AutoCAD SHX Text_1799
Land South West of

AutoCAD SHX Text_1800
132 London Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_1801
Chatteris Cambridgeshire

AutoCAD SHX Text_1802
Proposed Indicative

AutoCAD SHX Text_1803
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1804
October 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_1805
As Shown AT A0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1806
H10654/04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1807
PROPOSED INDICATIVE SITE PLAN 1:250 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1808
Site Plan 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1809
PLOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1810
PLOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1811
PLOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1812
PLOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1813
G A R D E N    C E N T R E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1814
S  H  E  D

AutoCAD SHX Text_1815
D  W  E  L  L I  N  G

AutoCAD SHX Text_1816
D  W  E  L  L I  N  G

AutoCAD SHX Text_1817
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1818
10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1819
BIN COLLECTION POINT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1820
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1821
ADJUST EXISTING ACCESS TO 6m x 10m ACCESS TO CAMBRIDGESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL GUIDELINES. SEALED AND DRAINED AWAY FROM THE HIGHWAY. INCLUDING FOR 6m RADIUS KERBS 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1822
REFER TO HIGHWAYS REPORT/SPEED SURVEY AND ON SITE DIMENSIONS FOR SPLAYS SANDERSON ASSOCIATES CONSULTING ENGINEERS LTD 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1823
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1824
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1825
22.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1826
26.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1827
20.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1828
23.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1829
HEDGE TO BE CUT BACK ALL ALONG THE FACE OF THE FRONT BOUNDARY 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1830
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_1831
A  RADIUS RED LINE 						NOV 25NOV 25


Agenda Item 11

F/YR25/0834/0

Applicant: Mr Richard Hirson Agent : Mr James Burrows
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd

Land West Of 78-88, Station Road, Manea, Cambridgeshire

Erect up to 8 x dwellings (outline application with matters committed in respect of
access)

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to Officer
recommendation

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The application seeks outline planning permission for up to 8 x dwellings with
matters committed in respect of access. The proposal site is located at the
junction of Station and Wimblington Roads in Manea.

1.2 The application site is located within Flood Zone 3, an area at the highest risk of
flooding but the applicant has not demonstrated conclusively that there are no
other reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in
areas at the same or a lower risk of flooding and therefore the development fails
the Sequential. There are more than 8 plots within Manea with extant planning
permission for a dwelling where construction has not commenced.

1.3 Two outline applications for up to 4 dwellings have previously been refused on
site. The current applications indicative plans show 8 semi-detached dwellings.
The reason for refusal previously given was also sequential test.

1.4 The recommendation is therefore for refusal of planning permission.

2  SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1 The proposal site consists of a 0.46ha parcel of land located at the corner of
Station and Wimblington Roads in Manea. The site is currently agricultural land but
has residential development to the North, East and to the South, with scattered
agricultural buildings. The site is generally flat and has no trees. There are surface
water drains located around the site.

2.2 The site is located within Flood Zones 2 and 3 as defined by the Environment
Agency maps.

Page 147



3.2

5.1

5.2

5.3

PROPOSAL

The application proposes the erection of up to 8 x dwellings with matters
committed in respect of access. A single point of access is applied for towards the
northern end of the site which is then shown crossing the ditch around the edge of
the site before turning in a north-south direction. The dwellings are indicatively
shown to the west of this in four pairs, with tandem parking to the side and rear
gardens abutting the western boundary of the site.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

Application Description Decision Date
F/YR23/0881/0 Erect up to 4no dwellings (outline Refused 07 Mar
application with all matters reserved) (Planning 2024
Committee)
F/IYR21/1439/0 Erect up to 4no dwellings (outline Refused 23
application with all matters reserved) (Planning Nov
committee) | 2022

CONSULTATIONS

Manea Parish Council
Object: Inadequate drainage, Flood zone 3

Cambridgeshire County Council Highways Authority

After a review of the submitted information with this Outline Application with all
matters reserved, accept access, | have no objection to the principal of the
development.

As far as can be determined the proposed location of the access can achieve the
correct visibility splays for this speed of road (30mph) within the highway.
However, the drawings do not shown this detail. It is usually the case that a
drawing with the Title "Visibility Splays"” show this information so that it can be
verified and accepted by the LHA and LPA. On this occasional only | will not need
this information as | have consulted our records and there is sufficient width to
accommodate these splays within the highway.

There are footways leading to the development site in either direction and as far
as can be determined the splays are achievable.

Environment & Health Services (FDC)

The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information and
have ‘No Objections' to the proposal, as it is unlikely to have a detrimental effect
on local air quality, be affected by ground contamination or adversely impact the
local amenity due to excessive artificial lighting.

Request — CEMP condition

Page 148



https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.4 Environment Agency 24/11/25
We have reviewed this Flood Risk Assessment and we are now able to remove
our objection to this planning application. Please see further information on flood
risk below.
Please note our previous comments related to wastewater disposal and water
resources from our previous letter remain relevant.
Flood Risk
We have no objection to the proposed development but strongly recommend that
the mitigation measures proposed in the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA),
referenced ECL0561b and dated July 2025, are adhered to. In particular, the FRA
recommends that:
o Finished floor levels will be set 0.8m above surrounding ground levels.
o Flood resilient / resistant measures will be incorporated into the development
up to 0.6 m above finished floor levels.
Sequential Test
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph
174, development in flood risk areas should not be permitted if there are
reasonably available alternative sites appropriate for the proposed development in
areas with a lower risk of flooding. It is for you to determine whether or not there
are other sites available at lower flood risk and whether the sequential test has
been passed.

5.5 Head of Environmental Services (15/12/25)
We have 'no objections' as our comments have been addressed

5.6 FDC Ecology
The application site primarily comprises an arable field largely bound by a small
section of neutral grassland and tall ruderal herbs. Two ditches occur at site
boundaries, immediately to the north-west, east and south-east of the site.
Habitats to be directly lost to the scheme are of limited ecological value, and the
site is considered to have only low potential to support any protected or priority
species, but the ditches do have local ecological value.

Although the site is within 2.5 km of the Ouse Washes designated nature
conservation sites (SAC, SPA and Ramsar), because of the relatively small scale
of the planned development, its distance from the designated sites and the
separation between the designated sites and the application site, | would not
consider that the development will affect the special nature conservation interest of
the Ouse Washes. While the application site may occasionally be used by notable
bird species associated with the designated sites it has low potential to act as
functionally linked land because of its proximity to roads and to other built
development.

| would advise that should permission be granted to the application a Construction
Environmental Management Plan is required to be prepared. The CEMP should
include full details of measures to be taken to avoid disturbance of and pollution of
adjacent ditches / watercourses during the course of any development.

Biodiversity Net Gain
I would accept that the development could likely achieve an overall net gain in
biodiversity of at least 10% on-site through new landscaping and by the

enhancement of existing boundary habitats. The on-site gains could be regarded
as significant and therefore they will need to be secured by the preparation and

Page 149



5.7

5.8

implementation of a 30-year Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP).
The HMMP, together with a more comprehensive Biodiversity Gain Plan, should
be required to be provided pre-commencement by means of Condition. The
statutory Biodiversity Gain Condition will apply to any permission which may be
granted to the scheme.

Other Biodiversity Enhancements

I would support the inclusion of new bird and bat boxes as part of any detailed
plans which may be prepared for the scheme.

Middle Level Commisioners

The application appears to involve development within the Manea & Welney
District Drainage Commissioners 9m byelaw strip. During the decision-making
process both the applicant and your Council must acknowledge the close proximity
of important watercourses and/or associated maintenance access strips to the
application site. These watercourses are protected by Byelaws made in
accordance with the Land Drainage Act.

Development within, over, or under a Manea & Welney District Drainage
Commissioners maintained watercourse, or within the Manea & Welney District
Drainage Commissioners maintenance strip, requires the Manea & Welney District
Commissioners prior written consent.

It must not be assumed that consent will be given for any development within, over
or under these watercourses and/or any associated maintenance access strips or
that the issuing of planning permission by your authority means that the relevant
works will be consented.

Local Residents/Interested Parties
A total of 10no. letters of support were received from The Old Dairy Yards Manea,

Cathedral View Manea, Lode Road Manea, Cox Way Manea and High Street
March.

Supporting Comments Officer Response

e Provide much needed housing in e Principle of housing in Manea discussed in
sustainable location assessment section

¢ In keeping with character of area e Visual impact discussed in Assessment

section

e Link to Fenland Reservoir ¢ Not a material planning consideration

e Benefits to local business owing to e The proposal is for up to 8 dwellings which
increase in population may have some benefit to local economy

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021).

Page 150



7  POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 10 - Supporting high quality communications

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

|dentity

Homes and Buildings

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014
DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

8 KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development
Flood Risk

Visual Impact

Highway Safety

Residential Amenity
Ecology

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

9 BACKGROUND

9.1 As indicated in the planning history section above 2x outline application for up to 4
dwellings have previously been refused on the site by the Council, with these
decisions being taken at the Planning Committee meetings on 06/03/24 and
16/11/22. The reasons for refusal previously given on both applications were with
regard to inadequate application of the sequential test. The current application is
for 8 dwellings.

10 ASSESSMENT

Principle of Development

10.1 Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan sets out the spatial Strategy for
development and the settlement Hierarchy. Policy LP3 defines Manea as a
Growth Village where development and new service provision either within the
existing urban area or as a small village extension will be appropriate. Policy

Page 151



LP12 Part A sets out where development may be acceptable in or adjacent to the
developed footprint of the settlement as long as it does not adversely impact the
character of the countryside and is in keeping with the core shape of the
settlement.

10.2 The application site forms part of an agricultural field at the entrance to the
settlement, bounded to the north by the workplace home development of
Charlemont Drive. To the south on the opposite side of Wimblington Road is a
group of commercial buildings with further linear residential development to the
south. On the opposite side of Station Road is loose knit linear residential
development. Consequently, it is considered that while the site forms an attractive
entrance to the village it would be difficult to argue that the principle of residential
development was unacceptable, given these surroundings.

10.3 As such the principle of this development is considered to be supported by
Policies LP3 and LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

Flood Risk

10.4 Paragraph 165 of the NPPF (2023) states that inappropriate development in
areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from
areas at highest risk (whether existing or future). Where development is
necessary in such areas, the development should be made safe for its lifetime
without increasing flood risk elsewhere. In the same vein, Local Plan Policy LP14
recommends the adoption of sequential approach to flood risk from all forms of
flooding and this is reinforced by the Cambridgeshire Flood and water SPD.

10.5 The Cambridgeshire Flood and Water Supplementary Planning Document states
that the sequential test was developed to steer development to areas with the
lowest probability of flooding. The SPD states that developers need to identify
and list reasonably available sites identifying reasonably available sites as:

‘Reasonably available sites will include a site or a combination of sites capable of
accommodating the proposed development. These may be larger, similarly sized
or a combination of smaller sites that fall within the agreed area of search.”

10.6 The submitted Flood Risk Assessment undertaken by Morton & Hall is
accompanied by a separate sequential test. This sets out the sites with planning
permission within Manea, it states whether the agents consider the sites are
reasonably available and whether they are considered to be at a lower risk of
flooding. The sequential test incorrectly asserts that sites for 1 dwelling or 7 or
more are not comparable to the proposal and are therefore rejected. The
sequential test also incorrectly asserts that a site with permission for a bungalow
is not comparable to the proposal and is therefore rejected. This is clearly an
incorrect approach to take and not consistent with policy and therefore, the
sequential test is not considered to be passed.

10.7 Exception Test
Notwithstanding the failure of the sequential test, had this been deemed as
passed it would then be necessary for the application to pass the Exception Test,
which comprises of demonstration of the following:
a) Development to demonstrate that it achieves wider community
sustainability benefits having regard to the district’s sustainability objectives, and

Page 152



b) That it can be made safe for its lifetime and will not increase flood risk
elsewhere (‘flood risk management’).

a) Wider Community Benefits

Section 4.5.8 of the Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD sets out the
sustainability themes and issues which development could help to address in
order to achieve wider benefits, which are:

Land and water resources;

Biodiversity and green infrastructure;

Landscape, townscape and historic environment;
Climate change mitigation and renewable energy;
Flood risk and climate change adaptation;
Pollution;

Healthy and inclusive and accessible communities
Economic activity; or

Transport.

The proposal is for up to 8xdwellings and the submitted Sequential Test and
Exception Test Report discusses the Exception test. The Report states that the
exception test is passed because:

o The development would provide wide sustainability benefits to the local
village of Manea that would outweigh flood risk.

o The site would allow for smaller more affordable 2 bed and 3 bed semi-
detached dwellings which there are a lack of smaller two bedroom semi-
detached dwellings in Manea.

o The development would be safe for its lifetime with regards to
vulnerability of the person inhabiting the dwelling and would not increase
flood risk elsewhere.

o This site does have drainage ditches about the perimeter which are all to
be maintained and the Middle Level Commissioners Board Strip is to be
left clear.

o The site is well drained.

o There are no residential dwellings located immediately adjacent the site as
the proposal would not increase flood risk on adjacent sites.

o The site also has a substantial area left to soft landscaping, which helps
with BNG at the site.

o The site would be safe from flooding for the lifetime of the development

It is not considered that these points demonstrate any wider sustainability
benefits to the community, albeit there could be scope for a detailed scheme to
provide some renewable The Council can currently show a 6.6 years supply of
housing land over the five-year period and therefore the provision of 8 dwellings,
in flood zone 3, does not weigh in favour when considering the planning balance.
The exception test submitted is not considered passed.

b) Flood risk management
The submitted Flood Risk Assessment did recommend the following mitigation
measures:

e Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 0.8 metres above ground
level; and

e Flood resistant and resilient construction to height of 0.6 metres above the
finished floor level;

Page 153



The Environment Agency has no objection to the proposal. It is therefore
considered that these measures address the need for safety in times of flooding
at the site, and as such would satisfy the Exception Test in this regard.

10.8 The flood risk assessment undertaken by Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd
referenced ECL0561b in support of the development which was considered by
the Environment Agency (EA). The EA strongly recommends that the mitigation
measures proposed in the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), referenced
ECL0561b and dated July 2025, are adhered to. The EA also set out that it is for
the Local Planning Authority to be satisfied by the Sequential and Exception
Tests.

10.9 There are drainage ditches along the north, south and east of the site. The Drain
to the east and part of the south is a Middle Level controlled drain. The indicative
drawings show no built form within 9m of the controlled drain, however this would
be considered at reserved matters stage. Development requiring consent from
the IDB, such as the crossing of the drain, is a separate regime to planning.

10.10 Based on the above assessment, the applicant has been unable to show that
there are no other reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed
development in areas at the same or a lower risk of flooding and has not
demonstrated any wider community benefits of the development and therefore
the development fails the Sequential Test and allowing the development would be
contrary to Local Plan Policy LP14, the adopted SPD and paragraphs 159 and
162 of the NPPF(2021).

Visual Impact

10.11 Paragraph 131 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 states that good
design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which
to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. This is
further reflected in Local Plan Policy LP16 (d) which seeks to deliver and protect
a high-quality environment for those living and working within the district.

10.12 It is considered that the development of the site would visually read as part of the
existing village and not appear incongruous or as an encroachment into the
countryside. As described above the site is considered to form an attractive
entrance to the village and as such a well-designed scheme incorporating
sympathetic landscaping would be required to ensure the quality of this gateway
is maintained.

10.13 Therefore, subject to appropriate design, layout, and landscaping which would be
addressed at the Reserved Matters stage, the visual impact could be acceptable
in accordance with Policy LP16 and the NPPF (2021).

Highway Safety

10.14 Fenland Local Plan Policy LP15 states that new development will only be
permitted if it can be demonstrated that safe and convenient pedestrian and
vehicle access to and from the public highway as well as adequate space for
vehicle parking, turning and servicing would be achieved.

10.15 The Highway Authority have no objection to the proposed scheme. The Highway

Authority have pointed out that no drawing has been submitted showing visibility
splays which is usually required. However, on this occasion they are content that

Page 154



this detail is not needed because the records show that there is sufficient width to
accommodate these splays within the highway. The Highway Authority confirm
that splays can be achieved on footways leading to the development site in either
direction. The site is located a short walk from Manea railway station.

10.16 The indicative plans show that parking on site may be achievable in form of in
tandem parking. The Council’s Environmental Services team have raised no
issues in terms of refuse vehicles being able to service the site.

10.17 The application is an outline application with matters committed in respect to
access. The scheme is considered acceptable and complies with Policy LP15 in
this regard.

Residential Amenity

10.18 Local Plan Policy LP16 (e) seeks to provide and protect comforts that the general
environment provides and to this end ensures that development does not
adversely impact on the amenity of neighbouring users owing to noise, light
pollution, loss of privacy and loss of light.

10.19 The proposed development is in outline form, with matters only committed in
respect of access. From the submitted indicative plan, it would appear that the
development which details design and layout, would relate appropriately with the
dwellings around it. The scale and external appearance of the scheme is subject
to subsequent approval, but it is considered that there is sufficient distance from
the neighbouring gardens to be able to accommodate this level of development in
this location without compromising residential amenity.

10.20 The proposal indicatively allows for the provision of adequately sized garden
areas to serve each dwelling unit in line with policy LP16 (h) together with some
communal greenspaces at the front of the development to provide soft
landscaping.

10.21 Therefore, subject to appropriate detailed design and layout, the scheme would
provide adequate residential amenities for future occupiers and protect those
enjoyed by existing neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policy LP16.

Ecology

10.22 Policy LP16 (b) requires proposals for new development to protect and enhance
biodiversity on and surrounding the proposal site, taking into account locally
designated sites and the special protection given to internationally and nationally
designated sites in accordance with policy LP19. Criteria (c) requires the
retention and incorporation of natural and historic features of the site such as
trees, hedgerows, field patterns, drains and water bodies.

10.23 The application site comprises an agricultural field bounded by a hedgerow to the
north and ditches to three sides and the access to the development is indicated
as being across one of these ditches.

10.24 An ecological survey and if necessary, a species survey, are required to be
carried out pre-determination. Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act 2006 places a public sector duty upon local planning authorities
to conserve biodiversity. Section 193 of the NPPF states that when determining
planning applications local planning authorities should refuse planning permission
if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from development cannot be avoided

Page 155



(through locating on an alternative site with less impact), adequately mitigated or
as a last resort, compensated for. Such consideration requires sufficient
ecological investigation to assess if there are any particular protected species
present so that they can be taken into account in the consideration of the
proposals.

10.25 A Preliminary Ecological Report has been submitted with the application. The
surveys were originally undertaken on the 3™ of August 2022, updates were
made on the 19t of September 2023 and updates were made on the 5" of June
2025. The report incorrectly shows that 4 large, detached homes are proposed
with associated parking and gardens. The report concludes that protected
species may be present on site, Licences may need to be obtained and mitigation
measures such as what season to conduct works, 5m stand off from the ditch, 9m
buffer zone from IDB drain, bat boxes, limited external lighting, species specific
planting would need to be implemented. FDC Ecology was consulted on the
proposals and have responded with no objection. A Construction Ecological
Management Plan would need to submitted at Reserved Matters stage.

10.26 The submitted Preliminary Ecological Report states any potential harm can be
mitigated. Therefore, at Outline stage the detail submitted is considered sufficient
to say the proposal is considered acceptable under policy LP16(b) and LP19 of
the Fenland Local Plan 2014 subject to a Construction Ecological Management
Plan being submitted at Reserved Matters stage.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.27 The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain
in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding
ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This
approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a
primary objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for
the protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.28 In this instance a Biodiversity Gain Condition is required to be approved before
development is begun.

1 CONCLUSIONS
11.1 The application seeks Outline planning permission for the erection of up to 8no
with matters committed in respect of access.

11.2 The proposed development would be of a scale that is in keeping with the area
and, subject to layout, design and finishes, would not detract from the character
of the site and the area.

11.3 The application site is located entirely within Flood Zone 3 and fails to meet the
sequential test by virtue of alternative sites being available elsewhere in Manea to
accommodate the development that are at the same or a lower risk of flooding.
The proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland
Local Plan (2014) and Chapter 14 of the NPPF.

11.4 The Council can currently show a 6.6 years supply of housing land over the five-
year period and therefore the provision of 8 dwellings, in flood zone 3, does not
weigh in favour when considering the planning balance. The exception test
submitted is not considered passed.

Page 156



11.5 It is recognised that Manea is an otherwise sustainable location, and it is also
recognised that the delivery of eight dwellings would have some limited benefits
to the local economy from the provision of jobs during the construction period and
in the longer term to businesses in the area as well as some limited social
benefits in the delivery of housing. However, these benefits are not considered to
outweigh the disbenefits of delivering housing in an area at risk of flooding and
the consequent risk to future residents.

11.6 As such the application is considered to conflict with the NPPF, policies of the
Local Plan and the Flood and Water SPD.

12 RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; for the following reason:

1. The site is located within Flood Zone 3 where there is a high probability of
flooding. The Sequential Test for flood risk has not been adequately applied
or met and consequently, the application fails to demonstrate that there are
no other reasonably available sites with a lower probability of flooding that
could accommodate the development. In addition, the Exception Test has
also not been passed. Allowing the proposed development could therefore
place people and property at an increased risk, with no justification, of
flooding contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014), NPPF
(2024) and Section 4 of the Cambridgeshire Flood & Water Supplementary
Planning Document (2016).

Page 157



F/YR25/0834/0

'\\‘
‘\.\‘
-;f:llal ’ ,-' "
o
E2- 1:2,500

11/6/2025, 3:53:58 PM 0 s ai0 460 f

| ! } | ! ! ! |

I T T T T 1
0 35 70 140 m
Uniform

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁey AC0000815148.
age



6GT abed

AGRICULTURAL FIELD

GRASS VERGE

PUBLIC FOOTPATH

- PUBLIC FOOTPATH

AGRICULTURAL FIELD

2

%

g\ S

%\ O

U’%\ ¢

e '

o |
PUBLIC FOOTPATH
STATION ROAD 0.8

PUBLIC FOOTPATH

No. 78

PUB

LIC Foorp

No.

PUBLIC Foorpan,

STATION Roap

PUBLIC Foompry

No. 78A No. 80

Jor>
o>
e
AR®

6\3\5

AGRICULTURAL FIELD

AGRICULTURAL FIELD

16 No. 14

w

SET BIN COLLECTION
POINT WITH ACCESS,
WIDEN OUT LQCALLY

No. 88

No. 88A

.

0.8

&

5 \\\\ & \\\\\\\\*nm;(

O\

AL/

i \4 \ \
4 \\\\\\\ \\\ Gl
HR § o
Nl B

3
-
S

S i’
£ 45‘, pl" W
N

y

hln‘ ‘i‘\‘

EXISTING SITE PLAN
(1:500)

LEGEND:

EXISTING BUILDINGS
FROM 0OS MAP

PROPOSED DWELLINGS

SOLAR PANELS

GRASS

PERMEABLE BLOCK PAVING
FOR PARKING

TARMAC ACCESS

PATIO

TREES/HEDGES

BIN STORE

PROPOSED SITE PLAN (INDICATIVE LAYOUT)
(1:500)

Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and
specification. All work to be in accordance with

good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the
recommendations define the quality of the finished work.
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and
forward to the Engineer

All finishes, insulation and damp—proofing to architect’s
details

C DRAWING UPDATED DEC 25
B PLANNERS COMMENTS OCT 25
A UPDATED FOLLOWING INTERNAL COMMENT AUG 25

REVISIONS DATE

MoRrToN & HALL
CoNSULTING LIMITED

CONSULTING STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS

1 Gordon Avenue, Tel: 01354 655454

March, Fax: 01354 660467
Combridgeshire. E—mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk
PE15 8AJ Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

Fenland District Council
Building

Design Awards
Building Excellence in Fenland .

uuuuuuuuuu

LABS™ LABG

1102 8 6002
HINNIM AHOOILYO

CCCCCC

Mr Richard Hirson Jnr &
Mr A Hirson

PROJECT

Land West of /8—-88
Station Road

Manea, March
PE15 OHG

TITLE

Existing Site Plan &
Proposed Site Plan

(INDICATIVE LAYOUT)

DRAWN DATE OF ISSUE
J. Burrows

CHECKED

DATE DRAWING NUMBER

July 2025

— H10296 /02

As Shown



AutoCAD SHX Text_1832
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1833
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1834
WIMBLINGTON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1835
SHORT DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1836
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1837
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1838
No. 76C

AutoCAD SHX Text_1839
No. 78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1840
No. 78A

AutoCAD SHX Text_1841
No. 80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1842
No. 88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1843
No. 88A

AutoCAD SHX Text_1844
No. 14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1845
No. 16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1846
No. 9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1847
PUBLIC FOOTPATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1848
PUBLIC FOOTPATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1849
PUBLIC FOOTPATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1850
PUBLIC FOOTPATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1851
PUBLIC FOOTPATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1852
GRASS VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1853
GRASS VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1854
GRASS VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1855
GRASS VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1856
GRASS VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1857
GRASS VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1858
DYKE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1859
DYKE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1860
AGRICULTURAL FIELD  

AutoCAD SHX Text_1861
TRACK TO AGRICULTURAL FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1862
DYKE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1863
AGRICULTURAL FIELD  

AutoCAD SHX Text_1864
AGRICULTURAL FIELD  

AutoCAD SHX Text_1865
DYKE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1866
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1867
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1868
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1869
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1870
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1871
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1872
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1873
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1874
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1875
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1876
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1877
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_1878
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_1879
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_1880
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1881
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_1882
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1883
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_1884
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1885
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1886
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1887
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1888
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1889
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1890
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1891
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_1892
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1893
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1894
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_1895
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1896
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1897
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_1898
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1899
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_1900
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1901
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1902
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1903
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1904
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_1905
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_1906
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_1907
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1908
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_1909
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1910
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_1911
Mr Richard Hirson Jnr &

AutoCAD SHX Text_1912
Mr A Hirson

AutoCAD SHX Text_1913
Land West of 78-88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1914
Station Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_1915
Manea, March

AutoCAD SHX Text_1916
PE15 0HG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1917
Existing Site Plan & 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1918
Proposed Site Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_1919
(INDICATIVE LAYOUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1920
J. Burrows

AutoCAD SHX Text_1921
July 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_1922
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_1923
H10296/02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1924
EXISTING SITE PLAN  (1:500)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1925
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1926
PERMEABLE BLOCK PAVING FOR PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1927
EXISTING BUILDINGS FROM OS MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1928
PROPOSED DWELLINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1929
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text_1930
PATIO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1931
TREES/HEDGES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1932
TARMAC ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1933
BIN STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1934
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1935
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1936
WIMBLINGTON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1937
SHORT DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1938
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1939
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1940
No. 76C

AutoCAD SHX Text_1941
No. 78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1942
No. 78A

AutoCAD SHX Text_1943
No. 80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1944
No. 88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1945
No. 88A

AutoCAD SHX Text_1946
No. 14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1947
No. 16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1948
No. 9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1949
PUBLIC FOOTPATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1950
PUBLIC FOOTPATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1951
PUBLIC FOOTPATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1952
PUBLIC FOOTPATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1953
GRASS VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1954
GRASS VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1955
GRASS VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1956
GRASS VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1957
GRASS VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1958
DYKE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1959
DYKE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1960
TRACK TO AGRICULTURAL FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1961
DYKE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1962
AGRICULTURAL FIELD  

AutoCAD SHX Text_1963
AGRICULTURAL FIELD  

AutoCAD SHX Text_1964
DYKE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1965
PROPOSED SITE PLAN (INDICATIVE LAYOUT) (1:500)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1966
PERMEABLE BLOCK PAVING FOR PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1967
EXISTING BUILDINGS FROM OS MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1968
PROPOSED DWELLINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1969
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text_1970
PATIO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1971
TREES/HEDGES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1972
TARMAC ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1973
BIN STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1974
9m IDB MAINTENANCE STRIP TO REMAIN CLEAR 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1975
IDB APPROVAL REQUIRED FOR CULVERT REQUIRED FOR ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1976
ACCESS TO BE MIN. 5x10m TARMAC LAID TO FALL AWAY FROM HIGHWAY AS PER CCC REQUIREMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1977
SHARED ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1978
SOLAR PANELS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1979
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1980
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1981
31.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1982
34.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1983
10.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1984
26.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1985
PLOT 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1986
PLOT 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1987
PLOT 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1988
PLOT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1989
PLOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1990
PLOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1991
PLOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1992
PLOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1993
6.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1994
10.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1995
8.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1996
4.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1997
19.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1998
19.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1999
BNG AREA 2.5m DEEP AT FULL WIDTH OF SITE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2000
UPDATED FOLLOWING INTERNAL COMMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2001
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_2002
AUG 25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2003
PLANNERS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2004
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_2005
OCT 25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2006
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2007
DRAWING UPDATED

AutoCAD SHX Text_2008
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2009
DEC 25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2010
SET BIN COLLECTION POINT WITH ACCESS, WIDEN OUT LOCALLY


09T abed

Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

<@ specification. All work to be in accordance with

— &Z\\\\\\\\\\\\\\K{\;\ Z good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the
-

//‘\\\\ ' recommendations define the quality of the finished work.

Materials products and workmanship to comply with all
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building
I I I Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and
forward to the Engineer

All finishes, insulation and damp—proofing to architect’s
details

LOCATION PLAN
Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2025. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432 (1:1250)

A PLANNERS COMMENTS OCT 25

REVISIONS DATE

CONSULTING STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS

1 Gordon Avenue, Tel: 01354 655454

March, Fax: 01354 660467
Combridgeshire. E—mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk

PE15 8AJ Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

‘ Fenland District Council
LABS™ LABS™ o
Building

Design Awards
Building Excellence in Fenland ‘
CLIENT

1102 ® 6002
Y3INNIM AHOO3LVYO

Mr Richard Hirson Jnr &
Mr A Hirson

PROJECT

Land West of /8—-88

Station Road
Manea, March
PE15 OHG

TITLE

Location Plan & Vision
Splays

DRAWN DATE OF ISSUE

J. Burrows
VISION SPLAYS 2.4x120m

( 1:1 250) " July 2025 PRAING. NG
H10296 /01

As Shown



AutoCAD SHX Text_2011
Pingle Wood Row

AutoCAD SHX Text_2012
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2013
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2014
0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2015
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2016
88a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2017
74a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2018
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2019
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_2020
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_2021
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2022
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2023
0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2024
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2025
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_2026
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2027
57a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2028
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2029
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_2030
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2031
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2032
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2033
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2034
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2035
CHARLEMONT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2036
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2037
1.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2038
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2039
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2040
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_2041
76c

AutoCAD SHX Text_2042
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_2043
Drains

AutoCAD SHX Text_2044
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2045
SHORT DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2046
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_2047
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2048
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2049
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2050
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2051
78a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2052
Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2025. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

AutoCAD SHX Text_2053
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2054
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2055
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2056
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2057
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2058
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2059
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_2060
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_2061
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2062
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2063
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2064
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2065
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_2066
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_2067
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2068
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_2069
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2070
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_2071
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2072
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2073
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2074
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2075
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2076
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2077
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2078
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_2079
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2080
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_2081
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_2082
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2083
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2084
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_2085
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2086
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_2087
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2088
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2089
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2090
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2091
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_2092
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_2093
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_2094
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2095
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_2096
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2097
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_2098
Mr Richard Hirson Jnr &

AutoCAD SHX Text_2099
Mr A Hirson

AutoCAD SHX Text_2100
Land West of 78-88

AutoCAD SHX Text_2101
Station Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_2102
Manea, March

AutoCAD SHX Text_2103
PE15 0HG

AutoCAD SHX Text_2104
Location Plan & Vision

AutoCAD SHX Text_2105
Splays

AutoCAD SHX Text_2106
J. Burrows

AutoCAD SHX Text_2107
July 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_2108
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_2109
H10296/01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2110
LOCATION PLAN  (1:1250)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2111
WIMBLINGTON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2112
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2113
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2114
Pingle Wood Row

AutoCAD SHX Text_2115
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2116
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2117
0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2118
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2119
88a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2120
74a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2121
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2122
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_2123
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_2124
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2125
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2126
0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2127
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2128
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_2129
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2130
57a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2131
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2132
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_2133
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2134
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2135
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2136
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2137
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2138
CHARLEMONT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2139
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2140
1.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2141
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2142
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2143
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_2144
76c

AutoCAD SHX Text_2145
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_2146
Drains

AutoCAD SHX Text_2147
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2148
SHORT DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2149
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_2150
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2151
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2152
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2153
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2154
78a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2155
WIMBLINGTON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2156
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2157
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2158
VISION SPLAYS 2.4x120m  (1:1250)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2159
PLANNERS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2160
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_2161
OCT 25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2162
A


Agenda Item 12

F/YR25/0739/0

Applicant: Mr and Mrs M Robinson Agent: Mr Nick Seaton
Anglia Building Consultants

Land South West Of 176, High Road, Gorefield, Cambridgeshire

Erect up to 1 x self-build/custom dwelling, involving the demolition of existing
buildings (outline application with matters committed in respect of access)

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to Officer
recommendation.

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. This application seeks outline planning permission for the erection of one
dwelling within the curtilage of No.176 Gorefield Road, in Flood Zone 3. The
application commits matters of access only, with all other matters reserved
for later approval. The current application is a resubmission of a previous
application, F/YR25/0279/0, which was refused under delegated powers on
5% June 2025 owing to the failure of the Sequential Test.

1.2. The principle of development is acceptable with respect to the settlement
hierarchy Policy LP3; however, the principle will only be fully supported
where it meets the necessary criteria of the Local Plan with regard to
character and amenity (Policy LP16), and any site constraints such as flood
risk (LP14) or highway safety (LP15) that would render the scheme
unacceptable.

1.3. The application is accompanied by a revised Sequential Test. However, this
remains deficient because it does not contain sufficient evidence to
demonstrate that there are no reasonably available alternative sites able to
accommodate the quantum of development. The proposal is therefore
contrary to both Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and Chapter 14 of the
NPPF as a result, and hence the application is recommended for refusal.

1.4. In addition, since the determination of the previous application, appeal
decisions have emerged indicating that Self/custom build housing should be
secured by means of a legal agreement. No such agreement has been
submitted and as such a further reason for refusal is recommended in this
regard.

2 SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1. The application site is located to the north of Gorefield Road. The site
currently comprises part of the front and rear garden spaces within the
curtilage of No.176 and includes a detached garage outbuilding associated

Page 161



2.2.

2.3.

3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

with the host dwelling with an existing highways access. The outbuilding
presents a frontage appearance of a smaller ‘bungalow’ type unit with infilled
front openings, with additional fenestration and dual garage doors on its
eastern flank.

As indicated above to the immediate east of the site is no 176 High Road a
detached two-storey dwelling, with the first-floor windows contained within the
roof. The dwelling includes a large circular driveway with some parking/turning
attributed to part of the application site. To the west is a new dwelling and
detached garage, currently under construction, which comprises one of five
new plots approved under F/YR23/0548/0.

The site is located in flood zone 3.

PROPOSAL

This application seeks outline planning permission for the erection of 1 self-
build/custom build dwelling, facilitated by the demolition of the existing
outbuilding. Matters of access have been committed, with the intention to use
the existing westernmost access at the site to serve the new dwelling, with the
existing easternmost access retained for use by the host dwelling.

The indicative plans provided suggest a two-storey dwelling adopting a similar
set back as the outbuilding at No.176, with a detached single garage set to its
northeast.

The indicative street scene submitted with the application indicates a similar
scale dwelling to the plot currently under construction to the west.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

Erect 1 x self-build/custom dwelling, involving

the demolition of existing buildings (outline Refused
FIYR25/0279/0 application with matters committed in respect  05.06.2025
of access)
Reserved Matters application relating to
F/YR24/0960/RM detailed matters of access, appearance, Approved

landscaping, layout and scale (Plot 1 only) 06.06.2025
pursuant to outline permission F/YR23/0548/0

Reserved Matters application relating to

detailed matters of access, appearance, Approved
landscaping, layout and scale (Plot 5 only) 20.06.2024
pursuant to outline permission F/YR23/0548/0

F/YR24/0312/RM

Erect up to 5 x dwellings (outline application
F/YR23/0548/0 with all matters reserved) and the formation of
5 X accesses

Granted
25.08.2023

Erect up to 5no dwellings (outline application Refused
FIYR22/0181/0 with all matters reserved) 04.08.2022

Page 162


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.2.

5.3.

CONSULTATIONS

Gorefield Parish Council

The Parish Council does not support this application as it appears to be over
development of the site and takes away the amenity space of the host
dwelling.

Cambridgeshire County Council Highways Authority

Recommendation

Following a careful review of the documents provided to the Local Highway
Authority as part of the above planning application, no significant adverse
effect upon the public highway should result from this proposal, should it gain
benefit of planning permission.

Comments

The proposed development will utilise the westernmost of the two existing
highway accesses, which appears to have restricted visibility to the east.

To improve safety for vehicles exiting the site, the Local Highway Authority
recommends either adjusting the approach angle of this access or clearing
vegetation within the site to enhance visibility.

Additionally, the access surface is currently unbound and would benefit from
reconstruction using a bound material for the first 5 metres from the public
highway boundary into the site, to prevent debris from spreading onto the
carriageway.

Environment Agency

Thank you for your consultation dated 15 October 2025. We have reviewed
the documents as submitted and we have no objection to this planning
application. Please see further information on flood risk and water resources
in the relevant sections below.

Flood Risk

We strongly recommend that the development should be carried out in
accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (Ref:
ECL1480a/ANGLIA BUILDING CONSULTANTS; dated September 2025;
submitted by Ellingham Consulting LTD) and the following mitigation
measures it details:

e Finished floor levels should be set 0.3m above existing ground level
(0.3mAQOD)

e Flood Resilient Construction to 0.3m above Finished Floor Levels
(0.6mAQD)

These mitigation measures should be fully implemented prior to occupation
and subsequently in accordance with the scheme's timing/ phasing
arrangements. The measures detailed above should be retained and
maintained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the development. This is to
reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants.

Sequential Test
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 162),
development should not be permitted if there are reasonably available sites

Page 163



5.4.

5.5.

appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a lower probability of
flooding. It is for you to determine if the sequential test needs to be applied
and whether there are other sites available at lower flood risk. Our flood risk
Standing advice reminds you of this and provides advice on how to apply the
test. [...]

Environment & Health Services (FDC)

The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information
and have 'No Objections' to the proposal, as it is unlikely to have a detrimental
effect on local air quality, be affected by ground contamination or adversely
impact the local amenity due to excessive attificial lighting.

This service would however welcome a condition on working times due to the
close proximity of existing noise sensitive receptors, with the following
considered reasonable:

No demolition or construction work shall be carried out and no plant or power
operated machinery operated other than between the following hours: 08:00
hours and 18:00 hours on Monday to Friday, 08:00 hours and 13:00 hours on
Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays, unless
otherwise previously agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Local Residents/Interested Parties
The LPA received 15 letters of support for this application from address points
including:

High Road, Gorefield (10no.);

Decoy Road, Gorefield (2no.);
Christopher Drive, Leverington (1no.);
Mill Lane, Wisbech (1no.); and

Sayers Crescent, Wisbech St Mary (1no.)

Two letters received included no reasons for supporting the scheme; with a
further six stating either “no objections/fully in support” but with no specific
reasons stated.

Of the stated reasons for support, these are detailed in the below table:

Supporting Comments Officer Response

Matters regarding the principle of
development are considered in the
below assessment.

¢ Would be an asset, in easy range
of village services and facilities.

e Would appear appropriate next to
other development and improve
the streetscene

¢ Will enhance visual appearance
and increase natural surveillance

o Will not result in overdevelopment

Matters regarding character and
appearance are considered in the
below assessment.

Matters relating to highway safety
¢ No highway safety impacts are considered in the below
assessment.

Page 164



7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

7.5.

7.6.

7.7.

7.8.

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development
Plan unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The
Development Plan for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted
Fenland Local Plan (2014) and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2021).

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

Identity

Built Form

Movement

Uses

Homes and Buildings
Lifespan

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside
LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding
LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network
LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021
Policy 14 - Waste management needs arising from residential and commercial
Development

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD
2014

DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character
of the Area

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

Emerging Local Plan

Page 165



9.2.

9.3.

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between
25th August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be
reviewed and any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the
draft Local Plan. Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is
considered, in accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of
this should carry extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to
this application are policies:

LP1: Settlement Hierarchy

LP2: Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
LP4: Securing Fenland’s Future

LP5: Health and Wellbeing

LP7: Design

LP8: Amenity Provision

LP12: Meeting Housing Needs
LP13: Custom and Self Build

LP20: Accessibility and Transport
LP22: Parking Provision

LP25: Biodiversity Net Gain

LP32: Flood and Water Management

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development

Character and Amenity

Highway Safety

Flood Risk

Self-Build and Custom Build Housing
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

BACKGROUND

The current application is a resubmission of a previous application,
F/YR25/0279/0, which was refused under delegated powers on 5" June
2025.

The previous application was refused as the Sequential Test within the Flood
Risk Assessment accompanying the application did not sufficiently
demonstrate that there were no reasonably available alternative sites that may
be sequentially preferable to the application site by virtue of either lesser flood
risk and/or an extant planning permission able to accommodate the quantum
of development proposed, contrary to Policy LP14.

The current application proposes the same development as previously
submitted and seeks to address the earlier reason for refusal by way of
revised Sequential Test submitted accordingly. This is assessed in more
detail below.

Page 166



10 ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

10.1. The land is located in the built framework of Gorefield. Policy LP3 classifies
Gorefield as a ‘Small Village’ where development will be considered on its
merits but will normally be limited in scale to residential infilling. By virtue of
the recently approved plots to the west of the site (F/YR23/0548/0), this
application seeks to redevelop an existing outbuilding on a parcel of land
between existing properties as an infill plot. Thus, the proposal complies with
Policy LP3 with regard to the overall scale of development suitable for
Gorefield and therefore does not present a barrier to the granting of outline
planning permission in this instance.

10.2. Furthermore, the principle of development would only be supported where it
meets the necessary criteria of the Local Plan with regard to character and
amenity (Policy LP16), and any site constraints such as flood risk (LP14) or
highway safety (LP15) that would render the scheme unacceptable.

Character and Amenity

10.3. Details of appearance, layout and scale are to be submitted at Reserved
Matters stage. The submitted indicative site plan depicts that the plot appears
suitably sized to allow for appropriate levels of amenity for future occupants.

10.4. The submitted plans offer an indicative street scene, based upon the view
from Gorefield Road, which will see a proposed 2-storey dwelling following the
stepped building line between the host dwelling to the east and new dwelling
to the west. The indicative street scene depicts that the proposed dwelling
could be acceptable in terms of design, appearance and scale subject to
acceptable submission of the reserved matters.

10.5. Notwithstanding the presence of any fenestration proposed to face adjacent
dwellings, the proposed dwelling appears adequately separated from these to
limit any impacts of overlooking. There may be some impacts of overlooking
from the existing adjacent dwellings to the proposed, particularly in the case of
the dwelling to the west as this contains fenestration to its eastern flank facing
the application site, however this may be mitigated through appropriate design
of the intended dwelling and/or boundary treatments at Reserved Matters
stage.

10.6. Comments from Gorefield Parish Council regarding overdevelopment and
impact to the amenity space of the host dwelling are noted. However, the
indicative site plans suggest that the proposed dwelling will have both
adequate parking/turning space to the front, along with an appropriate
quantum of private amenity space which accords with the requirements of
Policy LP16 (h), subject to matters of detailed design at Reserved Matters.
Furthermore, whilst it is acknowledged that whilst the proposed plot will erode
a small area of the southwestern corner of the host dwelling’s garden to
accommodate its own private amenity space, the remainder of the host
dwelling’s private amenity space is substantial and as such any limited loss by
virtue of the new dwelling will not result any notable detrimental impact to the
host dwelling’s amenity.

Page 167



10.7. Accordingly, it is considered that matters of character and residential amenity
could be satisfactorily dealt with through the submission of an appropriately
designed scheme in any subsequent reserved matters application to ensure
compliance with Policies LP2 and LP16.

Highway Safety
10.8. Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to ensure safe and
convenient access for all within the district.

10.9. The proposal intends to utilise an existing access to serve the site. There are
suitable parking/turning areas indicated for the proposed dwelling. There is
sufficient turning space shown to allow vehicles to enter and exit in a forward
gear, and it is likely that the parking areas will offer sufficient parking in line
with the parking provision requirements set out in Appendix A of Policy LP15.
Notwithstanding, the exact parking requirement is unknown as matters of
Layout and Scale are reserved for later approval.

10.10. It is acknowledged that proposal intends to utilise part of the host dwelling’s
driveway and demolition of a garage that serves the host dwelling. However,
notwithstanding these losses, the host dwelling will retain sufficient parking
and turning to ensure safe and convenient access.

10.11. Comments from the Highway Authority raised no concerns regarding highway
safety and had no objection to the proposed access arrangements subject to
the clearance of existing vegetation to the east to allow for increased visibility
and reconstruction of part of the existing access to reduce debris migration. It
is understood that the land to the east of the site, which contains the
obstructive vegetation is within the ownership of the applicant and as such
alterations/vegetation removal can be secured by condition to improve the
overall access safety and visibility. Accordingly, it is considered that the
scheme complies with Policy LP15, subject to conditions.

Flood Risk

10.12.The site and surrounding area is entirely located in Environment Agency
Flood Zone 3 and is therefore considered to be at a high probability of fluvial
and/or tidal flooding.

10.13. As stated above, this application is a resubmission of the earlier application
F/YR25/0279/0, refused in June 2025 by virtue of an insufficient Sequential
Test. In an attempt to address this reason for refusal, the applicant has
submitted a revised FRA and Sequential Test in support of the current
application.

10.14. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and chapter 14 of the National
Planning Policy Framework set out the policy approach towards development
in areas of flood risk. Policy LP14 states that all development proposals
should adopt a sequential approach to flood risk from all forms of flooding and
development in areas known to be at risk from any form of flooding will only
be permitted following:

(a) the successful completion of a sequential test, having regard to actual and
residual flood risks

Page 168



(b) an exception test (if necessary),

(c) the suitable demonstration of meeting an identified need, and

(d) through the submission of a site-specific flood risk assessment,
demonstrating appropriate flood risk management and safety measures
and a positive approach to reducing flood risk overall, and without reliance
on emergency services.

10.15. National planning policy includes an over-arching principle in the Framework
that development should be directed away from areas at highest risk of
flooding. To that end, a sequential, risk-based approach is to be taken to
individual applications in areas known to be at risk now or in the future from
flooding. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) confirms that this means
avoiding, as far as possible, development in current and future medium and
high flood risk areas. The PPG furthermore confirms that the underlying
purpose includes placing the least reliance on measures like flood defences,
flood warnings, and property level resilience features. Therefore, even where
a flood risk assessment shows the development can be made safe throughout
its lifetime without increasing risk elsewhere, the Sequential Test still needs to
be satisfied.

Sequential Test

10.16. It is for the decision-maker to consider whether the Sequential Test is passed,
with reference to information held on land availability and an appropriate area
of search. The latter should be determined by the planning authority.

10.17. Since the earlier refused submission on 5" June 2025, on 27" June 2025 the
Council formally withdrew its Fenland Flood Risk Sequential Test
Methodology and updated clarification on the LPA’s expected area of search
for a Sequential Test was provided on the Council’s website, which states:

“‘Applicants must define and justify an appropriate area of search when
preparing the Sequential Test. The extent of this area will depend on the
location and role of the settlement, as well as the type and scale of
development proposed:

e For developments within or adjacent to Market Towns and Growth
Villages, the area of search will normally be limited to land within or
adjacent to the settlement in which the development is proposed.

e For all other locations — including Limited Growth, Small and Other
Villages, or Elsewhere Locations — the area of search will normally be
expected to be district-wide. (Emphasis Added)

To pass the Sequential Test, applicants must demonstrate that there are no
reasonably available sites, within the defined search area, with a lower
probability of flooding that could accommodate the proposed development. A
poorly defined or unjustified area of search may result in the Sequential Test
being considered invalid.”

10.18. The current application, which was submitted in October 2025, includes a

Sequential and Exception Test report which focuses the area of search on the
settlement of Gorefield. However, as discussed above, Gorefield is classified

Page 169



in Policy LP3 (settlement hierarchy) as a Small village. Accordingly, the
above is clear that the area of search for sites within a Small village will
normally be based on a district wide search area, unless it can be
demonstrated that there is a particular need for the development in that
location.

10.19.The application is not supported by any evidence to justify the need for
development in this location and accordingly does not qualify for any variation
to the required area of search.

10.20. The Council is able to demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, and there
remain sites identified as suitable for development in the Local Plan that do
not currently benefit from planning permission. It would, therefore, be
reasonable to conclude that on the basis of district wide search, there will be
other reasonably available sites in Flood Zones 1 and 2 to accommodate the
development. As such, it is considered that the Sequential Test is failed.

10.21. Notwithstanding the above, if, as set out in the above area of search
guidance, Gorefield, as a Small Village, was considered the appropriate area
of search in this case, the Sequential Test would remain failed. The submitted
Sequential Test concludes that there are no reasonably available sites to
accommodate the development in an area of lesser flood risk within Gorefield.
The Sequential Test considers a number of sites, such as the recently
approved F/YR25/0473/O (Land S of 4 — 16 Back Rd, Gorefield - Erect up to 9
x dwellings) discounting this site as reasonably available on the basis of the
scale of the proposed development and corresponding construction times.
However, matters relating to the quantum of units as this discounted site is
immaterial, as the PPG makes clear that ‘reasonably available’ sites are not
limited to single plots, and may include part of a larger site if it is capable of
accommodating the proposed development, as well as smaller sites that,
individually or collectively, could meet the development requirement.
Furthermore, sites do not need to be in the ownership of the applicant to be
considered ‘reasonably available’.

10.22. Accordingly, in either case, it is considered that insufficient assessment has
been undertaken and inadequate information submitted to demonstrate that it
is not possible for the development to be located on a site with a lower risk of
flooding when considering reasonably available sites within the wider district
or Gorefield specifically. On this basis, it is considered that the proposal is
not in accordance with Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan, 2014, and
Chapter 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 2024.

Exception Test
10.23. Notwithstanding the failure of the sequential test, had this been deemed as
passed it would then be necessary for the application to pass the Exception
Test, which comprises of demonstration of the following:
a) Development to demonstrate that it achieves wider community

sustainability benefits having regard to the district’s sustainability
objectives, and

Page 170



b) That it can be made safe for its lifetime and will not increase flood risk
elsewhere (‘flood risk management’).

a) Wider Community Benefits

10.24.Section 4.5.8 of the Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD sets out the
sustainability themes and issues which development could help to address in
order to achieve wider benefits, which are:

Land and water resources;

Biodiversity and green infrastructure;

Landscape, townscape and historic environment;
Climate change mitigation and renewable energy;
Flood risk and climate change adaptation;
Pollution;

Healthy and inclusive and accessible communities
Economic activity; or

Transport.

10.25. Having regard to the scale and nature of development, it would likely be
difficult to achieve wider benefits through much of the list above. However, it
is often possible to achieve wider benefits on smaller housing schemes
thought the inclusion of climate change mitigation and renewable energy
features to a level which exceeds normal Building Regulations requirements.
Features such as the installation of photovoltaic panels, air source heat pump,
or means to sustain and encourage biodiversity could be utilised to assist in
achieving sustainability benefits. These measures could be considered and
included at Reserved Matters stage and may result in the satisfactory
compliance with the Exception Test in this regard.

b) Flood risk management
10.26. The submitted Flood Risk Assessment did recommend the following mitigation
measures:

e Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 0.3 metres above ground
level; and

¢ Flood resistant and resilient construction to height of 0.3 metres above the
finished floor level;

which were considered acceptable by the Environment Agency and could be
secured by condition. It is therefore considered that these measures address
the need for safety in times of flooding at the site, and as such would satisfy
the Exception Test in this regard.

Flood Risk — Conclusion

10.27.The evidence submitted has failed to fully demonstrate that there are no
sequentially preferable sites that could accommodate the quantum of
development proposed under the terms of the current scheme and thus the
proposal has failed the Sequential Test. As such, it is considered that the
current scheme is not compliant with Policy LP14 and should be refused.

Page 171



Self-Build and Custom Build Housing

10.28. Under section 1 of the Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015, local
authorities are required to keep a register of those seeking to acquire serviced
plots in the area for their own self-build and custom house building. They are
also subject to duties under sections 2 and 2A of that Act to have regard to
this and to give enough suitable development permissions to meet the
identified demand.

10.29. As set out in the Regulations, Part 1 of a register comprises those people and
organisations who meet all the eligibility criteria, including the local connection
test. Part 2 comprises those people and organisations who meet most, but not
necessarily all, the eligibility criteria. The Council has a duty to ‘give suitable
development permission in respect of enough serviced plots of land to meet
the demand for self-build and custom housebuilding in the authority’s area’
(i.,e. to meet the demand for the number of applicants on Part 1 of their
register) within a 3-year period, post the end of the base period.

10.30. The Council can demonstrate that the demand for self-build and custom
housing is comfortably being met in Fenland. Therefore, no weight should be
given to the delivery of self/ custom build housing at this time.

10.31. Notwithstanding the above, the application is being put forward as a self-
/custom build dwelling. Since the determination of the previous application,
appeal decisions have emerged indicating that Self/custom build housing
should be secured by means of a legal agreement. No such agreement has
been submitted and as such a reason for refusal is recommended in this
regard.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.32. The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net
gain in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on
avoiding ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off
setting. This approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which
outlines a primary objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and
provides for the protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority
Habitat.

10.33. There are statutory exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements
relating to irreplaceable habitat which mean that the biodiversity gain condition
does not always apply. In this instance, one or more of the exemptions /
transitional arrangements are considered to apply and a Biodiversity Gain
Condition is not required to be approved before development is begun
because the nature of the development being self / custom build is exempt
from statutory net gain.

11 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSIONS
11.1. This application seeks outline approval for the erection of 1 self-build/custom

dwelling facilitated by the demolition of an existing outbuilding at 176 High
Road, Gorefield.

Page 172



11.2.

11.3.

11.4.

11.5.

11.6.

11.7.

11.8.

11.9.

12

The proposed development would result in residential infilling within the
existing developed footprint of the village. Therefore, the location of the
proposed development accords with the spatial strategy which should be
offered moderate weight in favour of the scheme.

Matters of access are considered acceptable, subject to conditions to improve
overall safety and visibility, accordingly the scheme complies with Policy
LP15.

The Council can demonstrate that the demand for self-build and custom
housing is comfortably being met in Fenland. Therefore, no significant weight
should be given to the delivery of self/custom build housing at this time.
Similarly, the Council currently has more than a five-year housing land supply
and as such limited weight should also be given to the contribution the
development would make to this.

It is also considered that the provision of one dwelling would only make an
extremely limited contribution towards economic and social benefits in terms
of contribution to the settlement and its services and facilities.

Matters of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are to be committed at
Reserved Matters stage, and as such the indicative details submitted should
offer no weight in favour of the scheme.

Conflict arises through the principle of the development of the site with respect
to flood risk, rather than as a result of matters that could be addressed at the
detailed design stage. Notwithstanding the revised Sequential Test
submitted, which focuses the area of search on the settlement of Gorefield,
the Council’s position is clear that the area of search should be based on a
district wide search area, unless it can be demonstrated that there is a
particular need for the development in that location; such justification has not
been advanced in this case and as such the Sequential Test fails, which
weighs significantly against the proposal as it is contrary to Policy LP14 and
the adopted Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD or Section 14 of the
NPPF.

Furthermore, an appropriate legal agreement has not been submitted to
secure the development as the intended self/custom build housing, and as
such a reason for refusal is included in this regard.

Therefore, these contraventions are considered to outweigh any benefits
arising from the scheme. It must be borne in mind that planning law requires
that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise, and
there are no material considerations in this case that outweigh the policy
contraventions indicated. As such, the application is recommended for
refusal.

RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; for the following reasons:

Page 173



Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) requires that
development proposals within Flood Zone 3 are accompanied by a
Sequential Test demonstrating how the development is unable to be
accommodated in areas at a lower risk of flooding. This policy is
compliant with section 14 of the National Planning Policy
Framework, which also requires such a test to be satisfied prior to
approving development within Flood Zone 3. The Sequential Test
within the Flood Risk Assessment accompanying the application
does not sufficiently demonstrate that there are no reasonably
available alternative sites that may be sequentially preferable to the
application site by virtue of either lesser flood risk and/or an extant
planning permission able to accommodate the quantum of
development proposed. The proposal is therefore contrary to both
policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and Chapter 14 of the NPPF
as a result.

In the absence of a legal agreement or other enforceable
mechanism to secure the delivery and occupation of the proposed
dwelling as a self-build unit, the development fails to meet the
definition and requirements of self-build housing as set out in the
Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended).

Page 174



F/YR25/0739/0

10 H A28

A
e, S

.
3L

10/15/2025, 10:20:58 AM

|:| Fenland District Boundary

1:2,500
0 115 230 460 ft
| ! ! | ! ! |
| ! | ! ! |
0 35 70 140 m

Fenland District Council

Uniform
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁey AC0000815148.
age




€-0QVC-vT-d uequnn Bumesg

LV 1B 00S:L pue 00L:L  :eds

GTOT YdJBe|\  :@ieq

uoSUIqOY SIN PUB dI susipd

(aAnEd1pUI BUADS 39313S pue dzis pue uolsod SuljPemq)
3UIDS 199.1S dAIIBDIPU|
pue ue|d 9IS pasodoud :apiL Sumeiq

Juswdo|aA9( [BIIUDPISDY 23l0id

rd¥ €134 ‘@aysa8puLquied
‘PIaya40D ‘peoy YsIH 9L :aus

[eaoaddy Suiuue|d 104 :anss

uoIsiAaY ?1eq ON

3n°02°s3ueynsuod3ulpjingel|Sue @ oul
3N 02°syue}nsuod>3ulpjingeljSue MmMm
19/0L6Q¥/L0

0.8 P13d - |opOoN
[[MINQ - peOY uiseg - 9ANSUI|[IA

syueynsuo?) Suipjing elSuy
Wi/,
w -

0

00lL:L 9IS

 — e ===y s nn mumn}
ws wt we wz wi 0

*K9AINS 3dueUPIQ 40 uoissiwiad Joud ay3 3noyum
payqiyoad st yed uj Jo sjoym uj uopdnpoday

1961£0001 92UddIT A3AINS 3dURUPIQ *GTOT Sy dseqeiep pue y3ukdod umoud (3)

ue|d aus

uondNJIIsuod
Jspun
Suyjama

. SI94u0D

Suiuiny pue
Bupyied [paeld

paAowal 2q 03 s3uipjing
Bunsixs jo suipno

*399(04d ay3 Joj syueyjnsuod Suipping el8uy Aq pasedaud sjielap pue uonedyads
‘sguimelp 1ay3o Aue yym Suole ‘suopesyidads pue sSuIMeIp S103DBIIU0I-NS
3sijerads pue si9aul3ud JUBAS|R [|B UM UORDUN[UOD Ul peat 3 03 S| SuImelp siy |

-uae ayy 03 payiodads aq pjnoys punoy A>uedaudsip Auy *syJom
J0 JUSWIADUSWIWOD 03 Jolid 91IS UO PIYIBYD g PINOYS S|SA3] PUB SUOISUSWIP ||

‘uoIssiwId U3134M JIDY3 INOYUM djoym Ui 10 1ied
ul paonpoudas aq jou Kew suBisap pue syuswndop ‘sguimelq *Ayadoud Jayy si
sjueynsuo) Suipjing ejduy Aq patedaid syuswndop pue s3uimelp |e uo 1ySiAdod

||

=)

006G:1L 3|edS
wos oy o€ 0t wot 0
9UDDS 19941S SAIBIIPU|
WY/TL€o/bTdAl4 uonedidde
Suiuueld Aq panoidde se
peoy ySiH 941 10|d YL ‘uordnaysuod Japun Sulemg
% N ] N _l\\ L L N L/ N L N
[N N L S (S S ol S il
I
~_ | ~ | ~_| = ~_| = ~_|| = ~_| = ~_| = ~_|
N N N / N v N v N v N v N
E \\ E \\ E \\ // \\ // \\ // \\ // \\ // \\
| 2 2] u L - (- | L L~ I | (- L~ (- |

8314 Ag paie|nhay

sonu é))

Page 176



Agenda Iltem 13

F/YR25/0806/PIP

Applicant: Westfield Farms Manea Agent: Mr R Papworth
Ltd Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd

Land South Of Lavender Mill Close, Fallow Corner Drove, Manea,
Permission in Principle for up to 9 x dwellings
Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to officer
recommendation.

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. This is an application for Permission in Principle (first stage) for up to nine
dwellings on a parcel of agricultural land in the countryside outside of the
existing developed footprint of Manea. There are no material considerations
which outweigh the determination of this application in accordance with the
adopted policies and in line with the NPPF.

1.2. Only matters of location, use of land and amount of development can be
considered at this stage. All matters of detail would be subject to Technical
Details approval if this first stage Permission in Principle were approved.

1.3. With regard to location, the proposal fails to recognise the intrinsic character
and beauty of the countryside and the pattern and character of the
surrounding natural landscape and sporadic built character of the immediate
area to the south of Fallow Corner Drove which is largely open agricultural
land. It would be inconsistent with the core shape of the village and would
appear incongruous both in terms of the landscape character of the area and
in terms of visual appearance. It will inevitably result in an unacceptable
urbanising impact and an adverse impact on the verdant rural character.

1.4. Furthermore, the site lies in an area at high risk of flooding and insufficient
justification has been provided to demonstrate that development of the site is
necessary in this instance having regard to national policy which seeks to
steer development to the lowest area of flood risk in the first instance. As
such, the proposal conflicts with FLP Policy LP14 and Chapter 14 of the
NPPF.

1.5. The application site is approximately 1.7km from the Ouse Washes Site of
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Protection Area (SPA), Special Area
of Conservation (SAC) and Ramsar site and may provide functional land that
is important to the maintenance of populations of Whooper and Bewick’s
swans and other birds within the designation’s assemblage such as Wigeon.
The application is not supported by any ecological evidence and as such
insufficient information has been submitted to inform the required Habitat

Page 177



1.6.

1.7.

1.8.

Regulations Assessment.

The application site is indicated as being in an area of potential deep peat,
and insufficient information has been submitted to verify the actual soll
conditions, as such the application has failed to demonstrate that a
development on this site would not impact deep peat with the potential for
carbon release.

In addition, if the principle of development in this location were acceptable, the
development for up to 9 dwellings does not make efficient use of the land,
contrary to the environmental objectives of Paragraph 8 of the NPPF.

Accordingly, the recommendation is to refuse permission in principle for
residential development of this site.

2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

3.2.

SITE DESCRIPTION

The application site relates to an undeveloped area of Grade 1 agricultural
land, approximately 0.98 hectares in size, situated on the south side of Fallow
Corner Drove, Manea. The site, at the time of inspection, appeared to be in
current agricultural use, with crops apparent. The site itself is open
agricultural land with a drainage channel running along the highway forming
its northern boundary and two further drains forming its eastern and western
boundaries, the land is open to the south. A small number of mature trees are
situated to the northwestern corner, within the highway verge.

Development in the area is predominately concentrated in a linear pattern to
the north side of Fallow Corner Drove only. However, a recent approval for 29
dwellings at the former Lavender Mill site (F/YR23/0423/RM), forming an in-
depth development, is set behind existing frontage development opposite the
site, infilling part of the backland separation between Fallow Corner Drove and
Westfield Road to the northwest.

To the south side of Fallow Corner Drove, development is considerably more
sporadic. This side is dominated by large expanses of agricultural land with
some farm buildings and a very limited number of residential dwellings.

The application site is located entirely within Flood Zone 3.

PROPOSAL

Planning in Principle (PIP) applications are an alternative way of obtaining
planning permission for housing led development and separates the
consideration of matters of principle for proposed development from the
technical detail.

As set down in the Town & Country Planning (Permission in Principle) Order
2017 and Town & Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations
2017, the scope of PIPs (stage 1 of the process) is restricted to consideration
of location, development size and land use. All other matters are ‘reserved’ for
consideration by the stage 2 Technical Details application which may be made
should PIP be granted.

Page 178




3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

3.6.

5.2.

The application is supported by limited details, only committing a location plan;
No indicative plans detailing how the development could be laid out and
appear were provided. A Planning Statement sets out that the development
would comprise two-storey dwellings.

The current proposal is the first part of the Permission in Principle application;
this ‘first stage’ (or Permission in Principle stage) establishes whether a site is
suitable in principle and assesses the ‘principle’ issues namely:

a) Location,

b) Use, and

c) Amount of development proposed

Should this application be successful, the applicant would have to submit a
Technical Details application (stage 2 of the process) covering all other
detailed material planning considerations. The approval of Permission in
Principle alone does not constitute the grant of planning permission.
Technical details consent regarding the proposed properties would need to be
applied for should this application be granted.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY
No available planning history for this site.

CONSULTATIONS

Manea Parish Council

MPC could not support this application:
e Insufficient information

Outside the Manea building envelope.
Flood zone 3

Loss of agricultural land

Lack of drainage detail.

Cambridgeshire County Council Highways Authority

Recommendation

Following a careful review of the documents provided to the Local Highway
Authority as part of the above planning application, no significant adverse
effect upon the public highway should result from this proposal, should it gain
benefit of planning permission.

Comments

This application seeks to establish the principle of development at this location
only. As such, any highways-related requirements cannot be determined at
this stage and will be subject to future planning applications and approvals.

Nevertheless, the submitted documentation demonstrates that appropriate
inter-vehicle visibility splays can be achieved, and that the proposed vehicular
accesses are of a suitable size.

Page 179


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.3.

Given the scale of the proposed development, the applicant will need to
demonstrate how safe and convenient pedestrian access will be provided at
the Technical Details Consent stage. This could be achieved by incorporating
a crossing point to the footway on the northern side of Fallow Corner Drove,
either via the main site access—where the access would be expected to be
designed as a bellmouth junction to accommodate a short section of footway
—or through a standalone pedestrian link located along the site frontage.

Furthermore, at the Technical Details Consent stage, the Local Highway
Authority will expect the proposed access to be designed to ensure that
surface water from the site does not drain onto or across the public highway.
Please note that the use of permeable paving alone does not provide the
Highway Authority with sufficient assurance that surface water will be
adequately managed in the long term. Therefore, physical measures must be
incorporated to prevent such runoff.

Additionally, all vehicular accesses should be constructed using a bound
material for a minimum of 5 metres from the edge of the public highway into
the site. This is to prevent loose material from being carried onto the highway,
which could pose a hazard to road users.

Environment Agency

We have reviewed the documents as submitted and we have no objection to
this permission in principle application. The following flood risk issues and
mitigation measures should be considered and clarified at the technical details
consent stage:

Flood Risk

Our Flood Map for Planning shows the site lies within fluvial Flood Zone 3a,
defined by the 'Planning Practice Guidance: Flood Risk and Coastal Change'
as having a high probability of flooding. The proposal is for Permission in
Principle for up to 9 x dwellings, which is classified as a ‘more vulnerable’
development, as defined in Annex 3:Flood Vulnerability classification of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Flood Risk Assessment

To assist you in making an informed decision about the flood risk affecting this
site, the key points to note from the submitted FRA, referenced
'H10744/MH/mh' and dated 'October 2025’ are:

e Residual breach flood risk depths, velocities, and maximum hazard rating
are not specifically addressed, but our fenland hazard mapping indicates
flood risk depths of 1-2 m (a more site specific breach depth can be
obtained if desired via our products 5-8), and a maximum flood velocity of
0-0.3 m/s, resulting in a maximum hazard rating of danger for most. This
risk should be assessed within the FRA.

e Proposed finished floor levels are currently 1.8 m above existing ground
level.

e (0.6 m of flood resilient construction has been proposed.

e Two storey dwellings are proposed, with no ground floor sleeping.

e Safe access/Egress was not assessed.

Page 180



5.4.

Where our Fenland breach mapping shows flood depths up to 2m, we would
expect finished floor levels to be set above the highest predicted flood depth.
If this is not practicable due to other planning constraints, finished floor levels
should be raised as high as possible and flood resistance and/or resilience
measures should be incorporated up to the maximum flood depth where
appropriate. Please note that flood resistance measures should be
incorporated up to a maximum of 0.6m above finished floor levels due to the
risk of structural damage if the difference between internal and external flood
depths is greater than 0.6m. Where internal flooding is unavoidable, no
ground floor sleeping accommodation should be provided. Flood resilience
measures and the safe access/egress of the development should also be
considered within the FRA.

[..]

Additional comments provided with regard to the sequential test, exception
test, flood warning and emergency response, and other flooding sources with
advice to the applicant — omitted for brevity.

Anglian Water

ASSETS

Section 1 - Assets Affected

New development must comply with Building Regulations and the Water
Industry Act.

Our records show that there are no assets owned by Anglian Water or those
Subject to an adoption agreement within the development site boundary or
affected by the proposals.

It is highly recommended that the applicant carries out a thorough
investigation of the proposed working area to establish whether any
unmapped public or private sewers, lateral drains, or other water infrastructure
assets are in existence. Due to the private sewer transfer in October 2011,
many newly adopted public used water assets and their history are not
indicated on our records. Any encroachment zones should be reflected in the
site layout. The development site may contain private water mains, drains or
other assets not shown on our records. These are private assets and not the
responsibility of Anglian Water but that of the landowner.

WASTEWATER SERVICES

Section 2 - Wastewater Treatment

Please be advised that Anglian Water have no foul sewer infrastructure within
the vicinity of the proposed development. Consequently it is anticipated that
little to no new foul flows will be received by the WRC as a result of this
development.

Section 3 - Used Water Network
Please be advised that there are no public foul sewers within the vicinity of the
proposed development.

Section 4 - Surface Water Disposal
The preferred method of surface water disposal would be to a sustainable
drainage system (SuDS) with connection to sewer seen as the last option.

Page 181



5.5.

5.6.

Building Regulations (part H) on Drainage and Waste Disposal for England
includes a surface water drainage hierarchy, with infiltration on site as the
preferred disposal option, followed by discharge to watercourse and then
connection to a sewer.

Please be advised that there are no public surface water sewers within the
vicinity of the proposed development, and therefore Anglian Water will be
unable to serve the sites surface water disposal requirements. Alternative
methods of surface water disposal will need to be investigated such as
infiltration techniques or a discharge to a watercourse in accordance with the
surface water management hierarchy as outlined in Building Regulations Part
H. The alternative is that a new surface water sewer is constructed which is
used to convey your surface water to a watercourse or as part of a SuDs
scheme, where appropriate. Subject to the sewer being designed in
accordance with the current version of Sewers For Adoption, the sewer can
be put forward for adoption by Anglian Water under Section 104 of the Water
Industry Act 1991. If the outfall is to a watercourse, the applicant will be
required to obtain consent to discharge via the appropriate body. If your site
has no means of drainage due to third party land then you may be able to
requisition Anglian Water, under Section 98, to provide a connection to the
public sewer for domestic drainage purposes. As part of this option, you may
wish to enter into a works agreement in accordance with Section 30 of the
Anglian Water Authority Act 1977. This will allow you to design and construct
the public sewer using Anglian Waters’ statutory powers in accordance with
Section 159/168 of the Water Industry Act 1991.

Natural England
OBJECTION - SITE UNSUITABLE FOR PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE
FURTHER INFORMATION REQUIRED TO DETERMINE IMPACTS

Natural England currently objects to this proposal.

As submitted we consider it could:

e potentially result in the loss or damage of peat soils, against Draft Local
Plan Policy LP26

e have potential significant effects on the Ouse Washes Site of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Protection Area (SPA), Special Area of
Conservation (SAC) and Ramsar site

Further detail is needed to fully assess the environmental impacts of the
proposal and the scope for mitigating adverse impacts. Natural England,
therefore, advises that any development on this site should be considered via
a planning application.

Environment & Health Services (FDC)

The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information
and have 'No Objections' to the proposal, as it is unlikely to have a detrimental
effect on local air quality, be affected by ground contamination or adversely
impact the local amenity due to excessive attificial lighting.

In the event that Permission in Principle (PIP) is granted and a further
application for the site is submitted in the future, owing to the scale of the

Page 182



proposed development and close proximity to existing residents, this service
requests the submission of a robust Construction Environmental Management
Plan (CEMP) in line with the template for developers, available on Fenland
District Council's website at: Construction Environmental Management Plan: A
template for development sites (fenland.gov.uk) The CEMP shall be expected
to include working time restrictions to negate the need for a separate
condition.

5.7. Local Residents/Interested Parties

Objectors
The LPA received 31 letters of objection to the scheme, from a number of

address points as follows:

13 from residents of Fallow Corner Drove, Manea;

1 from a resident of Westfield Rd, Manea;

1 from a resident of School Ln, Manea;

1 from a resident of Wimblington Rd, Doddington; and

A number of additional address points, including Bury St Edmunds,
Walcott, Lairg, Godmanchester, London, Ely, St Ives, Upper Cambourne,
Lower Cambourne, Cambridge, and Waterbeach.

Of the objections received, the following matters were put forward as reasons
for objection:

Objecting Comments Officer Response

o Will spoil the traditional village
feel

e Overdevelopment
e Loss of agricultural land
¢ Loss of countryside character

e Development would set an
undesirable precedent

Matters of the principle of
development, location, use and
amount are discussed in the below

e Development beyond the existing | gssessment.

built form

e Recent development in the area
has mostly been redevelopment
of existing sites or agricultural
dwellings not new builds on
greenfield sites

¢ Infrastructure unable to cope

« Traffic and highway safety
concerns

Matters relating to highway safety,
sustainability and infrastructure are
discussed in the below assessment.

e Concerns over surface water
flooding — claims to often have
standing water on the land

e |n flood zone 3

« Raising floor levels above flood

Matters relating to flood risk and
drainage are discussed in the below
assessment.

Page 183




level is preposterous

Matters relating to ecology and

o Would endanger local wildlife biodiversity are discussed in the
below assessment.

Matters relating to residential
amenity are discussed in the below
assessment.

Loss of view and/or property values
e Loss of view for existing residents | gre not material planning

» Loss of value to nearby properties | considerations and as such are not
discussed in the below assessment.

« Residential amenity concerns
during construction

Supporters
The LPA received 13 letters of support for the scheme. Of these, 2 were

noted to be received from address points outside of the Fenland district. The
remaining 11 were received from address points as follows:

¢ 3 from residents of Fallow Corner Drove, Manea;

2 from residents of High St, Manea;

1 from a resident of Station Rd, Manea;

1 from a resident of Westfield Rd, Manea;

1 from a resident of Williams Way, Manea (with no reasons for support);
1 from a resident of Scholars Cl, Manea,;

1 from a resident of Wisbech Rd, Manea; and

1 from a resident of Straight Rd, Manea.

Of the qualifying letters of support received, the following matters were put
forward as reasons to support the scheme:

Supporting Comments Officer Response

e Will improve the overall quality of
the road — through additional
streetlights, improved drainage,
etc.

e Will fit into the current

development along the Drove Matters of the principle of

¢ Will balance the road with the development, location, use and
development to the north side amount are discussed in the below

e Will not impact views or amenity | @ssessment.
o Will bring new vitality to the

locality and help meet housing
needs

o Will contribute to the local
economy

Page 184



7.2.

7.3.

e Will aid in reducing congestion in | Matters relating to highway safety,

the village centre sustainability and infrastructure are
« Good links to public transport discussed in the below assessment.
¢ Flood mitigation (such as finished | Matters relating to flood risk and
floor level raising) can be drainage are discussed in the below
incorporated assessment.
Representations

The LPA received one letter of representation from a resident of Straight
Road, Manea (also a supporter). This rebutted to comments made within
some published objections regarding claims of standing water, and some
claims relating to the developer’'s motives for submitting the application. It
should be noted that these matters, where material to the application, are
discussed below.

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development
Plan unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The
Development Plan for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted
Fenland Local Plan (2014) and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2021).

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change

Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

Identity

Built Form

Movement

Nature

Homes and Buildings
Resources

Lifespan

Page 185



7.4.

7.5.

7.6.

7.7.

7.8.

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside
LP4 — Housing

LP5 — Meeting Housing Need

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding
LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network
LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments

LP19 — The Natural Environment

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021
Policy 14 - Waste management needs arising from residential and commercial
Development

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD

2014

DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character
of the Area

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

Emerging Local Plan

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between
25th August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be
reviewed and any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the
draft Local Plan. Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is
considered, in accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of
this should carry extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to
this application are policies:

LP1: Settlement Hierarchy

LP2: Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
LP4: Securing Fenland’s Future

LP5: Health and Wellbeing

LP7: Design

LP8: Amenity Provision

LP12: Meeting Housing Needs

LP18: Development in the Countryside
LP19: Strategic Infrastructure

LP22: Parking Provision

LP23: Historic Environment

LP24: Natural Environment

LP25: Biodiversity Net Gain

LP32: Flood and Water Management

KEY ISSUES
e Location
e Use

Page 186



9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

9.5.

e Amount of Development Proposed
« Additional Matters Raised During Consultation

ASSESSMENT

Noting the guidance in place regarding Permission in Principle submissions
assessment must be restricted to (a) location, (b) use and (c) amount and
these items are considered in turn below:

Location

Principle, Form and Character

Generally, the principle of residential development on this site isn't
automatically supported. The land is not allocated for housing in the adopted
Fenland Local Plan (2014), and the Council can currently demonstrate a
healthy housing land supply of 6.6 years. As such, the national "tilted balance"
(set out in paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF) doesn't apply in this case.
Accordingly, there is no automatic presumption in favour of granting
permission. As such, decisions should be based firmly on how well the
proposal aligns with local and national planning policies.

Policy LP3 sets out the spatial strategy, settlement hierarchy, and approach to
elsewhere developments. This is complemented by Policy LP4 which sets out
proposed housing targets for Market Towns and Other Locations. The key
driver of these policies is to ensure that new development is directed towards
the most sustainable locations whilst recognising that smaller settlements will
still need to reflect natural population change and may require additional
development of a much smaller scale to reflect these changes. Since the
Plan was adopted there have been a number of a sites permitted and
completed in other locations dramatically exceeding the anticipated provision
set out in the adopted Plan with no notable improvements to social,
educational and health infrastructure to offset the impacts of development or
increase the overall sustainability of these locations. As such the principal of
additional residential development within 'Other Locations' should not be
automatically accepted.

Manea is classed as a Growth Village, where development and new service
provision either within the existing urban area or as small village extensions
will be appropriate. However, the application site is located outside of the built
form of the settlement of Manea on the southern side of Fallow Corner Drove.
The built form of the settlement of Manea extends along the northern side of
Fallow Corner Drove, however the south remains largely undeveloped.

Thus, whilst the site is in close proximity to the settlement of Manea, the site
being located in open countryside on the southern side of Fallow Corner
Drove is considered an elsewhere location. Policy LP3 and the settlement
hierarchy note that an ‘Elsewhere’ location will be restricted to development
that is demonstrably essential to the effective operation of local agriculture,
horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation, transport or utility services. The
application does not include any information to suggest it is related to any of
the exceptions outlined by LP3.

Page 187



9.6. The current Local Plan does not rely on defined settlement boundaries but
rather requires a physical assessment to be made to determine whether or not
a site is within a village for the purposes of Policy LP12. Policy LP12
identifies that to receive support, the site must be in or adjacent to the existing
developed footprint of the village, defined as the continuous built form of the
vilage and excludes individual buildings and groups of dispersed, or
intermittent buildings, that are clearly detached from the continuous built-up
area of the settlement.

9.7. Policy LP12 Part A also requires sites to satisfy additional criteria, including:
(c) It would not have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of
the surrounding countryside and farmland and (d) is of a scale and in a
location that is in keeping with the core shape and form of the settlement.

9.8. In addition, Policy LP16 (d) refers to development making a positive impact to
local distinctiveness and the character of the area and amongst other things
should not have an adverse impact on landscape character. It is also a core
planning principle in the NPPF that recognises the intrinsic value of the
countryside therefore consideration needs to be given to any harm caused.

9.9. The application site is located on the southern side of Fallow Corner Drove
outside of the built form of the settlement of Manea which extends along the
northern side. It is apparent therefore that development of the application site
would clearly constitute the extension of the settlement limit onto greenfield
land in the open countryside. The majority of the surrounding area on the
south side of Fallow Corner Drove is agricultural in use and clearly rural in
nature. Accordingly, the proposal would see residential development in
currently undeveloped agricultural land, which would result in an unacceptable
incursion into the open countryside. It would therefore have a significant
detrimental impact on the rural character of the south side of the road. As
such, it is considered that the proposal is contrary to Policy LP12 Part A (c).
Furthermore, given that the site is divorced from the main built form of Manea
that sits to the north side, it is considered that the location of the proposal is
not in keeping with the core shape and form of the settlement, contrary to
Policy LP12 Part A (d).

9.10. The application site constitutes an area of land located outside the developed
footprint of Manea. Development of this site would not respect the rural
character or settlement pattern of the village, it would result in an
unacceptable urbanisation and set a precedent for future development, further
eroding the open character of this area. As such, the proposal is considered
contrary to Policy LP12 Part A (c) and (d) which seek to ensure development
would not have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of the
surrounding countryside and respects the core shape of the settlement.
Furthermore, the scheme is considered contrary to Policy LP16 (d) of the
Fenland Local Plan and Policy DM3 of Delivering and Protecting High Quality
Environments in Fenland SPD, by virtue of the unacceptable character
impact.

Flood Risk

9.11. Another pertinent requirement is to ensure that development is located in
areas of lowest flood risk.

Page 188



9.12. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and chapter 14 of the National
Planning Policy Framework set out the policy approach towards development
in areas of flood risk. Policy LP14 states that all development proposals
should adopt a sequential approach to flood risk from all forms of flooding and
development in areas known to be at risk from any form of flooding will only
be permitted following:

(a) the successful completion of a sequential test, having regard to actual and
residual flood risks

(b) an exception test (if necessary),

(c) the suitable demonstration of meeting an identified need, and

(d) through the submission of a site-specific flood risk assessment,
demonstrating appropriate flood risk management and safety measures
and a positive approach to reducing flood risk overall, and without reliance
on emergency services.

9.13. National planning policy includes an over-arching principle in the Framework
that development should be directed away from areas at highest risk of
flooding. To that end, a sequential, risk-based approach is to be taken to
individual applications in areas known to be at risk now or in the future from
flooding. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) confirms that this means
avoiding, so far as possible, development in current and future medium and
high flood risk areas. The PPG furthermore confirms that the underlying
purpose includes placing the least reliance on measures like flood defences,
flood warnings and property level resilience features. Therefore, even where a
flood risk assessment shows the development can be made safe throughout
its lifetime without increasing risk elsewhere, the Sequential Test still needs to
be satisfied.

Sequential Test

9.14. ltis for the decision-maker to consider whether the Sequential Test is passed,
with reference to information held on land availability and an appropriate area
of search. The latter should be determined by the planning authority.
Accordingly, clarification on the LPA’s expected area of search for a
sequential test is now provided on the Council’'s website, which states:

“‘Applicants must define and justify an appropriate area of search when
preparing the Sequential Test. The extent of this area will depend on the
location and role of the settlement, as well as the type and scale of
development proposed:

e For developments within or adjacent to Market Towns and Growth
Villages, the area of search will normally be limited to land within or
adjacent to the settlement in which the development is proposed.

e For all other locations — including Limited Growth, Small and Other
Villages, or Elsewhere Locations — the area of search will normally be
expected to be district-wide.

To pass the Sequential Test, applicants must demonstrate that there are no
reasonably available sites, within the defined search area, with a lower

Page 189



probability of flooding that could accommodate the proposed development. A
poorly defined or unjustified area of search may result in the Sequential Test
being considered invalid.”

9.15. The application includes a Sequential and Exception Test report (dated 13
October 2025) which focuses the area of search on the settlement of Manea.
However, as discussed above, the application site is located outside of the
built form of the settlement of Manea on the southern side of Fallow Corner
Drove in the open countryside, and thus is considered an elsewhere location.
The above is clear that the area of search for sites within elsewhere locations
over which a Sequential Test should be applied will normally be based on a
district wide search area, unless it can be demonstrated that there is a
particular need for the development in that location.

9.16. The application is not supported by any evidence to justify the need for
development in this location and accordingly does not qualify for any variation
to the required area of search.

9.17. The Council is able to demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, and there
remain sites identified as suitable for development in the Local Plan that do
not currently benefit from planning permission. It would, therefore, be
reasonable to conclude that on the basis of district wide search, there will be
other reasonably available sites in Flood Zones 1 and 2 to accommodate 9
dwellings. As such, it is considered that the Sequential Test is failed.

9.18. Notwithstanding the above, if, as set out in the above area of search
guidance, Manea, as a Growth Village, was considered the appropriate area
of search in this case, the Sequential Test would remain failed. The submitted
Sequential Test concludes that there are no reasonably available sites to
accommodate the development in an area of lesser flood risk within Manea.
The Sequential Test considers a number of sites, however the reason for
discounting some are given as “Small estate style development so not
comparable” or “This is a single bungalow not a two-storey house” and
therefore relies on the fact that different types/styles of developments on sites
with a lower risk of flooding are not comparable. However, it must be
considered that this stage 1 Permission in Principle application is merely
focused on establishing whether a site is suitable in principle as such details
such as whether dwellings are single or two storey or configured in an estate
layout are immaterial to this application, as such details are not committed at
this stage. Matters relating to the quantum of units as in some discounted
sites within the submitted Sequential Test are also immaterial, as the PPG
makes clear that ‘reasonably available’ sites are not limited to single plots,
and may include part of a larger site if it is capable of accommodating the
proposed development, as well as smaller sites that, individually or
collectively, could meet the development requirement. Furthermore, sites do
not need to be in the ownership of the applicant to be considered ‘reasonably
available’.

9.19. Accordingly, in either case, it is considered that insufficient assessment has
been undertaken and inadequate information submitted to demonstrate that it
is not possible for the development to be located on a site with a lower risk of
flooding when considering reasonably available sites within the wider district

Page 190



or Manea specifically. On this basis, it is considered that the proposal is not
in accordance with Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan, 2014, and Chapter
14 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 2024.

Exception Test

9.20. Notwithstanding the failure of the sequential test, had this been deemed as
passed it would then be necessary for the application to pass the Exception
Test, which comprises of demonstration of the following:

(a) the development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the
community that outweigh the flood risk; and

(b) the development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the
vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and
where possible, will reduce flood risk overall.

9.21. In respect of (a); In order to pass the Exception Test the proposal must
provide wider sustainability benefits i.e., beyond merely the application site,
for the community. Examples of benefits beyond the application site may
include:

¢ Visually enhance a site to the benefit of the character of an area;

¢ Link development to existing services and facilities bringing communities
together sustainably;

¢ Relocate an existing use closer to existing public transport hubs, thus
reducing the amount of traffic on the road; or

e Providing community facilities

All these examples would likely provide some benefit to the community
beyond the application site.

9.22. To address the exception test, the application includes the following
proposals:

(1) The proposal will incorporate air source heat pumps and solar panels to
the roofs which will be ideal as the rear-view properties will be south
facing.

(2) Itis expected that the dwellings would be a minimum of B EPC rating.

(3) The proposals would comply with Building Regulations.

(4) With this proposal, within the red line the highway verge is shown as the
proposal is to widen out the road or provide a layby at this point, which
would be for the benefit of users of Fallow Corner Drove.

9.23. The application, as a stage 1 Permission in Principle, does not commit details
in respect of (1) — (3) above. However, it is acknowledged that should these
elements come forward within the Technical Details stage, these may
contribute to renewable energy usage in line with the sustainability objectives
of the NPPF. Considering item (4), whilst it is acknowledged that the localised
widening of the highway and provision of a layby could be considered a wider
public benefit and thus address the exception test, it may be such that the
Technical Details proposal would likely result in a requirement to provide
localised widening, a layby and/or a suitable footway as part of the
development proposals in any case by the Highways Authority, as stated

Page 191



within their submitted comments in response to this application. Therefore,
this provision cannot be considered to address wider public benefit as
required by the exception test, as this ‘benefit would be a standard
requirement for development of this scale.

9.24. In respect of part (b) of the Exception Test; The inclusion of flood mitigation
measures including raised finished floor levels, flood resilient construction
measures within the proposal are highlighted within the flood risk assessment
technically address the need for safety in times of flooding at the site, and as
such would likely satisfy the Exception Test in this regard. However,
notwithstanding the Environment Agency’s position on this matter, officers
retain concern that the implementation of these measures, such as raising
FFLS to 1.8m above existing site level may generate material character and
amenity concerns which cannot be addressed until the Technical Details
Consent stage of the application process.

Drainage

9.25. Foul water capacity and surface water flood risk concerns have been
expressed by residents with comments that site is often waterlogged and local
infrastructure may not be capable of supporting the development. Manea
continues to experience ongoing issues with surface water drainage and
sewage system capacity at Manea WRC. However, the application site
specifically is predominately within an area of low surface water flooding risk
on the Environment Agency Surface Water Flood Risk Maps, and comments
from Anglian Water note that there is no foul water infrastructure in the area
and that as a result it is anticipated that no new foul flows will be received by
Manea WRC as a result of the development. Notwithstanding, matters of
surface and foul water disposal will be reserved for consideration within any
forthcoming Technical Details application.

Ecological impacts of location

9.26. The application site is approximately 1.7km from the Ouse Washes Site of
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Protection Area (SPA), Special Area
of Conservation (SAC) and Ramsar site. The development triggers Natural
England’s ‘Goose & Swan Functional Land’ Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) for the
Ouse Washes due to the potential for surrounding agricultural land to provide
important winter roosting and foraging habitat for Ouse Washes qualifying bird
species. Suitable arable / grassland habitat, particularly in such close
proximity to the internationally designated sites, may provide functional land
that is important to the maintenance of populations of Whooper and Bewick’s
swans and other birds within the designation’s assemblage such as Wigeon.
The application is not supported by any ecological evidence and as such
insufficient information has been submitted to inform the Habitat Regulations
Assessment ‘likely significant effect’ screening and the proposal is considered
contrary to Policies LP16 (b) and LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and
Paragraph 187 of the NPPF 2024.

9.27. Furthermore, Natural England’s high level indicative mapping shows that the
application site is located in an area of potential deep peat, and as such they
advise that an Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) survey should be
undertaken to verify the actual soil conditions and enable consideration of the

Page 192



sustainable use and management of peat soils, to ensure their protection and
minimise production of carbon emissions through their loss and degradation.
Natural England’s advice is that new development should avoid peat soils to
leave this important carbon sink intact and prevent release of CO2 and/or
methane into the atmosphere. Chapter 11 of the NPPF seeks to safeguard
land for carbon storage and Chapter 14 of the NPPF and the aims of Policy
LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan seek to avoid carbon emissions in order to
mitigate against climate change. The application has not been accompanied
by an ALC survey and as such has failed to demonstrate that a development
on this site would not impact deep peat with the potential for carbon release,
contrary to the aforementioned policies.

Location Conclusion

9.28. The above assessment considers the application site for the development of
up to 9 dwellings on an area of land located outside the developed footprint of
Manea, resulting in unacceptable incursion into the open countryside, harm to
the rural character, is positioned in an area of highest flood risk and in an area
where Habitat Regulations Assessment ‘likely significant effect’ screening and
Agricultural Land Classification surveys are required. Thus, the location of the
scheme is considered contrary to Policies LP3, LP12, LP14, LP16 and LP19
and thus Permission in Principle should be refused on this basis.

Use

9.29. Policy LP12 (i) states that development should not result in the loss of high-
grade agricultural land or if so, comprehensive evidence is provided to justify
the loss.

9.30. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states that decisions should recognise the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside.... including the economic
benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Grades 1, 2 and 3a
agricultural land fall within this category. The application site is Grade 1
agricultural land. It should be noted that at the time of site inspection it was
clear that this land is in viable agricultural use. No justification was provided
in respect of the loss of such land.

9.31. A large proportion of agricultural land in Fenland District is best and most
versatile land. There is insufficient information upon which to assess what the
loss the land might mean for the district as a whole. However, the Council has
rarely refused applications by virtue of the loss of agricultural land, given the
quantity of such land within the district. It is therefore considered
unreasonable to justify a reason for refusal on this basis.

9.32. Considering the land use in relation to surrounding land uses, the use of the
land for residential purposes, in principle, would not give rise to unacceptable
impacts on surrounding residents by reason or noise or disturbance or vice
versa.

Amount of Development Proposed

9.33. The application seeks Permission in Principle for up to 9no dwellings on a site
of approximately 0.98ha which would equate to a density of approximately 10
dwellings per hectare, if the full quantum was advanced. Although no site
plan has been submitted, it is considered that this is not efficient use of land.

Page 193



Policies LP12 (c) and (d) and LP16 (d) require development respond to the
local character and paragraphs 129 set out the need for development to
achieve appropriate densities, with paragraph 130 c) stating local planning
authorities should refuse applications which they consider fail to make efficient
use of land, considering the policies in the Framework.

9.34. Densities vary within the local area from the frontage development of Fallow
Corner Drove and Westfield Road, and the in-depth development of the
former Lavender Mill site; however, in each of these areas, densities are more
akin to those typically found within growth villages such as Manea.
Notwithstanding its comparably more rural location than the development to
the north and taking aside that this location is unacceptable for residential
development in principle (as set out above), if this land were to be developed
it would not amount to efficient use of land when compared with adjacent
residential development.

9.35. One of the three overarching objectives that the planning system has is
achieving sustainable development. Set out in paragraph 8 of the NPPF is an
environmental objective which includes making efficient use of land. This ties
with the economic objective of ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is
available in the right places at the right time to support growth (it has already
been set out in the report above that this is not the right land in the right
location and is not needed to support growth).

9.36. Efficient use of land and proper planning including good layouts ensure that
the wider environmental objectives set out in paragraph 8 e.g. improving
biodiversity, using natural resources prudently (best agricultural land is a
natural resource), minimising waste and adapting to climate change are
maximised. Piecemeal development, inefficient use of land and developments
not in accordance with the adopted development plan are individually and
cumulatively counter to these aims. The NPPF defines sustainable
development as development that accords with an up-to-date development
plan. It follows that development not in accordance with adopted policies is
most likely to be unsustainable development and this is considered the case
here.

9.37. In this instance, whilst a lower-than-average density would be more in keeping
with its countryside setting, a development of up to 9 houses on a parcel of
land of this size resulting in a density of approximately 10 dwellings per
hectare is not making efficient use of land and therefore the amount of
development proposed is unacceptable and contrary to paragraph 8 of the
NPPF.

Additional Matters Raised During Consultation

9.38. Highway safety — No objection was raised by the highways authority in
respect of the principle of development for residential use. Notwithstanding,
details regarding safe and convenient access would need to be fully
reconciled at the Technical Details stage to ensure the scheme complies with
Policy LP15.

Page 194



9.39. Impact on biodiversity/BNG — The LPA duty under Section 40 of the Natural
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 as amended, has been
considered and comments received in public consultation and from Natural
England are addressed elsewhere.

In relation to more general ecological issues, such information could be
submitted at the Technical Details stage (if this first stage were successful)
and considered then, consulted upon and the decision, including potential
refusal or conditions, should be based upon the findings of said ecological
information.

If this stage of Permission in Principle were successful, it would not therefore
prevent proper consideration of ecological issues at the next stage and it
would not alter duties of landowners/developers to comply with other
legislation such as the Wildlife and Countryside Act in the meantime.

The grant of permission in principle is not within the scope of biodiversity net
gain (as it is not a grant of planning permission), but the subsequent
Technical Details consent (as a grant of planning permission) would be
subject to the biodiversity gain condition, unless appropriate exemptions were

to apply.

9.40. Residential Amenity — Some public comments received raise matters of
impacts to residential amenity; however, these are matters that could only be
determined at the Technical Details stage. It should also be noted that
disturbance during construction, the devaluation of properties and the loss of
views are not matters attributed material planning weight.

9.41. Other matters — Comments have been received that new housing will create
temporary employment and contribute to the local economy. This is not a
material planning consideration. Some comments points to the national
housing shortage, however it is not role of the Local Planning Authority to
address under provision elsewhere in the country when Fenland District
exceeds its five-year Housing Land Supply with a total of 6.6 years provision.

10 CONCLUSIONS
10.1. As indicated above it is only location, use and amount of development that
may be considered at the first ‘permission in principle stage’.

10.2. The above assessment considers that the location of the site for residential
development is unacceptable due to the conflict with the settlement hierarchy
of the Local Plan and unacceptable incursion of urbanisation into the open
countryside, contrary to Policies LP3, LP12, and LP16. In addition, the site
lies entirely within in Flood Zone 3; Policy LP12 Part A (j) seeks to ensure that
developments would not put people or property in dangers from identified
risks, such as flooding. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and Chapter
14 of the NPPF seek to steer developments to the areas with the least
probability of flooding and development will not be permitted if there are
reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas
with a lower risk of flooding.

Page 195



10.3.

10.4.

10.5.

11

The application site is approximately 1.7km from the Ouse Washes Site of
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Protection Area (SPA), Special Area
of Conservation (SAC) and Ramsar site and may provide functional land that
is important to the maintenance of populations of Whooper and Bewick’s
swans and other birds within the designation’s assemblage such as Wigeon.
The application is not supported by any ecological evidence and as such
insufficient information has been submitted to inform the required Habitat
Regulations Assessment.

The application site is indicated as being in an area of potential deep peat,
and insufficient information has been submitted to verify the actual soil
conditions, as such the application has failed to demonstrate that a
development on this site would not impact deep peat with the potential for
carbon release.

Furthermore, it is considered that the amount of development proposed does

not constitute an effective use of land and is contrary to paragraph 8 of the
NPPF.

RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; Permission in Principle for the following reasons:

1 Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) sets out the settlement
hierarchy within the district, and Policy LP12 details a range of criteria
against which development within the District will be assessed. The
site is considered an ‘elsewhere’ location where development should
be restricted to that which is essential for agriculture, horticulture,
forestry, outdoor recreation, transport or utility services and to
minerals or waste development. The proposed development is
located in existing agricultural land outside the settlement limits of
Manea, where residential development is not normally supported
unless justified. The application does not include any evidence to a
clear link to rural enterprise and hence does not demonstrate an
essential need for development in this location. Thus, the proposal
therefore fails to comply with Policies LP3 and LP12 of the Fenland
Local Plan 2014 and in terms of location and use, the Planning in
Principle application fails.

2 Policy LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to ensure that
development does not result in an adverse impact on the character
and appearance of the surrounding countryside and Policy LP16 (d)
of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) requires development to deliver and
protect high quality environments specifying that development should
make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and character
of the area. The development of this site for up to nine dwellings fails
to recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and
the pattern and character of the surrounding natural landscape and
sporadic built character of the immediate area to the south of Fallow
Corner Drove which is largely open agricultural land. It would be

inconsistent with the core shape of the village and would appear

Page 196




incongruous both in terms of the landscape character of the area and
in terms of visual appearance. As such the proposal is contrary to
Policies LP12 A (c), and (d), LP16 and paragraphs 135 and 187 of the
NPPF and in terms of location and use, the Planning in Principle
application fails.

The site lies entirely within in Flood Zone 3; Policy LP12 Part A (j)
seeks to ensure that developments would not put people or property
in dangers from identified risks, such as flooding. Policy LP14 of the
Fenland Local Plan and Chapter 14 of the NPPF seek to steer
developments to the areas with the least probability of flooding and
development will not be permitted if there are reasonably available
sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a lower
risk of flooding.

The application is not accompanied by a substantive sequential test
and as such insufficient assessment has been undertaken and
inadequate information submitted to demonstrate that it is not
possible for the development to be located on a site with a lower risk
of flooding and as such the development is contrary to the
aforementioned policies.

The application site is approximately 1.7km from the Ouse Washes
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Protection Area
(SPA), Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Ramsar site. The
development triggers Natural England’s ‘Goose & Swan Functional
Land’ Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) for the Ouse Washes due to the
potential for surrounding agricultural land to provide important winter
roosting and foraging habitat for Ouse Washes qualifying bird
species. Suitable arable / grassland habitat, particularly in such close
proximity to the internationally designated sites, may provide
functional land that is important to the maintenance of populations of
Whooper and Bewick’s swans and other birds within the designation’s
assemblage such as Wigeon. The application is not supported by any
ecological evidence and as such insufficient information has been
submitted to inform the Habitat Regulations Assessment ‘likely
significant effect’ screening and the proposal is considered contrary to
Policies LP16 (b) and LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and
Paragraph 187 of the NPPF 2024.

Natural England’s high level indicative mapping shows that the
application site is located in an area of potential deep peat, and as
such an Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) survey is required to
verify the actual soil conditions and enable consideration of the
sustainable use and management of peat soils, to ensure their
protection and minimise production of carbon emissions through their
loss and degradation.

Chapter 11 of the NPPF seeks to safeguard land for carbon storage
and Chapter 14 of the NPPF and the aims of Policy LP14 of the
Fenland Local Plan seek to avoid carbon emissions in order to

Page 197



mitigate against climate change. The application has not been
accompanied by an ALC survey and as such has failed to
demonstrate that a development on this site would not impact deep
peat with the potential for carbon release, contrary to the
aforementioned policies.

If the principle of residential development on this site were acceptable
in terms of location and use of land, development of up to 9 dwellings
would not make efficient use of the land and as such would not
constitute sustainable development in accordance with paragraph 8 of
the NPPF, and thus, in terms of amount of development proposed,
the Planning in Principle application fails.

Page 198



F/YR25/0806/PIP

LP-

n

10/29/2025, 11:01:39 AM 1:2,500
0 115 230 460 ft
| ! ! | ! ! ! |
I T T T T 1
[:] Fenland District Boundary 0 35 70 140 m

Fenland District Council

Uniform
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance SuBeéACOOO 815148.
ge




00z abed

Fen View Millside

2.4m x 43m VISIBILITY
SPLAY ALL WITHIN THE
HIGHWAY VERGE

2.4m x 43m V
HIGHWAY VERGE

—_—
—_——
—
—
—_—
——

—_——
———
—

Coolruss
Lodge

Lavender Mill
Bungalow

Hadleigh

ISIBILITY

SPLAY ALL WITHIN THE

Saffrons

| appropriate, BS or EC marks.

Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work
starts or materials are ordered. Do not scale, if in doubt
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and
specification. All work to be in accordance with

good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the
recommendations define the quality of the finished work.
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where

All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and
forward to the Engineer

|

SITE AREA LESS THAN 1Ha

S
PROPOSED SITE PLAN

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2025. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

INDICATIVE 1:200

APPLICATION SITE

A | DRAWING UPDATED OCT 25

REVISIONS DATE

CONSULTING STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS \

1 Gordon Avenue, Tel: 01354 655454
March, Fax: 01354 660467

Cqmbridgeshire. E—mail: info®mortonandhall.co.uk
PE15 8AJ Website: www.mortonconsultingenginesrs.co.uk
Fenland District Council
-t o ot age
LABC LABC

1102 8 6002
Y3INNIM AHODILVD

’ Building
Design Awards ‘

Building Excellence in Fenland

CLIENT

Westfield Farms (Manea)
Ltd

PROJECT

Land South of
Fallow Corner Drove
Manea

Cambridgeshire PE15 OLT

TITLE

Proposed Site Plan
INDICATIVE

DRAWN M.H DATE OF ISSUE
CHECKED

DATE Oct 2025 DRAWING NUMBER

ST 1200 ot A0 H10744/02



AutoCAD SHX Text_2163
PROPOSED SITE PLAN INDICATIVE 1:200

AutoCAD SHX Text_2164
APPLICATION SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2165
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2166
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2167
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2168
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2169
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2170
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2171
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_2172
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_2173
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2174
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2175
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2176
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2177
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_2178
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_2179
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2180
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_2181
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2182
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_2183
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2184
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2185
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2186
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2187
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2188
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2189
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2190
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_2191
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2192
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_2193
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_2194
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2195
starts or materials are ordered. Do not scale, if in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2196
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_2197
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2198
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_2199
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2200
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2201
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2202
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_2203
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_2204
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2205
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_2206
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2207
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_2208
Westfield Farms (Manea) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2209
Ltd

AutoCAD SHX Text_2210
Land South of

AutoCAD SHX Text_2211
Fallow Corner Drove

AutoCAD SHX Text_2212
Manea

AutoCAD SHX Text_2213
Cambridgeshire PE15 0LT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2214
Proposed Site Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_2215
INDICATIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2216
M.H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2217
Oct 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_2218
1:200 at A0

AutoCAD SHX Text_2219
H10744/02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2220
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2221
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2222
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2223
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2224
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2225
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2226
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_2227
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_2228
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2229
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2230
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2231
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2232
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_2233
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_2234
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2235
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_2236
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2237
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_2238
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2239
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2240
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2241
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2242
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2243
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2244
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2245
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_2246
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2247
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_2248
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_2249
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2250
starts or materials are ordered. Do not scale, if in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2251
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_2252
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2253
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_2254
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2255
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2256
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2257
Westfield Farms (Manea) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2258
Ltd

AutoCAD SHX Text_2259
Land South of

AutoCAD SHX Text_2260
Fallow Corner Drove

AutoCAD SHX Text_2261
Manea

AutoCAD SHX Text_2262
Cambridgeshire PE15 0LT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2263
Proposed Site Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_2264
INDICATIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2265
M.H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2266
Oct 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_2267
1:200 at A0

AutoCAD SHX Text_2268
H10744/02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2269
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_2270
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_2271
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_2272
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_2273
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2274
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2275
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2276
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2277
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2278
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2279
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_2280
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_2281
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2282
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2283
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2284
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2285
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_2286
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_2287
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2288
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_2289
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2290
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_2291
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2292
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2293
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2294
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2295
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2296
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2297
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2298
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_2299
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2300
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_2301
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_2302
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2303
starts or materials are ordered. Do not scale, if in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2304
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_2305
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2306
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_2307
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2308
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2309
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2310
Westfield Farms (Manea) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2311
Ltd

AutoCAD SHX Text_2312
Land South of

AutoCAD SHX Text_2313
Fallow Corner Drove

AutoCAD SHX Text_2314
Manea

AutoCAD SHX Text_2315
Cambridgeshire PE15 0LT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2316
Proposed Site Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_2317
INDICATIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2318
M.H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2319
Oct 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_2320
1:200 at A0

AutoCAD SHX Text_2321
H10744/02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2322
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_2323
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_2324
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_2325
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_2326
2.4m x 43m VISIBILITY SPLAY ALL WITHIN THE HIGHWAY VERGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2327
2.4m x 43m VISIBILITY SPLAY ALL WITHIN THE HIGHWAY VERGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2328
10.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2329
6.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2330
DRAWING UPDATED

AutoCAD SHX Text_2331
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_2332
OCT 25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2333
A


Agenda Iltem 14

F/YR25/0802/PIP

Applicant: McDermott Residential Agent: Mr R Papworth
Property Limited Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd

Land North West Of 176 High Road Accessed From, Hassock Hill Drove,
Gorefield, Cambridgeshire

Permission in principle for 9 x dwellings
Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to Officer
recommendation.

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1.  This is an application for Permission in Principle (first stage) for up to nine
dwellings on a parcel of agricultural land in the countryside outside of the
existing developed footprint of Gorefield. There are no material
considerations which outweigh the determination of this application in
accordance with the adopted policies and in line with the NPPF.

1.2.  Only matters of location, use of land and amount of development can be
considered at this stage. All matters of detail would be subject to Technical
Details approval if this first stage Permission in Principle were approved.

1.3.  With regard to location, the proposal fails to recognise the intrinsic character
and beauty of the countryside and the pattern and character of the
surrounding natural landscape and sporadic built character of the immediate
area of Hassock Hill Drove which is largely open agricultural land. It would
be inconsistent with the core shape of the village, conflicting with the
settlement hierarchy of the Local Plan, and would appear incongruous both
in terms of the landscape character of the area and in terms of visual
appearance. It will inevitably result in an unacceptable urbanising impact
and an adverse impact on the verdant rural character.

1.4. Furthermore, the site lies in an area at high risk of flooding and insufficient
justification has been provided to demonstrate that development of the site is
necessary in this instance having regard to national policy which seeks to
steer development to the lowest area of flood risk in the first instance. As
such, the proposal conflicts with FLP Policy LP14 and Chapter 14 of the
NPPF.

1.5. In addition, if the principle of development in this location were acceptable,
the development for up to 9 dwellings would result in overdevelopment,
contrary to the environmental objectives of Paragraph 8 of the NPPF.

1.6. Accordingly, the recommendation is to refuse permission in principle for
residential development of this site.

Page 201



2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

3.2.

3.3.

SITE DESCRIPTION

The application site is located to the east side of Hassock Hill Drove, Gorefield
approximately 75m from its crossroad junction with High Road, Decoy Road
and Allen’s Drove and comprises a grassland agricultural field with vegetated
boundaries to the north and east. A mix of post and wire fence and vegetation
extend along the Hassock Hill Drove frontage. Opposite the site, on the
western side of Hassock Hill Drove, is an apple orchard, likely associated with
Newling Fruitgrowers, whose commercial premises is located to the south
side of High Road.

To the south of the site, fronting High Road, is a development of 5 dwellings,
in various stages of construction, approved under F/YR23/0548/0O, the
northernmost boundary of which backs onto the application site. This
development appears to create the boundary of the edge of the main
settlement of Gorefield, as defined under LP12, which progresses eastward
along High Road into the village centre with development flanking both sides
of the road.

Approximately 26m to the north of the site, separated by a line of mature trees
and an area of garden land is a dwelling and annexe known as Swan Lodge.
Beyond this, development becomes more sporadic with a cluster of four
dwellings and a small commercial premises set approximately 130m north the
development site on the eastern side of Hassock Hill Drove. On its western
side, development is minimal, with large swathes of agricultural land apparent.
Similarly to the southwest, residential development becomes more
widespread as you progress west along Decoy Road.

The site is entirely within Flood Zone 3, the area of highest risk.

PROPOSAL

Planning in Principle (PIP) applications are an alternative way of obtaining
planning permission for housing led development and separates the
consideration of matters of principle for proposed development from the
technical detail.

As set down in the Town & Country Planning (Permission in Principle) Order
2017 and Town & Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations
2017, the scope of PIPs (stage 1 of the process) is restricted to consideration
of location, development size and land use. All other matters are ‘reserved’ for
consideration by the stage 2 Technical Details application which may be made
should PIP be granted.

Although not a requirement of a PIP application, the application is supported
by an indicative site plan and street scenes, showing four dwellings situated in
a frontage arrangement on Hassock Hill Drove, with five smaller dwellings set
behind. The site plan indicates shared access via a single access from the
public highway leading to shared driveways and parking areas for each of the
dwellings. Parking and turning is shown to the front of the dwellings with
garden space to the rear. The street scene depicts the frontage dwellings as

Page 202



3.4.

3.5.

3.6.

various sizes, but each with two storeys, some with attached garages and
some without.

The current proposal is the first part of the Permission in Principle application;
this ‘first stage’ (or Permission in Principle stage) establishes whether a site is
suitable in principle and assesses the ‘principle’ issues namely:

a) Location,

b) Use, and

c) Amount of development proposed

Should this application be successful, the applicant would have to submit a
Technical Details application (stage 2 of the process) covering all other
detailed material planning considerations. The approval of Permission in
Principle alone does not constitute the grant of planning permission.
Technical details consent regarding the proposed properties would need to be
applied for should this application be granted.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY
The application site specifically has no pertinent planning history; the below
table outlines details of the history of the land to the south.

Details reserved by Condition 03
(Materials) of planning permission
F/YR25/3073/COND F/YR24/0960/RM (Plot 1 only) pursuant to

outline permission F/YR23/0548/0
Land West of 176 High Road, Gorefield

Approved
15.08.2025

Reserved Matters application relating to

detailed matters of access, appearance,

landscaping, layout and scale (Plot 1 Approved
FIYR24/0960/RM only) pursuant to outline permission 06.06.2025

F/YR23/0548/0
Land West of 176 High Road, Gorefield

Reserved Matters application relating to

detailed matters of access, appearance,

landscaping, layout and scale (Plot 4 Approved
FIYR24/0832/RM only) pursuant to outline permission 05.06.2025

F/YR23/0548/0
Land West of 176 High Road, Gorefield

Erect up to 5 x dwellings (outline
F/YR23/0548/0 application with all matters reserved) and  Granted

the formation of 5 x accesses 25.08.2023
Land West of 176 High Road, Gorefield

CONSULTATIONS
Gorefield Parish Council
Gorefield Parish Council does not support this application.

It is in Flood Zone 3 and it always lays very wet after rain

Page 203


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.2.

5.3.

The access is onto Hassockhill Drove which is a very narrow country road
which also has very poor visibility at the junction with High Road

It is development in the open countryside
It appears to be over development.

Gorefield Parish Council has always been against development in this area
but were over ruled by the planning committee when the front part of the site
was developed.

The applicant has been currying favour of the Parish Councillors to support
this application. He has also been contacting local residents who have been
complaining about this to the Parish Council.

Cambridgeshire County Council Highways Authority

Recommendation

After a review of the submitted information the highways authority objects to
this application and would recommend refusal on the grounds of highways
safety.

Comments

The applicant has proposed a new junction on to Hassock Hill Drove. This
section of road has a 60mph speed limit and the shown achievable visibility
plays to the north at only 2.4m x 79m which is below the required length of
2.4m x 2156m. There has been no speed traffic survey information to
demonstrate that these can be reduced in line with the DMRB guidance. |
would also add that there is no current footway network in the area for the
future residences of this site to access any local amenities therefore making
this site only safely accessible by vehicles, from the perspective of the local
highways authority.

Environment Agency

We have reviewed the documents as submitted and we have no objection to
this planning application. Further information on Flood Risk can be found
below.

Flood Risk

We highly recommend the development be carried out in accordance with the
submitted flood risk assessment (Ref: ECL1646/MORTON & HALL
CONSULTING ; dated October 2025; submitted by Ellingham consulting LTD.
and the following mitigation measures it details:

e Finished floor levels shall be set 0.3m above existing ground level
e Flood Resilient Construction to 0.3m above Finished Floor Levels

These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and
subsequently in accordance with the scheme's timing/ phasing arrangements.
The measures detailed above shall be retained and maintained thereafter
throughout the lifetime of the development.

Page 204



5.4.

5.5.

North Level Internal Drainage Board
Further to your consultation, based on the present indicative information, the
Board has no objection in principle to the development of this site.

As part of any future planning application, details (including relevant
supporting evidence/designs) will need to be provided about the proposed
method and systems to manage surface water run-off arising from the
development.

If surface water run-off is to be discharged into a watercourse, an application
seeking consent from the Board will be required. If such an application is
consented, this may be subject to conditions, including the payment of a
development levy.

Furthermore, should the development include the proposed alteration of any
watercourse, that would also require prior written consent from the Board.

Anglian Water Services Ltd

ASSETS

Section 1 - Assets Affected

New development must comply with Building Regulations and the Water
Industry Act.

Our records show that there are no assets owned by Anglian Water or those
subject to an adoption agreement within the development site boundary or
affected by the proposals.

It is highly recommended that the applicant carries out a thorough
investigation of the proposed working area to establish whether any
unmapped public or private sewers, lateral drains, or other water infrastructure
assets are in existence. Due to the private sewer transfer in October 2011,
many newly adopted public used water assets and their history are not
indicated on our records. Any encroachment zones should be reflected in the
site layout.

The development site may contain private water mains, drains or other assets
not shown on our records. These are private assets and not the responsibility
of Anglian Water but that of the landowner.

WASTEWATER SERVICES

Section 2 - Wastewater Treatment

When assessing the receiving Water Recycling Centre's (WRC) Dry Weather
Flow (DWF) headroom we take the latest DWF figures, as verified by the
Environment Agency and add sites with planning consent to this. Based on
the above assessment West Walton WRC is within the acceptance
parameters and can accommodate the flows from the proposed growth.
Please be advised that Anglian Water cannot reserve future capacity for sites
which lack planning consent. Available capacity in our network can be
reduced at any time due to growth, increased demand, regulatory changes,
and environmental change.

Section 3 - Used Water Network

If it is the applicant’s intention to connect to the Anglian Water public foul
network, Anglian Water would object to a connection to our vacuum sewerage
system due to the risk of flooding and pollution.

Page 205



In order to overcome our objection, the applicant would need to consult
Anglian Water in the form of a Pre -Development Enquiry tier 1 to undertake
an assessment to determine available pots and to ensure there is enough
pressure to accommodate the development, without adversely impacting or
causing detriment to the existing network. In addition, if there is insufficient
capacity downstream of the development, upgrade works may be required to
the vacuum network, this will be fully funded by the applicant. Once this has
been completed, we require the applicant to submit a copy of the agreed
strategy in consultation with Anglian Water to the planning authority. All
documents should then be submitted to the local planning authority and form
part of the planning application.

If the Local Planning Authority were minded to approve the planning
application, despite our objection, we would recommend a condition which
prevents commencement until any required upgrades are completed.

Condition: Prior to commencement a scheme for foul drainage works will be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority identifying any necessary upgrades.
Prior to occupation the identified upgrades must be completed in accordance
with the approved scheme. This scheme will identify a sustainable point of
connection to the vacuum sewerage system and any necessary upgrades.

Reason: To protect water quality, prevent pollution and flooding and secure
sustainable development having regard to paragraphs 7/8 and 180 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Vacuum sewerage systems are different to conventional gravity systems in
that connections can only be made to a vacuum pot (the chambers on the
vacuum system) and not directly to the vacuum pipework. Vacuum pots have
limited capacity and are only able to accept connections from 4 properties,
either via direct connections to the pot or to a rider sewer (a gravity sewer
already connected to a pot). Connections into vacuum pots and rider sewers
are only permitted via gravity; pumped connections are not permitted to a
vacuum sewerage system. Surface water must not under any circumstances
be discharged to a vacuum sewer. Alternative arrangements for surface water
disposal would need to be explored.

Anglian Water is committed to supporting sustainable growth and in doing so
we must continue to meet the statutory obligations whilst balancing factors
such as climate change and environmental protection.

Section 4 - Surface Water Disposal

The preferred method of surface water disposal would be to a sustainable
drainage system (SuDS) with connection to sewer seen as the last option.
Building Regulations (part H) on Drainage and Waste Disposal for England
includes a surface water drainage hierarchy, with infiltration on site as the
preferred disposal option, followed by discharge to watercourse and then
connection to a sewer.

Please be advised that there are no public surface water sewers within the
vicinity of the proposed development, and therefore Anglian Water will be

Page 206



5.6.

5.7.

unable to serve the sites surface water disposal requirements. Alternative
methods of surface water disposal will need to be investigated such as
infiltration techniques or a discharge to a watercourse in accordance with the
surface water management hierarchy as outlined in Building Regulations Part
H. The alternative is that a new surface water sewer is constructed which is
used to convey your surface water to a watercourse or as part of a SuDs
scheme, where appropriate. Subject to the sewer being designed in
accordance with the current version of Sewers For Adoption, the sewer can
be put forward for adoption by Anglian Water under Section 104 of the Water
Industry Act 1991. If the outfall is to a watercourse, the applicant will be
required to obtain consent to discharge via the appropriate body. If your site
has no means of drainage due to third party land then you may be able to
requisition Anglian Water, under Section 98, to provide a connection to the
public sewer for domestic drainage purposes. As part of this option, you may
wish to enter into a works agreement in accordance with Section 30 of the
Anglian Water Authority Act 1977. This will allow you to design and construct
the public sewer using Anglian Waters’ statutory powers in accordance with
Section 159/168 of the Water Industry Act 1991.

Environment & Health Services (FDC)

The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information
and have 'No Objections' to the proposal, as it is unlikely to have a detrimental
effect on local air quality, be affected by ground contamination or adversely
impact the local amenity due to excessive artificial lighting.

In the event that Permission in Principle (PIP) is granted and a further
application for the site is submitted in the future, owing to the scale of the
proposed development and close proximity to existing residents, this service
requests the submission of a robust Construction Environmental Management
Plan (CEMP) in line with the template for developers, available on Fenland
District Council's website at: Construction Environmental Management Plan: A
template for development sites (fenland.gov.uk) The CEMP shall be expected
to include working time restrictions to negate the need for a separate
condition.

Local Residents/Interested Parties

Objectors

The LPA received 4 letters of objection to the scheme, all received from
address points within High Road, Gorefield. Of the objections received, the
following matters were put forward as reasons for objection:

Objecting Comments Officer Response

e Overdevelopment Matters of the principle of

¢ Out of character with the area development, location, use and

e Gorefield village has met building | amount are discussed in the below

requirements assessment.

Matters relating to flood risk and

e Drainage concerns drainage are discussed in the below
assessment.

. Matters relating to highway safety,
* Highway safety concerns sustainability agnd inf?astru}c/;ture ayre

Page 207



discussed in the below assessment.

Matters relating to residential
¢ Residential amenity concerns amenity are discussed in the below
assessment.

Matters of disruption during
construction is not a material

e Disruption during construction planning consideration and as such
are not discussed in the below
assessment.

Supporters

The LPA received 8 letters of support for the scheme, from address points as
follows:

¢ 2 from residents of High Road, Gorefield;

1 from a resident Cattle Dyke, Gorefield;

1 from a resident at Fendyke Lane, Gorefield;

2 from residents of Gote Lane, Gorefield;

1 from a resident of Glebe Close, Gorefield; and
1 from a resident of Middle Road, Tydd St Giles;

Of the letters of support received, the following matters were put forward as
reasons to support the scheme:

Supporting Comments Officer Response
Matters of the principle of

¢ Would improve streetscene development, location, use and

e Infill development amount are discussed in the below
assessment.

Will bring vitality to the village and | Matters relating to sustainability and
improve viability of local services | infrastructure are discussed in the

Good for local economy below assessment.

One letter received gave no specific reasons, merely stating that they support
the scheme. A further letter stated, “Will not impact me at all so | have no
objections at all’.

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development
Plan unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The
Development Plan for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted
Fenland Local Plan (2014) and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2021).

POLICY FRAMEWORK
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024
Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Page 208




7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

7.5.

7.6.

7.7.

7.8.

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change

Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

Identity

Built Form

Movement

Nature

Homes and Buildings
Resources

Lifespan

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside
LP4 — Housing

LP5 — Meeting Housing Need

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding
LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network
LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments

LP19 — The Natural Environment

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021
Policy 14 - Waste management needs arising from residential and commercial
Development

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD

2014

DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character
of the Area

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

Emerging Local Plan

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between
25th August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be
reviewed and any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the
draft Local Plan. Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is
considered, in accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of

Page 209



9.2.

9.3.

this should carry extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to
this application are policies:

LP1: Settlement Hierarchy

LP2: Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
LP4: Securing Fenland’s Future

LP5: Health and Wellbeing

LP7: Design

LP8: Amenity Provision

LP12: Meeting Housing Needs

LP18: Development in the Countryside
LP19: Strategic Infrastructure

LP22: Parking Provision

LP23: Historic Environment

LP24: Natural Environment

LP25: Biodiversity Net Gain

LP32: Flood and Water Management

KEY ISSUES

e Location

o Use

e Amount of Development Proposed

« Additional Matters Raised During Consultation

ASSESSMENT

Noting the guidance in place regarding Permission in Principle submissions
assessment must be restricted to (a) location, (b) use and (c) amount and
these items are considered in turn below:

Location

Principle, Form and Character

Generally, the principle of residential development on this site isn't
automatically supported. The land is not allocated for housing in the adopted
Fenland Local Plan (2014), and the Council can currently demonstrate a
healthy housing land supply of 6.6 years. As such, the national "tilted balance"
(set out in paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF) doesn't apply in this case.
Accordingly, there is no automatic presumption in favour of granting
permission. As such, decisions should be based firmly on how well the
proposal aligns with local and national planning policies.

Policy LP3 sets out the spatial strategy, settlement hierarchy, and approach to
elsewhere developments. This is complemented by Policy LP4 which sets out
proposed housing targets for Market Towns and Other Locations. The key
driver of these policies is to ensure that new development is directed towards
the most sustainable locations whilst recognising that smaller settlements will
still need to reflect natural population change and may require additional
development of a much smaller scale to reflect these changes. Since the
Plan was adopted there have been a number of a sites permitted and
completed in other locations dramatically exceeding the anticipated provision
set out in the adopted Plan with no notable improvements to social,

Page 210



9.4.

9.5.

9.6.

educational and health infrastructure to offset the impacts of development or
increase the overall sustainability of these locations. As such the principal of
additional residential development within 'Other Locations' should not be
automatically accepted.

The site is located on the edge of Gorefield which has been identified as a
‘small village’ within the settlement hierarchy outlined in Policy LP3, where
only limited development, normally residential infill or small business
opportunities, would be supported. Development must also comply with the
more detailed policy criteria set out in Policy LP12 Part A as well as LP3. In
recent years the built footprint of the village has sprawled out into the open
countryside in a westwardly direction, eroding the gentle transition into the
village. In particular, application F/YR23/0548/0O has extended the built form
of the village up to Hassock Hill Drove. This development of 5 dwellings lies
immediately to the south of the application site, which when coupled with the
proposed development of up to a further nine dwellings, would be akin to a
small village extension of up to 14 dwellings into the open countryside.
Accordingly, it is considered that development of this site will further
consolidate the built form to an extent that the character of the location is
eroded by virtue of this urbanisation.

It is also acknowledged that the village threshold for Gorefield of 33 units has
been breached, noting that since April 2011 (as per the Village Thresholds
Position Statement 23 Oct 2025) 85 units have either been built/or are
committed to be built. Policy LP12 identifies that in such scenarios
demonstrable evidence of ‘local support’ should be presented, in this regard it
is noted that the Parish Council and four Gorefield households (from High
Road) have raised objection to the scheme with seven Gorefield (six from
further afield), and one Tydd St Giles households writing in support. It is
accepted that Policy LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 states that the
proposal should have demonstrable evidence of clear local community
support for the scheme (with such support generated via a thorough and
proportionate pre-application community consultation exercise or a
Neighbourhood Plan exercise) which has not been undertaken by the
applicant. Taking a literal approach to LP12 part A, a lack of support is
considered a technical breach of this policy, and this conflict weighs
negatively against the scheme. However, this weight is tempered
considerably by earlier appeal decisions where a similar breaches were not
considered be sufficient to warrant a reason for refusal by the Planning
Inspector and when considering the more significant policy conflicts by virtue
of the conflict with the settlement hierarchy and the impact of the proposal on
the character of the area, that are given significant negative weight.

The current Local Plan does not rely on defined settlement boundaries but
rather requires a physical assessment to be made to determine whether or not
a site is within a village for the purposes of Policy LP12. Policy LP12
identifies that to receive support, the site must be in or adjacent to the existing
developed footprint of the village, defined as the continuous built form of the
vilage and excludes individual buildings and groups of dispersed, or
intermittent buildings, that are clearly detached from the continuous built-up
area of the settlement and relate more to the open countryside.

Page 211



9.7. Policy LP12 Part A also requires sites to satisfy additional criteria, including:
(c) It would not have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of
the surrounding countryside and farmland and (d) is of a scale and in a
location that is in keeping with the core shape and form of the settlement.

9.8. In addition, Policy LP16 (d) refers to development making a positive impact to
local distinctiveness and the character of the area and amongst other things
should not have an adverse impact on landscape character. It is also a core
planning principle in the NPPF that recognises the intrinsic value of the
countryside therefore consideration needs to be given to any harm caused.

9.9. The transition from countryside to village is clearly marked by the current built
form that runs along High Road; with sporadic development beyond the site to
the north and west and significant areas of open agricultural land, of which the
site is part. Development of this site would therefore have a significant
detrimental impact on the remaining rural character of Hassock Hill Drove by
advancing residential development north and eastwards into open land. As
such, it is considered that the proposal is contrary to Policy LP12 Part A (c).

9.10. It is considered that the development of this site with 9 dwellings would
consolidate the built form to a scale and extent that the character of the area
will be unacceptably eroded beyond the core shape of the village along High
Road, contrary to Policy LP12 Part A (d) and would have a damaging
urbanising impact on the character of the area, contrary to Policy LP16 (d) of
the Fenland Local Plan and Policy DM3 of Delivering and Protecting High
Quality Environments in Fenland SPD.

Flood Risk
9.11. Another pertinent requirement is to ensure that development is located in
areas of lowest flood risk.

9.12. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and chapter 14 of the National
Planning Policy Framework set out the policy approach towards development
in areas of flood risk. Policy LP14 states that all development proposals
should adopt a sequential approach to flood risk from all forms of flooding and
development in areas known to be at risk from any form of flooding will only
be permitted following:

(a) the successful completion of a sequential test, having regard to actual and
residual flood risks

(b) an exception test (if necessary),

(c) the suitable demonstration of meeting an identified need, and

(d) through the submission of a site-specific flood risk assessment,
demonstrating appropriate flood risk management and safety measures
and a positive approach to reducing flood risk overall, and without reliance
on emergency services.

9.13. National planning policy includes an over-arching principle in the Framework
that development should be directed away from areas at highest risk of
flooding. To that end, a sequential, risk-based approach is to be taken to
individual applications in areas known to be at risk now or in the future from
flooding. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) confirms that this means

Page 212



avoiding, so far as possible, development in current and future medium and
high flood risk areas. The PPG furthermore confirms that the underlying
purpose includes placing the least reliance on measures like flood defences,
flood warnings and property level resilience features. Therefore, even where a
flood risk assessment shows the development can be made safe throughout
its lifetime without increasing risk elsewhere, the Sequential Test still needs to
be satisfied.

Sequential Test

9.14. ltis for the decision-maker to consider whether the Sequential Test is passed,
with reference to information held on land availability and an appropriate area
of search. The latter should be determined by the planning authority.
Accordingly, clarification on the LPA’s expected area of search for a
sequential test is now provided on the Council’'s website, which states:

“‘Applicants must define and justify an appropriate area of search when
preparing the Sequential Test. The extent of this area will depend on the
location and role of the settlement, as well as the type and scale of
development proposed:

e For developments within or adjacent to Market Towns and Growth
Villages, the area of search will normally be limited to land within or
adjacent to the settlement in which the development is proposed.

e For all other locations — including Limited Growth, Small and Other
Villages, or Elsewhere Locations — the area of search will normally be
expected to be district-wide. (Emphasis Added)

To pass the Sequential Test, applicants must demonstrate that there are no
reasonably available sites, within the defined search area, with a lower
probability of flooding that could accommodate the proposed development. A
poorly defined or unjustified area of search may result in the Sequential Test
being considered invalid.”

9.15. The application includes a Sequential and Exception Test report (dated 09
October 2025) which focuses the area of search on the settlement of
Gorefield. However, the above is clear in that the area of search for sites
within Small Villages will normally be based on a district wide search area,
unless it can be demonstrated that there is a particular need for the
development in that location.

9.16. The application is not supported by any evidence to justify the need for
development in this location and accordingly does not qualify for any variation
to the required area of search.

9.17. The Council is able to demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, and there
remain sites identified as suitable for development in the Local Plan that do
not currently benefit from planning permission. It would, therefore, be
reasonable to conclude that on the basis of district wide search, there will be
other reasonably available sites in Flood Zones 1 and 2 to accommodate 9
dwellings. As such, it is considered that the Sequential Test is failed.

Page 213



9.18. Notwithstanding the above, the submitted Sequential Test concludes that
there are no reasonably available sites to accommodate the development in
an area of lesser flood risk within Gorefield. The Sequential Test considers a
number of sites, such as F/YR25/0473/O, which sought outline approval for up
to 9 dwellings (the same quantum as the current PIP application). However,
this application was discounted by the applicant, stating “The design drawing
is stated within the planning approval and on the design drawing this
references single storey dwellings which this application site is for two storey
dwellings. This site is therefore not available due to the single storey dwellings
stated on the drawing referenced in the outline approval.”

9.19. Notwithstanding, it must be considered that this stage 1 Permission in
Principle application is merely focused on establishing whether a site is
suitable in principle as such details such as whether dwellings are single or
two storey are immaterial to this application, as such details are not committed
at this stage.

9.20. Accordingly, in either case, it is considered that insufficient assessment has
been undertaken and inadequate information submitted to demonstrate that it
is not possible for the development to be located on a site with a lower risk of
flooding when considering reasonably available sites within the wider district
or Gorefield specifically. On this basis, it is considered that the proposal is
not in accordance with Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan, 2014, and
Chapter 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 2024.

Exception Test

9.21. Notwithstanding the failure of the sequential test, had this been deemed as
passed it would then be necessary for the application to pass the Exception
Test, which comprises of demonstration of the following:

(a) the development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the
community that outweigh the flood risk; and

(b) the development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the
vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and
where possible, will reduce flood risk overall.

9.22. In respect of (a); In order to pass the Exception Test the proposal must
provide wider sustainability benefits i.e., beyond merely the application site,
for the community. Examples of benefits beyond the application site may
include:

¢ Visually enhance a site to the benefit of the character of an area;

¢ Link development to existing services and facilities bringing communities
together sustainably;

¢ Relocate an existing use closer to existing public transport hubs, thus
reducing the amount of traffic on the road; or

e Providing community facilities

All these examples would likely provide some benefit to the community
beyond the application site.

Page 214



9.23. To address the exception test, the application includes the following
proposals:

(1) The proposal at this site is for air source heat pumps and solar panels to
the roof and dwellings that are insulated in accordance with Building
Regulations with a further enhancement of triple glazing.

(2) Itis expected that the dwellings would be a minimum of B EPC rating.

(3) The proposals would comply with Building Regulations.

9.24. The application, as a stage 1 Permission in Principle, does not commit details
in respect of (1) — (3) above. However, it is acknowledged that should these
elements come forward within the Technical Details stage, these may
contribute to renewable energy usage in line with the sustainability objectives
of the NPPF.

9.25. In respect of part (b) of the Exception Test; The inclusion of flood mitigation
measures including raised finished floor levels and flood resilient construction
measures within the proposal are highlighted within the flood risk assessment
technically address the need for safety in times of flooding at the site, and as
such would likely satisfy the Exception Test in this regard.

Drainage
9.26. Concerns relating to appropriate drainage have been expressed by residents.

9.27. The applicant contests that surface water can likely be managed through
soakaways, on the basis of findings following satisfactory percolation tests for
the development to the south (F/YR23/0548/0), which may be an acceptable
solution.

9.28. It is noted that, in respect of foul water drainage, Anglian Water object to a
connection to our vacuum sewerage system due to the risk of flooding and
pollution, should it be the applicant’s intention to connect to the Anglian Water
public foul network. They note that upgrades to this system may be required
to ensure foul water from the site can be accommodated appropriately, and as
such recommend early engagement with the applicant to discuss their
requirements.

9.29. Notwithstanding, matters of surface and foul water disposal will be reserved
for consideration within any forthcoming Technical Details application.

Sustainability concerns

9.30. Itis noted that an objection was raised by the highways authority in respect of
the principle of development for residential use, owing to the unacceptable
visibility splays provided and lack of appropriate footway infrastructure, given
the quantum of development proposed, that may give rise to issues of
highway safety and would conflict with the environmental objective of
sustainable development as the intended occupants of the dwellings will be
reliant on private modes of transport to access local facilities and services. As
such the scheme fails to represent sustainable development in this regard and
is contrary to Paragraph 8 of the NPPF and Policy LP1 which sets out the
presumption in favour of sustainable development in line with the Framework.

Page 215



This bolsters the view that there will be significant adverse impacts accruing in
terms of the scheme’s sustainability in locational terms.

Location Conclusion

9.31. The above assessment considers the application site for the development of
up to 9 dwellings on an area of land located outside the developed footprint of
Gorefield, resulting in unacceptable incursion into the open countryside, harm
to the rural character, is positioned in an area of highest flood risk and in an
unsustainable location. Thus, the location of the scheme is considered
contrary to Policies LP3, LP12, LP14 and LP16 and thus Permission in
Principle should be refused on this basis.

Use

9.32. The site is situated close to existing development in the open countryside,
however as stated above, it will be contrary to Policy LP12 — Rural Areas
Development Policy and Policy LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality
Environments across the District. The introduction of up to 9 new residential
dwellings is considered to erode the character and appearance of the rural
area. It is therefore considered that the site is not acceptable to use for new
dwellings.

9.33. In addition, whilst perhaps being a matter more appropriate for consideration
at Technical Consent stage, the use of the land for residential purposes, in
principle, would not likely give rise to unacceptable impacts on surrounding
residents by reason or noise or disturbance or vice versa.

9.34. Supporters state that the housing will help bring vitality to the village and
improve viability of local services, and be good for local economy, however,
that does not justify development in an unsustainable location in Flood Zone
3.

Amount of Development Proposed

9.35. The application seeks Permission in Principle for up to 9 dwellings on a site of
approximately 0.5ha which would equate to a density of approximately 18
dwellings per hectare, if the full quantum was advanced.

9.36. Noting established development locally, along High Road, densities range
from approximately 3.2 dwellings per hectare along the northern side, and 8
dwellings per hectare along the southern side. Accordingly, the proposed
density of 18 dwellings per hectare is considered to amount to
overdevelopment and would result in inappropriate urbanisation of the area,
especially when cumulatively viewed alongside the recent development to the
south.

Additional Matters Raised During Consultation

9.37. Highway safety — Notwithstanding the locational sustainability concerns
discussed above, specific details regarding safe and convenient access, such
as matters regarding visibility splays, parking, turning and thus highway safety
would need to be fully reconciled at the Technical Details stage to ensure the
scheme complies with Policy LP15. It is however considered thatr, noting
comments received from the Highways Authority with concerns to highway

Page 216



safety regarding the deliverability of suitable visibility splays, compliance with
Policy LP15 may not be achieved at a more detailed stage.

9.38. Impact on biodiversity/BNG — The LPA duty under Section 40 of the Natural
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 as amended, has been
considered.

In other application types such as outline and full applications, an ecological
survey and if necessary further species surveys would be needed up front to
accompany the application. This Permission in Principle application, if
successful, would not be granting planning permission.

Ecological information should be submitted at the Technical Details stage (if
this first stage were successful) and considered then, consulted upon and the
decision, including potential refusal or conditions, should be based upon the
findings of said ecological information.

If this stage of Permission in Principle were successful, it would not prevent
proper consideration of ecological issues at the next stage and it would not
alter duties of landowners/developers to comply with other legislation such as
the Wildlife and Countryside Act in the meantime.

The grant of permission in principle is not within the scope of biodiversity net
gain (as it is not a grant of planning permission), but the subsequent
Technical Details consent (as a grant of planning permission) would be
subject to the biodiversity gain condition, unless appropriate exemptions were

to apply.

9.39. Residential Amenity — Some public comments received raise matters of
impacts to residential amenity; however, these are matters that could only be
determined at the Technical Details stage. It should also be noted that
disturbance during construction, the devaluation of properties and the loss of
views are not matters attributed material planning weight.

9.40. Economic benefits — Comments have been received that new housing will
create temporary employment and contribute to the local economy. It is
recognised that the construction of the development would provide some
employment for the duration of the work contributing to a strong responsive
and competitive economy. Whilst it could also be argued that there may be
some potential for increased expenditure by occupants when utilising local
facilities, the limited facilities on offer are such that this does not render the
site location as sustainable. As noted above, there is a direct correlation
between the aims of the Fenland Local Plan and the NPPF and a clear
planning argument to resist this development as being in an unsustainable
location.

9.41. Contributions — The applicant provided a confidential preliminary S106
Heads of Terms document to the LPA with proposals to offer community
improvements in light the proposed development. The confidential details of
this document have not been shared with Members by virtue that there is no
legal mechanism within Permission in Principle applications to secure
planning obligations, and as such these can be given no weight in decision

Page 217



making. Should the applicant have sought to provide community
improvements, the appropriate mechanism would have been to submit a full
planning application to the LPA, whereby the relevant Fenland Local Plan
Policies (LP5 and LP13) that seek to secure appropriate infrastructure
contributions and/or affordable housing where necessary could be applied in
the planning balance.

9.42. Additional considerations — No conditions can be attached to a grant of
Permission in Principle in accordance with the NPPG advice (Paragraph: 020
Reference ID: 58-020- 20180615).

10 CONCLUSIONS
10.1. As indicated above it is only location, use and amount of development that
may be considered at the first ‘permission in principle stage’.

10.2. The above assessment considers that the location of the site for residential
development is unacceptable due to the conflict with the settlement hierarchy
of the Local Plan and unacceptable incursion of urbanisation into the open
countryside, contrary to Policies LP3, LP12, and LP16. In addition, the site
lies entirely within in Flood Zone 3; Policy LP12 Part A (j) seeks to ensure that
developments would not put people or property in dangers from identified
risks, such as flooding. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and Chapter
14 of the NPPF seek to steer developments to the areas with the least
probability of flooding and development will not be permitted if there are
reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas
with a lower risk of flooding.

10.3. Furthermore, it is considered that the amount of development proposed
results in overdevelopment and is contrary to paragraph 8 of the NPPF.

10.4. While it is recognised that the development of the site may deliver some
economic and social benefits it is not considered that these would outweigh

the overall unsustainable and inappropriate nature of the site or its conflict
with the relevant local and national policies.

11 RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; Permission in Principle for the following reasons:

1 Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) sets out the settlement
hierarchy within the district, and Policy LP12 details a range of criteria
against which development within the District will be assessed. The
site is located on the edge of Gorefield which has been identified as a
‘small village’ within the settlement hierarchy outlined in Policy LP3,
where only limited development, normally residential infill or small
business opportunities, would be supported. The proposal will
introduce development of up to nine dwellings into an area that
currently has a strong relationship with the adjoining countryside and
when considered cumulatively with the recent development to the
south, would be akin to a small village extension resulting in an
unacceptable urbanisation of the rural area. Thus, the proposal

Page 218



therefore fails to comply with Policies LP3 and LP12 of the Fenland
Local Plan 2014. in terms of location and use, the Planning in
Principle application fails.

Policy LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to ensure that
development does not result in an adverse impact on the character
and appearance of the surrounding countryside and Policy LP16 (d)
of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) requires development to deliver and
protect high quality environments specifying that development should
make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and character
of the area. The development proposed would see up to five
dwellings and associated infrastructure positioned on undeveloped
agricultural land that currently positively contributes to the distinct and
natural character beyond the built form of High Road Gorefield.
Development on this land would bring a distinctly urbanising effect to
the detriment of the character and appearance of the area, directly
contradicting the current settlement pattern, contrary to the
requirements of Policies LP12 and Policy LP16(d) and paragraphs
135 and 187 of the NPPF, and thus, in terms of location and use, the
Planning in Principle application fails.

The site lies entirely within in Flood Zone 3; Policy LP12 Part A (j)
seeks to ensure that developments would not put people or property
in dangers from identified risks, such as flooding. Policy LP14 of the
Fenland Local Plan and Chapter 14 of the NPPF seek to steer
developments to the areas with the least probability of flooding and
development will not be permitted if there are reasonably available
sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a lower
risk of flooding.

The application is not accompanied by a substantive sequential test
and as such insufficient assessment has been undertaken and
inadequate information submitted to demonstrate that it is not
possible for the development to be located on a site with a lower risk
of flooding and as such the development is contrary to the
aforementioned policies.

If the principle of residential development on this site were acceptable
in terms of location and use of land, development of up to 9 dwellings
would result in overdevelopment and as such would not constitute
sustainable development in accordance with paragraph 8 of the
NPPF, and thus, in terms of amount of development proposed, the
Planning in Principle application fails.

Page 219



F/YR25/0802/PIP

eH

R0 T11H 05!

for

10/28/2025, 9:01:35 AM

1:2,500
0 115 230 460 ft
| ! | ! |
| T T T T T 1
|:| Fenland District Boundary 0 35 70 140 m

Fenland District Council

Uniform
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁey AC0000815148.
age




T2z abed

SWANN LODGE

3No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY

LEGEND
PLOT 1 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY
PLOT 2 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY
PLOT 3 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY
PLOT 4 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY
PLOT 5 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY
PLOT 6 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY
PLOT 7 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY
PLOT 8 = 3No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY
PLOT 9 =

TIMBER POST AND
RAIL FENCE DETAIL
(1:50)

17.8m HIGH TIMBER
FENCE DETAIL

(1:50)

PROPOSED SITE PLAN 1:200

Swan Lodge
Hassock Hill Drove
Gorefield, Wisbech PE13 4QF
Proposed Site Plan
-+ INDICATIVE LAYOUT
FIVE PLOTS APPROVED F/YR23/0548/0 (UNDER CONSTR@CTION)
) ) " September 2025
o 75 50 75 o0 125 150 + + Z— H10638/04,

NEW ACCESS TO BE 5.5m wide x
10m LONG LAID TO FALL AWAY
FROM THE HIGHWAY TO CAMBS
COUNTY COUNCIL STANDARDS

12.1m

Z
a
y/

BCP
1////////

e

)

Faans

-0.208

T

Grass

PLOT 6

i e

j¥¥¥¥1 PLOT 7

-0.29

15m

0.208
TR

2/
R S

17.5m

Jona) g

g | MIN

D ONERNR A il

e

)

\\\\\\\\\

i

1l

|

\\

1.7m

-0.075

Grass

—0.142

15.5m

PLOT 2

PLOT 3

15.5m

PLOT 4

e

-0.139

;
/

A
ENCE 7/
D RAL FE
HIGH T\MWQS&M
2m
%\N 1.

.106

=0.147

All finishes, insulation and damp—proofing to architect’s
details

Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and

designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work
starts or materials are ordered.

If in doubt
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and
specification. All work to be in accordance with
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the
recommendations define the quality of the finished work.
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to qrrange inspections of the works
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building

Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and
forward to the Engineer

LEGEND

PERMEABLE TARMAC

GRASS

PERMEABLE BLOCK PAVING

PATHS/PATIO AREA

:f

-——

GRAVEL (PERMEABLE COVERING)
SOLAR PANELS TO ROOF

APPLICATION SITE

HOUSEHOLDER BIN LOCATIONS

\

PN

“
\

I
74

7

\\ 3m x 5.5m PARKING SPACE
S

FIRE APPLIANCE

—~=2.5m=

BCP = BIN

COLLECTION POINT

REVISIONS

CLIENTS COMMENTS

SEPT 25

DATE

MoRrToN & HALL
CoNsULTING LIMITED

CONSULTING STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS

1 Gordon Avenue,
March,

Cambridgeshire.
PE15 8AJ

east anglia
LABC

LABC BUILDING EXCELLENCE AWARDS

— Building

CLIENT

Tel: 01354 655454
Fax: 01354 660467
E—mail: info®@mortonandhall.co.uk

Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

Fenland District Council
LABC

1102 ® 6002
H3INNIM AHOOILYO

Design Awards
Building Excellence in Fenland ‘

McDermott Residential
Property Limited

PROJECT

Land South of



AutoCAD SHX Text_2334
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2335
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2336
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2337
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2338
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2339
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2340
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_2341
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_2342
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2343
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2344
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2345
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2346
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_2347
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_2348
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2349
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_2350
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2351
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_2352
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2353
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2354
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2355
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2356
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2357
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2358
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2359
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_2360
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2361
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_2362
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_2363
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2364
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2365
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_2366
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2367
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_2368
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2369
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2370
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2371
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2372
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_2373
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_2374
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_2375
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2376
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_2377
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2378
September 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_2379
A1 1:200

AutoCAD SHX Text_2380
H10638/04

AutoCAD SHX Text_2381
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2382
Land South of

AutoCAD SHX Text_2383
Swan Lodge 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2384
Hassock Hill Drove 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2385
Gorefield, Wisbech PE13 4QF

AutoCAD SHX Text_2386
Proposed Site Plan 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2387
McDermott Residential  Property Limited 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2388
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text_2389
PERMEABLE TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2390
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2391
PERMEABLE BLOCK PAVING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2392
APPLICATION SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2393
HOUSEHOLDER BIN LOCATIONS 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2394
PATHS/PATIO AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text_2395
SOLAR PANELS TO ROOF 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2396
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2397
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2398
Electric post & wire fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_2399
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2400
Pole

AutoCAD SHX Text_2401
Conifers & mixed vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2402
Steel fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_2403
Access

AutoCAD SHX Text_2404
B. wall & railings

AutoCAD SHX Text_2405
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2406
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2407
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2408
0.086

AutoCAD SHX Text_2409
0.074

AutoCAD SHX Text_2410
0.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2411
0.292

AutoCAD SHX Text_2412
0.265

AutoCAD SHX Text_2413
0.222

AutoCAD SHX Text_2414
0.201

AutoCAD SHX Text_2415
0.339

AutoCAD SHX Text_2416
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text_2417
0.203

AutoCAD SHX Text_2418
0.053

AutoCAD SHX Text_2419
0.047

AutoCAD SHX Text_2420
0.212

AutoCAD SHX Text_2421
-0.121

AutoCAD SHX Text_2422
0.031

AutoCAD SHX Text_2423
0.138

AutoCAD SHX Text_2424
0.057

AutoCAD SHX Text_2425
0.126

AutoCAD SHX Text_2426
-0.317

AutoCAD SHX Text_2427
-0.212

AutoCAD SHX Text_2428
-0.108

AutoCAD SHX Text_2429
-0.208

AutoCAD SHX Text_2430
-0.258

AutoCAD SHX Text_2431
-0.221

AutoCAD SHX Text_2432
-0.208

AutoCAD SHX Text_2433
-0.147

AutoCAD SHX Text_2434
0.106

AutoCAD SHX Text_2435
0.206

AutoCAD SHX Text_2436
0.017

AutoCAD SHX Text_2437
-0.315

AutoCAD SHX Text_2438
-0.352

AutoCAD SHX Text_2439
-0.018

AutoCAD SHX Text_2440
0.064

AutoCAD SHX Text_2441
0.024

AutoCAD SHX Text_2442
0.037

AutoCAD SHX Text_2443
-0.056

AutoCAD SHX Text_2444
-0.123

AutoCAD SHX Text_2445
-0.208

AutoCAD SHX Text_2446
-0.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2447
-0.167

AutoCAD SHX Text_2448
-0.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2449
-0.075

AutoCAD SHX Text_2450
0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2451
-0.142

AutoCAD SHX Text_2452
-0.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2453
-0.198

AutoCAD SHX Text_2454
-0.139

AutoCAD SHX Text_2455
-0.151

AutoCAD SHX Text_2456
-0.008

AutoCAD SHX Text_2457
0.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2458
0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2459
0.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2460
0.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2461
0.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2462
0.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2463
0.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2464
-0.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_2465
-0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2466
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2467
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2468
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_2469
Electric post & wire fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_2470
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2471
Pole

AutoCAD SHX Text_2472
PROPOSED SITE PLAN 1:200 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2473
FIVE PLOTS APPROVED F/YR23/0548/O (UNDER CONSTRUCTION) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2474
SWANN LODGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2475
INDICATIVE LAYOUT 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2476
0     2.5     5.0   7.5   10.0   12.5   15.0 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2477
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2478
10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2479
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2480
4.89m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2481
5.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2482
P R I V A T E    D R I V E

AutoCAD SHX Text_2483
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_2484
A  CLIENTS COMMENTS					   SEPT 25   SEPT 25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2485
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2486
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2487
PLOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2488
PLOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2489
PLOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2490
PLOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2491
PLOT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2492
LEGEND PLOT  1 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY PLOT  2 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY PLOT  3 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY PLOT  4 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY PLOT  5 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY PLOT  6 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY  PLOT  7 = 4No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY  PLOT  8 = 3No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY PLOT 9  = 3No BEDROOMS TWO STOREY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2493
NEW 1.2m HIGH TIMBER POST AND RAIL FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2494
TIMBER POST AND  RAIL FENCE DETAIL (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2495
1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2496
NEW 1.2m HIGH TIMBER POST AND RAIL FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2497
NEW 1.2m HIGH TIMBER POST AND RAIL FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2498
NEW 1.2m HIGH TIMBER POST AND RAIL FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2499
15.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2500
15.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2501
15.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2502
1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2503
1.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2504
P R I V A T E    D R I V E

AutoCAD SHX Text_2505
FIRE APPLIANCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2506
2.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2507
PLOT 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2508
PLOT 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2509
17.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2510
22.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2511
3m x 5.5m PARKING SPACE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2512
8.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2513
1.65m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2514
NEW 1.8m HIGH TIMBER FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2515
NEW 1.8m HIGH TIMBER FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2516
NEW 1.8m HIGH TIMBER FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2517
NEW 1.8m HIGH TIMBER FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2518
BCP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2519
BCP = BIN COLLECTION POINT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2520
1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2521
1.8m HIGH TIMBER  FENCE DETAIL (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2522
NEW 1.8m HIGH TIMBER FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2523
NEW 1.8m HIGH TIMBER FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2524
GRAVEL (PERMEABLE COVERING)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2525
16.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2526
12.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2527
PLOT 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2528
PLOT 9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2529
BCP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2530
15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2531
14.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2532
1.17m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2533
18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2534
18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2535
NEW ACCESS TO BE 5.5m wide x 10m LONG LAID TO FALL AWAY FROM THE HIGHWAY TO CAMBS COUNTY COUNCIL STANDARDS 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2536
5.94m


This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 Previous Minutes
	Draft Minutes of 19 11 2025
	Draft Minutes 10 12 25

	5 F/YR25/0586/F<br/>Phase B Land East Of, Berryfield, March<br/>Erect 15 x dwellings with associated infrastructure and the formation of 1 x balancing pond and public open space
	25-0586 - FINAL
	973626-FDC Location Plan-
	1004698-Drawing-LOCATION AND SITE PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	SE-2304-PP1000


	971553-Drawing-HOUSE TYPE B1 - ELEVATIONS, FLOOR AND ROOF PLANS
	Sheets and Views
	SE-2304-PP1100


	971557-Drawing-HOUSE TYPE B2 - ELEVATIONS, FLOOR AND ROOF PLANS
	Sheets and Views
	SE-2304-PP1200


	971558-Drawing-HOUSE TYPE B3 - ELEVATIONS, FLOOR AND ROOF PLANS
	Sheets and Views
	SE-2304-PP1300


	971559-Drawing-HOUSE TYPE B4 - ELEVATIONS, FLOOR AND ROOF PLANS
	Sheets and Views
	SE-2304-PP1400


	1004697-Drawing-GARAGE ELEVATIONS AND FLOOR PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	SE-2304-PP1500



	6 F/YR25/0750/F<br/>Bromsgrove House , Honeysome Road, Chatteris<br/>Change of use of land for residential use, siting of a mobile home to be used as an annexe and removal of existing mobile home
	25-750 - Bromsgrove House FINAL REM ELP
	991123-FDC Location Plan-
	987293-Drawing-PROPOSED SITE PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	987294-Drawing-PROPOSED ELEVATIONS, FLOOR PLANS AND STREET SCENE
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	7 F/YR25/0814/PIP<br/>Land North Of 10 Askham Row Accessed From, Hospital Road, Doddington<br/>Permission in principle for 4 x dwellings
	25-814-PIP HPH FINAL
	995525-FDC Location Plan-
	993016-Drawing-INDICATIVE SITE PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	993017-Drawing-INDICATIVE BLOCK PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	8 F/YR25/0594/O<br/>Land North Of 450 To 454, March Road, Turves<br/>Erect 3 x dwellings involving the formation of accesses (outline application with all matters reserved
	25-0594-O - Update FINAL
	973728-FDC Location Plan-
	972109-Drawing-INDICATIVE SITE PLAN
	25-0594-O - Offrep FINAL HPHV2

	9 F/YR25/0807/PIP<br/>Land South Of 6, Bridge Lane, Wimblington<br/>Permission in principle to erect up to 7 x dwellings
	25 0807 FINAL
	25 0807 FDC Loc Plan
	25 0807 Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	10 F/YR25/0863/PIP<br/>Land North East Of 134 London Road, Chatteris<br/>Permission in principle for up to 4 x dwellings
	F-YR25-0863-PIP 134 LONDON ROAD FINAL
	FDC LOCATION PLAN
	EXISTING SITE PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	INDICATIVE SITE PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	11 F/YR25/0834/O<br/>Land West Of 78-88, Station Road, Manea<br/>Erect up to 8 x dwellings (outline application with matters committed in respect of access)
	834 O Final 18.12
	997759-FDC Location Plan-
	1009147-Drawing-EXISTING SITE PLAN AND PROPOSED INDICATIVE SITE PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	993611-Drawing-LOCATION PLAN AND VISION SPLAYS
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	12 F/YR25/0739/O<br/>Land South West Of 176, High Road, Gorefield<br/>Erect up to 1 x self-build/custom dwelling, involving the demolition of existing buildings (outline application with matters committed in respect of access)
	F-YR25-0739-O Committee Report TO MS
	990939-FDC Location Plan-
	986525-Drawing-PROPOSED SITE PLAN AND INDICATIVE STREETSCENE

	13 F/YR25/0806/PIP<br/>Land South Of Lavender Mill Close, Fallow Corner Drove, Manea<br/>Permission in Principle for up to 9 x dwellings
	F-YR25-0806-PIP Committee Report TO MS
	995188-FDC Location Plan-
	992550-Drawing-PROPOSED SITE PLAN INDICATIVE
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	14 F/YR25/0802/PIP<br/>Land North West Of 176 High Road Accessed From, Hassock Hill Drove, Gorefield<br/>Permission in principle for 9 x dwellings
	F-YR25-0802-PIP Committee Report TO MS
	994560-FDC Location Plan-1 2500
	992738-Drawing-INDICATIVE SITE PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	Model






